
IiS"IIABITA.iS"TS IN 1793. 

The following is a list ~f the taxable inhabitants of 
Danbury in 1793 : 

DANBURY iST, 1793. 

Andrews, Samuel; Andrews, Isaiah ; Andrews, Levi ; 
Ambler, 'Squire; Atkins, · ndrew; Ambler, Peter; 
Ambler, Stephen; A bot, Si as. 

Bates, X a than; Barton, John; Babcock, Na than; 
Barnum, Samuel; Barnun,'t, Abijah ; Barnum, 
Xoah; Barnum, Nathaniel;lBarnum, Jr., Abijah; 
Barnum, John; Barnum, Oliver; Bears, Daniel; 
Benedict, Jr., Jos.; Benedict, Cyrus; Benedict, 
Jr., Ebenezer; Benedict, Noble; Benedict, Com­
fort; Benedict, Elijah ; Benedict, Caleb; Benedict, 
Abijah; Benedict, Timothy; Benedict, Zadock; 
Benedict, Jr., Eliakim; Benedict, Jr., Thomas; 
Benedict, Thomas; Benedict, Phcebe; Benedict, 
Jr., Asael; Benedict, Elihu; Benedict, Jr., Sam­
uel; Benedict, Joshua; Benedict, Jr., Caleb; Ben­
-edict, Jr., Abraham; Benedict, Dorias; Benedict, 
.Na than; Benedict, Daniel; Benedict, Lemuel; 
Benedict, Abigail; Benedict, Theophilus; Bene­
dict, Thos. H. ; Benedict, Jonas ; Benedict, Ebe­
nezer (3d); Benedict, Stephen B.; Benedict, Thad­
deus; Benedict, Ezra; Benedict, Eleazor; Briden, 
John; Beach, L.; Bedient, Eliazur; Beaty, James; 
Beaty, Daniel; Boughton, Asa; Boughton, l\frs. 
Susan; Boughton, Ebenezer; Boughton, Abijah; 
Boughton, Joseph; Boughton, :Matthew; Boughton, 
David; Boughton, Daniel; Boughton, )1rs. Deb­
orah; Besare, X ewcomb; Burrit, Philip; Burr, 
Oliver; Burr & Co.; Baldwin, Samuel; Baldwin, 
Caleb; Brnsh, Stephen; Bronson, Ezra; Bronson, 
Levi; Bronson, Ira; Barber, Benj.; Barber, Sim­
eon; Brodrock, John ; Beebe, Jonathan. 

Cembers, "\V m.; Cembers, John; Curtis, Reuben; 
Curtis, Stephen; Curtis, Eliphalet; Cook, Thos.; 
Cook, Jos. T.,; Cook, Jr., Jos. T.; Cook, Samuel; 
Crofut, Seth; Crofut, Benj.; Crofut, Levi; Crofut, 
:Matthew; Crofut, Joseph; Cobur~, Gilmore, Crany, 
James; Corbin, Philip; Clark, James; Clark, Sr., 
_Adam; Clark, Joseph; Cummins, Asa; Chappa], 
"\V m.; Comstock, Stephen; Comstock, Seth; Com­
stock, Daniel ; Carrington, Daniel; Carrington & 
l\Iygatt; Custer, Peter; Church, Jared X.; Corn­
well, Nathan; Cornwell, Hannah; Coller, Levi; 
Cozier, Benj.; Chapman, Joshua. 

Dobbs, Wm.; Durly, Benj.; Dibble, Ezra; Dibble, 
. .Nehemiah; Dibble, Daniel; Dibble, Joseph; 
Dibble, Xathan; Dibble, Peter; Dibble, Elisha; 
Dixon, Chas.; Dodd, John; Douglass, Na than; 
Deforest, Elihu; Deforest, Joseph; Diteman, 
Thos.; Diteman, Thaddeus; Diteman, Daniel; 
Dean, John. 

Eames, Everit; Ely, Edwards. 
Frost, Ezra ; Finch Peter · Finch Jacob · Foot 

John; Foot, Da,'.id; F~rrv Solomon· 'Foster: 
Jesse; Foster, Timothy. • ' ' 
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Gorham, Benj.; Gregory, l\Iunson; Gregory, Deb­
orah; Gregory, John; Gregory, Isaac; Gregory, 
Thos.; Gregory, Nath.; Gregory, Matthew; Greg­
ory, Samuel; Gregory, Jr., Kathan; Gregory, 
Nathan; Gregory, John; Gregory, Ezra; Greg­
ory, Ebenezer; Glover, C.; Green, Douglass; 
Griffin, Catharine; Gray, Elias. 

Hamilton, Silas; Hamilton, Paul; Hamilton, Jo­
seph ; Hamilton, John ; Hoyt, Eli; Hoyt, Comfort; 
Hoyt, Amos; Hoyt, Daniel; Hoyt, Jr., Comfort; 
Hoyt, Ared; Hoyt, Jonathan; Hoyt, Ereas; Hoyt, 
Stephen; Hoyt, Elijah; Hoyt, Agur; Hoyt, David; 
Hoyt, Jr., Daniel; Hoyt, Thaddeus; Hoyt, X oah; 
Hoyt, Jesse; Hoyt, Daniel D.; Hoyt, Drake; 
Hoyt, Jr., Xoah; Hoyt, Justice; Hoyt, Eleazar; 
Hoyt, John; Hoyt, Daniel (3d); Hoyt, Nathan; 
Hubbell, Ezra; Hubbell, Noah; Husted,.Andrew; 
Hayes, "\Vm.; Hickok, Samuel; Hawley, C.; Haw­
ley, John; Hodges, Ezra; Howington, Peter. 

Jones, Isaac; Joye, Jr., John; Joye, John; Joye, 
Daniel; Judd, Jacob; Judd, Jr., Thos.; Judd, Ab­
ner; Jarvis, Stephen; J UrYis, Eli; Jennings, Samuel. 

Knapp, David; Knapp, John; Knapp, Jr., John; 
Knapp, Elna than; Knapp, Daniel; Knapp, Noah; 
Knapp, Jr., Noah; Knapp, Benj.; Knapp, James; 
Knapp, J.r., James; Knapp, Joshua; Knapp, 
Bracy ; Kellogg, Eliasaph. 

Loveless, Richard; Lawrence, Oliver; Lindsley, 
:Matthew; Lindsley, Samuel; Lindsley, James. 

:McLean, John; :McLean, Alex.; 1\Iygatt, Eli; 1\Iy­
gatt, Filer; l\Iygatt, Comfort; 1\Iills, John; :.'\!orris, 
Shadrach; :Horris, Ethel and Chancey; :Morris, 
Ephraim; )lorehouse, Thaddeus; 1\Iansfield, Glo­
ver; l\Iunson, Ebenezer; l\Iurow, L. 

Nichols, Samuel; Kichols, Jr., Samuel; Nichols, 
Ebenezer ; Norris, Stephen. 

Osborn, )loses; Osborn, Daniel; Osborn, David; 
Osborn, Levi; Osborn, Joseph; Olmstead, Daniel; 
Olmstead, Joseph. 

Peck, Abijah; Peck, Levi; Peck, Luther; Peck, 
Elakin and l\Iijah; Peck, Stephen; Picket, Ebene­
zer; Picket, Jr., Ebenezer; Picket, Seymour; 
Picket, Darius ; Picket, James; Pratt, John; 
Phillip, Abial; Phillip, Samuel H.; Pell, S.; 
Patch, Q.; Patch, Thomson; Patch, Ezra; Patch, 
Elijah; Perry, 1\Iajor; Peirce, David; Peirce, 
Joshua; Platt, Jos.; Porter, Jr., John. 

Rockwell, Josiah; Rockwell, Jabez; Rockwell, Levi ; 
Robinson, Z.; Robinson, Calvin; Ryder, John; 
Roberts, "\\7 m. 

Starr, Caleb; Starr, Joshua; Starr, Na than; Starr, 
Ezra; Starr, "\Vidow Richard; Starr, X ath.; Starr, 
Peter; Starr, Thos. (3d); Starr, Jr., Thos.; Starr, 
"\\'idow Rebecca; Starr, Jr., Jonathan; Starr, Ethel; 
Starr, Jabez; Shove, Jr., Seth; Shove, Daniel; 
Shorn, Jr., Daniel; Shove, Seth; Stalkes, "\Vidow 
Annie ; Sturges, Joseph; Sturges, Simon ; Sa­
bins, J eptha; Smith, Samuel; Sut, James; Shute, 
Richard; Shute, John W. ; Selleck, N ath'l; Sel-
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leek, Lewis; St. John, Gamaliel; Scovil, Stephen; 
Scovil, Eneas; Sanford, Elijah; Scott, Joseph; 
Stevens, Thos.; Stevens, Eliphalet; Stevens, James; 
Stevens, Jonathan; Stevens, ·widow Esther; Stev­
ens, Na than ; Stevens, Ezra ; Stevens, Samuel; 
Stevens, Forward ; Stevens, Elijah; Stone, Levi; 
Stone, Oliver; Stone, Aaron; Stone, "\Vidow 
Annie; Stuart, James; Stuart, )Iiss Eleanor; 
Stuart, Jacob N. 

Tucker, Thos.; Taylor, Timothy; Taylor & Cooke; 
Taylor, Gilead; Taylor, Ira; Taylor, )Iajor; Taylor, 
·widow Hannah; Taylor, John; Taylor, Theoph­
ilus; Taylor, Salmon; Taylor, Jonathan; Taylor, 
Najah; Taylor, Lemuel; Taylor, Eliazor; Tweedy, 
Samuel; Tweedy, "'m.; Trobridge, Isaac; Tro­
bridge, John; Trobridge, Joseph. 

Vand~sen, John; Vaughn, "\Vm. 
Whittlesey, l\i. B.; Whittlesey, Elisha; Wood, 

Elijah; "\Vood, Benj.; Wood, David; "\Vood, 
Daniel; "\Vood, Jr., Daniel; ·wood, John; "\Vood, 
Jr., John; "\Vood, Nathan; "\Vhite, Jos. )I.; 
White, Widow )lary; White, Ebenezer B. ; 
White, Thos. P. ; White, Ebenezer J. ; White, 
Russel; "\Yildman, Timothy; "\Vildman, Jr., Thos.; 
"rildman, Libbeus; ·Wildman, David; ·wildman, 
Ezekiel; "\Yildman, Jr., Isaac; "'ildman, Elia­
kim; \Vildman, Jr., Samuel; "'ildman, Abraham; 
Wildman, Daniel; Wildman, Noah; "'ildman, 
Nirum; "\Yildman, Jr., Timothy; "\Yildman, Eli; 
"\Vildman, Isaac; "\Vildman, Nathan; "\Vildman, 
Jonathan; "\Vildman, Samuel ; ·Wildman, Joseph; 
Wildman, Thomas; "\Vashburn, Ephraim; "\Vash­
burn, Edmond; "rilks, )latthew; "rilks, Jr., 
)latthew; Wick~, Benj.; Wildman, Benj.; Wild­
man, Jr., Abraham; "'ildman, Jedediah; "rhit­
ney, Nathan; Wylley, .Abraham; Whiting, F.; 
"\Vhittock, Samuel; "' eed, Timothy; ,v eed, Sam­
uel; "\Veed, David; "\Veed, Bartholomew; "\Veed, 
Eleazor; ,v eed, Ephraim; ,v eed, Asa; "' ebster, 
Jonathan. 

The whole list amounted to £16,863, 12s. 5~d. 

CHAPTER XVII. 

DANBURY (Continued). 

THE W.AR OF TIIE REVOLUTIO~.* 

The Burning of Danbury-Sir "~illiam Ilowe·s Official Report-Killed, 
Wounded, and )Iissing-The Connecticut Journal's Account-The Ap­
proach to Daubury-Tryon's Hcadquarters-.Amusing Incident-The 
Prisoners-Destruction of Rum-Demoralization of Tryon·s Troops­
The Anxious Generab-Benjamiu Knapp's distinguished Guests-The 
Retreat-The Batlle-Gen. Wooster llortally Wounded-His Death in 
Danbury-List of Sufferers-Total Loss-Petition for Relief-Roll of 
ReYolutionary Soldiers. 

""\VHEX this section of country," says the ~Vews, 
"was called Pahquioque, or Pahquaige, it presented a 

* The following history of Danbu11• in tile Revolution is reproduced, 
by permiseion, from the columns of the Danbury Se~s through the cotu­
tesy of .J. ~- Bailey, Esq., "The Danbury :Sews Man." 

somewhat different appearance from what it does now. 
"\Ve can easily under~tand tl mt. But the imagination 
must be an active one, enjoying yery excellent health, 
to picture our neighborhood as it was in 1684, when, 
according to )Ir. Robbius, the fir~t settlement was 
made. 

"It is reasonable to suppose that the original eight 
families came to Dan bnry by what was since the turn­
pike between here and X orwalk. It is the most direct 
and presents less obstacles in the matter of high ground 
than any other way. So long ago as that there could 
not have been more than a trail, if as much, to direct 
and aid them. "\Vhat must haYe been their thoughts 
as they forced their way we cannot know. Judging 
the aspect of nature to be then considerably more for­
bidding than it is now, we must admire the courage of 
the original eight, even if we cannot respect their 
judgment. 

" Presuming there was a trail, its location through 
here must have been the present )Iain Street, and 
would naturally present to the new-comers a place _of 
residence principally because it defined something. 

".According to ::\Ir. Robbins' account they located 
close together, four on one side and four on the oppo­
site side. Their object was to start a Yillage. This 
l\"ith a view to sociability and protection, would de­
mand concentration. The lands on whose cultiyation 
they depended they sought here and there as the rich­
ness of the soil made necessary, and these locations 
varied so much that to reside upon the tracts would 
have so scattered the settlers as to have made the 
nucleus of a village 'a barren ideality,' and to have 
put social intercourse and mutual protection beyond 
the pale of possibility. It is likely enough that the 
eight families' homesteads did not cover more than 
the ground between South Street and the court-house. 

"The land was got from the Indians, and some of it 
remains in the possession of the families to this day, 
never having been sold or bought since the clay the 
Indians, beguiled by the glitter of new jackknives, 
swapped it for the bright treasures. 

"Mr. Eli T. Hoyt owns a piece in Great P_lain Dis­
trict, known as 1Unity Rocks,' which came from the 
Indians. l\Ir. Philo "\Vhite, in the same district, occu­
pies ground that his grandfather, the Rev. Ebenezer, 
mentioned in the sermon, got from the Indians. The 
homestead of :'.\Ir. Russell Hoyt came into his family 
from the same source. 

"In )lay, 1684, the General Court empowered 
Thomas Benedict, Thomas Fitch, and John Burr to 
plant a town at this point. What Messrs. Fitch and 
Burr did in the matter we do not know. )Ir. Bene­
dict's two sons, Samuel and James, were of the 'origi­
nal eight.' The ::\-Ir. Beebe of the same party was a 
brother-in-law. The Dr. "\Vood was also a brother­
in-law. )Ir. L. Starr Benedict and l\Ir. Charles Bene­
dict are direct descendants of James Benedict. Per­
haps the Danbury man of to-day who holds the most 
immediate connection with the first families is l\Ir. 

I 
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Eli T. Hoyt, who i~ the great grandson of John Hoyt, 
of the 'original eight.' ;\Ir. Hoyt has the rare distinc­
tion of having lived under the administration of eyery 
President, and of having YOted for sixteen of them. 

"By a careful wrench of the imagination we can 
see Danbury something as it existed then. vVe know 
from the quality of the land that the eminences were 
full of fir-trees. "' e deduce, also, from the lay of the 
land, that along the streams alders grew in profusion, 
and that in that portion east of )Iain Street and west 
of the Town Hill ridge there was a rather considera­
ble swamp. 

""Te are pretty confident that the swamp must have 
been a prominent feature in the topography from the 
fact that the first settlers Ret their heart upon calling 
their town Swampfielcl, and were only deterred there­
from by the arbitrary action of the General Court, 
which substituted the name Danbury." 

THE m:;m,nm OF DA1'BURY. 

"The American view of the night of terror which 
has gone clown in hi~tory as the burning of Danbury 
has been already given in )Ir. Robbins' sermon, on a 
previous page. The following is the English ver,;ion 
of the affair, being Sir ·William Howe's official report: 

"' The troops landed on the afternoon of the 25th of April (Friday), 
four miles to the eastward of ~orwalk and twenty miles from Danbury. 
Iri the afternoo11 of the 26th the detachment reached Danbury, meeting 
ouly small parties of the enemy on their march, but Gen. Tryon having 
intelligence that the whole force of the country was collecting to take 
ev:ery advantage of the· strong ground he was to pass on Lis retm·n to 
the shipping, and finding it illlpo~silJle to procure carriages to bring oft' 
any part of the stores, they were effectually tlestroyed; in the execution 
of which the i·illage teas m1m·oidably burnt. 

!:' On the 27th, in the m.orning, tlie troops gutted Danbury, and met 
with little opposition until they came near to Ridgefield, which was occu­
pied by Gen. Arnold, who had thrown up intrenchments to dispute the 
passage, while Gen. Woc.:nster hung upon the rear with a separate corps. 
The village was forced and the enemy driYen liack on all sides. 

'.'' Gen. Tryon lay that night at Ridgefield, and renewed his march on 
the morning of the 2b'.th. The enemy, ha,-ing been reinforced with 
troops and cannon, disputed eYery advantageous situation, keeping at 
the same time small parties to harai:;s the rear, until the general had 
formed his detachment upon a height within cannon-shot of the shipping, 
when, the enemy advancing seemingly with an intention to attack him, 
he ordered the troops to charge with their IJayouets, which was executed 
with such impetuosity tliat the re1Jeh1 were totally put to flight, ancl the 
detachment embarked without further molestation : 

"' The inclosed returns set forth the lo~s sustained by the king's troops, 
and that o( the enemy from the best i nfonnation: 

" ' Returr,, of the stores, orcl,umce, prori-sions, etc., found at the rebels' stores, 
and destroyed by the kiny's troops in Dnnbury.-A quantity of ordnance 
stores; with iron, etc.; 4000 Larrels of beef and pork; 1000 ban-els of 
fionr ; 100 large tierceo of bbket; isn ban-els of rice : 120 puncheons of 
nun; se,eral large stores of wheat, oat:-, and Indian corn, in lmlk : the 
quantity thereof could not po:-~il>ly be ascertained; 30 pipes of wine; 100 
hogsheads of sugar; 50 ditto of molns.,cs; 20 casks of coffee ; 15 large 
casks filled with medicines of all kinds; 10 barrels of saltpetre; 1020 
tents and marquees; a number of iron boilers; a large quantity of hol::i­
pital-bedding; engineeri,'

1 
pioneers\ an<l carpenters' tools; a printing­

press complete; tar, tallow, etc.; 5000 pairs of shoes and stocki11g; at a 
mill between Ridgebury and Ritlgefiehl, 100 barrels of flour, and a quan­
tity of Indian corn. 

"' Relurtted of Ute killed, v:ovnded, and misRing.-One drummer and fifer 
and twenty-three rank and filC', ki1le<l; three field-officers, :;ix captains, 
three subaltern~, nine sergeant,, ninety-two rank and file, wounded; one 
drummer and fifer aud twenty-~even rank and file, missing. Royal artil­
lery, tW'o additional killed, three matros:;es and one wheeler wounded, 
and one matross missing. 

u' Return of Ule rebels killed and tromuled.-Kille<l: Gen. ·wooster, Col. 
Gool<l, Col. Lamb, of the artillery, Col. Heuman, Dr . .Atwater, a man:or 
considerable influence, Capt. Cooe, Lieut. Thomp:;on, one hundred pri­
Yatrns. "-ounded: Col. Whiting, Capt. Benjamin, Lieut. Cooe, two hnn­
dre<l and fifty privates. Taken: fifty privates, including several com­
mittee-men.' 

"The Connecticut Journal of that time, after speak­
ing of the landing of the Briti~h and their march to 
Danbury, in which there are no particulars other 
than those giYen in the preceding accounts, says,-

"' Early the next morning (Saturday) Brig.-Gen. Silliman, with about 
fi,~e hundred militia, pursued the enemy; at Reading he was joined by 
1Iaj.-Gen. "-ooster and Btig.-Gen. Arnold. The heavy rain all the after­
noon retarded the march of our troops so much that they did not reach 
Bethel (a ,·iJlage two miles from Danbury) uutil eleven o'clock at night, 
much fatigued and their arms rendered useless by being wet. It was. 

thought prudent to refresh the men and attack the enemy on their 
rl\turn. Early the next morning (which proved rainy) the whole were 
in motion: two hundred meu remained with Gen. ":-ooster, and about 
four hundred ,,,.ere detached under Gen. Arnold and Gen. Silliman, on 
the road leading to Norwalk. At nine A.M. intelligence was received 
that the enemy had taken the road leading to Norwalk, of which Gen. 
"-ooster was informed, and pursued them, with whom he came up about 
eleven o'clock, when a smart skirmish ensued, in which Gen. Wooster,. 
who beha-ved with great intrepidity, unfortunately received a wound by 
a musket-ball through the groin, which it is feiu·ed will prove mortal. 
Gen. Arnoh1. by a for~ed march across the country, reached Ridgefield 
at eleven o'clock, and, having pcisted his small party (being joined by 
about one hundred men) of five hundred men, waited the approach of 
the enemy, who were soon discovere<l ad,·ancing in a column with three 
field-pieces in front and three in the_ rear, and large flank-guards of near 
two hundred men in each. At noon they began <lischarging their artil­
lery, and were ~n within musket-shot, 'When a smart action el18ned 
between the whole, and which continued for about an hour, in which 
our men behaved with great spilit, but, being ove~·powered by numbers, 
were obliged to giYe way. 

... "' Our loss cannot be exactly ascertained, no returns being made. 
lt is judged to be about sixty killed and wounded. 

"' The enemy's loss is judged to be more than double our number, and 
about twenty prisoners. The enemy on this OCl!asion behaved with their 
usual barliarity, wantonly and cruelly murde1ing the wounded prisoners 
who fell into their hands, and plundering the inhabitants, burning­
and destroying e-verything in their way. 1 

"According to the aboye account from the Connec­
ticut State Journal, the American troops approached 
Danbury in a storm of rain. The British must have 
been more fortunate in their progress, judging from 
the following incident: l\Irs. Stephen Ambler, who 
died at a ripe old age some years ago, was a girl of 
sixteen at that time. Her father, whose name was 
Munson, occupied a house which stood where l\Ir. E. 
A. Houseman's place now is, on Deer Hill A Yenue. 
l\Iany of our readers will remember the house. l\Iiss 
~Iun~on and her mother were engaged quilting on 
that Saturday when the news of the approach of the 
British was brought here. She went to an upper win­
dow, which commanded a view clear through Bethel, 
and she saw the moying mass of men, distinguishing 
their presence by the reflection of the sun on their 
burnished arms and accoutrements. The spectacle 
made so vivid an impression upon the mind of the 
young girl that she never forgot the sensation she 
then experienced.* 

* Mi.Es Munson subsequently married Stephen Ambler (who, with hli 
six brother~, sen·ed in the war), and l>ecame the grandmother of Oliver 
P. Clark. 
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"The British reached the Yillage shortly after two 
o'clock, so it "·as about one o'clock when )Iiss )Iun­
son saw them. The column had had an uninter­
n1pted march from the water. This is not surprising. 
The country was full of Tories,-men who were in 
.5ympathy with the king's cause and who knew every 
foot of the country. Through these Tryon knew the 
-condition of defense and offense of the people, and 
by them was guided along the safest and most direct 
route. " 7ith such knowledge and help, and with 
troops in fine condition, the march to Danbury was 
but an excursion. 

"Some four miles below here is an eminence called 
Hoyt's Hill. It is not on the turnpike, but is located 
by the road to Lonetown, southeast of the pike. It 
was along this road the British approached Bethel. 
The hill is on the border of Redding and Bethel, and 
is not eight miles di,tant from here, as Barbour in his 
-chronicles states. 

'· An incident occurred here that has been confused 
by two or three versions. Hollister, in his 'History of 
Connecticut,' says that Tryon was confronted on 
Hoyt's Hill by a presumably insane horseman, who 
appeared on the crest waYing a sword and conducting 
himself very much as if he was in command of a con­
siderable army in the act of climbing the opposite 
side of the hill. The British commander halted his 
force and sent out ~kirmishers to reconnoitre, when it 
was cliscoYered that the stranger was alone, and, in­
stead of leading on an enthusiastic army to almost 
certain victory, was making the best of his way back 
to Danbury. 

"This account is apparently a distortion of an inci­
dent that really did occur, although it has the sanc­
tion of local tradition, and is repeated (in honest be­
lief) by several aged re"idents, who got it from their 
parents, who were living here at the time. 

"Joseph P. Cooke, a resident of Danbury, was in 
<:ommand of the few Continental soldiers here at this 
time, with the nmk of colonel. "' e do not believe 
the troop was very large,-merely a guard over the 
government store which was located here. 

"1Yhen the news of the British approach was 
learned in Danbury, Dr. John "' ood dispatched a 
young man in his employ named Lambert Lockwood 
to learn the size and contemplated line of march of 
the British troop><. Young Lambert reached the sum­
mit of Hoyt's Hill, "·hen he suddenly and rather un­
expectedly came upon the foe. He must have been 
riding at a smart ~peed, or he would not have become 
so helplessly entangled as he turned out to be. "'hen 
he di~covered the enemy he was too close upon them 
to get away, and in attempting it he was wounded 
and captured. He learned a great deal of the British 
and their designs, but the value of it was consider­
ably impaired by this incident. 

"Tryon's troops marched through Bethel "·ithout I 
(singularly enough, taking in account his 'blood­
thirsty' nature) doing any damage to life or property. 

After leaving Bethel foe ranks were deployed, and 
Danbury was approached in open order, some of the 
advance being so far deployed as to take in Shelter 
Rock Ridge on the right. The father of the vener­
able Thomas Andrews, of Bethel, with sewral com­
panions, went on Shelter Rock to see the British col­
umn pas,;, and while there were surprised and shot at 
by the royal scouts. 

"On reaching the south end of our village Gen. 
Tryon took up his headquarters in the house of 
X ehemiah Dibble, on South Street. The !"ame 
building has ever since been known as the 1Vooster 
Place, from the fact of Gen. "' ooster dying there 
a few days later. Several years ago it was torn 
down. 

HOl:SE OF XEHEMI.UI DIBBLE, IX WHICH GEX. WOOSTER 
DIED. 

"It was between two and three o'clock in the after­
noon when the Briti~h arrived. The leader lun-ing 
selected his headquarters, the quartering of the force 
for the protection of them$eh·e., was next attended to. 
Tryon's a.;sistant,, Gens. Erskine and Agnew, accom­
panied by a body of mounted iufantry, proceeded up 
)Iain Street to the junction of the Barren Plain road 
(now ·white Street), "·here Benjamin Knapp JiYed. 
Knapp's hou~e stood about "·here is now D. P. Xich­
ols' brick block, long known as )Iilitary Hall, the 
corner of which is occupied by F. 1V. Barnum, drug­
gist. The two generab quartered them,elves upon 
)Ir. Knapp, taking complete pos,e,sion of the house, 
with the exception of one room where )!rs. Knapp 
was lying ill. 

"On this da,h up )Iain Street the party met with 
two incidents. A man named 1Yilliam Hamilton had 
a piece of cloth at a fuller's on South Street. "Then 
he heard of the approach of the enemy, he got on his 
horse and rode there in full haste for his goods. He 
was rather late, however, and when he came out into 
the street to remount his horse a squad of the force 
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was upon him. Danbury's horses could not have had 
the reputation for speed they now enjoy, or }Ir. Ham­
ilton was very poorly provided, for the steeds of the 
military gained on him at every rod of the way. He 
flew up J\Iain Street with a half-dozen troopers in full 
pursuit, aud on reaching ,vest Street, then a mere 
lane, turned up it, the hair on his head being 
yery erect. The pursuers followed him, and one of 
them, being more in advance and close upon him, 
swung his sword to cleave him in two, when a singu­
lar but most fortunate accident occurred. Hamilton 
lost a part of his hold on the roll, which he had up 
to this time tenaciously clung to; the cloth flew out 
like a ribbon, frightening the pursuing animals and 
rendering them unmanageable. 

"The column that came up :!'\Iain Street were fired 
at from the house of Capt. Ezra Starr. This building 
stood where now is the residence of the Hon. D. P. 
Nichols, corner of ::\Iain and Boughton Streets. The 
shots were fired by three young men. It was an act 
of reckless daring, and the actors must have been 
very young, as the shots could not have possibly had 
any other effect on the invasion than to have exas­
perated the invaders. These men were Joshua Porter 
and Eleazer Starr and a negro named Adams, who 
was in Ezra Starr's employ. ::\Ir. Porter lived in Ob­
long (Westville District). He was in the village after 
a gallon of molasses when the enemy came. Starr 
fived on the corner of l\Iain and Elm Streets, within 
a few feet of The }(ews office. Both men went into 
the captain's house, and there awaited the approach 
of the enemy. They were killed on the premises, and 
the building was immediately fired, the three bodies 
being consumed with it. 

"The skirmish-line of the British as they ap­
proached Danbury extended from Shelter Rock to 
Tom }fountain. Tryon was an able general, and, 
although pretty well assured that the country was 
without an organized military force, omitted no 
proper precaution. The main body came in on the 
road (now but little used) which skirts the west side 
of Coalpit Hill. The skirmishers advanced a few 
rods north of South Street, covering }Iain Street, 
and then rested. Gen. Tryon took up his headquar­
ters with Nehemiah Dibble, and Gens. Agnew and 
Erskine, with a body of the troops, preceded by two 
pieces of artillery, started up the main street. 

"The alarm in Danbury was, of course, consider­
able. The town was in no position of defense. The 
news of the invasion was known in New Haven 
hours before it was received here. Danbury had a 
company of cavalry under command of Capt. Starr, 
but the greater portion of them were in X ew York 
State, in the Federal army. The number here with 
the few detachments did not form a total of a hun­
dred and fifty effective men. There were but very 
few able-bodied civilians present. The whole body 
of military was under command of Col. Cooke. He 
withdrew as the enemy advanced, so the only oppo-
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sition Tryon's men found came from the few citizens 
who from every available shelter fired upon the col­
umn as it advanced up Main Street. 

"As the force reached the present location of the 
court-house the two pieces of artillery were dis­
charged, and the heavy balls, six- and twelve-pound­
ers, flew screaming up the street, carrying terror to 
the hearts of the women and children and dismay to 
the heads of the homes thus endangered. There are 
probably a number of these balls saved up by our 
citizens. Two of them, found on Dr. ,v. F. Lacey's 
place, are in possession of Col. Samuel Gregory. 

"Immediately upon Gens. Agnew and Erskine 
taking up their quarters in 1\Ir. Knapp's house, a 
picket was located. One squad of twenty men occu­
pied the rising ground where is now the junction of 
Park A venue and Prospect Street. A second took 
position on the hill near Jarvis Hull's house. The 
third was located on what is now called Franklin 
Street. ,v e have no information of other picket­
squads, but it is likely enough that every approach 
to the village was guarded. 

"It is related of a brother of Joshua Porter that, 
coming into the village to see what the British were 
doing, he came upon three of the picket stationed on 
Park A venue. They commanded him to halt. 

" ',vhat for?' he inquired, still continuing towards 
them. 

"'You are our prisoner,' said they. 
"' Guess not,' he laconically replied, moving stead­

ily upon them. 
" ' We'll stick you through and through if you 

don't stop,' one of them threatened, advancing close 
to him. 

"Porter was a man of very powerful build, with 
muscles like steel and a movement that was a very 
good substitute for lightning. They were close upon 
him. There was a gulch back of them. In a flash 
he had the foremost trooper in his grasp. In the 
next instant he had hurled him against the other 
two, and the three went into the gulch in a demoral­
ized heap. The rest of the squad, seeing the disaster, 
immediately surrounded and subdued Porter. This 
little affair, it is said, gave the name of Squabble Hill 
to that neighborhood. 

"Porter and a man named Barnum are believed to 
be the only prisoners the enemy carried away from 
Danbury. They were taken to New York City and 
confined in the infamous Sugar-House prison. Porter 
was subsequently released and returned home, but 
Barnum died there from starvation. When found he 
had a piece of brick in his hand holding it to his 
mouth, as if to draw moisture from it to cool his 
feverish throat. 

"The main body of the troops remained in the 
village and shortly engaged in the destruction of the 
military stores. Those in the Episcopal church were 
rolled out into the street and there fired, as the edifice 
was of the Church of England, and so reverenced by 
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the English invader. -This church stood where is 
now the graveyard on South Street, which was then 
its churchyard. The building was years after re­
moved to the corner of Main Street and turned into 
a tenement. 

"Two other buildings contained stores. One of 
these was a barn belonging to Nehemiah Dibble. 
The goods were taken out and burned to save the 
building, as Dibble was a Tory. The other was a 
building situated on Main Street, near where is now 
Samuel C. Wildman's place. It was full of grain. 
It was burned with its contents. It is said that the 
fat from the burning meat ran ankle-deep in the 
street. No less free ran the rum and wine, although 
not in the same direction. The soldiers who were 
directed to destroy these tested them first, and the 

1 
result was as certain as death. Before night had 
fairly set in the greater part of the force were in a 
riotous state of drunkenness. Discipline was set at 
naught. King George stood no chance whatever in 
the presence of King Alcohol, and went down before 
him at once. The riot continued far into the night. 
Danbury was never before or since so shaken. They 
went up and down the main street in squads, singing 
army song8, shouting coarse speeches, hugging each 
other, swearing, yelling, and otherwise conducting 
themselves as becomes an invader when he is very, 
very drunk. The people who had not fled remained 
close in their homes, sleepless, full of fear, and utterly 
wretched, with the ghastly tragedy at Capt. Starr's 
house hanging like a pall over them. The night was 
dark, 1\,rith dashes of rain. The carousers tumbled 
down here and there as they advanced in the stages 
of drunkenness. 

"Some few of the troops remained sober, and these 
performed the duties of the hour. One of these was 
the marking of a cross upon the buildings which be­
longed to the Tmies. This was clone with pieces of 
lime. There was considerable of this property. Sym­
pathizers with the government of the mother-country 
abounded hereabouts. They were men who honestly 
believed that colonies had no right to secede from the 
Crown, and they defended their belief when they 
could, and cherished it at all times. They were jubi­
lant now. The proper authorities were in possession, 
the rebel element was overcome, and the Tories be­
lieved that Danbury was forever redeemed from the 
pernicious sway of the rebellion. 

ence, they went to the house in search of him. His 
sister hid him in her brick oven, and when the danger 
was over he secretly left Danbury for Nova Scotia, 
never again to return. He lived in the house just 
east of George Ryder's place, on ,v ooster Street, and 
which, remodeled, stands there yet. 

"It was not a particularly happy night for the gen­
eral in command. He had met with a complete suc­
cess in reaching Danbury and destroying the stores, 
which was the object of his mission. But the great 
bulk of his force was helpless in the strong embrace 
of New England rum, and news had come that a force 
of the enemy was gathering and marching towards 
him. They were anxious hours to the three generals 
and their aids, but especially to him on whom rested 
all the responsibility of the expedition. 

"Besides the approach of ,v ooster's men, there 
was the small band of troops under command of Col, 
Cooke, who were undoubtedly near by, ready to give 
vigorous help to an attacking force, knowing every 
foot of the ground, and capable of giving an infinite 
amount of annoyance if nothing more. Then there 
were gathering farmers from the outlying districts, 
who had through the afternoon given substantial evi­
dence of their presence by creeping up as near as pos­
sible and firing at the pickets. The darkness that fell 
about the town after nightfall might pardonably be 
peopled with many dangers by even a less imagina­
tive person than was the British general. 

"In the mean time Benjamin Knapp was having 
his own particular trouble. 

" ::\fr. Knapp wa.5 a tanner. His house stood on 
what is now ,Vhite Street, near the corner of )Iain. 
·white Street was then called Barren Plain Road, and 
this name was given it because the road ran across 
the Balmforth Avenue region, which was then pretty 
much sand. Barren Plain Road was not quite as 
straight as White Street. It bowed to the south 
about where Hawley &Sayers' coffin warehouse stands. 
Back and just east of there, on the stream, Mr. Knapp 
had his tannery. 

"It is very rarely the resident of a humble village 
has two brigadier-generals come to spend Sunday 
with him, and the advent of Gens. Agnew and Ers­
kine should have been an unbounded delight to Mr. 
Knapp, but it is doubtful if it were. The generals 
made themselves fully at home. There was no stiff­
ness about them. They killed Mr. Knapp's stock and 
cut up the meat on his floor, and the dents thereof 
were visible as long as the building stood. Mr. 
Knapp's wife was a sorely-afflicted innlid, but her 
inability to attend domestic duties did not in any way 
embarrass the guests, yet it was very unpleasant for 
)Ir. Knapp. Besides that, the neighboring people, 
on that eventful afternoon, drew near to the town 
with their long-barreled guns, and, taking advantage 
of the heavy growth of alders along the stream, fired 
at a red-coat wherever he showed himself. There 

"It was two of these people who piloted Tryon 
into Danbury. They were Stephen J a1·vis and Eli 
Benedict. They were very happy men on this dismal 
night, and the foture looked very bright to them. 
The next night there was a very big difference in the 
state of their feeling. They had fled from Danbury. 
Some time after, Benedict came back, but, being 
threatened with violence, he left for good. Jarvis 
went to Nova Scotia, where he made his home. Once 
he returned on a visit to his sister. He came pri­
vately; but, the neighbors getting word of his pres- I was a picket stationed on the Main Street bridge, and 

' 



DANBURY. 187 

this party was a special target. All this made :\Ir. 
Knapp Yery nenTous, as he could not very satisfac­
torily show that he was not in league with the am­
bushed patriots, and he feared his property would 
suffer. However, it did not. The British generals, 
in view of the accommodation and illness of )lrs. 
Knapp, spared the house in the general conflagration 
that followed. The house was removed twenty-five 
years ago to make room for the present building. It 
was the stereotyped house,-side to the street, with 
back roof sloping down to within a man's height of 
the ground. 

"At midnight the uproar caused by the inundation 
of two thousand soldiers and the absorption of such 
a great quantity of New England rum had to a great 
degree abated. Tryon wa~ fully awake. His position 
was becoming exceedingly perilous. Shortly after 

1 

midnight word came to him that the rebels, under 
,v ooster and Arnold, had reached Bethel and were 
preparing to attack him. This was unexpected to 
him. He had thought to spend the Sabbath leisurely 
in Danbury. The word that came from Bethel radi­
cally changed his programme. At once all became 
bustle. The drunken sleepers were aroused to new 
life by the most available means, and a movement 
made towards immediate evacuation. 

"It was nearly one o'clock Sunday morning when 
Tryon got word of the Bethel gathering. Up'to that 
hour there had been but three buildings destroyed 
(already mentioned). As soon as the men were 
aroused and in place, excepting those detailed for 
picket, the work of destruction began. This was 
about two o'clock. In the next hour the buildings 
owned by Tories were marked with a cross, done with 
a chunk of lime. The work of burning was then 
commenced. 

"The first house burned stood just west of the 
Episcopal church on South Street, but some little 
distance from the street, and where is now the garden 
of the late Charles Ryder's house. There was a long 
garden attached to it, and at the opposite encl of the 
garden, almost reaching )Iain Street, was another 
house. These buildings were owned and occupied 
by John McLean, one as a dwelling, and the one on 
the corner as a store. 

")fr. )lcLean was commissary of the Continental 
troops in that vicinity, and the object of the visit of 
the enemy to Danbury was to destroy the army pro­
Yisions which he had accumulated in his store and in 
the Episcopal church, which was then unfinished. 
They would not burn the church, but rolled the bar­
rels of flour and pork into South Street, and burned 
them and the buildings, the lard being over shoe deep 
after the conflagration. 

"Mr. ::\IcLean had sent off all his working teams 
towards ,vest Point with supplies, and had nothing 
at home but a pair of fatting oxen and a saddle-horse. 
Upon the alarm of the enemy's approach the oxen 
were put before a cart with a feather-bed in it, upon 

which his wife and chilcl1:en proceeded to New )Iil­
ford, while he remained burying and putting in safety 
such of his property as he could conceal until the 
British appeared over Coalpit Hill. They saw and 
pursued him, calling out, 'Old Daddy,' 'Rebel,' etc., 
and firing after him when the fleetness of his horse 
seemed likely to carry him out of their reach. Some 
of the bullets passed through his coat and hat, but he 
escaped uninjured, joining his family in New }Iilford, 
whence they removed to a farm which he owned in 
Stony Hill, and remained until the close of the war. 
They then returned to Danbury and built the house 
now standing near the foot of :\Iain Street. A few of 
his descendants still reside in the town, but none 
bearing his name, the only grandson being Dr. John 
A. McLean, of Norwalk. 

"Capt. Daniel Taylor, l\Iaj. Taylor, Comfort Hoyt, 
Jr., and Joseph "Tildman were also among the suf­
ferers, but the writer knows not where their property 
was located. 

"The second house fired was on the east side of 
Main Street, a few rods from the corner of South 
Street, and where the big pine-tree now stands. After 
that there was no order in the firing, but the flames 
seemed to burst out simultaneously in all directions. 

"Dr. John ,v ood's place, about where are the 
places of ,villiam Bedient and the late Philander 
Comstock, was destroyed. There were two wells in 
this vicinity, each of which was filled with iron, can­
non-balls, etc., which could not be burned, and were 
thus put out of the way. David "Toocl's house, where 
-William H. Clark now lives, was burned. Across the 
street from him lh·ed Capt. James Clark, who lost his 
house. Xext to Clark was Maj. )fygatt's home, just 
south of E. R. ,Vhittlesey's place, also burned. 
Another contribution to the flames was the house of 
Rev. Ebenezer \Vhite, where G. F. Bailey's house 
now is. Zadoc Benedict's house stood where Schop­
paul's bakery is, north of the depot. l\Ir. Knapp 
must have thought the trouble was getting pretty 
close to him. Capt. Joseph P. Cook's house also 
went. It stood where Lucius P. Hoyt's house is. 

"The record says there were nineteen dwelling­
houses burned in all. It is said also that there were 
several stores burned. They must have been owned 
by members of this list. "Te know that Capt. Cook 
owned one of the stores, and that the vV oods owned 
another. Cook's store stood where he lived, and the 
latter was where l\Ir. Bedient's place is. X ear Samuel 
C. ,vildman's house stood a blacksmith-shop, which 
als~ perished. In it was made a part of the chains 
with which the Hudson was barricaded at w· est Point. 
The meeting-house of the Xew Danbury Society was 
also burned. It stood on Liberty Street, between 
Delay Street and Railroad A venue. 

"As but nineteen houses were burned, it was not so 
much of a conflagration, after all. Danbury then had 
a population of some two thousand fiye hundred. To 
accommodate these there must have been at least four 
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hundred dwellings in the township, and nearly, if not 
quite, three hundred in the village. Historians say 
that every house was burned except those belonging 
to Tories. If this be so, then the humiliating reflec­
tion is ours that the great bulk of Danbury was Tory. 
Thank Heaven for the strength to believe that it is 
not so! It is likely that the British burned only those 
buildings that were available in their hasty getting 
together, including those whose owners may have 
been particularly obnoxious to the loyal heart. 

"·with the fire well under way the pickets were 
called into the formed line, and the invading army 
took up its march in retreat. 

"Tryon did not undertake to return as he came. 
The force under Wooster at Bethel deterred him from 
that, and he sought to make a detour through Ridge­
field." 

THE FIGHT. 

"In the light from the burning buildings the British 
troops took up their line of march from town, passing 
over Deer Hill by way of the road now called \V oos­
ter Street. ~ o sooner had the last man left .Main 
Street than the advance of the American squad, which 
had hung on the outskirts of the village since being 
driven out, appeared on the street, and immediately 
followed after. 

"Before the last of the British were fairly out of 
the village the gray dawn of the Sabbath waved up 
from the east, and as it advanced into the broader 
light of the new day it showed the long line of British 
filing through liiry Brook road, and the straggling 
but determined rebels, armed with long muskets, car­
ried with both hands, bringing up the rear, and doing 
their best to harass the foe, and succeeding. Still, 
with all their patriotic zeal, we are obliged to enter­
tain but a poor idea of their marksmanship, for there 
is no record that any of the enemy were killed on 
Danbury soil. 

"Among this crowd of daring if not effective per­
sons there was one who was sufficiently rapid in his 
manual of arms, however short he may have fallen 
from being effective. He was poised on a fenc.e the 
afternoon before, and fired thirty-two shots at the 
skirmish-line of the advancing British without being 
touched by a single one of the many bullets sent after 
him. When his ammunition was gone he held up 
his cartouch-box to the enemy to show its emptiness, 
and then left, shouting as he ran these very patriotic 
words: 

H' He that fights and runs away 
Jlla)' live to fight another day, 
But be that is iu battle slain 
Shall never live to fight again.' 

"A movement of a body of two thousand men could 
not be made, of course, without the knowledge of the 
neighbors. The people of the adjoining districts and 
villages had been apprised of the arrival of the British 
in Danbury by the families who had fled from the 
doomed town. All that Saturday night men were 

hovering about the place, looking with hungry eyes 
for every manifestation from the enemy. :Ko sooner 
had the line taken up its march than these people 
knew of it, and, determining the route, sought to an­
noy the march all that was in their power to do. One 
of their acts was to destroy the bridge over \V olf Pond 
Run, in Miry Brook District. When the enemy 
reached this place they were obliged to ·stop and 
throw over a temporary bridge of rails. This made 
a delay, and enabled the forces under \Vooster to gain 
headway. 

"One historian says that the British marched through 
Sugar Hollow. This is plausible enough if the force 
had been an excursion-party hurrying to Ridgefield 
to take a railway-train, but no military man would 
be so insane as to take his men through such a defile, 
where there was every advantage and ample protec­
tion for an enemy. 

"Gen. Tryon took his people through Ridgebury, 
having an open country for his skirmishers. He was 
confident that by making this detour he would mis­
lead \Vooster, and escape to his boats without serious 
interruption. 

"But ,,T ooster, at Bethel, soon got word of the move 
and prepared to meet it. \Vooster was a resident of 
New Haven, and was in that city when the news of 
the enemy landing at Compo reached him. Immedi­
ately he started for Danbury with what force he could 
get there. He was joined on the way by Arnold and 
Silliman, and the men under their commands. Poor 
·w ooster ! He little realized when he started for this 
insignificant hamlet that it would become his ever­
lasting home, so far as this world is concerned, and 
that here the only substantial honor he should enr 
receive would be given. 

"Gen. \Vooster sent Arnold and Silliman, as we 
have already indicated, direct to Ridgefield, across the 
country from Bethel, while he struck out in a more 
northerly direction, intending to strike the foe before 
he reached Ridgefield. In this he succeeded. He 
came upon the enemy while they were breakfasting, 
about eight o'clock in the morning of that eventful 
Sunday. He appeared from a piece of woods, and 
struck a rear regiment with such unexpected force that 
he captured forty of the men before the command was 
fairly aware of his presence. He withdrew as rapidly 
as he came, but shortly after made another dash, while 
the enemy were in motion, and it was then the fight 
took place in which he lost his life. 

"There are so mauy conflicting accounts of this 
engagement that we are powerless to determine which 
is right. It is not a matter of any moment, however. 
\Vooster and his two or three hundred men were alone 
in it, as Arnold and Silliman's force were in Ridge­
field Village, barricading the road and waiting for a 
chance to do their share. Out in the country, amid 
the rocks and the pine scrub lying between Ridgefield 
Street and Ridgebury church, the brave and ill-fated 

I man was waging the unequal battle. It was at the 
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first of the second attack that he receiYed the fatal 
wound. The British must have been on the retreat, 
or his friends would not have been able to recover his 
person, as he fell where he was shot. The great sash* 
which he wore was unwound, and, being spread out 
as a blanket, he was put in it and carried from the 
field. Then he was placed in a carriage and slowly 
brought back to Danbury. 

"In the Dibble mansion, where Tryon but a few 
hours before had had his headquarters, the unfortunate 
p;~eral was placed. A local surgeon dressed the wound 
as vell as he was able, and shortly after a more experi­
enc d man came from New Haven to attend him. The 
bull t, which is said to have been fired by a Tory, en­
tere his back obliquely just as he turned to wave on 
his men, and, cutting the spinal cord, was buried in 
his stomach. The nature of the wound precluded 
recovery even had he receiYed the best skill on the 
moment. His wife arrived from New Haven, but a 
delirium had seized him, and he did not recognize 
her. For three days he lay in the old South Street 
house, suffering untold agony, and then he fell into a 
stupor. This was Thursday morning of that eventful 
"·eek. 

"' It was noted by her who, faithful to the last, un­
remittingly watched his pillow that during this and 
the following day (as is frequently the case in the clos­
ing scene of an active life) his mind was busied in ex­
citing reminiscence. By the feeble light of flickering 
reason he was tracing the long and weary pilgrimage, 
the cruises, sieges, battles, marches, through which he 
had passed, only to reach his grave. The home of his 
childhood, the cabin of his ship, the old mansion by 
the Sound, pass in a blended image before his fading 
v1s1on. The dash of waves, the rattle of musketry, 
the roar of cannon, ring confusedly in his deafened 
ear. His hand cannot respond to the gentle pressure 
of affection. His breathing grows shorter and shorter, 
while the icy chill advances nearer and nearer to the 
heart. As his wife wipes the death-damp from his 
brow his eyes, hitherto closed, open once more, and in 
their clear depths, for one glad moment, she discovers 
the dear, the old, the familiar expression of returned 
consciousness; his lips gasp in vain to utter one pre­
cious word of final adieu, and the last effort is to throw 
on her one farewell glance of unutterable tenderness 
and love.'t 

"On Friday, May 2, 1777, he died. On Sunday the 
funeral was held. It was a quiet affair, although the 
body was that of a major-general and of a soldier who 
for courage and patriotism had no superior. But Dan­
bury was sorely afflicted. Many of the houses were 
in ruins, and nearly all the able-bodied men were 
away. 

"l\Iiss Betty Porter, aged sixteen, daughter of one of 
the men killed and burned in )1aj. Starr's house, and 

* The sash and sword are now in Yale Co1lege. 
t Henry C. Deming's oration at the ,v ooster monument, 1854-. 
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subsequently the wife of Capt. K athaniel Gregory, 
grandfather of our Col. Gregory, was at the funeral. 
She says there were but six men present, and they 
bore the body to its resting place. The remains were 
buried in the graveyard on ,v ooster Street. 

"Rev. Samuel Peters, in his quaint work' A General 
History of Connecticut,' says, 'David ,v ooster, the 
rebel general, Benedict Arnold's old friend and mob­
bing confederate, received a fatal ball through his 
bladder as he was harassing the rear of the royal 
troops, of which, after being carried forty rniles to New 
Haven, he died, and was buried at the side of Darid 
Dexwell, one of the judges of Charles I.' 

"The firing of our people upon the British, with the 
return fire of the enemy, marked as distinctly as sight 
could have done to the refugees the progress of the 
march. Besides, there were messengers, in the person 
of boys, who kept track of the course and reported 
hourly. Long before the royal column passed Ridge­
bury church the people who had fled began to return 
to the village, some to undisturbed homes, others to 
smoking ruins. Before night the most of them had 
got back, although it "'as not until the next day that 
all had returned. The parents of the venerable ::',Irs. 
Phebe Benedict, who is still abiding with us, went to 
New Fairfield. 

" ,Yith the returning Danburians came a host of 
sight-seers from Redding, Bethel Village, Brookfield, 
Newtown, New Fairfield, and other places. It was a 
great spectacle for outsiders, and they flocked here 
just as people do to the scene of an overwhelming 
disaster. All that Sunday afternoon the main street 
and South were full of people, viewing the ruins, sym­
pathizing with the sufferers, cursing the enemy, and 
delivering opinions of reckless wisdom, as is common 
with the dear masses in. matters they know nothing 
of. One of these visitors used to relate that the wheels 
of his wagon sank above their felloes in the cold grease 
on South Street, which came from the burnt pork. 
There were three taverns here at the time, and the 
business they might have done, had they the liquid 
facilities, would have been immense. 

"Dr. Jabez Stan, grandfather of Mr. Fred Starr, 
kept one of the taverns. His place stood on the cor­
ner of ::'.Iain and Elm Streets, near where is now The 
-1.Yews building. On the approach of the enemy he 
moved his goods out of town and harm's way. }Ir. 
Starr was the only doctor in Danbury at the time. 

"The house now occupied by Nathaniel Barnum, a 
few doors south of The .1Yews office, was a tavern at 
that time. On a sign swinging from a post it bore a 
copy of the arms of King George IV., which gave the 
tavern its name. It was kept by John Trowbridge, 
who was )Ir. Barnum's great-grandfather. Owing to 
its sign it was saved from destruction, but its furniture 
was piled up in the street and burned. l\Ir. Barnum 

I 
has completely changed the outside appearance of the 
building, so that to-day it looks but little like it was 
at that time. 
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"}fr. Trowbridge was a lieutenant in the rebel 
army. He was away with his regiment at the time. 
His people remo,ed themselves and "·hat furniture 
they could get together to X athan Cornwall's tavern, 
in Beaver Brook District, the tavern standing on what 
is now Henry Starr's place. The royal troops did not 
interfere with the property, but the furniture that was 
destro):ed was the work of Tory neighbors. 

"Maj. N. }1. Taylor in 1777 liYed in a house which 
stood at the junction of South Street with Dumpling 
Hill road. On the news of the coming of the British 
he hurried home and told his wife to make ready to 
fly. She was of the genuine Revolutionary material. 
She had a baking of bread ready for the oven, and 
she declared she would not leave until it was done. 
Before it was done the enemy came into town, and 
Taylor's tavern was inundated by soldiers. She told 
them that she had a batch of bread in the oven, and 
if they wanted some she would girn it to them. Hot 
fresh bread is a toothsome bit to a soldier, and when 
the bread came out they took it all. Fortunately for 
Taylor's property, his wife was a good baker, and the 
soldiers, whose stomachs had been delighted by her 
skill, left the building undisturbed. 

"Ten years later Jnr. Taylor put up a guide-stone 
in front of his place, which contained the following 
information: 

"' 6i miles to H(artford). 
66 miles to N. Y. 

This stone erected by N. M. Taylor, 1787.' 

")Ir. Taylor soon after bui-lt the house, now owned 
by :Martin E. Clark, on South Street at the foot of 
Main, which was used as a tavern. There is not a 
Revolutionary building in town that shows less change 
than this building. It is two stories high, with a tre­
mendous garret. His dining-room was then used as 
the reception-room, with the small bar of those days 
opening off from it, and now used by him for a milk­
room. A part of the second floor was used as a ball­
room. Three stone chimneys pierce the roof. One 
of these at the base is eight by eleven feet and five 
feet square in the garret. The others are nearly as 
large. :Near to this building stood the house of Com­
fort Hoyt, Jr., which was burned. John McLean was 
the most serious sufferer of the. lot. His house stood 
where is now the venerable big double tenement on 
the south side of Main Street, and ·which is to-day 
called by many the McLean place. 

"Immediately after the disaster the selectmen were 
instructed to present a petition to the Legislature for 
the relief of the sufferers. Hinman, in his '"\Var of 
the American Revolution,' sa3·s,-

"' John :McLean, Eli )lygatt, and others, se,ectmen of Danbury, stated 
to the General Asseml►ly convened at Hartford on the 8th of May, 1777, 
that the enemy in their incursion into Danlmry burned and destroyed 
the public records of said town, and they apprehended great damage 
might a.rise to the inhabitants unless some timely remedy should be pro­
Yided. The AssemLly appointed Daniel Sherman, Col. Xehemiah Beards­
ley, Increase ~loseley, Lemuel Sanford, Col. S. Canfield, aud Caleb Bald­
win to repair to Danbury as soon as might l>e, aml notify the inhaLitants 
of said town, and Uy all lawful ways inquire into alH.l ascertain every 
man's right, and report to the next General Asseml>ly. 

( ' 

u c This committee reportcU to the Assembly that the Btitish troops 
had made a hostile invasion into said town, and under a pretense of de­
stroying the public stores had consumed with fire about twenty dwelling­
houses, with many stores, barns, and other buildings, and that the enemy 
on their retreat collected and drove off all the live stock-viz., cattle, 
horses, and sheep-which they could find, and that the destruction of 
said property had reduced many of the wealthy inhabitants to poverty. 
Having notified the inhabitants, they from day t-0 day examined the 
]osses of each sufferer, on oath and by other evidence, and allowed to 
each his damage at the time said property was destroyed. They found 
that by reason of the price of articles the inhabitants had been obliged 
to pay l'arge sums o-ver and above the value in procuring the necessaries 
for their families, that many of them had their teams forced from them 
to remove the puLlic stores, etc. They gave the name of each sufferer, 

with his loss allowed, annexed to his name, which amounted to thetm 
of sixteen thousand one hnndred and eighty-one pounds one shil ng 
and four pence, which report was a-ecepted by the Assembly and or ered 
to be lodged on file, to perpetuate the evidence of the loss of each p on, 
that, when Congress should order a compensation, to make out the c aims 
of sufferers. 

"c On the receipt of this communication the pay-table were directed 
to draw an order on the treasurer for the sum of five hundred pounds in 
fa.-vor of the selectmen of Danbury, as aforesaid, who could not subsist 
without such relief. 

"' In 1787 the sufferers in Danbury, ha,,ing received uo further relief, 
again petitioned the General Assembly of Connecticut, upon which peti­
tion Hon. Andrew Adams and others were appointed a committee. 

"' The chairman of said committee reported that for want of exhibits 
and documents they were unable methodically and correctly to state the 
facts or losses and estimate oi damages, and also, for the want of proper 
certificates from the treasurer and secretary of state, to report what had 
already been done for their reli<"f, but were of opinion that the houses 
and buildings and necessary household furniture destroyed by the enemy 
ought to be paid for by th~ State at their just value, and that the only 
manner in the power of the State, at that ti~e, was to pa.y the same in 
Western lands; which report was in October, 1787, accepted by the House, 
but rejected by the Upper House.' 

"In 1792 the General Assembly made the award of 
land. This territory is in Ohio, and has since been 
known as the "\V estern Resen-e. 

"This list of sufferers, with the amounts of losses, 
we herewith give, as awarded by the first-named 
committ~e. 

Mr. John McLean ........................................... $12,462.64 
Capt. Ezra Starr.............................................. 11,480.00 
Capt. Daniel Taylor......................................... 4,0::l2.00 
Col. Johu P. Cook........................................... 4,767,50 
Major Eli ll_vgatt.......................... ...... ............ 580,30 
Capt. Ja1ues Clark........................................... 4 112.62 
"llajor Ta)" !or. . ... . . . . . ... ...... ...... .•.... .. ......•......... 3.5Q-1.00 
C.,oiufort Hoyt, Jr............................................. 3,258.77 
Thaddeus Benedict, Esq . .. .. ..... ........ ...... ..... .....• 2.010.00 
Benjamin Sperry............................................. 849.00 
David \Vood........................... ......................... 2,165.24 
Joseph Wildman............................................. 2,087.00 
Dr. John \Vood .... 1 ••• ,.... •••••• ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• l,9i0.80 
:Matthew Benedict ................. ......................... 1,672.50 
Rev. Ebenezer \Vhite........................................ 1,637.60 
Jonah BeuPdict............................... ............... 1,547.50 
Matthew Benedict........................................... 1,026.16 
Jabez Rockwell............................................... 1,189.00 
Zadock Benedict.............................................. 8-19.25 

"The total loss as thus determined by the com­
mittee amounted to nearly eighty-one thousand dol­
lars. 

"There were two :Matthew Benedicts, father and 
son, who figure in the list of losers. The latter, who 
was great-grandfather of Benedict Brothers, the shoe­
dealers, lived where is now the homestead of }Irs. 
Henry Benedict. It is said that he owned a small 
hat-shop which was burned by the British, although 
Francis' 'History of Hatting' says hatting was begun 
in Danbury in 1780, or three years later than the ad­
vent of the British. The senior }fatthew lived with 

'I; 

I 
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Jonah, anothe1 son. The junior's estate included the 
Concert Hall property, which was given by the family 
to the First Church society for the use of the society. 
,v e have not been able so far to locate the residence of 

"either Jonah or Zadock Benedict, who were brothers 
of ::\Iatthew, junior. The former is said to have liYecl 
at the lower encl of i\Iain Street. 

little niece, who in crossing the bridge over Still 
River, near her grandmother's house (and where is 
now the grist-mill), was startled by the appearance 
of a man's head from under the bridge. The 
man, learning who she was, told her to call her 
father. She did so, and then the stranger revealed 
that he was Jacquin l\Iorris, the deserting Danburian. 
He was not immediately recognized by the brother, 
having changed considerably, but on uncovering his 
head a bare spot on his scalp, well known to the 
family, was found, and he was received. He was 
obliged to keep himself secluded, and during his stay 
was secreted in the garret of his mother's houRe. 
Some years later he made a second visit home, but 

"Still another brother was X oble Benedict, who 
raised a company of one hundred men at the begin­
ning of the war. He was captured in K ovember, 
1776, at Fort ·washington. Nathan was captured in 
the Danbury fight, and taken to the Sugar-House 
prison. Jonah was in his brother's company at Fort 
l\ 7 ashington, and was captured there. He suffered 
from the imprisonment to such an extent that it was 
belie.eel he was dying, and then he was released, 
being brought to Danbury on a litter. In the 'Gene­
alogy of the Benedicts in America' it is said he ar­
riYecl here about two weeks before the burning of the 
,illage. He and his brother were taken out of the 
house that dark Sunday morning and tied to trees in 
the garden, while the house was burned. 

I 
did not remain long. 

"As an offset to this loss Danbury gained three citi­
zens-and, so far as we can learn, they were good 
citizens-in the persons of three deserters from the 

"Joseph \Vildman liYed where now resides Hon. 
F. S. ·Wildman. In the award of land to the sufferers 
he receiYecl fourteen hundred acres in Ohio. So little 
did he value it that he sold it in exchange for a horse. 
A part of the flourishing city of Sandusky is on that 
land, and is now worth millions of dollars. The sin­
gular sale was made with the right of redemption 
within thirty years. About a year or so after the ex­
piration of that time, and when the property began 
to be quite valuable, Joseph's heirs unfortunately dis­
covered this clause in the deed. 

"Benjamin Knapp, who figured so conspicuously 
as the entertainer of generals, lived until 1834, when 
he met his death at the heels of a colt in Beaver 
Brook District. Mr. Amos )!orris, who was then in . 
the prime of life and as now a resident there, gave 
the wounded man shelter. A doctor was called, who 
saw that the injury was fatal, and recommended that 
l\Ir. Knapp be taken home at once. He was comfort­
ably placed in a cart, and l\Ir. )!orris brought him 
home, where he died at the age of ninety-four years. 
He built the house on ,vhite Street, now owned by 
l\Ir. Joseph Bell, for his son, Xoah Knapp. Benjamin 
Knapp is remembered by our older citizens as a little 
old man in knee-breeches and gray stockings. He 
owned a number of cows, besides the shoe-shop and 
tannery. 

\ 

"Samuel l\Iorris, father of the venerable Amos 
l\Iorris, was an army-teamster. He was employed in 
drawing the army stores from New Haven to Dan-
bury. His brother, Jacquin, was not equally eminent 
for patrioti~m. In fact, Jacquin took advantage of 
the presence of the British army to join its ranks. 
He went away with them, and served through the war. 
Shortly after that he returned to Danbury on a visit to 
his mother, who was living in Bea,•er Brook District. 

"The first intimation of his presence was given to a 

British army. One of these was Harry Brockleton, 
who lived in Dumpling Hole, now l\Iountainville. 
The others were privates. Thomas Flynn was the 
name of one of the ·latter. He settled in South 
Street. 

"The following anecdote of Brockleton is related 
by nir. A. B. Hull. He traded a small piece of land 
for a horse, and the horse for potatoes. His wife, 
Hannah, said she would make some poetry on the 
occurrence. Her poetry was : 

" ' Elixir proprietatis ! 
Harry Brockleton sold his land for a horse, and his horse for potatoes.' 

Harry said he would like to make some poetry, 
which he did, as follows: 

"' As the children of Israel were passing through the wilderness, the 
Lord sent them manna: 

When Ilarry Brockleton wanted a wife, the devil sent him Hannah.' 

"Mr. A. B. Hull, mentioned above, enjoys a dis­
tinction which can scarcely be claimed by any other 
citizen of :N"ew England or of the country at large. 
He is about sixty years of age, and yet is the son of a 
Revolutionary soldier. His father was seventeen years 
old when the British burned Danbury. He joined in 
the pursuit of Tryon through Ridgefield, and was in 
all the fighting. In escaping one of the clashes of the 
enemy he found himself back of a rock, in company 
with two boys a trifle younger than himself, who were 
having their first experience in battle. \Vhile wait­
ing there he discovered that a Tory was in a brake 
near by, watching with ready gun for them to re­
appear. Putting his hat on the end of his gun, he 
pushed it out beyond the rock. Immediately the 
Tory fired, the bullet piercing the hat. The next in­
stant he plunged towards the rock, when the three 
boys fired simultaneously at him. At the discharge 
he sprang several feet in the air and came down full 
length upon his face, but turned in a flash upon his 
back, and lay then motionless in death. After the 
battle Mr. Hull's fother went over the ground to look 
for the body. He found it where it had fallen, but it 
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was stark naked. He saw that the three bullets 
had taken effect in the Tory's body,-one at the na­
vel, and the two others at such angles as to form the 
letter V. 

"During this catastrophe to Danbury there was an 
army hospital in existence here. It was established 
the month before, and was not touched by the British. 
The location was on what is now called Park A venue, 
at the junction of Pleasant Street, on the lot now oc­
cupied by Mr. Henry ~- Scribner, and just west of 
his house. All that property was then owned by 
Samuel ·Wildman, grandfather of ~Ir. Samuel C. 
·Wildman, who leased to the government the land for 
the use of the hospital. Mr. Wildman lived then in 
the modernized house on the avenue which stands on 
the east corner, opposite Mr. Scribner. There are 
several pear-trees in this garden which were set out 
by Samuel \Vildman over a hundred years ago, and 
which now yield abundantly. 

"The soldiers who died at the hospital were buried 
in a plot of ground now forming the grounds on the 
south side of George Euell's house on Pleasant Street, 
near to the corner of the aYenue. The soldiers who 
occupied the hospital were principally French. The 
place where the dead were buried was held sacred by 
Mr. \Vildman, who would not have it plowed. Some 
year,; after it was rented, the tenant, being either ig­
norant of the burial or extremely practical in his 
views, cultivated the ground. His plowshare turned 
up many bones. Relics in metal of the occupancy of 
the hospital have been found under the soil in l\fr. 
Scribner's garden. 

"The hospital itself was a one-storied building, 
with a large garret in the steep roof. The first floor 
was divided into four rooms; the garret was one 
room. The building was torn down many years ago 
by ~Ir. Samuel C. Wildman. 

"A Yolume entitled 'Connecticut During the \Var 
of Revolution' furnishes some incidents of interest to 
Danbury. In fact, Danbury largely figures in the 
book, much of the matter, however, being the same 
that we have already presented. The book was com­
piled in 18-H by Royal R. Hinman, who was then 
secretary of state. The matter pertaining to Danbury 
was furnished to Mr. Hinman by Reuben Booth. 
We learn from this book that Danbury's grand list 
in 1775, at the beginning of the Revolution, was 
$142,507.66. 

"In :ii.lay, 1777, the month following the burning, 
Governor Trumbull issued, at the suggestion of the 
General Assembly, a proclamation. The document 
is a sorry confession of man's inhumanity to man, 
especially to his neighbor. It appears from this 
paper that a lot of shiftless and mercenary wretches 
took advantage of the appearance of the enemy here 
to burn the houses and steal the portable property 
of Danburians and others who <'.scaped the raid of 
the British. The proclamation cal 1s upon these grace­
less offenders to immediately rei,wre such property 

and make good such losses, or su. 
ties of the law. 

t were penal-

"\Ve have mentioned the death of a young man 
named Barnum in the Sugar-House prison, in Xew 
York. His father, Col. Joseph Barnum, was seriously 
affected by the deplorable fate of his boy, and became 
so full of the spirit of vengeance that on the next day 
after getting the news he loaded his gun and started 
out to avenge himself on sympathizers with the 
British. Seeing a Tory at work in a field the half­
crazed father fired at him, wounding him severely. 
'He had previously been a professedly pious man, 
but frequently after the loss of his son concluded 
his devotions in his family by inYoking a curse upon• 
"old King George and his hellish crew."' 

"Several writers say that Nehemiah Dibble, who 
occupied the old mansion which entertained Gen. 
Tryon and received the dying breath of \Yooster, did 
not escape punishment for his Tory sympathies. 
They tell that shortly after the retreat of the British a 
number I young men took hold upon Dibble, and, 
carrying him to Still River, near where is now the 
railroad, immersed him several times in the water, 
giving him what they called a 'thorough ducking.' 

"In the record of the General Assembly, May ses­
sion, 1777, there are the .following interesting entries: 

"~ Thaddeus Benedigt, Of Danbury, represented to the Assembly that 
the British troops,/4en in Danbury, lJurned his dwe1ling-honse and 
several other houses kept for public entertainment, and stated that he 
had prO\ided a convenient house in the centre of said town, and asked 
for a license to keep a public house, which was granted by said Assembly. 

'" Mary Hoyt, the wife of Isaac Hoyt, then late of Danbury, showed 
to the Assembly that she had ever been a good ,n1ig and a trms fliend 
to the rights of her country, and that lier husband, when the enemy 
entered said Danbury, being an enemy to his country, went off and 
joined the Blitis.h, by which he bad justly forfeited all his estate, both 
real and personal, and that the selectmen had seized upon all the per­
sonal estate of her husband, by means of which she was deprived of the­
necessaries of life, and asked the Asseml>ly to order that one-thlrd part 
of all the clear movable estate should be given to her, and the use of one­
third part of all the real estate, for her natural life, for her support. The 
Assembly ordered that s::iJd Mary Hoyt should ha Ye and enjoy one-third 
part of the personal and real estate during the pleasure of the AsoemlJly.r 

"At an adjourned session of the same body in Feb­
ruary, 1778, occurred the following: 

"'John Marsh, of Danbury, stated to the Assembly that when the 
British troops went into Danbury he through surprise joined them and 
went away with them, but soon made his escape and returned home, and 
was committed to gaol, and prayed pardon for the offense, which was 
granted him, by his taking the oath of fidelity, and paying the cost of 
prosecution.' 

"It appears from an item in the report of the Gen­
eral Assembly that an attack on Danbw·y was antici­
pated several weeks before from the Hudson River 
direction. Two weeks before the attack the GoYernor 
sent a letter to Gen. Silliman instructing him to keep 
a strict watch upon the enemy, who were preparing 
in New York to go up the Xorth River, with a Yiew, 
undoubtedly, to destroy the stores at Danbury. On 
the night of the 27th the General Assembly received 
word that there were alarming symptoms from the 
North River, and almost immediately after that Dan­
bul"} was-burned. 

I 
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r-
_e liarch (1778) session of the Assembly oc­

curs the following: 

"'Hannah Church, of Danbury, the wife of Asa Church, (then) late 
of said Danbury, shewe.d the Go-vernor and council that her husband bad 
joined the British army and was then in New York, and that she had no 
estate to support her, and prayed for lil>erty to go to New York to her 
husband. The Governor and council gave her liLerty to go to Kew York, 
with such necessary apparel as th~comruittee of inspection of said Dan­
bury shall think proper. And Gen. Silliman was directed to grant a flag, 
or pas::,port, to the said Hannah accordingly.' 

"The following-named are the prisoners taken from 
Danbury at the time of the raid: John Bartram, Na­
than Benedict, Benjamin Sperry, John Porter, Jona­
than Starr, "'illiam Roberts, Jacob Gray, and Aaron 
Gray Knapp. 

"In the May ( 1777) session is the following record: 

"' Ruth Peck, the widow of Jesse Peck, \then) late of Danbury, stated 
to the General AssemLly that her husband: with three sons, in the spring 
of 17i6 enlisted in the service of the State, and all went through the 
fatigue of the campaign. Two of the sons ,vere taken prisoners at Fort 
1\~ashington and suffered the hardships of capfiyity in Kew York; one 
son had the smallpox in the worst manner 1>0SsiLle, in the most scarce 
time of gold, the (then) last winter at New York, who started for home 
and froze his feet, so that he became a cripple. Another son was sent 
home by the British al>out the 1st of January, 1777, infected with the 
smallpox, of which be soon died, after his arrival; the husband, who 
bad arrived home a short time previous to his son, took the disease, and 
also died after a long confinement. One other son also took said rusease, 
who by the goodnl'SS of God recovered; whereby said Ruth was grieY­
ously afflicted, and the town of Danlmr.r expended the sum of twenty­
six pounds twelve shillings and six pence in their sickness, and held a 
claim upon the small estate her husband had left for the payment of it, 
and, if paid by her, would leave her with a family of small children, and 
needy indeed; and prayed the Assembly to pay the sum aforesaid.' 

"In the January (1778) session were giYen the fol­
lowing depositions regarding the negro who was 
killed in )Iaj. Starr's house, and who, we should 
judge, was a slave whose owner was seeking remuner­
ation. Here are the entries : 

"' Ebenezer Wl1ite, of Danbury, of 1awfu1 age, testifies and says that 
on or about the 26th day of April, 17"17, at eYening, there being a num­
lJer of gentlemen at his house belonging to the British army, amongst 
which was one whom he understood was the Earl of Falklancl 1s son, who 
told l1im (the deponent) that he was the first that entered :Maj. Starr's 
house, and found a number of men in the house, among whom were two 
negroes, all of whom tlH'Y instantly ki1led, and S€'t fire to the house, and 
gaYe this for a reason why they did so,-that it was their constant prac­
tice, where tlrny found people shut up in a house and firing upon them, 
to kill them and to lmrn the house; and further the deponent saith that 
the said young gentleman told him that one of the negroes, after he had 
rnn him through, rose up and attempted to shoot him, and that he the 
snid Earl of Falklan<l's son cut his head off himself; which negro, the 
deponent understood since, was the property of 1\Ir. Samuel Smith; of 
Reading; and further the deponent saith not. 

"'DAXB'CRY, Jan. 26, 1778. 

'" The Rev. l\tr. Ebenezer "11ite, the deponent, personally appearing, 
made oath to the truth of the above w1·itten deposition. 

"' Sworn to before me, Thaddeus Benedict, Justice of the Peace. 
"

1 Ebenezer "-ee1l 1 of Danlmry, of lawful age, testifies and says that on 
or about the 26th (fay of Ap1il, 1177, he being at home across the road 
opposite to Maj. Daniel Starr's house, he saw a. negro at the house, which 
be knew to be the property of Mr. Samuel Smith, of Reading, about a 
half hour, as near as ho can judge, before the Britbh troops came to said 
house; and fmiher the deponent saith that in the e,·ening of said day 
he heard a man belonging to the British army --..'l-y that they bad killed 
one dam'd Llack with the whites, in said Starr's house; and further the 
deponent saith not. 

"' DA:S-BURY, Jan. 26, 1778. 
"' Sworn before Thaddeus Benedict, Justice of the Peaf'e. 

'"Anna.Weed, of Danbury, of la\\-ful age, testifies and says that on or 
about the 26th day of April, 1777, she being at home across the road 
opposite to Maj. Starr's house, she saw a negro at said house, which she 
understood was the property of Mr. Samuel Smith,· of Reading, but a 
sho1t time before the British troops came up to the house; and fmther 
the deponent saith she heard one of the British soldiers SR.Y "Here is a 
dam'd black in the house; what shall we do with him?" Another an­
swered, "Damn him, kill him," and immediately the house was in 
flames; and further the deponent saith not. 

"' DAXBCRY, Jan. 26, 1778. 

"' Sworn to before Thaddeus Benedict, Ju&tice of the Peace.'" 

ROLL OF REVOLUTIONARY SOLDIERS. 

"It will be remembered that in i\Ir. Robbins' ser­
mon he spoke of a company of one hundred men 
being raised in Danbury and ordered to the Northern 
army, at Lake Champlain. He said that they went 
away leaving their friends to believe that perhaps 
they might never return, but they came back sa~ly, 
while during their absence an epidemic raged in the 
village and carried off many of their friends. 

"The company was raised by X oble Benedict, who 
was made captain. The men were recruited in liay, 
1775. It is the only organization contributed by Dan­
bury to the war. It joined the Sixteenth Regiment, 
commanded by Col. David ,vaterbury. The follow­
ing is the list of the company: 

"Captain, Noble Benedict. 
"Lieutenants, James Clark, Ezra Stephens. 
"Ensign, Daniel Heacock. 
"Sergeants, John Trowbridge, Eliph Barnum, Eli­

jah Hoit, Nathan Taylor, John Ambler. 
" Corporals, Aaron Stone, Jonah Benedict, David 

"reed, Moses Veal. 
"Musicians, Joseph Hamilton, drummer; Russel 

Bartlett, Nathaniel Peck, fifers. 
"Privates, Seth Barnum, Eleaz Benedict, John 

Barnum, Eli Barnum, James Boughton, Josiah Bur­
chard, Samuel Bennet, Lazarus Barnum, Hez Ben­
edict, Gilbert Benedict, ,vm. Benedict, DaYid 
Bishop, Eben Barnum, Abram Barns, Joseph Bough­
ton, John Comstock, Enoch Crosby, Samuel Curtiss, 
,vm. Combs, Isaac Coller, Thomas Campbell, James 
Clements, Samuel Cook, Miles Canty, Henry Covel, 
John Chapman, Elnathan Edy, Eliph Ferry, John 
Guthrie, "\V m. Griffin, Drake Hoit, Thaddeus Hoit, 
Joshua Hinckley, Jonathan Hayes, John Holcomb, 
"

7m. Hawkins, Francis Jackson, Thomas Judd, John 
Johnson, Benjamin Gorham, John Green, Henry 
Knapp, Elisha Lincoln, John Linly, James Lincoln, 
X athan Lee, Thomas l\Iorehouse, Thaddeus llore­
house, Done Merrick, John Morehouse, Sylvanus 
Nelson, Isaac Northrop, "\Vilson Northrop, Joshua 
Porter, ,vm. Porter, Elkanah Peck, Farrel Picket, 
Caleb Spencer, Samuel Spencer, Eli Stephens, Samuel 
Sturdivant, Daniel Segar, Levi Starr, John Stephens, 
Jabez Starr, James Scovel, Stephen Scovel, Peter 
Stringham, Isaac Smith, Thomas Starr, Ephraim 
Smith, Levi Stone, Stephen Towusend, Samuel 
Townsend, Stephen Trowbridge, Joshua Taylor, 
Thomas "\Veed, Samuel C. ,varren (or ,varden), 
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}Iajor ,varren, Thomas Wheaton, Jonas Weed, 
David Sturdivant. 

"The captain of the above company was father of 
the late Archibald Benedict, and he liYed in the 
house now occupied by the venerable widow of Arch­
ibald, on North Main Street. The captain was a 
stutterer, and many anecdotes based on this infirmity 
are related of him. ,ve give one of them. When 
he was at Lake Champlain with his company the 
countersign in use one night was the word 'Ticon­
deroga.' The captain came across a sentry, who, 
halting him, demanded the countersign .. 'T' was a 
bad letter for the captain to overcome, and in his mad 
efforts to clutch it he lost all memory of the word 
itself. In this dilemma he shouted to the sentry : 
'S-s-s-s-say the word, and I c-c-c-c-can tell it.' His­
tory does not tell what the sentry did, but, as the cap­
tain returned safely to Danbury, it is presumed 
the matter was compromised satisfactorily. 

"James Clark, first lieutenant, lived on South Main 
Street. His wife, on the coming of the British, sunk 
her silver-ware and some other articles in the well, 
and fled with her family to a more congenial lati­
tude. 

"Ezra Stevens, the second lieutenant, lived in Pem­
broke District. He was great-grandfather of Erastus 
Stenns. His son Eli was in the company as a pri­
vate. 

"First Sergt. John Trowbridge lived at the upper 
end of 1\Iain Street; he was a grandfather of Truman 
Trowbridge. Second Sergt. Eliph Barnum liYed at 
the south end of the village. Third Sergt. Elijah 
Hoyt lived where now stands the residence of Charles I 
H. :Herritt, on JUain Street. 

" Corp. Jonah Benedict has already been treated of 
as far as our information goes. Corp. David ,v eed 
lived in King Street District, near to where Aaron ' 
Pearce now lives. 

"Joseph Hamilton, the drummer, lived in Pem­
broke District, and a very patriotic portion of this 
town it appears to have been. 

" Private Seth Barnum liYed in King Street, oppo­
site the Baptist church. John Barnum and Eli Bar­
num lived in the same district. Samuel Curtis lived 
near to where Ezra Mallory & Co.'s hat-factory 
stands. He was once sexton of the First Church. 
Drake Hoyt and Thaddeus Hoyt lived in Pembroke 
District. Thaddeus for a number of years kept the 
town-poor on contract, as was then the custom. 
Thomas Judd lived in Great Plain District, his house 
standing where now GranYille Taylor lins. Benja­
min Gorham lived in ::\Iiry Brook District. John 
Green lived at the junction of Elm and RiYer Streets. 
John Lindley lived in King Street District. Thad­
deus }Iorehouse li,ed on J\Iain Street in a house now 
owned by George E. Cowperthwait, and standing 
next north to his residence. Stephen Trowbridge 
lind, we are told, on the corner of ::\Iain and Liberty 
Streefa, where is now Benedict & Xichols' Block. 1 

Le,i Stone belonge!;l in the }Iiddle River District. 
Joshua Porter came home from the Northern cam­
paign all right, but lost his life by Tryon's troops in 
l\Iaj. Starr's house. John Ambler, the fifth ser­
geant, was a great-grandfather of Rev. E. C. Ambler, 
and was at that time a man of advanced age. The 
grandfather of Re,. Mr. Ambler, Peter Ambler, and 
two of Peter's brothers, Stephen and Squire Ambler, 
were in the war, but not in this company. The family 
liYed in Miry Brook District. 

"Ensign Daniel Heacock was a grandfather of Col. 
Samuel Gregory. He lived in Bethel. His home is 
still standing, being near A. B. Blackman's house. 
Col. Gregory has in his possession the powder-horn 
which Henry Knapp, priYate, carried in the com­
pany's campaign. :'!Ir. Knapp liYed in the ,v estville 
District. Jabez Starr kept the tavern which stood on 
property adjoining The News office. David ,v eed 
lived in ,v estville District, where JUr. Anson Com­
stock's house now stands. Daniel Segar lived on the 
)!ill Plain road. Stephen Townsend liYed near the 
New York State line. 

"Young Lockwood, who went to meet the British on 
their approach to Danbury to learn their 8trength, 
and was captured on Hoyt's Hill, was left there on 
the flight of the British. It is said.that while living 
in Norwalk, some time before this, he did a fa,or for 
Governor Tryon, on the occasion of an accident to 
the Governor's carriage when he was driving through 
:N°orwalk. The Governor was writing a parole for 
him when the alarm of the approach of the Ameri, 
cans under ,v ooster came upon him, and the paper 
was dropped. 

"It must not be understood, however, that these 
men were all that Danbury gave to the war, but the 
company was the only organization going from here 
of which there is any record. On a previous page it 
was stated that hvo sons of Aaron Gunn, living at the 
upper encl of )Iain Street, were clrnfted into the army 
during the war of 1812-14. Previous to the draft they 
enlisted and served for several months at New Lon­
don. ,vhen drafted they were assigned to duty at 
the same place. Uncle Amos l\Iorris and the late 
Frederick "\\'hite were drafted at the same time. At 
New London the command had the choice of mess­
ing inside or outside the fort. The Gunn party of 
Danbury boys chose the outside, and boarded with a 
widow-woman who gave them a bed and cooked their 
rations daily for the sum of six cents each. Xo mess 
in Xew London fared so well as the Danbury mess, 
thanks to the knowledge of the country gained by the 
two Gunn boys during their previous location in the 
place. 

"One day an officer of the regiment -visited their 
quarters at dinner-time, and was amazed at the sight 
of their table. One prominent dish thereon was new 
potatoes, and that before the same were scarcely in 
the market and totally unknown to the commissary. 

"''Vhy, boys, how's .this?' he exclaimed. 'Here 

1 
) 
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you've got new potatoes! .. Why, there's not another 
mess in the command with new potatoes. ,v e can 
draw nothing but old potatoes. How is it that you 
draw new ones?' 

"' I'll tell you, major, how we draw them,' spoke 
up "'hite, in a confidential tone: 'we draw them by 
the tops.'" 

CHAPTER XVIII. 

DANBURY (Continued). 

YIEW OF DANBURY IN 1815-20. 

Ix the following chapter, taken from the Danbury 
News, will be found located all the dwellings and 
stores which, in 1815-20, stood upon the present site 
of the village. 

MAIN STREET. 

"It is likely that, with few exceptions, the picture 
was the same at the beginning of the century. )Iain 
Street was then as now the principal thoroughfare. 
Running from it on the east was Xorth, ,vhite, and 
Liberty Streets; on the west, Franklin, Elm, ,vest, 
and ,v ooster Streets; South Street at the foot. The 
other streets were RiYer and Town Hill. Deer Hill 
Avenue was then but a lane, chiefly used for the 
transfer of farm products. 

"East Side.-The first house, on coming into ::\<Iain 
Street at the north, on the east side of the street, was 
occupied by Aaron Gunn. It was washed away by 
the Kohanza disaster in 1869. )Ir. Gunn had two 
sons who were drafted in the war of 1812, and entered 
the army at New London. 

"The next house stood on the corner of X orth 
Street. It was occupied by Benjamin Barnum, and 
was a large, roomy building. Some years ago it was 
moved north on )Iain Street, and still stands there. 

"On the opposite corner, where is now the Porter 
estate, liYed Noah Hubbell, .grandfather of 1\Irs. 
John Carpenter. Between there and what is now 
Patch Street there was but one house. It was occu­
pied by ,villiamPatch, Jr., father-in-law of its present 
occupant, OliYer P. Clark. 

"X ext to him was a small tenement owned by 
::\Iary Daniels, an aunt of the late V\!. A. Daniels, and 
was then occupied by a family named Barnum. 

"John Gregory's house came next. None of his 
descendants are living here. 

",vhere ,vildman's Lane or Court now is were two 
houses, since gone. One of these was occupied by 
Benjamin Cozier and the other by William Patch, 
father of the ,villiam living above, and grandfather 
of Mrs. A. P. Tweedy and Mrs. G. D. Foote. 

"The next premises were those of John Xickerson, 
a lay preacher in the Methodist church. Xickerson 
was an active man, and consequently "Well known to 
his fellow-citizens. 

"Then came another tenant-house, which was occu­
pied by Zar Patch. 

"Following the tenement was the home of Archi­
bald Benedict, now occupied by his venerable widow. 
He was a son of Capt. :Noble Benedict, our Revolu­
tionary hero. 

"The residence now occupied by Harrison Flint 
was then the home of the late Enoch )Ioore. It was 
built by Amos Stevens. 

"Next in order came the home of Abel Gregory, 
now owned by Mrs. Henry Benedict, and after this 
a school-house. It stood on the north line of what is 
now the grounds of E. T. Hoyt's home. )Iany years 
ago it was removed to Franklin Street, where it con­
tinued to be used as a school until about fifteen years 
ago, when it was turned into a tenement. 

"Deacon Joseph Platt Cook, son of the Revolu-
' tionary colonel of the same name who was in com­

mand of Danbury when Tryon came, occupied the 
next house. It stood on nearly the same ground at 
present occupied by the residence of William J abine. 

"Russel Hoyt lived next to Deacon Cook, in the 
house now occupied by his son Granville. 

"Just south of the house was a store where Daniel 
B. Cook sold shoes, shirting, sugar, and other gro­
ceries. The building was subsequently removed to 
White Street, and is now occupied by Avery Ray­
mond's market. 

":Next came the home of Col. Russel ,vhite, which 
stood on the site of the present residence of his son, 
William R. White. Col. White was a prominent hat­
manufacturer. 

"Nirum Wildman lived next, in the house now 
occupied by his grandson, John "\V. ,vildman. 

",vhere the residence of Giles )I. Hoyt no"W stands 
stood the home of ReY. Ebenezer R. ,vhite, grand­
father of William R. White and Ebenezer R. Whit­
tlesey. Between and partly in front of these two 
houses stood a small building once the store of Burr 
& White, but at this time occupied by the worshipers 
in the Sandemanian Church. Previously dissension 
had arisen in the body because of the second marriage 
of an elder, and the congregation divided. 

"X ext came the hat-manufactory of"Thite Brothers 
& Co. It stood near the banks of the Still River, its 
site not at present being occupied. 

"Across the river, and on the corner of "'hite 
Street, stood the giant old home of Benjamin Knapp. 

" TVest Side.-Going back to the north end of the 
street and ret1uning on the we~t side, the first h.ouse 
was the home of Stephen Ambler, the husband of 
Miss )Iunson. He was the grandfather of Mrs. A. 
A. Heath and 0. P. and W. H. Clark. He did active 
work in the war. It is ~aid that he and five brothers, 
lying clown on a thirty-six foot stick of timber, would 
just cover its length. His house stood under the hill, 
next to the graveyard, and was long since torn down. 

"The graveyard itself was then there. It was not 
only opened to relieYe the ,v oo.ster Street grounds, 
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but to accommodate the districts of Middle River, 
King Street, and Pembroke, which then, being spar­
ingly settled, had no burial-place in their district. 

"Andrew Akin occupied the house now owned by 
George Downs. 

"Next to it was the home of Mary Daniels, who 
owned property on the other side of the street. The 
place is now occupied by V. E. Barnum. 

"John Foot, father of Mrs. Ezra Abbott, lived in 
the next house. 

"'Where Abijah Knapp's home is stood Capt. Foot's 
hat-shop. 

"Adjoining this was a tenement, now owned by 
Harmon Knapp. 

"Following came the home of Asa Hodge, now 
occupied by George W. Hoyt. 

"Thaddeus Morehouse lived next north of where 
now stands the home of G. E. Cowperthwait. 

"Adjoining was a small tenement, which closed its 
existence in a summary and tragic manner. ·we do 
not know who occupied it at the time. It perished 
in 1836. It was at the time that a strong anti-slave 
feeling was exhibited in the Korth. An Abolitionist 
address in the Baptist church called forth a mob, who 
stoned the church, breaking the windows, and threat­
ened the life of the speaker, Rev. l\Ir. Colver, who 
was ,isiting here. Danbury's trade was then largely 
in the South, and it was natm-al its people should be 
in sympathy with that section and averse to anything 
calculated to disturb its peace. The family occupy­
ing the tenement were strong anti-slavery people, and 
had given shelter to runaway slaves. This coming to 
the knowledge of our citizens, a number of them 
made a descent upon the house in the night-time and 
leveled it to the ground. The family escaped. 

"The next house was occupied by Knapp Bough­
ton, who distinguished himself by winning for a wife 
the young woman Parson Robbins wanted. He was 
father of L. H. Boughton. His place was removed 
to make room for the spacious residence of S. H. 
Rundle. 

"Mn. Boughton, mother of Knapp, occupied a 
house adjoining his. It was afterwards owned by 
Nathaniel Bishop, and was removed. On the south­
east corner of this lot was a brick building occupied 
by Knapp Boughton as a store. It was removed a 
long time ago. 

"}frs. Elias Boughton occupied a place where now 
stands George C. ,vhite's residence. 

"The next building stood on the corner of Frank­
lin Street, where Burr Roland now lives. It was 
occupied as a hat-finishing shop by Russell and Eli 
T. Hoyt. 

"On the opposite corner stood the residence of ,vil­
liam Cook, who was a prominent member of the 
Masonic_ order. Mrs. William D. 2\Iorris' dwelling 
now occupies its site. Mr. Cook's house was removed 
to Patch Street. 

"Xext to }Ir. Cook lived Starr Xichols, grand-

father of Mr. John Nichols, of Nichols & Hine. He 
was a large hat-manufacturer, and an active man in 
all enterprises. 

"Following this was a tenement. It was taken 
down, and the present residence of Judge Lyman D. 
Brewster occupies its place. 

"Next came the residence of Samuel and William 
Tweedy, father and son. Samuel was the grandfather 
of Edgar S. Tweedy. They were cutters off of fur, 
and their shop stood north and in rear of their 
home. 

"Adjoining their house was the place of Gershorn 
Nichols. 

",vhere Charles H. }lerritt's residence now is stood 
the house of Capt. Elijah Hoyt, grandfather of "Til­
liarn and Albert Hoyt. 

" Daniel B. Cook, son of Col. Joseph Platt Cook, 
the soldier of the Revolution, lived where does now 
L. P. Hoyt. 

"Next to this place was a store occupied by E. )I. 
·white. It was removed to Wnite Street. 

"Following was a house belonging to ~ ajah Wild­
man. 

"Next south of N ajah ,vildman stood a house 
where A. ~- ,vildman's residence now is. 

"On the river-bank stood a mill. It was built in 
the last century by Daniel Comstock for a grist-mill, 
and occupied by Samuel C. Dibble. Afterwards for 
many years it served as a hat-forming factory, and 
was owned by Nirum "Wildman. To-day the spot has 
again become the location of a grist-mill,-that of G. 
S. Disbrow. For some years it was used as a mill. 
There was considerable feeling at one time in the 
community occasioned by this mill. The occupant 
wanted to build a waste-weir to empty into the 
stream at a point just below the opposite side of the 
street, but l\Ir. Knapp, who lived on the corner and 
owned the land, would not give him the right of way. 
The only alternati,e was to tap l\Iad River just above 
its junction with Still River, near to where is the rear 
of Nichols & Hine's factory. The plan did not work, 
however, as the grade did not give sufficient fall to 
carry off the water. As the grist-mill was a matter of 
considerable importance to the people, public senti­
ment took a hand, and )Ir. Knapp was induced to 
consent to the emptying of the weir in Still Ri.ver in 
the rear of his house. The mill-building was last oc­
cupied by Holly & ,vildman, wool-hat manufacturers. 
It was destroyed by fire in 1868. 

" The building on the corner of Elm Street now 
owned by H. K. Fanton was at that time the home­
stead of Samuel Tweedy. It has been made into 

1 stores and built on to considerable since then. In its 
rear stood a hat-factory occupied by Tweedy & Bene­
dict. 

"Between TI77iite and Liberty &reets.-There haYe 
been more changes in that portion of )'lain Street be­
tween these points than in any other part of the 
thoroughfare, and far less in Main Street as a whole 

\ 
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than in any other street, except, perhaps, South ' He did not do an extensive business, and made no 
Street. I effort to. 

"In 1815 there were but eight buildings on the east "On the corner of Main and Liberty Streets, where 
side of Main Street between White and Liberty, where ' now stands Benedict & Nichols' Block, lived Mathew 
is now an almost unbroken. bank of business places. Curtis. Mr. Curtis was a butcher, and had his slaugh­
The space not immediately occupied by these build- ter quite convenient, it being on Liberty Street, in the 
ings was used for gardens and fields, principally pas- rear of his house, and where now stands the Disciples' 
turage, while that portion in the neighborhood of the church. Mr. Curtis did not have a market: no one 
railroad buildings, up as far as White Street, was did in that day. He followed the course lately re­
swamp. Except in front of the buildings the wall vived by Orrin Lessey, of selling his meat entirely 
the length of the block was a stone fence. Mullein, ' from a wagon. The slaughter was a favorite resort 
dock, milk-weed, and brambles were conspicuous pro- for the boys of that day, who are now gray-headed 
ducts. men, and it was also a place frequented by frugal 

"The first building, passing down the street, was a housewives of very limited means, where a sheep's-
small brown tenement. head or pluck could be got for a mere song, and a 

"Close to it was the dwelling of Mrs. Betsey Bene- whole beef's liver for two or three pennies. 
diet. It stood where is now Schoppaul's bakery. " West Side.-On the corner of Elm Street, the 
She owned a store-building, which was next in order, premises now owned by J. S. Taylor, stood the tavern 
and was then rented by Irel Ambler. Previously, Eli of Dr. Jabez Starr, a prominent Revolutionist. Dr. 
T. Hoyt and his brother Russel occupied it. It stood Starr's swinging sign bore the simple inscription 
where is now the station of the Danbury and Nor- 'The Inn.' It was the headquarters on training-days 
walk Railway. of the up-town military companies, which consisted 

"There was no other structure until the dwelling of a cavalry and an infantry organization. The in­
of Lemuel W. Benedict was reached. It stood where fan try used to parade in the square fronting the tavern. 
is now the house occupied by David Pearce. On one of these occasions-in 1812, we believe-a 

"~Ir. Benedict's neighbor on the south was Samuel corporal was to be elected. It appears that the ladies, 
H. Phillips. Near his house was a little store run by who favored the military, had the privilege of select­
Mr. Phillips. The same building now stands. It be- ing the candidate for this honor. Their suffrage was 
longs to the estate of the late Sturges Selleck, and is given in behalf of a blushing youth from Great Plain 
now occupied by Mrs. M. Harris. Mr. Phillips was a District, then eighteen years old. On his election be­
well-known character. He was deputy postmaster of ing announced, it was incumbent on him to step to 
Danbury, and kept the office in his store. Couse- the front and pledge himself to faithfully perform the 
quently, his place was a resort for the various lumin- duties of the office. The ladies were assembled in 
.aries, and Mr. Phillips perhaps heard more men- front of the residence of Samuel Tweedy, on the oppo­
dacity than any other citizen of Danbury. He was I site corner, and the youth, in making his acknowledg­
.a quiet man, of a studious turn, an~, having a well- ment, was obliged to face them,-an ordeal that very 
balanced mind, was rarely surprised into states of un- nearly prostrated him, but he got through with it. 
due feeling. One day a woman apparently very The eighteen-year-old boy was Deacon Eli T. Hoyt . 
.anxious for a letter came in and gave her name. "Peck & Wildman's grocery was then an unpre-
There was nothing for her. tentious dwelling, little dreaming of the glory it was 

"' I wish you'd look again,' said she, 'for I'm sure in time to ripen into, with a gorgeous landscape as a 
there must be a letter here for me.' forepiece. 

"He complied, carefully going over the stock-in- "The dwelling and church in the lane, both the 
.hand. property of the Sandemanian Society, were standing 

" 'There is no letter here,' he said. then. 
"' W,ell, that's strange,' she muttered. 'I was sure "The St. George Tavern, now the property of Mrs. 

it must be here. W"lien do you suppose I'll get one?' Urana Barnum, was then occupied by her father, 
History does not give his answer. William Dobbs. Long before the period of which we 

"Another well-known resident was the next neigh- write it had ceased to be a hostelry. 
bor to Postmaster Phillips. He was Eli Mygatt, a "Next in order was the residence of Moses Hatch,­
heavy gentleman in knee-breeches·. His dwelling or Judge Hatch, as he was called. It is now owned 
stood where is now Baldwin Bros.' drug-store, and just 

I 
by his grandson, Alexander ,vildman, and is unoccu­

south of it he kept a drug-store himself. There must pied. He had an office built on the street-line, and 
be something in the locality favorable to the existence now moved to rear of the post-office building. Moses 
of the drug-business, as it has been used for that pur- Hatch was a prominent member of the bar. He de­
pose by different parties since the day Uncle Eli be- fended Amos Adams, a negro executed in Danbury in 
gan his enterprise. Both his residence and his store 1817 for rape. n'Ir. Hatch died at the early age of 
have long since passed away. Uncle Eli had charge forty-one, at the threshold of what promised to be a 
-of the Frankl-in Library, as it was kept in his store. brilliant career. 
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"The residence of the venerable E. Moss White he dared not step on the premises. More than that, 
stood where is now the library building reared by the he feared to go on the same side of the street, but 
liberality and public spirit of his sons. He was both kept on the opposite side. Even at that he shrunk 
a successful farmer and merchant of Danbury, a man from stopping in front of the place, so timid was this 
well known, thoroughly trusted, and sincerely re- rural lad. He walked slowly up the street and then 
spected by his fellow-townsmen. The old homestead back again, feasting his eyes upon the architectural 
became the residence of the late Col. N. L. White, magnificence and bucking against numerous people 
and after he vacated it it was used by the library as- in his eagerness to look alone at the house. That was 
sociation until the present building was started, when fifty years ago, and the barefooted farm-boy so over­
it was moved to Library Place, where it now stands. come by the display that he dared not stop in front· of 

"Benajah Starr occupied the present residence of it is Mr. Charles Hun and the present owner of the 
Hon. Roger Averill. property. 

"Next to ·him lived Deacon Thomas Tucker, grand- "The transformation of the place into a bridal-
father of the late Col. White. It is now the residence bower cost a number of thousand dollars. In the 
of Mrs. George W. Ives. place of the residence and his store stands Mr. Hull's 

"Next came the residence of Asel Benedict, grand- block of business places. 
father of the Benedict Brothers, shoe-dealers. The "Rachel Barnum's dwelling came next. It stood 
present residence of Edgar A. Benedict occupies its where is now Almon Judd's store and home. 
site. "Next came the residence of Friend Starr, father 

"Mrs. Huldah Starr's house followed. Her prem- of Charles F. Starr, and now occupied by the latter. 
ises took in the corner of West Street. The dwelling Mr. Starr had a shoe-store where the Pahquioque 
and lot were bought in 1864 by J. S. Taylor, who Bank now is. The following anecdote is related of 
built up the present block of stores and tenements. Charles F. Starr when he was a boy: One of his 
The old homestead is among these, but its identity is duties was to go to the pasture and bring home the 
completely lost. cows. He rode a horse for this purpose, and, being 

Prom lAberty Street to the Court-House.-Maj. Seth of a social turn, generally came home with several 
Comstock lived in a substantial residence on the corner playmates perched on the animal behind him. In 
of Liberty Street. He was a merchant, and had a fact, the horse was full of boys. Old Mr. Starr got 
store just south of his dwelling. Maj. Comstock was out of patience, finally, with making an omnibus of 
a man in good circumstances, and once in his life the steed, and he told Charles one day that if he came 
created quite a sensation in the community. He had home at night with any boys behind him on the horse 
a son doing business in New York City. The son he would severely punish him. When the cows came 
was to be married, and desired the ceremony to take in that evening, there was the horse as full of boys as 
place in his father's home. He .sent word to that ever. But every mother's son of them was in front of 
effect, directing his father to fix up the place in the Charles. That conscientious youth was poised wen· 
best possible style, and he would make good the ex• back on the animal's rump. His father gave up the 
pense. The major accordingly proceeded to make point. 
the homestead into a wedding-bower. Carpenters, "" 7here Martin H. Griffing's residence now is lived 
painters, and upholsterers were set to work, and for Zalmon "Wildman, father of Hon. F. S. Wildman. 
days the transformation went on. Summer-houses, Just north of his house was a small hat-finishing shop, 
arbors, and grottos were put up in the garden. The and on the south was a store. The dwelling was re­
entire front of the house was changed by elaborate moved to the rear, on East Liberty Street, where it is 
additions placed thereon, and the premises blossomed used as a tenement. 
into the appearance of a small paradise. The place 1 "The Pahquioque Hotel was then a private resi­
was daily visited by Danbury people, who were filled dence, and was occupied by Elijah Sanford, grand­
with pride and admiration as they viewed it. Even father of Librarian C.H. Sanford. He had a saddlery 
abroad went the fame of the change, and people from at the north end of the building. In company with 
neighboring towns came to see the Comstock palace. Friend Starr he conducted a tannery, which stood on 
The transformation was all the talk of the day and Liberty Street, at the junction of Railway Avenue. 
supplanted every other subject. The wedding was in "Abel B. Blackman lived in the house now occu­
keeping with the preparation therefor, and filled the pied by the family of the late Lyman Keeler. Mr. 
street in the neighborhood with curious people. Blackman was a shoemaker, and had his shop on the 

"Among those who came from out of town was a north side of his house. 
young man hailing from the extremely rural district "David Foot's house stood on the site occupied by 
of Wolfpits, below Bethel. He was· barefooted and Dr. W. F. Lacey. Mr. Foot was a tailor. His shop 
timid. He had heard of the grand house and the stood in the southwest corner of his door-yard, where 
beautiful garden, and he wanted so much to see them is now the doctor's drive-way entrance. Mr. Foot was 
that he walked to Danbury for that purpose. But a prominent man in that day, and was for many years 
when he got here and saw how grand was the place a trying justice of the peace. 
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"Benjamin Smith lived where is now the residence was a small one, and stood on the corner. Next to it 
of Samuel Stebbins. I was a store. Both structures stood where is now the 

"His neighbor on the south was Horace Bull. He garden of Mr. F. S. Wildman. The first was used for 
lived where now stands St. Peter's church. His house various purposes. Early in the century it was used 
was removed to the since-opened Centre Street, and is I as a comb-shop by Green & Barnum until 1815; after 
now the parsonage of St. Peter's church. He was the that it was occupied by a party named Leggett for 
father of the children's great friend, Miss Mary Bull. fur-cutting. It also was used as a barber-shop, a 
Mr. Bull was a tailor. He was also a noted singer, school, and a stone-cutting-shop. Subsequently, Wil­
and for over thirty years was the chorister of the I liam Gray used it as a tailor-shop. It now stands on 
First Congregational Church. He was the first milk- , the Danbury and Norwalk Railway line, opposite the 
peddler Danbury had, peddling on the street from a. freight-depot, where it is occupied as a tenement. 
cart and ringing a bell at the customer's door. This The store was built in 1800 by Col. Timothy Taylor, 
was in 1850, we think. Up to that time people bought who occupied it. In 1818 it was rented by Amos and 
their milk from neighbors who owned a cow, sending Samuel Stebbins, who did business there until 1839, 
the children for it; and at this time every fourth when the building was torn down. Amos died some 
family had its cow. A tribute to Mr. Bull's musical years before this, and the business was conducted by 
talent was a remark Judge Dutton, then of the Su- his brother Samuel. When this place was removed, 
perior Court, made when in Danbury. He said, 'I Mr. Wildman put up the building across the way, 
heard Mr. Bull ring his bell this morning, and there where the late Samuel Stebbins did business until his 
was really music in it.' Mr. Bull's sales a~ounted to death. 
about forty quarts a day. "Next to the store, and where is now the Metho-

" There was no house between his place and what dist parsonage, stood the home of Alanson Hamlin. 
is now the Turner House, but was then a tavern kept He was a lawyer. 
by David Wood. The land lying between, and run- "Between this and where is now Mrs. Amos Steb­
ning clear back to Towi;i Hill Street, was a vacant lot, bins' residence there was no building. It was an t>peii 
boggy at the front with meadow at the rear. This meadow with a pond at the front. In 1830 or there­
piece belonged tq the First Congregational Society, about Thomas T. Whittlesey put up two buildings 
and the use of it was given to the pastor. where now stands the Baptist church. One of these 

"Joseph Moss ,vhite, father of Col. E. Moss ,vhite, was built for a conference-room for the First Congre­
lived where is now the G. F. Bailey homestead. gational Society. In 1838 it was occupied by Bene­
Mr. White was a surveyor, and held a county office diet & Nichols, who remained there until 1842, when 
as such. they took the building now occupied by Almon Judd. 

"Maj. Comstock',; store was an important centre of In 1852 they built on the corner of Liberty Streetr 
business aside from its traffic in merchandise. In the which they now own. After they vacated the confer­
day of which we write there was no bank here, and ence-building it was bought by Judge Homer Petersr 
the only means of exchange was through an agency who removed it to the foot of Liberty Street, where 
of a distant bank. The Phomix Bank, of Hartford, he now occupies it. The other building was used at 
had a branch in Litchfield, and Mr. Comstock was its one time for the publication of the Danbury Reccrder. 
agent here. Twice a week the stage plying between It stood on part of the ground now occupied by the 
Norwalk and Litchfield passed through Danbury and Baptist church, and when it was built the building 
took up the money and bills collected by agent Com- was moved south, where it still stands. 
stock and carried them to Litchfield. The major did "West Side.-Where the house of Mrs. Amos Steb­
a business also in iron-ore. This was received from bins stands stood at the beginning of the century a 
the mines at Brewster and piled up on the ground in house occupied by Dr. Daniel Comstock. He was 
rear of his place. Mr. Hull has frequently found the physician of the village then, and a man of con­
pieces of this ore in excavating on the premises. siderable mental attainments. There was an addition 

"Where now stands the store long occupied by the to the house in which, from 1812 to 1815 or there­
late Samuel Stebbins stood a shoe-shop, which as about, was published a paper by Nathaniel Skinner. 
early as 1805 was occupied by Col. Ebenezer D. Starr. In the last-named year he removed his office to 

"Zalmon ,vndman, who lived where now stands Bridgeport. 
the residence of M. H. Griffing, was a prominent man "The next house was the house of Maj. Ezra Starr,. 
in the history of the town. He was appointed post- who distinguished himself in the Revolution. It was 
master in 1805, and held the office for a period of built on the site of the one burned by Tryon's troops. 
thirty years, when he resigned the position on being In 1830 the property came into the possession of Starr 
elected to Congress. This election occurred in the Nichols, who moved back the major's house and built 
spring of 1835. In the winter following he died. the one now owned and occupied by Hon. D. P. 
Mr. Phillips was Mr. Wildman's deputy, and to him Nichols. Maj. Starr had a large family, but none of 
Mr. Wildman gave the income from the office. its members have a residence in Danbury now. 

"From West to Wooster Streeta.-The first building , "The next house was occupied by Col. Elias Starrr 
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a.nd is now the residence of Edward Allen. The I sold New England rum as well as other groceries, was 
colonel was a teacher, and his school (private) was doing an immense business. There were two open­
in the next building, now a tenement, and twenty ings in the counter above the money-drawer,-one for 
years ago occupied by L. H. Boughton as a shoe- silver, and the other for bills. When the money was 
store. received it was put through these openings. The 

"There was no other building until near the corner Danbury man ( whose name it is not necessary to men­
of ,vooster Street, where stood the 'Academy,' a tion) lounged about on the counter, a most innocent­
public school of the higher order. It is now a tene- looking party. He had in his possession a bit of stick 
ment belonging to St. Peter's parish, and adjoins on with tar on the end of it. When the merchant and 
the north Vaughn & O'Brien's carriage-factory (the his assistants ran to the door to look at the doings 
old church). For many years the lamented Irwin outside, he would push the stick down into the open­
taught there, and a number of our gray-haired citi- ing for bills, and by the help of the adhesive tar 
zens drank in knowledge at that fountain. would draw up one. At night the merchant discov-

" Ewit Side.-The present court-house was built in ered the loss. The Danbury man who had lounged 
1823-24. Its predecessor was a box-shaped affair on the counter was suspected. He was followed to 
of two stories, with a little chunked cupola on its Danbury, arrested, and the money with tar-marks 
roof. The first floor was used for some time as a found in his possession. He was taken to Brookfield, 
place of worship for the Universalists and until they confessed his crime, and was publicly and severely 
built the structure across the way that in later years whipped. 
became the church of St. Peter's parish. In front "West Side.-The present handsome jail-building 
of the old court-house stood the whipping-post and was erected in 1872. Its predecessor was of stone, 
stocks, and both institutions passed away with the and was built in 1830. The building before that was 
building. The stocks fell into disuse a long time a frame structure with barred windows, out of which 
before the whipping-post was abolished. Whippings a modern housebreaker would have made his exit in 
were frequent in the early days of the century. The less than no time. 
punishment was inflicted by justices' decisions as well "There was no building between the jail and the 
a.s by court decrees, although much lighter in the present estate of the late Aaron Seeley. The' saddle­
former cases. The whipping was generally done by factory' was not built until 1836. At the time it was 
the deputy sheriff. The late Aaron Seeley and Samuel put up it was considerable of a building, and its busi­
Wildman as deputy sheriffs, and Levi Starr as con- ness bade fair to be an extensive industry. It was 
stable, presided at the post. occupied by Elias S. Sanford and William B. Fry in 

"The principal whipping-day was that which fol- the manufacture of saddles and harness. The firm 
lowed the close of the court session. The victim!t had a store in New Orleans. The manufacture was 
were relieved of their upper clothes in the jail. Then carried on~ for about four years, when the failure of 
a. blanket was placed over their bodies, and they were the firm broke up the business. In 1840, or there­
marched across the street to the post. The prisoner's abouts, Stone & Wadhems rented the front of the 
hands were tied about the post above his head, the building for a store, and remained there three or four 
blanket removed, and his suspenders let down. Then years. James S. Taylor and his brother Granville 
the sheriff took position with the whip, carefully did business there after that, and when they left the 
measuring the distance so the lash would just lay building became a tenement. Several years ago the 
a.cross the back in the stroke and not lap around the I greater part of it was destroyed by fire. · 
side. The number of blows adjudged the culprit, "The store on the Seeley estate stood where is now 
varying from five to twenty-five, were then adminis- the residence. It was at one time occupied by Amos 
tered. Blood was rarely drawn by the lash, but the and Samuel Stebbins. 
stroke made heavy marks. These were red on the "Next to that was a tavern built of brick. It is 
backs of white persons, and white on the persons of now the residence of Mrs. George Meeker. The tav­
negroes. The whipping over, the victim's suspenders ern was built by Maj. Whiting at the close of the last 
were put up, the blanket replaced over his back, and century. Henry S. Whiting, a son of the builder, 
he was taken back to jail. There were cases where kept the tavern until 1816, or thereabouts, when the 
the hands were not tied to the post, but simply clasped late Aaron Seeley became its host, and remained in 
to it. The whippings were conducted in public, but charge some fourteen years. The hotel was a popular 
were not largely attended, there being but few present resort, and a stopping-place for the stages that ran 
to witness the performance, and those being mostly from New York to Litchfield. In those days its capa­
young boys and idlers. cious yard and stabling were the scene of much activ-

" The last known case of whipping in this section ity. Henry Whiting went to Herkimer, N. Y., from 
was in Brookfield. The victim was a Danbury man. Danbury, engaged there in the tavern business, and 
There was a reunion in Brookfield of the veterans of died there. There is none of the family in Dan­
the war of 1812-14, and the attendance from neigh- bury. 
boring towns was quite large. The village store, which "The house next to the tavern, and now known as 
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the Bedient place, was, until 1830, occupied by two 
brothers, Darius and John Starr. 

" The next building stood where James Doran nc,w 
lives. It was occupied by Nathaniel Wood, who was 
a shoemaker and had a shop in his yard. 

"Just north of William H. Clark's residence, and 
-on his property, is a brick dwelling which was built 
by Fairchild Wildman, who kept a store there for 
many years, and it was also occupied by W ard,m 
Clark and Nelson Crane for this purpose. In 1865 it 
was converted into a dwelling. On its site stood a 
building owned by Zachariah Griswold, who occupi,!d 
it about 1820 for a suspender-manufactory. It was 
not a successful venture, although Mr. Griswold did 
,quite a business at one time. 

"The present residence of Mr. Clark dates ba,:k 
from the last century. At one time in the last decade 
of the eighteenth century a room in it was used as the 
office of the village paper, and the building itself was 
the dwelling of one of the proprietorR. Mr. Cla:·k 
retains a door in which are the nails that held the 
various prints which it was once customary to ta<:k 
on the printing-office door. For many years the 
place belonged to Hiram Barnes, the famous stage­
man, and from its gates his four-in-hands have gal­
lantly trotted, to the great delight of the village 
youth. 

"The house now occupied by Charles H. Hoyt w,ts 
long the residence of Everett Ames, grandfather )f 
Mrs. Hoyt. At the beginning of the century it w:1s 
-occupied by Joshua Benedict, who was a saddle-man­
ufacturer and made saddles in the building. 

"His neighbor on the south, and in the house now 
-occupied by Charles Bigelow, was Dr. Daniel M. Car­
rington. Mr. Carrington had an addition to his resi­
dence in which he dispensed drugs, and which busi­
ness gave him the title of 'Doctor.' Dr. Carrington 
was a prominent citizen, and was several times sent 
to the Legislature. 

"In the time of which we write Town Hill A venue 
had but three houses. It was not an avenue then, 
but simply a lane, running around from Liberty 
Street, as it does now, and connecting with South 
.Street. It was then commonly known as 'Nigger,,' 
Lane,' although the hill itself bore its present nam,!. 
Why it was called Town Hill we do not know. Per­
haps because there was no town on it, nor any likely 
to be. 

"One of the three houses was owned and occupied 
by Agur Hoyt, father-in-law of the venerable Amos 
Morris. He lived on the east side of the street, where 
I. W. Stillman's house now stands. 

"There was a low-browed house which stood acroEs 
the way. It was occupied by Aunt Liz Henry. Aunt 
Liz was an aged maiden, of decrepit form, popularly 
supposed to be a witch, although no more direct evi­
dence of this than mere surmise hatched from the 
brain of the superstitious was ever laid at her dingy 
door. Her house stood where Lawrence Smith now 

. 14: 

lives, and a part of it is, we believe, incorporated in 
his building. 

"Near to where Turner Street now intersects Town 
Hill A venue stood a building occupied by a negro 
named Peter Stockbridge. It is remarkable what a 
great matter a little fire kindleth. As near as we can 
get at it, the disagreeable name of the lane came from 
this single family of colored people. Peter was a 
prolific man, and he had a large family of interesting 
children. He was commonly known among the peo­
ple of that day as Peter Goathead. 

"There were no more buildings until the foot of 
Liberty Street was reached. There, where is now 
Railway Avenue, stoo.d the extensive tannery of Starr 
& Sanford. Of both of these men we have already 
spoken. The business of the tanner, like that of the 
fuller, has concentrated at prominent centres since 
that day. Then tanneries and fulling-shops were 
distributed throughout the land, Danbury having sev­
eral of each. The Starr & Sanford tannery, with its 
vats and bark-buildings, extended almost to where is 
now the railway-track. 

"The only dwelling on Liberty Street then was oc­
cupied by Mrs. Betsey Starr, widow of Col. Ebenezer 
Dibble Starr, who was a shoemaker. He died in 
1816. It stood where is now Burr ~ockwell's place. 

WEST STREET. 

"North Side.-The first house was the dwelling of 
Elijah Gregory, where L. S. Benedict now lives. He 
was a blacksmith, and had his shop in one corner of 
the yard. Mr. Gregory was a somewhat prominent 
man, and was sent to the Legislature. The house 
was a large frame building. It now stands on George 
Street, where it has become a tenement. 

"The next house was that in which John Fry lived, 
and where now stands Dr. W. H. Rider's residence. 
He was a hat-manufacturer, and had his shop on the 
premises. Prior to his occupancy Benedict Gregory 
owned the premiS'es. This was in 1812. In 1827, 
Fry, Gregory & Co. occupied the shop. After this 
Mr. Gregory went to Dayton, Ohio, where he died. 
Ohio, and especially Dayton, called away a number 
of people from Danbury in the first years of the 
present century. 

"Next came the place of Ezra Gregory, grand­
father of Mr. L. P. Hoyt. He lived ,vhere C. H. 
Reed now does, and had a "small tannery in the rear 
of his house. He was a shoemaker. 

"Next to him was· the home of Uncle Mathew 
Gregory, now occupied by the family of the late 
Ephraim Gregory; he was a farmer. Between the 
two places is now New Street. This street was opened 
mainly through the exertions of Thomas T. Whittle­
sey, and it was named after him, but the name was 
subsequently changed by a borough-meeting. 

"Nathan Gregory lived where is• now the large 
double house owned by Mrs. Charles Benedict. He 
was a fuller of cloth, and the buildings used for 

• 
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fulling stood on the premises. The manufacture of 
cloth in those days was strictly a domestic industry. 
The wool or flax (linen) was bought of the stores. 
The hou!!ewife spun it into threads on her spinning­
wheels. It was then woven into cloth, and after that 
taken to the fuller, who dressed and colored it. The 
process was something similar to the making of rag 
carpets in a later day. There are fine linen sheets 
preserved in Danbury to-day which were made from 

"Mr. Beers lies buried in the old Episcopal church­
yard, in South Street. There is the following inscrip­
tion on his headstone: 

" 'ln Memory of 
Andrew Beers, Esq., 
Boru in Newtown, 
August IO, I 740, 
Died in D"nlmry, 

Sept. 20, 1824, 
75 years, I month. 

Life and the grave 
the flax seventy years ago. Two dift'crcnt lessons give: 

"Rev. Israel Ward owned the place now occupied Life toachos how to die, 

by Uncle Ira Dibble. He was the pastor of the First Death how to live.' 

Congregational Church, and lies buried in the Wooster "The next house was that of Joseph Benedict, who 
cemetery. He died in 1812 .. After his death the was a tailor. His house stood where now S. A. Bar­
house passed into the possession of Samuel Dibble, num lives. It was moved back on George Street, 
the father of the present occupant. He was a miller, where it still stands. 
and his first mill was on Main Street. His second ' "Next came the dwelling of Joseph Hoyt Gregory, 
and last mill stood where is now White's fur-factory, where Allen McDonald now lives. Mr. Gregory was 
on Beaver Street. Mr. Dibble was' always noted for a hatter, and had his factory by his house. He 
taking honest toll.' In those days people got their moved to Indiana in 1830, and there died. 
fl.our principally from the mills, buying or raising the "Farther on, and where now stands L. Wildman's 
grain and giving a portion of it to the miller for place, lived Abial Phillips. Samuel Dibble lived 
grinding. Rye-flour was the staple, although corn- there before he bought the Ward place. The house 
meal was considerably used. Benjamin Knapp, who was removed years ago. Division Street was then an 
figured as a caterer to several of Tryon's officers, was open road containing no dwellings. 
remarkably fonii of Indian meal, and it was said of "The last house on West Street stands there now, 
him that a pudding of that meal graced his dinner- close to the pond. Sixty years ago it was occupied 
table every day in the year. Wheat was not a com- by Ezra Boughton; it now belongs to Mr. A. M. 
mon grain then, and its flour was used principally for White. Mr. Boughton was a dresser of cloth, and 
pie-crust and the finer grades of pastry. had his works by his home. 

"The remaining house on that side of the street "The house owned and occupied by William H. 
was occupied by Caleb Starr, grandfather of Charles Clark was once owned by Stiles Nichols, and the 
F. Starr and Mrs. F. S. Wildman. His house stands paper printed in the building was the Republican 
at the junction of Harmony Street with West. He I Farmer, which at one time was published by Mr. 
was a farmer, and owned a great deal of land. Nichols. 

"South Side.-Col. Taylor, merchant, lived where "David Wood owned the house now occupied by 
now stands the residence of Mr. F. S. Wildman. It George B. Benjamin, Jr. Sixty years ago it was a 
was a story-and-a-half house, of double pattern, and tavern under his management. He subsequently 
had a long sloping roof, although the roof did not kept the tavern where now stands the Turner House. 
run so near the ground as was common in the houses "Next to his place were the dwelling and hat­
of that day. Subsequently the house passed into the . factory of Ezra Wildman. The house is now occu­
possession of Seymour ·Wildman, uncle of Frederick. I pied by Berlin St. John. The hat-shop is a tenement. 
The latter tore it down in 1842, and built his present "Next was the dwelling of Miss Ann Bennett. 
place. Before this the old house was occupied by "Following it came the residence of Eliakim 
sever~! families .. Judg~ Reuben Booth lived there at I Peck, father of S.S. Pee~. It still stands. Mr. Peck 
one time, and Miss Eumce Seeley kept a school there was a blacksmith, and his shop stood on the corner 
for young women. She subsequently moved to Ro- where is now the old Episcopal church tenement. He 
chester, where she died. There was no other house was a strong Episcopalian, a man of marked hospita­
until that of Andrew Beers was reached. He lived ble traits, and his shop and home were the resort of 
where Charles Hull does now. Mr. Beers was a people fond of entertainment and given to discussion. 
delver in astronomy and a prominent cultivator of In those days there were no fires in churches, and the 
weather. For several years he prepared an accept- worshipers in the Episcopal church (then on South 
abl~ almanac, which had a circul~tion throughout_ ~he I Street) used to go to Mr. Peck's home Sundays, be­
Umted States. Andrew Beers (Philom) was a fam1har tween service, to get warm.'' 
address to many families. His almanac was the origin 
of the 'Middlebrooks.' A remark attributed to him . MAIJ.:, STREET. 

and in o-eneral currency seventy years ago was the "Ea,st Side.-The first building on the south of the 
information that 'grass wouldn't start to grow until court-house was the dwelling of Jesse Skellinger. 
thunder shook the earth.' , He had a carriage-shop next to it. The place wa~ 

• I 
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subsequently occupied by John Rider, father of "Following was another small dwelling, the name 
George E. Rider. The carriage-factory is gone. The of whose occupant we do not know. It belongs to the 
residence is at present occupied by Dr. S. G. Griffin. estate of E. S. Griffin, and adjoining was the home of 

"Next to it was a small building owned and occu- E. S. Griffin, who recently died at an advanced age. 
pied as a silversmith-shop by John S. Blackman, "West of Samuel Brunker's place was the dwelling 
father of F. S. Blackman. The building, in an en- of Comfort Hoyt, who was a farmer. 
larged form, is still used for this purpose, and is con- "Beyond that was meadow-land until where is 
ducted by the son. The senior's wares were of the now the home of Mrs. A. N. Sharp. Then stood the 
genuine metal, without doubt, and many of the residence of Walter Dibble, farmer. 
spoons he sold sixty years ago with his name upon "On the corner of the street leading to Stephen 
them are now in the possession of the older families. Bates' place and Coalpit Hill road stood a house 
His dwelling is now the property and home of Fred occupied by Thomas Flynn, which was torn down. 
Tweedy. "Next came the home of Harry Taylor, which 

"Next came the residence of Matthew B. Whittle- stood a short distance east of the house occupied by 
sey, father of E. B. Whittlesey, and the site is now his grandson, Charles Taylor. Mr. Taylor was a 
occupied by him. Mr. Whittlesey was a lawyer. farmer. • 

"The present dwelling of George Bates, which "His next neighbor was Lemuel Taylor and next 
comes next, was the property of E. S. Sanford, the to him was Joel Stone, who did not appear to have 
tanner, who had a shoe-shop there. any particular occupation, but at one time carried 

"Next came a dwelling, whose occupant's name we the mail between Danbury and New Haven. 
do not know. It still stands. "North Side, going weat.-Capt. Ezra Dibble lived 

"Capt. John Rider lived where now George St. where is now the residence of Stephen Bates. He 
John resides. was grandfather to M:iss Mary Bull. He was a large 

"Samuel Wildman and Fairchild, his son, lived in farmer, and owned nearly all the land in that neigh­
the house occupied by Samuel C. Wildman, son of the borhood. He was noted for his generous help of the 
latter. 1 needy. 

"The store and dwelling of John Dodd came next. "There was no other house until the place of Amos 
It is now the property of Mrs. Edwin Taylor and Mrs. Hoyt was reached. He was a tanner and shoemaker 
'\Villiam H. Rider. and a deacon. The widow of his grandson, E. Q. 

"Following this was the house of Epaphras '\V. Hoyt, now occupies the place. 
Bull, a promising young lawyer, who went to Ohio in "The present home of Ira Morse was then occu-
1810, to grow up with the great '\Vest, and shortly after pied by Capt. Peter Starr, grandfather of Mrs. Morse. 
died there of a fever. The house was later owned He was a blacksmith and a prominent citizen of that 
by Curtis Clark, and is now owned by Mr. Murphy. day. 

"Capt. James Clark owned a small dwelling next "East of Capt. Starr's place was the residence 
south, which is at present the property of Patrick (since removed) of Daniel Frost. 
Burke. "The old Dibble house came next. It was built 

"Following this was the residence of Philo Cal- before the Revolution, and became famous in local 
houn, father of the president of the Fourth National history as the house where ,vooster died. 
Bank in New York City. I "Next came the home of ,vm. Chapel. He was a 

"Next came the McLean place, a Revolutionary cabinet-maker, and carried on a small business. His 
house, whicli still stands. I place is now the property of Mrs. Roff. 

"On the corner of South Street, in the yard of the "No other building occupied the interval between 
house occupied by the late Charles Rider, stood, fifty his place and the old Episcopal church which stood 
or more years ago, a store kept by a man named Gris- in the west end of the present graveyard, which was 
wold. It was burned down, and was not rebuilt." its churchyard. The South Centre District school 

SOUTH STREET. 

"&uth Side.-The most prominent house on the 
street then, because in full view of }\fain Street, was 
the residence of Daniel Taylor at the beginning of 
the century. Mr. Taylor was a hatter. The house 
was a relic of the Revolution. It is now occupied by 
Myron Clark, and has changed but little in the past 
century. 

"Going south, the dwe1ling of Eliakim Benedict, 
farmer, came next. It still stands. 

"Third was a small dwelling, which is at present 
occupied by Reuben Tompkins. 

stood close by, as at present. 
"Deer Hill A venue was a lane then. It was not 

one-half the width it is now, and the most travel was 
done by farm-teams and cattle. The only house in 
its entire length was occupied by Munson Gregory. 
It stood where E. A. Housman now lives, and was 
torn down some years ago. Rev. 'William Andrews 
lived here during his pastorate of the First Church. 

" '\V ooster Street was not considered a street, but a 
road. It had no house until that of Eli Jarvis was 
reached. It still stands, and is owned by George E. 
Rider. Nearly opposite lived Eli Wildman, a farmer. 
The place is now owned by Wilson Small. 



204 HISTORY OF FAIRFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT. 

"Lovers' Lane contained one house,-a small one. "That portion of Elm Street which runs over 
It stood near to where is now Beach Wilson's place. Rabbit Hill contained but four houses. These were 
Lovers' Lane was a popular name for this road many small, and it is not known who occupied them. Two 
years ago, and everybody in Danbury knew of it. of them were tenements, belonging to Col. Russel 
As late as twenty years ago a good part of it was White. One of them is now occupied by John and 
shaded by overhanging branches. It is not now a Charles Meeder. Another stood where F. McCready 
walk for the sentimental, and perhaps not more than lives, and the other is G. S. Disbrow's. 
half of our citizens know where it is. "In one of these houses lived a man who was noted 

"The house now owned by Mrs. B. Crofut, on the in the village as shiftless and improvident. He was 
Mountainville Road, was in that day occupied by a wagoner by profession, but scarcely by practice. 
Benj. Griffin. His wife was entirely opposite in nature. She was 

"There were but three houses on White Street. both industrious and frugal, and, like such people, 
·white Street runs through a section called Barren had an ambition. Hers was to have a home of her 
Plain. It took this title from its sandy soil, which own, or a homestead, as she termed it. Her want 
was not fit to cultivate. The bridge over the Still was frequently, if not daily, presented to her hus­
River, although generally known as the White Street band. Finally, becoming impatient with her de­
Bridge, is yet called by many, especially older citi- mand, he told her one day,-
zens, 'Bar'n Plain Bridge.' "' My dear, I would get you a homestead. in a 

"There were no dwellings on the north side of the ' minute if I had anywhere to put it.' 
street, unless we count the place of Mr. Knapp, cor- "This covered the subject completely, and the poor 
ner of Main Street. On the south side the first house woman never again put in her petition for a home­
was a small dwelling, owned by Abel B. Gregory, who stead. 
was a farmer. It is now occupied by Michael Zieg- "Rabbit Hill was thus called because its gravel 
ler, and stands on the corner of Canal Street. pits and clumps of brush were the home of that 

"Next came the large house of Noah Knapp, son animal. 
of Benjamin Knapp. It is supposed to have been 1 "Gallows Hill is the' mass of rock at the head 
built on the close of the war, if not before it. Noah of the street, near the pond.'' 
was a farmer. The place is now the property of Jo­
seph Bell. 

" There was no other dwelling on the road until 
where is now Nursery Avenue. A large dwelling, 
the property of Zalmon Wildman, father of Fred­
erick S., stood there.'' 

ELM STREET. 

"At the east end of this street, on the north side, 
the first house was the dwelling of Zelotes Robinson. 
He was a butcher, and began the peddling business 
with a wheelbarrow. He was among the first peddlers 
of meat in Danbury. Alvin Hurd also lived there. 
He was a hat-manufacturer. The house stood where 
is now Darius Stevens' place. Mr. Hurd's factory 
stood on the river, where Conductor A. Pulling lives. 

"On the corner of River Street was the next house. 
It was occupied by Dorastus Gi:een, a laborer. 

"On the south side there were but two buildings. 
One of them was the dwelling of Rory Starr, father 
of George Starr, the present occupant. The other 
was his shop, and is now Daniel Starr's box-shop. 
Mr. Starr was a builder, and a very extensive one, 
too. He did most of the building in those days, 
when houses with their gable-end to the street began 
to make their appearance here. Many of our older 
substantial residences were constructed by Mr. Starr, 
the most conspicuous being the residence of Mr. F. 
S. Wildman, which we believe was the fast he put up. 
Mr. Starr was elected to the Legislature, serving in 
both the House and the Senate. He was a Metho­
dist, and an active member of the local church. 

RIVER STREET. 

"The classical name of River Street, in the early 
days of the town's history, was Pumpkin Ground. 
The hill which skirts its west side was in spots de­
voted to the culture of that plain-looking but excel­
lent vegetable. 

"River Street was a mere lane, and ran to the east 
of its present location. Dorastus Green's house, 
which stood on the corner of Elm, had a well within 
eight feet of the front door. The present roadway 
now covers the well. Rabbit Hill was so steep in 
that day that a half-cord of wood was about all a 
team could haul up it. Mr. Green's house sat perched 
upon a high bank. The street was opened by Col. 
Russel White for the convenience of his factory busi­
ness. A good part of the hill on the west side be­
longed to Rory Starr. The house now occupied by 
the venerable widow of Monmouth Lyon stood there 
then. 

"Richard Lovelace, who was a miller, lived oppo­
site S. C. Holly & Co.'s factory. The house still 
stands. 

"Next to him lived Wm. Earle. His place also 
remains. 

"There were but two more houses, both of them 
opposite E. S. Davis' factory. One of them was 
occupied by Jonathan Leggett, a fur-cutter. The 
other was the dwelling of Sergt. Joseph Moore. Both 
yet remain. 

"At the farther end of the street, near White's 
factories, lived Anthony Buxton.'' 



• 

DANBURY. 205 

BEAVER STREET. water. The point on the Sound was ·westport. A 
"There were but two houses on this street ( which survey was even made, the line follpwing near to that 

is popularly known as Rose Hill). One of these was I of the present railroad as far down as Redding, where 
occupied by Ephraim Benedict, and is now owned by it crossed over to the Saugatuck Valley and thence to 
his granddaughter, Mrs. E. Polley. Westporj;. It was proposed to use Neversink Pond as 
. "Lower down the hill lived Samuel Curtis. His a feeder to the canal. The levels taken showed Main 

house has been gone for years. He was for a long Street at the w· ooster House to be three hundred 
time sexton of the First Church, and was known to and seventy-five feet above tide-water, and Neversink 
the young and old of his day as simply 'Sam.'" to be twenty feet above Main Street. Much was said 

NORTH STREET. 

"There were but two houses on North Street sev­
enty years ago. One of these stood where now lives 
Mrs. Patience Stratton. It was the property of Ezra 
Barnum, a -farmer. The second house was a small 
building, since removeq, which stood on Mrs. Bene­
dict's lot. 

"At a later day, fifty years ago or thereabouts, 
there was a hat-factory on the street. It stood near 
the bridge, on the north side." 

FRANKLU. STREET. 

"There was but one house on the north side of this 
now pretty well built-up street. This was the dwell­
ing of Stephen Gregory, and is now occupied by 
Harris L. Crofut. 

" On the south side the first house was that now 

and done about the canal project, but it was finally 
deemed to be inexpedient because of the heavy lock­
ing that would be necessary, and was abandoned. 

"The next project under consideration was a rail­
road. This agitation began in 1835,-the same year 
of the survey of the Hartford and New Haven road,­
and in that year the charter was obtained from the 
Legislature. The charter was granted to 'Ira Greg­
ory, Russell Hoyt, Eli T. Hoyt, Edgar S. Tweedy, 
David M. Benedict, Ephraim Gregory, Curtis Clark, 
Frederick S. Wildman, Elias S. Sanford, George W. 
Ives, with such other persons as shall associate with 
them for that purpose.' These were to be incorpor­
ated as 'The Fairfield County Railroai Company,' 
with a capital stock amounting to two hundred thou­
sand dollars, or three hundred thousand dollars if 
necessary, and the following-named were authorized 
to receive subscriptions: Russell Hoyt, Jan,is Brush, 

owned by Mrs. Betsy Rosebaum, on the corner of Aaron Seeley, Ephraim Gregory, Starr Nichols, George 
Rose Street. In the rear stood the Methodist meet- Clapp, Starr Ferry, Isaac H. Seeley, Nathaniel H. 
ing-house of that day. 

"George Lovelace lived next, where George ,v. 
,vnson now lives. 

"The third and last house on that side was occupied 
by Darius Barnum. It stood nearly opposite Mr. E. S. 
Davis' place.'' 

CHAPTER XIX. 

DANBURY (Continued). 

Internal ImproYements-Canal from Danbury to Westpo,-The Fair­
field Railroad Compnny-New York to Albany oia Danbury-Interest­
ing Figures-The Danbury and Norwalk Railroad-The Ridgefield 
Branch-Miscellaneous. 

·wildman, William J. Street, and Henry Sherwood. 
The road was authorized to run from Danbury by the 
most direct and feasible route to some suitable point 
at tide-water in either the town of Fairfield or the 
town of Norwalk. 

"This was all down on paper and looked nice 
enough, but the trouble had not begun. The charter 
was got and a survey made, and everything seemed to 
indicate a speedy completion of the road. But a gen­
eration was to pass before the hopeful projectors should 
see a railroad from Danbury to tide-water, and before 
that glad consummation a mountain of worry, oppo-' 
sition, and discouragement was to be painfully scaled. 
As in the case of all enterprises benefiting a commun­
ity, a few only of its professed friends were left to do 

"As the town grew and its business grew the demand the work, while the mass either stood idle or suggested 
for a better means of transportation began to make obstacles with a fertility of resource that was as amaz­
itself felt. There are in every age and in every com- ing as it was e:i-asperating. Conspicuous among the 
munity, fortunately, progressive spirits who are al- workers for the project were Eli T. Hoyt and the late 
ways restless, because they are always looking for Aaron Seeley. 
something better than what is already possessed. "The road as it was first contemplated and as it 
Danbury was blessed with this element, and those finally took shape were two different projects. Most 
who composed it chafed under the limitations of the of our readers are not aware that in Danbury's first 
stage-coach and the slow-plodding road-wagons. inception of railway communication with the outer 

"In 1825, when the Erie Canal project was being world the somewhat colossal project of a through-line 
agitated, the public attention throughout the country from New York to Albany by way of this place was 
was directed to the subject of inside water-communi- entertained, and that the Danbury and Norwalk Rail­
cation, and the agitation reached Danbury, being . way is to-day part of that scheme, and all, in fact, 
drawn here by the progressive spirits of that day. It that is left of it .. The proposed route was to run from 
was proposed to run a canal from Danbury to the tide- , New York by boat to Wilson's Point, on the Sound, 

) 
j 
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four miles below Norwalk. The harbor there was the provided for a road from Danbury direct to tide-water 
best in that section, and would be accessible for the I only, they dreamed of the through-line and worked 
greater part of the most severe winter. From the for it. It was, to speak mildly, a stupendous enter­
Point to Danbury the rail was to run, and thence to prise for a town of less than six thousand inhabitants 
West Stockbridge, Mass., where the line would coµ- to take hold of and attempt to carry through, for as 
nect with what is now the Boston and Albany road, yet there was no organized effort in this direction out­
and which was then building from Albany to West side of Danbury. But the progressive ones of that 
Stockbridge. This, of course, was before the day of day worked hard for success, and earned it even if 
the Harlem road and in the beginning of railway en- they did not receive it." 
terprise in this country,-at a time when railways were 

FROM NEW YORK TO ALBANY VIA DANBURY. 
mainly opposed on the very substantial grounds that 
cattle would get on the tracks and be killed. "As we have said, during the project of a road from 

"We shall speak first of the line from Danbury to Danbury ~ ~i~e-water the proje~tors never lost sight 
tide-water, known in the charter as 'The Fairfield of the feas1b1hty of a through wmter route from New 
County Railroad.' The survey was made by Alexan- I York to Albany. This was a crying demand in both 
der Twining, of New Haven, in the summer of 1835.1 cities, and the Hudson River for a railway-line was 

"Two surveys were made,-one along the Sauga- not thought of; neither, in fact, was the route through 
tuck River to Compo Point below Westport and the Putnam County, now known as the Harlem road. And 
other along the present rout~ to Belden's N~ck {Wil- I a railway-line between the two cities by way of Dan­
son's Point). The distance on the Sauo-atuck route I bury was not so much out of the way, after all. 
was about twenty-three miles, and on the Norwalk "T~e distance by the Hudson ~iver, the most direct 
route to Belden's N eek it was twenty-six miles. In route, 1s one hundred and fifty miles; by way of Dan­
point of distjlnce to New York, however, the latter b~ry it is but fourteen miles greater, as the following 
route had the advantage in that it was seven miles will show: . 

h . b I l\11les. nearer to t at city y the channel than the former. From New York by steamboat to Belden'• Neck.......... 40 
It · t t k furth f th S t k By railway to Danbury............................................. 26 1s no necessary o spea er o e auga uc From Danlmry to West Stockbridge............................ 68 
route, as it was abandoned. From West Stockbridge to Albany .......•...................... 30 

"The Norwalk survey, as first made by Mr. Twi- , Whole distance ...........................•.••...•..•.•...••...... 1G4 
ning, was considerably changed before the work on "Mr. Twining recommended thiR through-route, 
the road commenced. At this end of the route it was and Messrs. Aaron Seeley, Eli T. Hoyt, and Jarvis 
first designed to leave Bethel out, running the road Brush, to whom the surveyor made his report, pub­
through Mountainville along the line of Simpaug I lished a card indorsing the same. . 
Brook, and coming into the borough across South "It may not be. unint-eresting to our readers of this 
Street and parallel with Main on the east to Turner day to know what were some of the grounds on which 
Street, where it was designed to have the station. Mr. , was based a calculation in favor of a railway-line. 
Twining recommended, however, that, instead of fol- from Danbury to New York, and we herewith give 
lowing the Simpaug, the road branch to the east and the views of the gentlemen above named, as well as 
run through Grassy Plain into Bethel, and thus secure I their estimate of the through-business. It presents 
an important station with but a little increase in dis- most interesting reading, we think, to this generation, 
tance. The suggestion was accepted so far as Bethel and the figures contemplated and those realized make 
was concerned, but the route at the south end of the entertaining comparisons. The committee advance 
village was not materially changed. Some one did I these views in favor of direct rail-communication with 
speak of the line which is now occupied, but ii was tide-water: 
scouted at the time. The great flat between the lower "' The town of Danbury* contains a population of about 6000, an<l the 

brido-e and Bethel was a boa and some very wise citi- ,·mage of Danbury is the central point of business for a fertile and 
~ ·d h · '" . I densely-populated territory of 200 square miles. The present amount 

zen Sal at t e time that two twelve-foot rails could of transportation from this and the adjoining towns, as ascertained by 

be pushed down into it their full -length without inquiry of persons engaged in business, is 7000 tons. This amount has 
touching bottom. The route alona the east of Main actually been transported during the past year. l\Iuch, howe,·er, has 
Street was strono-1 0 osed b the owners of s v _ been necessarily overlook~<! in the estimat~, and the amount has_ ueen 

I!> Y PP . Y . . e en for the last ten years, and 1s now, wn.<lually mcreMlng. These cons1dera-
teen homesteads, who gloomily ant1c1pated destruc- tions alone, without taking into the estimate the impulse which experl­

tion to their cows and pigs by crossing the track. Mr. cnce has shown will be given by a railroad t!) nil brancheil of business, en­
Twining hinted that the difficulty in bu ii din th able us to state with confidence thntthe transportation upon this road, upon 

, . . g . e its first opening, will be 10,000 tons. The regular price now paiJ for 
road at Hubbell s Hill could be avoided by following freight to those exclusively engaged in transportation from Danbury to 
the Norwalk valley into its extension Sugar Hollow Saugatuck and Nonmlk ls S5 per ton. A88uming the minimum price 

and thUs come into Danbury on the west side . but for transportation upon the railroad to ue $:I per ton, the annunl revenue 
th· t fi rth • d d ' from this source alone will be $30,000, to which may be added for freight 

lS was no U er COnSl ere • from the towns south of Danbury, which will probably be nearly equal 
",Vhile these surveys were going on the friends of upon either ruute, $2000,-making in the whole t'-l~,ooo, and the dilfer­

the project had their heads full of a through New ence uetween that amount and the price now paid, being $20,~, will be 

York and Albany line, and, although their charter • This included Bethel.-En1Toa Neu:,. 
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a clear gain to th~ public. The present number of pnsaeugers from New 
York to Danbnry, as ascertained l>y a ·reference to the l>ooks of the pro­
prietors of the stage-lines and other •onrces, is 10,000. The price of pas• 
sage no"· po.id, and which it is not proposed to diminish, is one doJlv.r. 
The nmuber of passengers from the intermediate towns we ~stimate 1000 
more, for which there is now paid from fifty to seventy-five cents; esti­
mating the fare at the average price of sixty.two and a half cents, the 
aniount is $625t-mnkiog the amount of re,·enue to be deri,·cd from 
pasaengo,-., $10,625. These estimates aro based upon tho facts ns they 
now exist; but when we take into consideration the increased amount 
of transportation and travel to be created by the increased facilities for 
communication, it may snfely be assumed that the income from all 
sources of revenue will be greatly increased. For instance, we have 
stated that the present annual number of passengers from J)anbnry to 
New York is 10,000. This includes very few from the wwns enst of Dan­
bury, and none from the so11thern portions of Litchfiold County and the 
enstern part of the counties of Dutchess and P11tnam, in the State of 
New York. But the proposed road would 11ndoul>tedly draw to itself all 
the travel from the entire region> which, it is not unrcnsono.ble to sup­
pcsc, woul<l incrc11Se the number of,pnssengcrs to 20,000,-thus yielding 
from pMSengers alone an income of $20,000 per annum. A rapid exten­
sion of business along the whole line of the rqad, and throughout the 
portion of country within the sphere of its influence, may also l>e confi­
dently anticipated. In tho instance of hea~y articles also the increased 
amount of trnnsporta.tion will, in our judgment, far exceed the estimate 
here made. We refer especially to the nrticles of coal and plnster, the 
former of which is uow used in the interior to a. very limited extent, but 
woulJ, upon the opening of the proposed road, lie extensively substi­
tuted for wood. In relation to the annual expenditures, the experience 
of other roads enables us to present an e~timate upon which we may 
safely rely. The annual expense of repairs may be put at $2500. The 
cost of transporting freight to tho amount with which this road will com­
mence will not exceed thirty-five cents per ton. One trip and one return­
trip per day will be sufficient to accommodate all the passengers with 
which the rood will open, which, a.t $7.50 per trip, for 313 days, mnkes 
for the year $4695. The salaries of tho officers in tho employ of the com­
pany muy be set down at $3000 per annum, the expense for d1i,·ers and 
keeping horses,* for freighi-wagons, etc., exclusive of pnssengcr-cars, 1 

$!500, making in the aggregate, for all expenses of the company, 
$13,695. 

"' ,v e present the following recapitulation : 

Income from freight ..........................•....•.....•...... $32,000 
Income from transportation of passengers.............. 20,000 

$s2.ono 
Deduct annual eX[K'nBP.S of repairs, etc.................. l:1,G95 

in regard to distance no other route ever can possess any material ad­
mntage oYer the present. 

" 'That the business of this portion of country which the extended 
road would intersect will afford an ample remuneration to the etockhold• 
ere there co.n be no reasonable doubt. Of it.s ,·ulue as a channel of inter­
course between Now York and Albany no estimate has been or can be 
made. ,vi1en we look at tho immense numbers daily passing between 
the two cities, nnd reflect that this number, great as it now is, is daily 
augmenting by the increase of population and wealth throughout the 
country and by the opening of new lines of communication to an indef .. 
inite extent at the north and west, we are admonished that its value 
cannot be calculated, and that all attempts to make an estimate must 
fail.' 

"There are some figures in the report of Mr. Twin­
ing's survey from Danbury to tide-water which are of 
full as much interest to us of to-day as they were to 
those who watched the progress of the scheme. It 
must be borne in mind that this was not a steam-rail­
way, but really a horse-railway. In that day loco­
motives were in but little use in this country, and 
nothing, comparatiYely, was known of them in New 
England. Mr. Twining's estimate for the grading of 
the road was $7869 a mile, or $203,389 for the entire 
distance. 

"In his estimate for the superstructure-that is, 
the track-is an item, 'Horse-path,' which was to 
cost $123 a mile. The horse-path was to be of plank. 
The following is his estimate for the appointments of 
the road: 

Six carriages for passengers ...........•........................ $4,500 
Fifteen ,vagons for 1.Jurdt!ns........ ............................. 5,250 
Thirty horses........................................................ 3,000 
Hn.rnesa .......... .... ...... ... .. . .. . .. .... .. . .. .... . . . . . ....... ...... 600 
Two depots, with carriage-houses and Stu.bl~........... 8,000 
One half-way station, with ditto............................. 2,750 

Total... ...........••.....••....................................... $24,100 

"It will be seen by the above that passenger-cars 
could then be bought for $750 apiece, and freight­
cars were in the market at $350 each. 

Net annual profit .....•.......................................... $38,305 
Thus yielding a dividend of nearly ten per cent. to tho stockholders.' 

"Of the route through to Albany the committee 
further say : 

·''There is, howe,·cr, another and mor~ enlarged ,·iew v.·hich we take 
of this subject. Tho road, according to the original design of its pro­
jectors, ends at Danbury, and the company, by their charter, nro author­
ized t.oconstruct it to that place only. But in the course of their inquiries, 
the undersigned have become convinced that th~ ''l"d is in lite li11• of th• 
t:tmJ nearest pracliccwk ,·oule .for a rn.il,~ay belween tlie cities of :New York an,l 
Albany. and that by extending it northward throngh the valley of the 
Housa.t.onic to West Stockbridge,-a. distance of sixty-eight miles only,­
and intersecting at that pince the railroad from Albany to West Stock­
bridge, nlrca.dy commcncod, tho great objei;t, so lou,t desired, of effocting 
an open winter-communication between the commercial and political 
capitals of the Empire State will bo accomplished. With a view to this 
object, l!lr. Twining, the engineer l>y whom our road was sur,·eyed, has 
examined the country between the northern termination of the Fairfield 
County Rrulroad and the proposed point of intersection with tho Albany 
and West Stockbridge Railway. The resnlt of his examination will loe 
found in his report. 

I 

"It was proposed to make two trips a day each way. 
The cars were to be drawn by horses, two to each car. 
The time required to make the trip was estimated to 

1 
be three hours. As to how the freight-wagons were 
to run, or how many to a train, was not determined 

"' Actual sun·eys htLve demoostrn.ted that a railroad between the twQ 
cities mu~t, for n portion of the distance, poss through the n\Jley of the 
Housat.onic. And it ha.q nc\'cr been proposed, nor ie it indeed possible, 
to enter the mlley with •uch road 11t any point farther north than at or 
near Canu.an Falls, forty-four miles north of Daubury. It is immaterial,, 
bowe\'er, nt what point any other practicable route enters thut vulley, 
because it being tme that it must be bmught thns far east pro,·es that 

• It was desigue<l. to nm the ron.d by horse•power. 

on, as the road was but then in its inception, and 
before matters progressed to any degree locomotives 
came into use. 

"While these estimates were being made the 
'through-line' was worked at. Mr. Twining and the 
originators of the road were firmly convinced that 
the line would pay and that it was a necessity. There 
was no rail-route between New York and Albany, 
and in the winter, when navigation was closed in the 
river, there was no communication between the two 
cities except by stage. The Danbury people sought 
to stir up enthusiasm at points along the proposed 
route. 

"In December, 1835, a public meeting was held in 
Kent, the next town above New Milford. It was a 
large meeting. Delegates were present from all towns 
along the proposed line from Danbury to West Stock­
bridge. A proposed charter (granted the following 

1 year) had been drafted, giYing to the company char-
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tered the right to construct a road to Bridgeport, or 
to the New York State line in the town of Ridgefield, 
or to Danbury. The Kent meeting determined on 
the route to Danbury, and appointed Aaron Seeley, 

. Peter Pierce, and Jay Shears a committee to employ 
an engineer and have a survey made and an estimate 
of cost prepared. 

"In March following the committee secured the 
services of E. H. Brodhead, an experienced civil en­
gineer, to make the survey. He entered upon his 
duties as soon as possible, and was accompanied along 
the course by Mr. Seeley, of the committee. 

"Twenty-one days were employed in this work. 
Not only the line proposed, but several divergilfg 
routes, at the suggestion of citizens living off the line, 
were looked after. The line was carried, also, south 
of Danbury to the New York State line in Ridgefield, 
at the place of E. Bouton, a distance of about eleven 
miles from here. The line in Danbury began at the 
Main Street Bridge across Still River, and Mr. Brod­
head's survey ran it through Beaver Brook District, 
thence along the line of the Still River to its conflu­
ence with the Ousatonic (Housatonic} at New Mil­
ford. From there it followed pretty much the line 
now occupied by the Housatonic road to ·west Stock-

. bridge, where was met the railway known as the Bos­
ton and Albany. 

"The route from Danbury to the New York State 
line followed the course of the Still River, passed 
through Miry Brook District and entered the Sugar 
Hollow. The ascent through the Hollow was, ac­
cording to Mr. Brodhead, thirty-five feet to the mile. 
At Sugar Hollow Pond the line diverged to Bennett's 
Ponds, and thence passed through Titicus to the 
neighborhood of South Salem. This route was not, 
however, an important item in the consideration of 
the road. The main thing was to get the line to Dan­
bury through the Ousatonic Valley, where it would 
connect with the Fairfield County road, to tide-water. 
The line from Ridgefield to West Stockbridge was 
eighty-one miles; from Danbury to West Stockbridge, 
seventy miles. Mr. Brodhead estimated the entire 
cost of the road, the longer distance, to be $1,247,509. 

"These figures exceeded the expectation of the 
committee, but did not dampen their ardor. They 
made up their report and presented it to the conven­
tion, and with it a circular which was to go before 
capitalists who were looking for investments. 

"The circular assumed that, viewed in connection 
with manufactures, the unusual water-power, and the 
cheapness of the land thereto, the Ousatonic route 
was to be preferred to any other route, especially one 
nearer to the Hudson River (this referred to the Har­
lem and Albany scheme). But the committee, wish­
ing to make no uncomplimentary comparison, simply 
say that, feeling confident that while the counties of 
Putnam and Westchester undoubtedly surpass the 
Ousatonic Valley as an agricultural country, yet they 
feel confident it is manufactories that must give busi-

ness to a railway and profit to the stockholders, and 
so, without comparing this route with the one farther 
west, they invite capitalists to examine for them­
selves. 

"The committee were very much in earnest, even 
to the extent of using italic. 'Should the capitalists 
of the cities of Albany and New York prefer the. 
western route,' say the committee, 'we appeal to the­
people of the Ousatonic Valley to come forward in all 
their strength, and, relying upon their own resources, 
to construct a road to tide-water.' 

"The people of the valley eventually came forward 
in all their strength and constructed a road to tide­
water, but not as the committee expected, and cer­
tainly not as they desired. 

"Messrs. Hoyt and Seeley atten.ded a big railroad 
meeting in Albany just previous to the Kent meeting_ 
They went there to present the Ousatonic Valley 
route, and to learn what could be learned of the con­
dition of the railroad pulse. Hi Barnes dro,·e them 
there in a carriage. While in Albany a heavy snow­
storm fell, and made it impossible for them to get 
back as they went. Mr. Barnes was equal to the 
emergency, however, and very soon succeeded in trad­
ing off his carriage for a sleigh, by which the return­
trip was made. At any gathering of railway sympa­
thizers which presented an opportunity to ventilate 
their favorite scheme these two men might be found. 

"While these movements were being made, Bridge­
port, which was not thought of by any one as a rail­
road point, began to realize that there was danger of 
losing something. The something in question was all 
the business of the Housatonic Valley. 

"When Bridgeport got on high ground where it 
could look off some other direction than seaward, it 
saw that by way of Danbury and Norwalk ,.._-as so 
much more direct for a line to New York than by 
way of itself that should the road be built there 
would never be the ghost of a chance for it to get the 
business of the upper Housatonic Valley. It would 
all go the shorter route. 

"Danbury as yet had no road to tide-water. If 
Bridgeport cou]d. build a road from New Milford to 
itself, then it would stand a very good chance to take 
the business of the Housatonic Valley should a road 
be put through it. Alfred M. Bishop, father of Wil­
liam D. Bishop, was considerably interested in the 
proposed road, and came to Danbury to talk over the 
matter with our people. He offered to carry through 
the Fairfield County railway if Danbury would raise 
one hundred thousand dollars for that purpose. There 
were those in favor of doing it, of course; but there 
were so many more opposed to it that the scheme 
fell through. He next tried Bridgeport, and that city, 
being a trifle more awake than we, or a trifle less 
honest,* we are not sure which, pledged two hundred 

• When the time came for this money to be paid Bridgeport sought to 
repudiate, and the law was called in to fore• it to keep its word, which 
appeared to be equally as good as 11B l>ond. 
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thousand dollars for a road from there to New Mil- scription twenty thousand dollars. When the money 
ford. was called for the eager W. refused to pay, and suit 

"This practically killed the Danbury route from was brought. by the company to force him to keep 
New York to Albany. In 1840 the railway from his word. W. claimed that the directors had violated 
Bridgeport to New Milford was completed and the terms of agreement in several particulars, and 
opened for use. Two years later it was extended believed he could annul the subscription; but he 
to the State line, and became the winter-route from failed, and the company recovered. 
Albany to New York, via the steamer 'Nimrod,' "The following were the officers of the new road, as 
Capt. Brooks, to Bridgeport, and as such was occu- recorded in the first printed report of the company: 
pied for a number of years. It was ten years later 1 "Directors, Eli T. Hoyt, Jonathan Camp, Fred­
before the Danbury and Norwalk road took form. erick S. Wildman, Charles Isaacs, E. S. Tweedy, 

"The reader remembers, perhaps, that there were Wm. C. Street, L. P. Hoyt, ·wm. K. James, ,vm. 
two objective points at tide-water,-one at Westport A-. ,vhite, Ebenezer Hill, Frederick Belden, D. P. 
and the other below South Norwalk. This end of Nichols. 
the line was rampant for the road, but there was not "President, E.T. Hoyt; Treasurer, Geo. ,v. Ives; 
so much interest taken below. It was desirable to Secretary, E. S. Tweedy; Superintendent, Harvey 
get one hundred thousand dollars from the other end, Smith. 
and our railway committee made several journeys "The president, treasurer, and secretary were of 
with that object in view. Westport wanted the road, Danbury; the superintendent was of Ridgefield. 
but its anxiety was not a hundred thousand dollars' "Mr. Hoyt served as president of the company 
worth. Norwalk felt the same. Year after year until Aug. 25, 1864, when he was superseded. He 
passed away in this state of affairs, and then Norwalk determined his salary, fixing it at two hundred and 
people awoke up to the full importance of the line, , fifty dollars a year, and refusing any increase. Edwin 
and the money was subscribed. Lockwood, of Norwalk, was chosen president, and 

",vork on the road was begun in the fall of 1850. served until June 18, 1873, when R. P. Flower, the 
Beard, Church & Co. were the contractors, Deacon present incumbent, was elected. 
John F. Beard being the senior of the firm. The "Mr. Tweedy continued as secretary until Aug. 25, 
total c1st of constructing and equipping the road was ' 1864, when Harvey Williams was elected to the office. 
three liundred and seventy thousand eight hundred Mr. Ives served as treasurer until that period when 
and twenty-one dollars. The equipment consisted of I the two offices were merged in one, Mr. Williams 
three locomotives, four first-class and two second- being both secretary and treasurer, and continues as 
class passenger-cars, eight box-, sixteen platform-, such at this writing. 
and three hand-cars. On the 1st of March the road "Mr. Smith served as superintendent until pros­
was so far completed as to run trains. The station in trated by a paralytic stroke in 1859. John W. Bacon 
Danbury was a subject of considerable discussion. was appointed in his place July 14, 1859, and served 
The d9wn-town subscribers wanted it in that neigh- until Jan. 1, 1876, when L. W. Sandiforth, the present 
borhoocl, while the up-town subscribers wanted it incumbent, was chosen. 
where it now is. As the latter's stock was much "When the road was opened the rails for some dis­
more than the former's, they carried the day; where- tance this side of Redding were laid on the ground, 
upon the dissatisfaction was so great among the dis- the earth being frozen so hard as to bear the weight 
appointed that the successful ones took their stock off of *e train. This was done because the completion 
their hands. had been delayed for a considerable time beyond that 

"We of this day, enjoying the complet~d line, set for its finish, and people were anxious to see a 
little realize what the founders endured and had to train go through. 
contend against to get the road through. There was "The first conductor was Henry Banks, who died 
troubli in securing the right of way, in the construe- some years ago. He was a man of marked suavity of 
tion, and in the payment of the subscriptions. One manner and speech. Many anecdotes are told of him 
notable case in the last-named class is worthy of illustrating this pleasant quality. On leaving Nor­
mention. Down at Belden's N eek lived a New York walk he would observe, 'Those who are about to pro­
merchant, and in Norwalk village lived another. ceed on the train will please take their seats.' Now­
The former we will call W., and the latter S. S. a-days it's 'All 'board!' 
subscribed five thousand dollars. W. was then seen, "When coming to Norwalk station it was his 
and was told what S. had done. He said S. could cust-0m to notify the passengers of the fact by im­
take twenty thousand dollars' worth of stock just as pressively remarking, as if in the presence of some 
well as not, and, if he did so, he, ,v., would guarantee great mechanism, 'The train will presently reach 
him six per cent. from the earnings of the road, pro- Norwalk Bridge.' After leaving Bethel he would ex­
viding S. would let him vote on his stock. W. then plain, 'We are now approaching the village of Dan­
took five thousand dollars' worth. S. was seen, and bury, which is the terminus of the road.' 
told what W. had said. Upon that he made his sub- 1 "The citizens of Winnipauk "·ere very much 
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offended by his pronunciation of their station, which I year, and the careful management that signalized its 
he unfortunately called Winnepank. course made it one of the soundest corporations in 

"In 1844 the New York and Hartford r.oad was pro- the State." 
jected. It was to pass through Danbury and thence 
to New York via White Plains, N. Y. We can now 
see what a splendid piece of property it would have 
become had it lived. But it fell through, and a goodly 
portion of the contemplated line between here and. 
Hartford is now occupied by the survey of the New 
York and New England Railway. 

" The committee appointed to secure the survey of 
the road made an estimate of the business in the cir­
cular to the public which they issued. Our readers 
remember it. These figures, made in 1835, are in­
teresting compared with what the road did the first 
year after it was finished, 1852-53. The circular esti­
mated its first year's business in freight to be $32,000. 
The passenger-traffic the circular fixed at $10,625, 
making a total of $42,625. The first report of the busi­
ness of the road showed that the earnings for the first 
-fifteen months of its existence were $51,237.70. So 
the authors of the circular had made a remarkably 
close estimate. The second report covered a period 
of eleven months, in which the earnings were $52,­

CHAPTER XX. 

DANBURY (Continued). 

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY. t 
The First Boptist Church-The Second Boptist Church-Mill Ploin Bop­

tist Church-The Methodist Episcopal Church-The First Congrega­
tional Church-The West Street Church-St. James' Episcopal Church 
-The First Univers..list Church-The Sandemnni1>n Society-The 
Catholic Church-The Disciples of Christ Church-The German Meth­
odist Church. 

'£HE FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH. 

THE following sketch of this church is taken from 
the minutes of the first session of the Fairfield County 
Baptist Association, in October, 1838 : 

"The }'irst B1>ptist Church in Danbury was constituted Nov. 16, 1785, 
with thirteen mem~rs,-seven malcs,six females. There were formerly 
two branches t-onnected with this church,-one in New Milford, the pres­
ent New Milford Church; the other in Fredericksburg, N. Y., the present 
Patterson Church. In 1790 the church had about one hundred and 
twenty members; from 1815 to 1830 its ,weragc number was from fifty to 

706.68. The through-fare was seventy-five cents. sixty; but after this period a division threntoned the destruction of the 
"It is not often a new road so fully answers the church. In July, 1837, there were only twenty-two memhers,-flve males, 

expectation of its projectors as did the Dan bury and seventeen females. Their present pastor was ordained with them Nov. 15, 
1837. Since that time there has been added twenty-six. Their prospects are 

Norwalk road. The directors, in the report referred I now very encouraging: whole number, forty-eight. They have licensed 
to above, say,- 1 three to preoch the gospel,-Noah Shen1·ood, now in Western New York; 

"' The result of the experience of the company since the commencement 
of the operations upon the road hns been fully to corroborate the opinion 
uniformly expressed by the directors, that the Danbury and Norwo.lk 
Roilrond will proYe "successful and proflmble enterprise, 1>nd tho favor-
1>ble lncreose of the pa.st y ... r demonstrates th1>t, but for the disastrous 
floods and the unusual expeuditures rendered necessary thereby, the net 
earnings for the yeu would liave wammted two dividend• of three per 
cent. each, paid interest and taxes, and left u. surplus of $3348. • 

Nu.than Benedict, now in Northern Connecticut; John l\litchell, now in 
Michigan. They huve hod five pastors,-Brother Ferris, ordoioed in 1788; 
Brothor Norton, ordained in l\1ay, 1789; Drother ,vadhams, ordained in 
February, 1701; Brother Bulkly,ordaioed in May, 1800; 1>nd thoir pres­
ent pastor, Brother Lucius Atwater." 

The following additional history of this church was 
furnished by Rev. S. G. Silliman: 

" . I "The following is a list of the members of the church 
The floods referred to were three m number. . S t b 1798 M tth W"lk D "d p . m ep em er, : a ew i ·es, av1 earse, 

These occurred in the fall of 1853 and the sprmg of B . . B w·ii· R dl Jos ph H ·1t . . . en1am1n earss, 1 1am un e, e am1 on, 
1854. They were disastrous m effect, delaymg travel J ·01. K J h B N th · I B . . r., 1ver napp, osep earss, a ame arnum, 
for sixteen davs, and causmg an expense of four I 1 St l\" tth '""lk J G b · 1 B · . . srae evens, 1.a ew v 1 es, r., a ne ar-
thousand dollars for temporary repairs, and nme B • • B J Josl ua Pea se John . . . • num, enJam1n earss, r., 1 r , , 
thousand dollars m addition for a thorough recon- B b J K J Tl e· fi t mo lerat Sep . . e ee ames napp r. 1 1r rs l or, -
struct10n of the damaged portions.* ' · ' • ··· d 1 

"R'd ,11 'd B h I 1870 b h d f . tember, -1798, was Isra1el t:itevens, an c erk James 
i ge1,e,, ranc .- n a ranc roa rom J Th • 1 fi · f h" h · 

B h 'll t R"d fi ld V'll b 'It "th Knapp, r. at 1s tie rst meetmg o w 1c any 
_ranc VJ e o i g~ e i ag~ was m ' w1 a record can be found. 

view to accommodatmg the busmess of that place. 
Heretofore the connection had been made by stage. 
The distance is four miles. 

"In 1872 another branch was built, running from 
Bethel to Hawleyville, to connect with the Shepaug 
Railway, which runs from Litchfield to Hawleyville. 
This was done to control the business of the Shepaug 
valley. The length of the branch is six miles. The 
cost of both these extensions was at the rate of forty 
thousand dollars a mile. 

" The business of the road increased from year to 

"June 26, 1842, it was 'Voted, that we pull down 
the old meeting-house for the purpose of erecting a 
new meeting-house, and work in as much of the old 
one as is thought proper.' " 

According to old minutes of Associations, "Brother 
Ferris was ordained in 1788," and "Elder Enoch Fer­
ris" was present from that church in 1791; "Brother 
Norton was ordained 1789 ;" "Elder Nathanael Nor­
ton" was present at the Danbury Association in 1791. 
But I judge that neither of them was pastor, for their 

t This chapter, excepting the hi•tory of the First Boptist Church 1>nd 
• The ei>mp-meeting grounds1>t Brookside P1>rk, In Redding,nreowned thu Gcrruan Methodist Church, is taken from the columns of the Da,1-

by this company. li11r9 Republican, through the courtesy of its editor, Mr. 1,. W. Bartram. 
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names are preceded in the minutes of the Association ture and interior arrangements were of the most 
that year by the name of "Elder Nathanael Finch." I primitive style. It had no steeple, and no permanent 
Rev. Nathan Bulkly was ordained in 1800, and was seats inside. Loose boards made a floor. The gallery 
pastor till 1830; Rev. John Mitchel wa.s pastor in had no railing or stairs, and was reached by means of 
1831; Rev. Lucius Atwater, in 1838, and till 1847; a ~adder. The seats below were boards resting on 
Rev. Fred L. Barlow, in 1851; Rev. Henry M. Bar- logs and stones. The pulpit was made of oak boards, 
low, in 1852; Rev. D. F. Chapman, in 1875 and 1876. and was elevated two steps above the main floor. 
The remainder of. the time since 1847 they have had People came to the church on foot or horseback, with 
occasional supplies, or unordained men have occupied the exceI?tion of an occasional ox-cart. 
the pulpit. Alanson A. Hoyt is church clerk; George Rev. Mr. Bronson relinquished the pastorate of the 
W. ·wnkes is society's clerk. There are now thirty church in 1793, after which, during five years, they 
members,-ten males, twenty females. were probably without a pastor. Among those who 

In 1790 there were present, as messengers from ministered to the church during this period were 
the First Baptist Church of Danbury, Elder Na- Revs. Daniel Wildman, Justus Hull, and Elias Lee. 
thanael Finch, Elder Nathaniel Norton, Elder Enoch The King Street pastors, Revs. Finch and Bulkly, 
Ferris, in the above order, and in 1790 none of them were also accustomed to visit and encourage the new 
were present, and as "Deacon David Pearse" is the interest. 
only officer among the delegates of that year, they The name of Rev. Justus Hull deserves special 
were doubtless then without a pastor. mention. He was then a young man of unusual 

In 1790 reported one hundred and twenty-five mental vigor and ministerial gift. He dispensed the 
members, and in 1791 they report only fifty-two Word with great power, and his service was long kept 
members and no pastor. in fresh remembrance. 

SECOND BAPTIST CHURCH. 

Just after the conclusion of the treaty of peace 
which terminated the war of the Revolution, on Nov. 
18, 1785, the first Baptist church within the limits 
of the town of Danbury was constituted in the dis­
trict of King Street. For years this church was pros­
perous, new members from time to time being added. 
The mother-church still maintains its visibility, and, 
though reduced in membership, is still struggling to 
strengthen the things which remain. 

There were residing at this time, in the western 
part of the town-Miry Brook District-a number of 
persons who were attached to this faith. Among 
these were Peter Ambler, Bracey Knapp, and Benja­
min Shove. Meetings were occasionally held, before 
a church was organized, in the dwellings of some of 
the members of the faith. Revival influencea con-
verted many who have long since departed this life. 

About the year 1788 a church was organized under 
the name of the Ridgefield and Miry Brook Baptist 
Church. The Second Baptist Church of Danbury 
was constituted from this, April 3, 1790. Soon after, 
it was admitted into the Hartford Baptist Associa­
tion. The number of constituent members was about 
twenty. 

The first regular pastor was Rev. Thaddeus Bron­
son, who continued from the organization until li93, 
when he removed to Schoharie Co., N. Y. The first 
deacons were Benjamin Shove and Daniel "Wildman, 
who were appointed Oct. 2, 1790. In March, 1793, 
Calvin Peck was added to the number. 

The first meeting-house was erected in 1794, on a 
lot presented to the society by Bracey Knapp, and 
was situated in Miry Brook District, about two miles 
and a half west of Danbury. The building was 
twenty-four feet square, with galleries. Its architec-

When, subsequently, the college-bred preachers 
came among them, the old people felt, in some in­
stances no doubt without reason, that while the col­
lege and seminary had given polish and stronger 
grasp of truth, their graduates had lost the freshness 
and convincing energy of their predecessors. ,vhen 
a precise young man read an elaborate discourse to 
them the remark used to be .made, "Brother H:ill 
would take off his coat and beat that." 

In the year 1798, Rev. Bennett Pepper, then a licen­
tiate, came to Miry Brook. He preached from that 
time until November, 1807, without ordination, at 
which time he was ordained to the gospel ministry, 
and continued his ser\'ices to the church. On the 
occasion of the ordination Re,•. Nathan Bulkly was 
designated to give the charge, Rev. Jacob St. John to 
make the ordaining prayer, Rev. Daniel Wildman to 
preach the sermon, and Rev. Ezra Fountain to make 
the concluding prayer. The churches of Franklin, 
Carmel, North Salem, Bedford, Milton, First Dan­
bury, Newtown, and Bristol were represented in the 
council. 

About the year 1803 the church was called to pass 
through a season of trial and darkness, growing out 
of an attempt to modify the accepted articles of faith. 
The original articles, bearing date of Jan. 24, 1795, as 
to their subject-matter and form of statement, are not 
different in any essential particular from those now 
received by the church. The records do not show the 
name of the mover of the proposed change. The new 
articles proposed were, however, rejected. They as­
serted that Christians should be unlike the world even 
in "politeness of behavior," forgetting that the very 
term ',' gentleman" owed its origin to Christianity. 
They contained erroneous doctrines in the statement, 
"We believe that civil government is by providence 
and permission, and not of divine origin or appoint-
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ment, and that we find neither precept nor example Meredith, N. Y. During his pastorate Deacon Peter 
for the disciple voluntarily filling office in earthly Barnum was baptized into the fellowship of the church. 
states." It reflects credit upon the little church that He, with Deacon Benjamin Ambler, was baptized the 
they recorded their faith in the refining influences of same date, July 28, 1816. 
our holy religion, and in the truth that " the powei:s Timothy Weed and Thomas Wildman were elected 
that be are ordained of God," by rejecting these in- deacons Dec. 13, 1816. George Benedict was baptized 
novating articles and adhering to their original stand- by Mr. Tuttle, Sept. 21, 1817. Some statistics of the 
ards of faith and practice. membership of the church at this, date may be of 

In the early part of Mr. Pepper's ministry there interest. From the minutes of the Union Baptist As­
were large accessions to the church. This period is sociation, which convened at Danbury in 1817, it ap­
the first revival season succeeding the outpouring of pears that the membership of the church was then 
the Spirit in which the church had its origin. seventy-eight. In 1818 it was seventy. In 1820 

Shortly preceding the ordination in 1807 some im- there was a marked decrease, the reported number 
provements were made in the meeting-house. The being fifty-six. 
side walls were plastered, a railing and stair made for George Benedict was licensed to preach the gospel 
the gallery, and the floors were nailed down. A on the 12th of May, 1822. In August of the following 
better pulpit was also constructed, and new seats were year he was ordained as pastor of the church. His 
introduced with backs to them. eminent gifts in prayer, exhortation, and Christian 

Mr. Pepper's pastorate closed in 1809. At one conversation are testified to by a cloud of witnesses 
period during his connection with the church his in this and other churches which enjoyed his minis­
conduct was considered unbecoming. But on the trations. Mr. Benedict resigned the pastoral charge 
whole his ministry was a success. One difficulty of the church in May, 1831, to accept a call -from the 
arose during this time on account of the course taken church then worshiping at. the corner· of North and 
by Eli Gregory, who had been made a deacon in 1806. Forsyth Streets, New York, now known as the Stan­
Deacon Gregory was opposed to a distinctive minis- ton Street Baptist Church. 
terial order, who should appropriate all the time The labors of Mr. Benedict were very successful in 
allotted to the service of the sanctuary on the Lord's New York. Nearly twelve hundred persons were 
day. He claimed that God, having called different baptized by him, and nearly as many funerals were 
gifts into the Church, they should have expression, attended, during his ministry in the city, extending 
without regard to, or rather ignoring, any other pastor from 1831 to· Oct. 28, 1848, at which time he passed 
or teacher. He asserted in addition that any male away in the calm triumphs of faith. The scripture 
member of the church might with propriety be ap- employed by Rev. Dr. Cone upon the occasion of his 
pointed to administer the ordinances in the absence funeral was an epitome of his character and life : "He 
of a settled minister. He objected to the payment of was a good man and full of the Holy Ghost and of 
a salary to a minister, claiming that the support of faith; and much people were added to the Lord." 
those who labored in behalf of the church would be Dec. 7, 1823, Peter Barnum was elected deacon of 
contributed by free-will offerings of the members. the church. The membership had increased from 
These opinions were disapproved of by a majority, fifty-six, reported in 1820, to one hundred. 
and, Deacon Gregory still tenaciously adhering to I During Mr. Benedict's ministry, Aug. 31, 1823, Ed­
them, a council of churches was called, which coun- ward C. Ambler was baptized. On the same clay 
cil convened June 3, 1807. The council did not coin- John Jennings and James St. John received the 
cide with Deacon Gregory's views, and passed resolu- ordinance. Mr. Ambler subsequently entered the 
tions not acceptable to him. They were accepted by ministry, and was ordained at New Milford, Conn., 
the church, and he was excluded. Oct. 1, 1840. He has since served the following 

The resignation of Mr. Pepper was followed by churches as pastor: New Milford, Conn.; Fishkill, 
another period of destitution, the church depending Patterson, and Pleasant Valley, N. Y.; Mount Bethel, 
on supplies for about four years, until May, 1813, Millington, Westville, Woodstown, and Columbus, 
when Rev. Oliver Tuttle, a licentiate from Bristol, N. J. He was appointed chaplain of the Sixty-sev­
Conn., was called to the pastorate. His ordination enth Regiment Pennsylvania Volunteers during the 
took place in May, 1814. first year of the Rebellion, and filled the position with 

Towards the end of the year 1815 "a reformation great efficiency until compelled to resign from the ef­
broke out in the community." It marks the second fects of imprisonment and exposure. His services on 
revival season of the l}.istory of the church. Deep the field during the war, and those of his wife in the 
seriousness pervaded the hearts of many who were hospital, deserve the grateful remembrance of all. 
out of Christ, which issued in a transformation of Mr. Ambler, after the war, was for a time pastor of 
heart and life. the Baptist church at Stanford, N. Y., but afterwards 

Mr. Tuttle's ministry extended over a period of returned to Danbury, and has since supplied the pul­
nine years, froin 1813 to 1822. In August of the pits of the King Street and Mill Plain churches. 
latter year he resigned his charge and removed to Rev. John Jennings, who was received into mem-
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bership at the same time with Mr. Ambler, was Southern hat trade, and Mr. Colvin's lectures evoked 
licensed to preach June 17, 1826, and was ordained at open opposition, and in one instance mob violence 
Benrly, Mass., which-was his first regular pastorate. was the result. An attack was made upon the church 
He was subsequently settled at Grafton, ,vorcester, during service, and stones were freely thrown, win­
and Fitchburg, Mass. He left the latter place and dows broken, and Mr. Colvin narrowly escaped per­
served the American Tract Society for some years. sonal injury. He lived to see slavery overthrown, and 
Afterwards he became pastor of the Baptist church in to preach to hundreds of freedmen. He gave theo­
,vestfield, Mass., and there continued until his death, logical instructions to a large number of colored min­
which occurred some five years ago. isters in a building formerly used as a slave-pen, and 

During the latter part of Mr. Benedict's ministry which has since been occupied by a theological school 
the subject of the removal of the location of the named in his honor,-Colvin Institute. Mr. Collom 
meeting-house was discussed, the second generation resigned during the fourth year of his pastorate, and 
feeling that a more central location should be chosen, entered upon the charge of the Baptist church at 
reasoning that the church must follow the people, and Pemberton, N. J. From thence he removed to ,vil­
the Word of Life be dispensed where the streams of mington, and again to Mount Holly, N. J., where he 
population have their confluence. These ideas pre- died. 
vailed, and in the year 1829 the foundations of a new The Rev. Addison Parker was Mr. Collom's sue­
house were laid on Deer Hill. A lot sixty by forty cessor. He accepted the call of the church in August, 
feet was donated to the society by Peter Ambler. A 1839, and continued three years in the pastoral office. 
neat and convenient building, with gallery, steeple, During this time the church enjoyed a good degree of 
and bell, was erected, and was dedicated Sept. 28, 1831, prosperity. The resignation of Mr. Parker was ac­
the Rev. Thomas Larcomb preaching the dedicatory cepted with great reluctance by the church. 
sermon. In July of the following year Mr. Larcomb The Rev. Daniel H. Gilbert was next called to the 
was called to the pastorate. A general revival was pastoral charge, and entered upon it in June, 1842. 
prevailing in the church at the time, and eleven con- After a few months' service he was compelled to re­
verts were baptized the first Sabbath of the month linquish it on account of an attack of bleeding at 
following his settlement. Mr. Larcomb resigned the the lungs. He sought a Southern climate, which, 
pastoral charge in the early part of the year 1833. however, proved insufficient to arrest the work of 
He removed to Saugerties, N. Y., and from thence to death. 
Philadelphia; where for a number of years he con- Mr. Gilbert was young and gifted, and his brief 
tinued his usefulness. He has entered upon his rest. ministry was not without results. 

Rev. Robert Turnbull, a native of Scotland, sue- In the following September the Rev. William R. 
ceeded Mr. Larcomb in Danbury. He was a graduate Webb accepted a call. His ministry covered one 
of the University of Glasgow. He arrived in New year and a half, and was marked by eminent tokens 
York in 1833, and soon after accepted the call of this of divine favor. 
church. At the end of one year and a half he ac- After the resignation of Mr. Webb, Rev. Rufus K. 
cepted a call from the Home Mission Society to oc- Bellamy was called to the pastoral charge. He was 
cupy a field in Detroit, Mich. About thirty members then ministering at Rondout, N. Y., and signified his 
were added under Mr. Turn bull's ministry. Nehemiah acceptance of the call May 9, 1844. His gifts both as 
Gillett and Benjamin Ambler were appointed deacons pastor and preacher were peculiarly acceptable. Dur­
J" an. 25, 1834. ing his ministry the question of a removal of the 

The next regular pastor was Rev. Orson Spencer, church from Deer Hill was agitated. There seemed 
who entered upon his charge in May, 1835. His res- a necessity for more room, especially for the accom­
ignation followed after a few months' ser\'ice. After modation of the Sabbath-school and Conference 
leaving Danbury he became a convert to Mormonism. meetings. Arrangements were at first made to add 

After the resignation of Mr. Spencer the church to the old building. It was, however, decided to 
had no pastor until April, 1836, when Rev. Jonathan purchase the present site and build a larger edifice. 
G. Collom accepted their call. He continued with April 19, 18-!7, negotiations were made with Thos. 
the church three years. During the second year of T. Whittlesey to purchase the present site, being lots 
his pastorate over seventy persons were converted, south of his dwelling, for $1800. The Deer Hill 
among them being Starr Hoyt. Mr. Hoyt died Sept. property, excepting the burying-ground, was sold 
18, 1849. for $2500. The present building was erected at an 

During Mr. Collom's ministry Rev. Nathaniel expense of $6836. The subscriptions and property 
·Colvin visited Danbury for the purpose of pleading of the church amounted to $4505, leaving at the 
in behalf of the brethren of different color who were completion of the building a debt of $2351.. The 
in bonds. Mr. Colvin was one of those champions of building committee were Thomas Ambler, William 
the slave who argued that a peace which rested on Montgomery, Levi S. Benedict, Charles Hull, Samuel 
injustice to millions of his fellow-creatures ought to be G. Raymond, and Joseph L. Ambler. 

,disturbed. Danbury was largely concerned in the I The new edifice was dedicated Jan. 51 1848, with 
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the following order of exercises: Reading of Scrip- State. For many years she was the only one in the 
tures, by the pastor, Rev. Rufus K. Bellamy; Prayer, village of Danbury professing this faith. Both the 
by Rev. Wm. Reid; Sermon, by Rev. John Dowling, j churches in the town-one at King Street and the 
D.D. ; Concluding Prayer, by Rev. Wm. Dennison. other at Miry Brook-were remote from her. She 
In the following April Mr. Bellamy tendered his frequently walked to King Street church on Sunday. 
resignation and accepted a call from the Baptist She died highly esteemed. 
Church at Chicopee, Mass., and has remained there After Mr. Green's resignation the church was sup-
since. plied for several weeks by Rev. 0. W. Briggs, who 

The retrospect from this point is in the highest de- afterwards declined a call to the pastorate. Rev. M. 
gree encouraging. Times of trial and discouragement 

I 
S. Riddell also received and declined a similar invi­

followed, but the period, taken as a whole, was one of tation. In the autumn of 1859, Rev. Geo. M. Stone, 
steady and substantia:l progress. The Sabbath-school then at Madison University, spent four months with 
grew to a permanent and vigorous condition. the church as a supply. At the expiration of that 

The Rev. Aaron Perkins accepted the call of the time he received a unanimous call to assume the 
church while ministering at Poughkeepsie, N. Y., and duties of the pastorate. It was declined at the time, 
entered upon his duties in May, 1848. Many were but in 1860 a renewed invitation was accepted. He 
added to the membership of the church during his entered upon his duties in August, and was ordained 
connection with it. His resignation was accepted on the 19th of September, Rev. Mr. Turnbull, of 
March 7, 1852. Hartford, preaching the sermon. He married Miss 

The Mill Plain Baptist Church was constituted I Abbie B., daughter of Nathan Seeley, in April, 1861. 
during Mr. Perkins' pastorate. A meeting was held His pastorate embraced a period of unusual interest, 
in the Danbury church, Sept. 11, 1851, to consider including the four years of conflict for the restoration 
the matter, and it was voted expedient for the brethren of the Union. The record of the church during this 
residing in Mill Plain and vicinity to call a council period was one of honor. Elliott Taylor, Charles Os­
for the purpose of organizing a church at that place. 1 born, and Col. Henry Stone died in the service of 
At a subsequent meeting nineteen persons were their country while members of the church. Others 
granted letters to form the new interest, which was served honorably and returned. A daily morning 
duly recognized, under the name of the " Baptist I prayer-meeting was held for months during the dark­
Church of Mill Plain," by a council which .convened est period of the struggle, in the Conference-room of 
Sept. 24, 1851. the church. The summer of 1862 was spent by the 

Deacon Thomas Wildman died during Mr. Perkins' pastor in Europe. June, 1862, Jabez Amsbury and 
pastorate. His death occurred Feb. 28, 1852. Na than I John Green were elected deacons. The seven years 
Seeley and Eli Barnum were elected deacons Aug. 4, embraced by his pastorate were signalized by displays 
1849. of divine grace. 

The Rev. W. S. Clapp next received the suffrages In the summer of 1860 extensive repairs and changea 
. of the church in a unanimous call to the pastorate, I were made in the church edifice. The building was 

extended April 11, 1852, and which was accepted on lengthened, the side galleries were taken away, and 
the 16th, he then being ministering to the Mount the interior walls frescoed. In July, 1866, through 
Olh•et Baptist Church, New York City. He occupied, the efforts of a few of the brethren, a beautiful organ 
during the more than five years which he stayed in was given to the church. The Sabbath-school ,vas 
Danbury, a place in the affections of the church and sustained with an interest and enthusiasm which in• 
community which it is the lot of but few pastors to creased every year. 
obtain. A great revival occurred during his minis- The removals by death during Mr. Stone's pastorate 
tration, and Mr. Clapp gave the right hand of fellow- included many of the most worthy and efficient mem­
ship to the largest number ever received at one time bers of the church. From August, 1860, to August, 
since the church was organized. He resigned Aug. 9, 1866, the number of deaths was thirty-six. Deacon 
1857. Ambler died April 16, 1867. His wife survived him 

. · The next successor to the pastoral office was the but a few days. 
Rev. Henry K. Green, who was called Oct. 3, 1857, In August, 1866, Mr. Stone was attacked with bleed­
and soon afterwards commenced his ministry. He ing of the lungs. He partially resumed his duties 
resigned in February, 1850. I after a little rest, but was compelled in the following 

G. M. Hoyt was elected deacon Feb. 6, 1850. spring to request a respite for the summer. 
March 4, 1860, Henry Crofut and L. S. Benedict were While spending the summer in Minnesota he be­
elected deacons. The latter, however, never served came convinced of the desirableness of spending some 
the church in that capacity. time in that climate, and in July, 1867, tendered his 

From the time Mr. Green resigned until August final resignation, which was reluctantly accepted. 
the church was without a settled pastor. During the Mr. Stone gained the love of the entire community. 
interval Mrs. Anna Moore died, her death occurring His removal to the West was attended with beneficial 

- in May, 1859. She was baptized at Suffield, in this results to his health. He was settled for two years at 
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Winona, Minn., three years at Milwaukee, Wis., and 
seven years at Tarrytown, N. Y. He is now pastor 
of the Asylum A venue Church, Hartford. For a 
period of fifteen months following his resignation the 
church was without a pastor. 

Minor R. Deming became a member in March, 
1861, and afterwards became pastor of the Baptist 
Church in Marlboro', Mass. June 16, 1868, Victo·r 
W. Benedict was licensed by the church to preach, 
and has since preached for the King Street and Mill 
Plain churches, and is now pastor of the church at 
Croton Falls, N. Y. 

At a covenant-meeting held Oct. 1, 1868, it was 
unanimously voted to extend a call to Rev. A. C. 
Hubbard, then pastor of the First Baptist Church of 
Cincinnati, Ohio. The invitation was accepted, and 
he entered upon his labors Nov. 15, 1868. 

The pastorate of Rev. A. C. Hubbard has been one 
of great success. From the time he took charge of 
the church up to the present the membership has 
steadily increased, the financial affairs have been 
managed with ability, and all things have, in the 
main, been prosperous. Mr. Hubbard is a born min­
ister. He has the talent for conducting the work ; 
he has ability, learning, and, above all, that quality 
which attracts and attaches to him all with whom he 
comes in contact. He is popular outside of his own 
church, and all people honor him for his upright car­
riage, his integrity, and his straightforwardness. 

The tenth anniversary of his pastorate was cele­
brated on the 17th of November, 1878. In his sermon 
that morning he gave a few statistics which will serve 
for closing the history of the church. The additions to 
the church during the ten years were 272, of which 
179 were by baptism. These numbers may now be 
given, up to to-day, as about 300 and 200 respectively. 
There have been dismissed by letter in that ten years 
at least one-third more than were received by that 
agency. The smallest number upon the roll in the 
past eleven and a half years was 398 ; the largest, 
466. The present number is 460. 

Of the financial condition of the church Mr. Hub­
bard spoke in his sermon on the above occasion as 
follows : When he assumed the pastorate there was 
a debt upon the church of $4-000. This was after­
wards increased by over $1000 more. This has been 
cleared off by the most earnest effort. He estimated 
that at least $.5000 more had been raised and ex­
pended on improvements. The average annual cur­
rent expenses in the ten years was $2768; the debt 
and improvements, $10,000; benevolent operations, in­
cluding those of the Sunday-school, $5700, making 
a grand total of $43,390. 

The Sunday-school of the church has been equally 
prosperous. The present superintendent, Mr. J. Ams­
bury, with his able co-workers, have the proud satis­
faction of knowing that no school in the village has 
had a more prosperous time. The records of the 
school up to 1871 are missing. Since that time they 

have been faithfully kept, and they show the largest 
attendance at one time to have been 327, in 1879; the 
largest average attendance was, in 1880, 287. The 
number of scholars on the roll is 475. The collec­
tions in the school have aggregated nearly $3300. 
The library of the school now numbers six hundred 
volumes. This has grown from a few books pur­
chased for $6.35, which money was raised by Rev. E. 
C. Ambler, who started the first Sunday-school of the 
church in 1817. 

MILL PLAIN BAPTIST CHURCH. 

The Baptist Church at Mill Plain was constituted 
during Mr. Perkins' pastorate. Members living in 
that vicinity had long desired a church at Mill Plain. 
A meeting was held in the church at Danbury, Sept. 
11, 1851, with special reference to the subject. It was 
then voted expedient for the brethren residing in Mill 
Plain and vicinity to call a council for the purpose of 
organizing a church at that place. At a subsequent 
church-meeting nineteen persons were granted letters 
to form the new interest, which was duly recognized, 
under the name of the "Baptist Church of Mill 
Plain," by a council which convened Sept. 24, 1851. 

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH. 

In the month of June, 1789, the Rev. Jesse Lee, 
known as the pioneer of Methodism in New England, 
visited Danbury. His sojourn was but for a day. 
He improved his time, however, by preaching two 
sermons in the court-house. Only a few were willing 
to hear him, and most of them out of curiosity. He 
was probably the first Methodist to set foot in Dan­
bury. Subsequently other Methodist itinerants occa­
sionally found their way to the village, usually preach­
ing a sermon in the court-house and then passing on 
to other fields. 

It was not an easy matter for them to find enter­
tainment in Danbury. Dr. Jabez Starr is supposed 
to have been the .first who would allow a Methodist 
preacher to sit at his table or sleep in his house. 
Some of the surrounding towns were more willing to 
open their homes to these men of "strange doctrine," 
and thither they were obliged to go for food and 
shelter. 

Some time in the year 1808 a society was formed 
in the centre of the town. Hitherto there had been 
a " class" in the southwest part of the town, now 
known as Starr's Plain. This society was organized 
under the pastoral charge of Rev. Noble W. Thomas 
and Rev. Jonathan Lyon, whose large circuit em­
braced this region of country. 

During the following year, under the earnest labors 
of Levi Bronson, a local preacher and class-leader,. 
together with the preachers of the circuit, the little 
society succeeded in building a small and plain house 
of worship. The deed of this property locates the 
church on land bounded as follows: "Northerly by 
Joseph Robertson and Da~iel Sc?field, including the 
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lane running from the highway to the meeting-house; entered into rest on the 20th of March, 1848. As was 
easterly by William Tweedy and Justice Barnum; fitting, the records of the church make special men­
southerly by said Tweedy; and westerly by Joseph P. tion of these two worthies: "Being dead they yet 
Cook, Jr." The "highway" spoken of is now called speak." 
Franklin Street, and the "lane" is the road leading The pastors who served the society during its stay 
to the Tweedy factories on Rose Street. Among the in Liberty Street were Rev. Jacob Shaw, two years; 
trustees of the society were Jabez Starr, Peter Hack, Rev. H. ,ving, who after a few months sickened and 
Charles Boughton, Levi Bronson, and Caleb Benedict. 'was obliged to resign; Rev. J. Crawford, who sup-

For nearly thirty years the little church on the hill plied the pulpit the rem!l,inder of the Conference year; 
was the centre of Methodism. Some are still living 1840--42, Rev. Sylvester H. Clark; 1842--43, Rev. 
who speak with enthusiasm of the good times enjoyed James Floy; 1844-45, Rev. Fitch "Reed; 1846-47, 
in the humble house of the days gone by. Those, Rev. John Crawford; 1848--49, Rev. Robert Jessup; 
were certainly noble men and women who stood as 1850-51, Rev. John B. Merwin; 1852-53, Rev. W. C. 
the representatives of Methodism when •she was de- Hoyt. 
spised by the masses. During the pastorate of Rev. Mr. Hoyt the building 

Among those who bore the burden and heat of the now occupied by the society was erected, and the old 
day may be mentioned Revs. Rory Starr and John building sold to the Disciples. 
Nickerson, local preachers connected with the church At a meeting of the trustees of the Methodist Epis­
from its early history. · By their upright living in the copal church held Wednesday, April 27,. 1853, to act 
community, by prudence and zeal in the church, they upon proposals for building the new Methodist Epis­
gave character to the denomination they represented. copal church of Danbury station, there were present 

Many are the pastors who came and went during Sturges Selleck, Samue1 Stebbins-, William T. Scofield, 
that period of Danbury Methodism; but the rule of Allen McDonald, William W. Stevens, George Hull, 
the denomination demanding a change every two Thomas S. Barnum, and James W. Nichols, Joel B. 
years made it impossible for any of them to become Sanford being absent. 
identified with the general interests of the town. On motion of W. T. Scofield, it was voted that the 
Their names linger in many households as precious board accept the proposals of Barnum & Starr for erect­
memories. ing the new church, seventy-four by fifty feet, for nine 

In the year 1835 a new site was purchased on Lib- thousand three hundred dollars, provided the money 
erty Street, and soon the church now owned by the can be raised to meet the several payments as they 
Disciples was erected thereon. become due in said proposals. It was further voted 

At the Conference of 1836 Danbury Methodism that Samuel Stebbins and George Hull be a building 
ceased to fen m, a circuit and became a station. Hith- committee, with power to make the contracts with 
erto her ministers had given only a part of their ser- Barnum & Starr, to superintend the erection of said 
vice here, but the Rev. Jacob Shaw was appointed to• church, and to do any other business to be done by 
Danbury with the intent that he should live here and the trustees in relation thereto. It was also voted that 
work, and h,e did this with great success. At the be- Sturges Selleck and Rev. W. C. Hoyt be a committee 
ginning of his pastorate the whole membership num- to circulate the subscription-paper drawn up this day 
bered one hundred and fifty-eight. At the close of for five thousand dollars. At a subsequent meeting 
his first year he reported over three hundred. · the size of the church was enlarged to seventy-eight 

The revival of 1837, just referred to, was probably by fifty-six feet. , 
the most effective and abiding ever experienced by At the opening of the new church the society num­
-the society. The current of religious thought and bered about three hundred, including probationers. 
feeling ran deeply; men and women were strangely The Sunday-school was in a prosperous condition, un­
awakened, and were brought out into a positive re- der the superintendence of George Starr, consisting of 
ligious life. Much of the fruit abides to this day, and nearly forty officers and teachers and one hundred 
many more have gone up higher. and fifty scholars. 

At this time the officers of the church were as fol- The pastor, Rev. "\V. C. Hoyt, in his report to the 
lows: Local preachers, John Nickerson and Rory Quarter,y Conference, says, "The numbers gradually 
;Starr; exhorters, Alvin Hurd, Stephen H. Barnum, increase. The Bible-classes are interesting. The in­
John Comes ; leaders, George Andrews, William Hill, fant class is well sustained. The teachers are gener­
George Starr; stewards, Wm. T. Scofield, Jonathan ally in their places, and labor faithfully for the good 
-Couch, Underhill Nelson, Joel Sanford. Among the of their scholars. The friends of the school have 
trustees were John Nickerson, Rory Starr, Jesse Oro- much to encourage thein." 
fut, Philo Wildman, Underhill Nelson, and Thomas In the spring of 1855 the New York East Confer-
.Stocker. ence of the Methodist Episcopal Chµrch, consisting 

Rory Starr departed from the church militant to of nearly two hundred ministers, held its annual ses­
the church triumphant on Thursday morning, Feb. 27, I sion in Danbury. The changed feelings of the people 
1845. John Nick~rson ceased his labors on earth and towards the preachers of the denomination was beau-
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tifully illustrated by the cheerfulness with which the "From the records of a General Court held at 
homes and churches were opened for their entertain- 1 Hartford, May 14, 1696, I take the following extract: 
ment and service. The Conference passed resolutions 'Upon the petition of the towne of Danbury this 
highly complimentary to the town and the hospitality I court granted them liberty to embody themselves into 
of its citizens. "What hath God wrought" in behalf church estate in an ox.µerly way, with the consent of 
of Methodism I neighbour churches.' Previous to this act of th , 

Since the erection of the new building now occu- court a meeting-house had been built, probably on 
pied the following pastori! have officiated in the order the theory that the logical order was the procurement 
named: Rev. E. E. Griswold, recently deceased; Rev. of a cage before catching a bird. The site of the first 
George V{. Woodruff, a man aui generis and successful meeting-house was on 'the Town street' (now Main 
in his pastorate; Rev. John Miley, now professor in Street), a little north of where the court-house now 
the Drew Theological Seminary; Rev. John Pegg, stands. Its dimensions were about those of an ordi•· 
Jr.; Rev. John Crawford, whose home is with us still; nary farm barn,-thirty by forty feet. It is recorded 
Rev. W. T. Hill, now presiding elder of the New that' every person belonging to the town was present 
Haven District, who under the extended pastoral term at the raising and sat on the sills at once.' It is sup­
remained three year;i; Rev. Thomas H . .Burch; Rev. posed that Mr. Seth• Shove was ordained pastor at the 
W. F. Hatfield, who was removed in the spri~g of time the church was organized, in 1696. The court 
1873 to White Plains, N. Y. Rev. J. L. Peck sue- grant quoted above is the only record in existence re­
ceeded Mr. Hatfield, and remained three years. Rev. specting the origin of the church, not even the num­
P. Pilsbury followed Mr. Peck, and remained one ber of the original ,members nor their names being 
year. The present pastor is the Rev. Spencer H. Bray. known. 'Robbins' Century Sermon,' preached in 

At the last report, rendered in April of this year, 1801, characterizes the first pastor, Mr. Shove, as a 
the membership numbered six hundred and fifty full 'very pious and worthy man, who was very successful 
members and eighty-five probatione~, making a total in his exertions for the promotion of peace, virtue, 
of seven hundred and thirty-five. and religion.' 

The church was enlarged and improved during the "By a council of the colony authorities assembled 
year 1876, and now has very pleasant Sunday-school at Hartford, Feb. 6, 1707, a time when the French 
rooms and a fine auditorium. were trying to excite the Indians to hostility against 

FIRST CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH. 

On Sunday, July 9, 1876, Rev. J. J. Hough, then 
pastor of this church, preached a historical. sermon, 
from which the following is taken: 

"The history of this church stretches back over a 
period of a hundred and eighty years. For more 
than three-quarters of a century had the First Church 
of Danbury been in existence at the time of the 
American Revolution. Two generations had re­
ceived instruction and guidance from its pastors, 
while as yet there was no thought among the colo­
nists of a separate nationality. Could the founders 
of the church now return, they would find no trace of 
the work of their hands. Not a familiar house, or 
even a forest-tree, would greet them. The landscape 
they might recognize, for the everlasting hills, the 
valleys, and the streams are unchanged, but every­
thing else would be to them new and surprising. The 
luxurious homes, the busy factories, the stores, the 
railroads and telegraphs, the schools, the present tem­
ples of worship, the altoge~her new and changed life 
of their descendants, the different styles of clothing 
worn, would all be to them subjects of wonder and 
surprise. 

"In the year 1696-the year of the formation of 
this church-Danbury had been organized as a town 
but three years, although its earliest settlement was 
in 1684, when it was known by the Indian name of 
Pahquioque, or, as I find it in the old colonial records, 
Paquiage. 

15 

the English, it was 'Reaolved, That for the pr~serva­
tion of the frontier towns of Symsbury, Waterbury, 
Woodbury, and Danbury, order be sent to the inhabi­
tants of those towns to provide with all possible speed 
a sufficient number of well-fortified houses for the 
saftie of themselves ancl families in their respective 
towns.' In obedience to this order the town put in 
posture of defense the house of Rev. Mr. Shove, 
which stood on an eminence near the church, 
and the house of Mr. Samuel Benedict, at the 
lower end of the street. The colonial records show 
that the sum of 'five pounds in country pay' was 
granted the town of Danbury the following year 'in 
consideration of the charge of said town in fortifying.' 
In connection with the defenses provided, obedience 
to the following order by the council, of the same date, 
may have eontribu~d to the 'safetie' of the people: 
'Reaolved, That these towns do every of them main­
tain a good scout out every day of two faithful and 
trusty men to ol-serve the motions of the enemy.' 

"Mr. Shove's pastorate was terminated by his death, 
Oct. 3, 1735. The inscription upon his tombstone is: 
'Here lyes buried ye body of Rev. Mr. Seth Shove, 
ye pious and faithful pastor of ye church in Danbury 
39 years, who died Oct. 3d, Anno Domini, 1735, retatis 
sure 68.' 

"The church records were consumed when the town 
was burned by the British in 1777, consequently there 
are no writings to acquaint us with this early period 
in the history of the church; but we may infer an in­
crease of population and the growth of the church 
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under Mr. Shove's ministry from the .fact that the I ,council met again and dismissed him from his pasto;­
iirst meeting-house gave place to a larger structure ate under censure. The majority of the church still 
.in 1719. Its dime~ions were thirty-five by fifty feet. adhering to Mr. White, the council recognized the 
Jt occupied the same site as the building it replaced. minority as constituting the First Consociated Church 
·The continued growth of the town and of the church in Danbury, and left the seceding maj.ority to them­
is further indicated by the enlargement of this new selves. At the solicitation of Mr. White the council 
meeting-house in 1745, during the ministry of Mr. convened again the following September to state upon 
"\Vhite, fifteen feet being added to the front, making what terrr1s he could be relieved from censure. The 
its dimensions thirty-five by sixty-five feet. terms given were declined by Mr. White, and he was 

"March 10, 1736, five and one-half months after never restored to fellowship. 
Mr. Shove's death, Mr. Ebenezer White was ordained "The seceding party, declaring themselves inde­
pastor. In Robbins' sermon this commendatory state- pendent of Consociation, formed a new church organ­
ment appears: ',Universal harmony prevailed between ization, which received the name of the 'New Dan­
.the people and their minister for twenty-five. years. bury Church.' Retaining Mr. White as pastor, they 
.The people of the town were considered by all the built a meeting-house in 1768, which nine years later 
~eighboriqg towns as eminent for morality and reli- .was burned 1:iy the British. The church was greatly 
,gion, for regularity of conduct and constant atten- weakened by the loss of theh: meeting-house and. by 
tions on the institutions of charity.' .defections to the Sandemanians, among which was 

"During the pastorate of Mr. White, the Fairfield that of Rev. Ebenezer Russell White (son of Rev. 
East Association, in session in Danbury, July, 17.45,: Ebenezer White), who in 1768 had become colleag.ue 
licensed as a preacher of the gospel David Brainard, pastor with his father. In 1779, Rev. Ebenezer 
who was then under censure of Yale College, having White died,and shortly thereafter the 'New Danbury 
been expelled for saying of Tutor Whittlesey, ' that Church' became extinct. 
he had ,no more of the grace of God in him than -that "'.!;'he name White has been a prominent and hon­
chair.' (As Tutor Whittlesey was afterw~rds pastor of ored name in Danbury for the last century, the line 
the Centre Church, New Haven, it is to be hoped of Rev. Ebenezer White's descendants having been 
that Brainard was mistaken in his harsh utterance . .) continuo.us to the present, and finding its representa­
The Association justified itself for its action in a tives iU: Danbury to-day. in the families of Mr. Wil­
lengthy document.; but if this were needed, a better liam R. White, Mr. Philo White, and Col. Nelson L. 
vindication was the very useful work done by Brain- White. · 
ard in his ministry. In a short career of five and "This chm:ch, weakened by the secession of a ma­
one-half years he gained renown as a missionary jority of its members, did not secure another pastor 
apostle to the Indians. He died in 1747 at North- after the dismission of Mr. White until two years 
ampton, in the family of President. Edwards, by had elapsed. In February, 1765, Mr. Noadiah War­
whom shortly afterwards his biography was written. ner was ordained pastor, but his pastorate was brief 
. " After pr,eaching acceptably to the church for and much interrupted by efforts that were made to 
twenty-five years, Mr. White changed his theological · secure the return of the seceders, he on two occasions 
views, adopting substantially the S;mdemanian,belief. consenting to relinquish his pulpit for several months 
He was complained of to the .A£soci!l.tion in 1763, 'as that <;andidates might be listened to by both parties, 
holding and teaching false doctrine, and presented to it being understood that if a man was found upon 
the council of the Consociation fo,r trial.' The council whom all could unite .Mr. Warner would resign in his 
met at Danbury Aug. 1, 1763. T!,.e church (a major- favor. Variances about pecuniary matters and a lack 
.ity of whom su~tained Mr. White) objected to the of the spirit of concession thwarted these efforts, but 
authority of the council on the grouncj. that it was a they disturbed the relations of Mr. Warner to the 
·congregational Church, and not amenable to any church to the extent that. he sought a dismission at 
outside body. The objection was not allo'l,Ved; from the expiration of the third year of his pastorate. 
which we may infer that councils in those days (8,t , "From the society records, which date back to 1755, 
least in Connecticut) were somethins more than 'acl,- it appears tha,t on April 3, 1769, a call to the pastorate 
visory.' After a five days' session the result reached was given by the church and society to 'the worthy 
was 'that Mr. White should have a tl\ree ~onths' Jeremiah Day,' who had for a few weeks supplied the 
probation to .sec if he would not pr.each to the ac- ulpit, but, the vo.te of the society standing twenty;-
ceptance of his hearers.' He. did not, however, give ighi opposed to. the call to forcy-seven in.favor, and 
,satisfactiqn, and on Jan. 3, ~76¾,. a joint counpil of he vote to give him a yearly salary of seventy-five 
both the Fairfield Consociations met to co~sjder hi/! ounds, with a settlement of one hundred and fifty 
-case. Mr. White·, with a majority, of the church, de- pounds standing forty::;ix in favor, opposed forty­
nied the jurisdiction of the council anq renounce,d hr~, he did not accept. Doubtless this result seemed 
.the platform; but the council went forward and found disappointing at the ti)'.Ile, but Providence was not 
.him guilty of heresy, and put him on probation again altoge~hei:. uµ]91).d, !l.S, l>y .his. brief connection "lith 
:Until the last '.I'ue$d,ay.in Mar~h. At t4,at tim~. tp,e the church he -gained for himself a wife, he b_eing 
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married the following year to Miss Lucy Wood, one and appropriate was it that it was called for and 
of the young-lady members of the church. printed at the expense of a leading member of the 

"In the summer of 1770, Mr. Ebenezer Baldwin Episcopal Church. A copy of it is preserved in the 
accepted a call to the church. The earliest records of archives of the New York Historical Society. Mr. 
the church in existence begin with the minutes of the Baldwin, with the other ministers of the Association, 
council that convened for his settlement, Sept. 19, arranged a series of circular fasts in the churches of 
1770. The sermon upon the occasiou was preached Fairfield County, in the spring of 1776, on' account 
by President Daggett, of Yale College. The brief of the threatening aspect of the public affairs.' 
statement of Robbins' sermon respecting Mr. Bald- "A memoir of Mr. Baldwin, prepared by his 
win is that 'he officiated with great reputation to the brother, Hon. Simeon Baldwin, formerly judge of 
ministry till a sudden death terminated his labors, the Supreme Court of Connecticut, may be found in 
Oct. 15, 1776,-a man of great talents and learning' Sprague's 'Annals of the American Pulpit.' Mr. 
-(he was the second scholar of his class in college), 'a Baldwin's brother Simeon and James Kent, after­
constant student, grave in his manners, a constant wards Chancellor Kent, of New York, and author 
.and able supporter of the sound doctrines of the gos- of 'Kent's Commentaries,' were members of a class 
pel.' (After th~ defection of Mr. White, soundness in of young men who studied under the direction of 
·the faith would beyond question be the first qualifica- Mr. Baldwin while pastor of this church. Chancellor 
tion demanded in a pastor.) During his ministry of Kent, in a Phi Beta Kappa oration given at Yale in 
six years there were added to the full communion of 1831, paid a beautiful tribute to the memory of l\Ir. 
the church fifty-four. Ten were admitted to the half- Baldwin. Speaking of the tutors in that college, he 
way covenant. said, 'And suffer me for a moment to bring to recol­
. "The practice of the churches of that day was to lection from among this class of men the Rev. Eben­
allow baptized persons who did not profess conversion ezer Baldwin, of D!!.nbury, for it is to that great, 
to assent to the church covenant, which act brought excellent man that the individual who has now the 
,them into connection with and under the jurisdiction I honor to address you stands indebted for the best part 
of the church, although they did not join in com- f his early classical education. Mr. Baldwin was 
munion. utor in this college for the period of four years, and 

"Mr. Baldwin married sixty-eight couples. He he settled as a minister in the First Congregational 
baptized one hundred and thirteen children, and Church of Danbury in the year 1770. He was a 
attended one hundred and forty-nine funerals. The scholar and a gentleman of the fairest and brightest 
summer of 1775 was a period of great mortality in hopes. He was accustomed to read daily a portion 
Danbury, and of the one hundred and thirty deaths of the Hebrew Scriptures, and he was extensively 
in town that year eighty-two were within the limits acquainted with Greek and Roman literature. His 
of the First Society, and sixty-two funerals were ' style of preaching was simple, earnest, and forcible, 
attended by Mr. Baldwin in the three months of with the most commanding and graceful dignity and 
June, July, and August. manner. His zeal for learning was ardent, and his 

"The pastorate of Mr. Baldwin covered those acquisitions and reputation rapidly increasing, whe11 
exciting years in the national history that preceded he was doomed to fall prematurely in the flower of 
and marked the commencement of the Revolution. his age and while engaged in his country's service. 
At that day no class of citizens was more conspicuous Though bi's career was painfully short, he had lived 
for patriotism, or more powerfully contributed to long enough to attract general notice and the highest 
arouse the spirit of resistance to the despotic acts respect by his piety, his learning, his judgment, and 
of the British government and to prepare the minds his patriotism. He took an enlightened and active 
of the people for the great struggle of the Revolution, interest in the rise and early progress of the Ameri­
than the Congregational clergy of New England, and can Revolution. In the gloomy campaign of 1776 he 
among them Mr. Baldwin was conspicuous by his zeal was incessant in his efforts to cheer and animate his 
and signal ability. Almost all the writing for the townsmen to join the militia which were called out 
public prints at that day was done by the clergy. for th~ defense Qf New York. To give weight to his 
In 1774 he prepared and published a spirited address eloquent exhortations he added that of his heroic 
to the people of the weste;n part of the colony to example. He went voluntarily as a chaplain to one 
arouse them to a sense of the dangel' in which their of the militia regiments, composed mostly of his own 
liberties were involved. In November, 1776, on the parishioners. His office was pacific, but he neverthe­
day set apart for Thanksgiving in the colony of Con- less arrayed himself in military armor. I was present 
necticut, at a period which he regarded as the most when he firmly but affectionately bade adfeu to his 
calamitous the British colonies ever beheld, he devoted parishioners and affectionate pupils. This 
preached a sermon designed to wake up the spirits I was about the 1st of August, 1776, and what a mo­
of the people in the important and dangerous strug- ment in the annals of this country! There never 
gle in which they were engaged. This sermon had 

I 
was a period more awful and portentous. It was 

at the time great celebrity. So excellent, encQuraging, the very crisis of our destiny. The defense of N ~w 
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York had become desperate. An enemy's army of 
thirty thousand men, well disciplined and well 
equipped, was in its vicinity, ready to overwhelm 
it. Gen. Washington had, to oppose them, less than 
eighteen thousand men, and part of them were ex­
tremely sickly. Nothing could have afforded better 
proof of patriotic zeal than Mr. Baldwin's voluntary 
eulistment at this critical juncture. The militia, 
much reduced by sickness, after two months' service 
were discharged. Mr. Baldwin fell a victim to the 
sickness that prevailed in the army, having only 
strength sufficient to reach home, where he died on 
October 1st, 'honored by the deepest sympathies of 
his own people, and with the public Yeneration and 
sorrow.'" 

WEST STREET CHURCH. 

This church originated with Mr. Horace Bull. He 
was impressed by reading a series of letters, pub­
lished ,in the New York Observer, on the duty of large 
churches to colonize. They were written by Rev. Dr. 
Humphrey, of Massachusetts. He claimed "that the 
actiYity of a church would be increased by such ales­
sening of its member,., and that new churches would 
draw in strangers, and thus increase the number of 
church-goers.'' Mr. Bull had a little property, and 
he gave one-third of it to start the enterprise. He 
had been for many years a member of the First Con­
gregational Church, and contributed to its permanent 
fund, but was in no way distinguished except as a 
leader of singing. It was no part of his wish to 
deprecate other churches, but only to extend more 
widely the influence of a joyful gospel. Twenty 
members joined !Am in leaving the "old hive;" one 
came from the Methodist Church, one by letter from 
Poughkeepsie, and another from New York City. 

"At a meeting of indiYiduals in favor of forming a 
new organization for religious worship, held in the 
basement of the First Congregational church in Dan­
bury, May 20, 1851, on motion, Horace Bull was ap­
pointed chairman, and a committee of two, consisting 
of Henry Lobdell and L. C. Hoyt, were appointed to 
confer with the Universalist Society to engage their 
house of worship, now St. Peter's Hall, for one year, 
and were authorized to correspond with Mr. William 
C. Scofield, of New Haven (Theological Seminary), 
and, if they deemed it necessary and expedient, to 
engage his services as pastor for the term of two 
months from the fir;;t day of June." 

At a meeting held on the evening of May 23, 1851, 
the committee reported that they had hired the Uni­
ver8alist church for one year, and that Mr. Scofield 
would preach eight Sabbaths. Permission haYing 
been obtained from the First Church, by a vote of 
fourteen yeas to seven nays, to attempt the experiment 
of forming a new church, it was resolved to go forward 
notwithstanding that the First Church granted its per­
mission only with the condition that it was not to be 
held responsible "either for its success or support." 
After voting to hold the first religious s'ervices in the 

new place.of worship, June 1, 1851, the meeting ad­
journed. In 1851, July 9th, the church was organized 
by a Congregational Ecclesiastical Council, meeting 
in First Church. Oct. 15, 1854, the corner-stone of a 
church edifice was laid. This building is now in the 
possession of the Catholic Church, west of the park. 
May 6, 1852, the new church building was dedicated. 
On June 18th of same year rules of government were 
adopted and a resolution passed to organize an eccle­
siastical society. 

Mr. Scofield was ordained to the gospel ministry 
and installed pastor of the new church on Sept. 15, 
1852. Thus it will be seen that within about a year 
from the preliminary meeting the infant society had 
attained to a formal and regular ecclesiastical organi­
zation, built a house of worship, and obtained a set­
tled pastor. April 26, 1854, the pastoral relations of 
Mr. Scofield with the church were dissolved by mutual 
consent. From this time until the spring of 1858 the 
church was without a settled pastor. During the in­
terim, however, the pulpit was supplied for more than 
two years by the Rev. E. S. Huntington, a friend of 
the church and a resident of Danbury. 

In 1857, from July 1st until September 17th of the 
same year, Rev. William Page supplied the pulpit. 
From November, 1857, until April 1, 1858, Rev. S. H. 
Howell made the supplies. The Rev. David Peck, of 
Woodbridge, received a call March 26, 1858. On 
June 23d, Mr. Peck was regularly installed. Mr. 
Peck serYed acceptably until Jan. 2, 1861, when he 
was dismissed at his own request. Rev. Ezra D. 
Kenny was invited to supply for three months. Mr. 
James Robertson, a licentiate of Union Theological 
Seminary, New York City, also was engaged to sup­
ply for a time. On Dec. 20, 1861, the churc:6. voted 
to engage Mr. Robertson for twelve months. His ser­
vices were so acceptable that the church voted to have 
Mr. Robertson ordained March 30, 1862. As the con­
gregation grew and their wants increased, the neces­
sity of a larger and more commodious building be­
came apparent. Measures were taken to construct 
such edifice, and the result was that in May, 1865, the 
new West Street church was dedicated. July 1, 1865, 
Mr. Robertson severed his connection with the church. 
The Rev. Henry Powers was immediately called, and 
began his duties as acting pastor. He was installed 
April 15, 1868, and was dismissed at his own request 
after serving about nine months. May 30, 1869, Mr. 
D. A. Easton, a licentiate from: AndoYer Theological 
Seminary, Massachusetts, began to supply the pulpit. 
On June 3d he received and accepted a call as stated 
preacher. Mr. Easton was finally called to the pas­
torate and accepted, and Dec. 29, 1869, he was or­
dained to the gospel ministry, and installed pastor of 
the church Oct. 10, 1870. Mr. C. A. G. Thurston, a 
licentiate of Andoyer Theological Seminary, Massa­
chusetts, and more recently stated preacher at Brad­
ford, N. H., began his duties as associate pastor and 
preacher with Mr. Easton, whose health, being im-
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paired, rendered him unable to perform the duties of 
the pastorate without assistance. Sept. 20, 1871, Mr. 
Easton was dismissed as pastor on account of ill 
health, but, preserving membership of the church, he 
often supplied the pulpit and greatly aided in clear­
ing off a funded debt which was bur.dening the church. 
The Rev. S. B. Hershey, the present pastor, was in­
stalled Oct. 27, 1874. 

ST. JAMES' EPISCOPAL CHURCH. 

ding, and Danbury, and in due time the Rev. David 
Butler succeeded him in the cure, and the Rev. Elijah 
G. Plum from 1808 to 1812. Bishop Jarvis conse­
crated the church here Oct. 6, 1802. Bishop Hobart, 
of New York, officiated in Danbury on a Sunday in 
August, 1817. In 1809 there were reported 70 families 
and 22 communicants. In 1816, 41 communicants. 
ID 1822, 44 communicants. In 1824, 49 communi­
cants. 

The Rev. Reuben Hubbard was instituted rector, 
The earliest records of St. James' Church, Danbury, Sept. 1, 1812, to 1819; the Rev. Ambrose S. Todd 

now in possession of the church go back only as far from 1819 to 1823; Rev. Samuel B. Hall from 1823 to 
as the year 1812. The second missionary sent to this 1836. In 1836 only 40 communicants and 5 families 
State by the venerable" Society for the Propagation of the original churchmen were remaining. Up to 
of the Gospel in Foreign Parts,"-a society still in this time the parish had had clerical services once in 
vigorous existence in the English Church,-the Rev. three or four weeks, and from 1808 had always been 
Henry Canes, a graduate of Yale in the class of 1728, associated with Christ Church, Redding, and part of 
and who went to England for holy orders in 1727 and the time also with Ridgefield. The Rev. Mr. Hull 
became missionary to Fairfield late in the autumn of confined himself to Danbury and Redding, and after 
the same year, sought out the churchmen scattered in the chapel, now St. Thomas' church, Bethel, was 
the contiguous regions. In his first report, made to built, in 1835, the services were divided between the 
the society in 1728, he speaks of a "village northwest- two alternately once in four weeks. The year 1836 
ward of Fairfield about eighteen miles, containing was the first time that the parish of St. James' 
twenty families; the name of it is Chestnut Ridge Church and St. Thomas' Chapel had attempted to 
(Redding), and where I usually preach and lecture I have the services of a clergyman the whole time, and 
once in three weeks." He also visited Ridgefield and this came near failing for the want of means. From 
Danbury as often as his duties would permit, and Easter, 1838, to Easter, 1839, Dr. Short officiated half 
stated that there were in most of these places seven, the time in Brookfield and the other half here, and 
ten, or fifteen families professing the doctrine of the the Christian Knowledge Society aided in the pay­
Church of England. ment of' his salary. The Rev. David H. Short was 

About 1763 the first Episcopal church was erected rector from 1836 to 1840, and the Rev. Thomas T. 
in this place, and opened, on its partial completion, Guion from 1840 to 1847. In 1844 the first church 
by the Rev. Ebenezer Dibble, a native of Danbury, built at the lower end of Main Street, a wooden build­
and missionary at Stamford and Greenwich. Occa- ing, the frame of which has been converted into a 
sionally ministrations were held here by the Rev. Mr. dwelling-house, was abandoned, and a new church 
Leaming, and by the Rev. Mr. Beach, of Newtown. was erected in a central position on West Street near 
A charitable layman, Mr. St. George Talbot, residing Main. The Rev. Henry Olmstead and the Rev. John 
in the province of New York, who presented the Purves were associated with the Rev. Mr. Guion, re­
church with a Bible and Prayer-book and had assisted siding in Bethel and having charge of the chapel there. 
the people here towards the erection of their church, In 1844 tlie whole parish, including Bethel, reported 
was one of the gratified congregation at the opening· 100 families and 130 communicants, with 80 Sunday­
services. In 1769 the faithful missionary at Newtown, school scholars and 20 teachers. In 1846, on the sepa­
reporHng his occasional services in the newly-erected ration of Bethel from this parish, Rev. Guion re­
church at Danbury, speaks of the edifice "with a ported 75 families, 65 communicants, and 45 Sunday­
decent steeple" and large enough to accommodate school scholars, with 9 teachers. From 1847 to 1854 
from" four hundred to five hundred people." In 1777, the Rev. William White Bronson was rector. In 1853 
Gen. Tryon, commanding a detachment of two thou- I he reported 70 families and 77 communicants. From 
sand of His Majesty's troops, penetrated to Danbury, 1854 to 1864 the Rev. I. Leander Townsend was rec­
a place which the commissioners of the American tor. In 1855 he reported 70 families and 107 com­
army had selected for depositing military stores; and ' municants. In 1859 the church was enlarged by the 
while both church and meeting-house there were used addition of a chancel and new furniture, the latter 
as depositories, his troops are said to have taken the being used in the new stone church. In 1863 he re­
stores out of church and burned them in the streets, I ported 130 families and 189 communicants. The Rev. 
saving the sacred edifice, but they devoted the meet- Mr. Townsend was also rector of "Deer Hill Insti­
ing-house to the flames. In 1784 the Rev. Samuel tute," a church boarding-school for boys. The Rev. 
Seabury, D.D., was consecrated Bishop of Connecti- Dr. Hawley entered upon his duties on the 1st of 
cut in Aberdeen, Scotland, the first American prelate. March, 1864. He reported this year 145 families and 
In 1794 the Rev. David Perry, of Ridgefield, resigned 278 communicants. In 1867 the present chapel and 
the pastoral charge of the parishes of Ridgefield, Red- the chancel and the first bay of the nave of the new 
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stone church was erected, and in 1872 the nave and J in order not to be seen," as he often afterwards con­
the tower were completed all save the stone spire. fessed. Such a profound impression was, however, 

An ex-editor of the Church Review speaks of this produced upon his mind by the ·new truths which he 
sacred edifice as "one of the most beautiful churches believed he had heard that he was no ·more ashamed, 
in the country." The memorial and other windows but proud, to be seen going to the Universalist meet­
were made by Messrs. Moore, Doremus, Henry E. ings. Those were the days when good, pious, Chris­
Sharpe, Morgan & Bros., Slack & Booth, and are tian souls, not doubting that Universalists were infi­
among the finest specimens of their best workmanship. dels and were doing the work of Satan, prayed that 
The present rector, Rev. Arthur Sloan, assumed charge the Lord would "uncover the bottomless pit and 
May, 1875. shake the Universalist minister over it until he re­

. FIRST UNIVERSALIST CHURCII. 
pented of his errors." It was the retort of one of the 
Universalist pioneers that even in this prayer, seem: 

On the 9th day of December, 1822, a little company ingly so profane and merciless, there was, after all, a 
of men, twelve in number,-as were the earliest dis- recognition of divine goodness, in the admission that 
ciples,-met at the school-house in Great Plain Dis- a pit without· bottom should yet be provided with a• 
trict, in the town of Danbury, to organize a Univer- cover. 
salist society. After the organization of the Univer;,ialist Society 

These twelve men were Ebenezer Nichols, ,vmiam it was for a year or two without a regular pastor. 
Patch, Miles Hoyt, Philo B. White, Stephen Ambler, Visiting clergymen on preaching tours spent the 
Zadock Stephens, Ira R. Wildman, Thomas P. White, Sunday here on frequent occasions, ·and preached, 
William Peck, Joel Taylor, Andrew Andrews, Stephen sometimes in the court-house, occasionally in other 
Gregory. places. Sometimes a clergyman would arrive late 

Previous to this time Universalism had taken root Saturday evening, and messengers would be sent out 
in Danbury, in consequence of the preaching of itin- notifying the little band that on the morrow they were 
erant ministers, or missionaries, who traveled through to have a minister. 
this part of the country from time to time, holding Some time in 1824 the Rev. Thomas F. King, father 
services in towns where opportunity offered, speaking of Rev. T. Starr King, was engaged to preach a por­
in public halls, in school-houses, private dwellings, tion of "the time in Danbury, preaching also at Nor­
and, when no other place could be found, in barns or walk during his engagement, which continued about 
in the open air. In 1807, probably in September of two years. In 1826 the Rev. Zelotus Fuller preached 
that year, the Rev. Hosea Ballou, one of the fathers occasionally at Danbury, and was succeeded by the 
of the Universalist Church in America, having jour- Rev. Daniel E. Morgan, who preached one sermon 
neyed into Connecticut for the purpose of attending every Sunday for six months. Then, for a period of 
the annual meeting of the United States Universalist four years, occasional services were rendered by the 
Convention, which was held at Newtown, September Revs. Geo. Rogers, Solomon Glover, Menzies Raynor 
15th, 16th, and 17th, conducted religious services in (a convert from the Episcopal Church), T. J. Whit­
Danbury, preaching in the court-house. This was comb, Theophilus Fiske, Gilman Noyes, and Nehe­
the first service ever conducted in Danbury by a Uni- miah Dodge. Dec. 29, 1880, the Rev. John Boyden 
versalist clergyman of which any record has been was called to become the pastor, and preached in 
found. There are traditions to the effect that the Danbury about six months, when, finding his various 
Rev. John Murray, a disciple of Wesley, who first ·duties more than he could longer undertake, and 
planted Universalism on the shores of the New desiring that a pastor should be engaged who should 
World, preached once in Danbury before the be- give his entire time and attention to the Danbury 
ginning of the present century, but of this service congregation, he asked to be released from his en­
the present pastor can find no written record. gagement, and the request was granted. During the 

After 1807 occasional services were held in the town ministry of Mr. Boyden a choir was gathered under 
by various itinerant ministers, among others the Rev. the leadership of the late Stephen A. Hurlburt, who 
Solomon Glover, of Newtown. At this time the so- served as chorister for many years with zeal and faith­
cial ostracism, amounting in some cases to actual per- fulness. 
secutio:o., which had been meted out to the Methodists The subsequent pastors of this congregation have 
in England, to the Baptists and Quakers in America, been as follows : 
and to every religious sect at some period of its his- 1881.-Rev. G. W. Brooks, for two months only. 
tory, fell to the lot of the American Universalists. 1881.-Rev. L. F. W. Andrews, for about the same 
Their testimony was not taken in court; they were length of time. Mr. Andrews was subsequently en­
pronounced little better than atheists; were charged gaged with Hon. P. T. Barnum, as editor of a paper 
with being haters of religion and teachers of immoral ,

1 

which Mr. Barnum published. Mr. Barnum was for 
doctrines. One of the twelve men who organized the several years the clerk of the Universalist Society. 
society in 1822 attended the meetings for some time , 1881-82.-Rev. G. W. Brooks, re-engaged. 
in secret," going across the swamp to the court-house, 1 1833.-In August, Rev. L. W. F. Andrews was 
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called, and declined a re-engage~ent, Mr. Brooks' 
engagement having expired. 

1834.-Rev. Albert Case. 
1835.-The church was without a pastor. 
1836-38.-Rev. S. C. Bulkley. 
1838-40.-Rev. James Cook. 
1841-43.-Rev. S. B. Brittan. 
1843-45.-Rev. J. K. Ingalls. 
1847.-Rev. Heman Burr. 
1846.-In the latter part of this year the pulpit was 

&upplied for a time by Rev. R. P. Ambler. 
1847.-No settled pastor. 
1848.-Rev. Timothy Elliott. 
1849---51.-Rev. Geo. H. Deere . 
1852-56.-Rev. S. C. Bulkley. 
1856.-Rev. Mr. Bulkley's engagement closed early 

in the year. Rev. Edward Smiley was engaged early 
in June, ordained in July, but remained only till No­
vember. For two years following the church was 
weakened by the general prostration of business, and 
during this time was shepherdless. 

1859-60.-Rev. Robert C. Brown. 
1861.-No settled pastor. 
1862-65.-Rev. J. H. Shepard. 
1866-67 .-Rev. Abel C. Thomas supplied the pulpit. 
1868-70.-Rev. William G. Haskell. 
1870-80.-Rev. D. M. Hodge, the present pastor. 
A church edifice was erected for this congregation 

on Main Street, corner of ·wooster, in 1833, and dedi­
cated in September of that year by the Rev. Matthew 
Rale Smith, assisted by other clergymen. This build­
ing was afterwards sold to the Catholic Society, and 
i.s still owned by them. The edifice on Liberty Street 
now occupied by this congregation was built in 1851-
52, and dedicated in the spring of the latter year. 
, The first deacons of the church were William Patch 

and Zadock Stevens. 
Nearly all the members of the original church or­

ganization are now dead or have removed from town. 
~n fact, the church has been ,unusually subject to loss 
by these causes, especially the latter, notwithstanding 
which it has had a slow but steady growth; during 
the ministry of the present pastor a goodly number 
have been added to the· membership of the church, 
and many children have been baptized. 

This church observes one Sunday in June of each 
year as Rose Sunday, when the church audience-room 
is profusely decorated with flowers and children are 
christened or baptized. 

The officers of this church at the present time are: 
Pastor, Rev. D. M. Hodge; Deacons, Stephen Bates, 
N. B. Dibble, Timothy H. Foster, Luman L. Hubbell; 
Clerk and Collector, Foster Jarvis; Treasurer, A. A. 
Heath; Executive Committee, Joseph T. Bates, T. H. 
Foster, Andrew J. Williams. 

The church at the present time is united and pros­
perous, and is doing a good work in the community. 
It strives to work in harmony and peace with all who 
love the Lord Jesus Christ. 

THE SANDE~IANIAN SOCIETY. 

Barber, in,.his "Connecticut Historical Collections," 
published in 1836, says,-

" In 1704, Mr. llob1'rt Sandeman, a native of Perth, in Scotland, a man 
of learning and superior abilities, who had some correspondence with lllr. 
White anc.l eome other ministers in thi3 country, co.me from his native 
land, landed nt llo.ston, and came to Danbury near the close of the year. 
After 11\rrylng several weeks be returned to Boston, where be soon organ­
ized a church. llo returned to Danbury and gathered a church, July, 
li65. The principal doctrines which ho taught wore similar tu those of. 
the Christian Church, His distinguishing tenet \\"a&, 'that faith is a mere 
Intellectual belief;' his favorite expression WM, 'A bar, b,lief of bare 
truth.' He maintained that his church was the only true church, then 
arisen from the ruins of Antichrist, 1,is reign being near a close. The 
use of means for mankind in a natural state he pretty much exploded. 

"Mr.Sandeman died in 1771. The next ye
0

ar his church moved to New 
Haven, Here it appears they were in a flourishing condition for three 
or fi,ur years. The house In which they worshiped Is still standing on 
Greyson Street. 

"When jhe Revolutionary war broke out the Sandemaulans, who were 
royalisl!!, became objects of suspicion. They were brought up before the . 
ch'il authority on several occasions, and at one time "·ere imprisoned. 
These proceedings hnd tho effect to break up their church in this place; 
nearly, if not quite, all their people moved away. 

"In July, 1774, sov.ernl persons who had been members of that church, 
together \\"itb a number who belonged to the society at New Danbury,• 
united and formed a new Sandemanian Church. That continued and in­
creased for many years, till lllarch, liOS, when they divided into two 
churches." 

The following is from a more recent account given 
of the Sandemanians: 

"They meet on the Sabbath and the Thursday afternoon of each week 
to exhort nnd to explain the sacred word. Their church is provided with 
a large circular table, which occupies nearly half the area of the build­
ing, at which tho SOYeral members seat themsc)Yes, each one pro,·ided 
with a copy of the Scriptures, and as they individually feel disposed they 
read and comment thereon, the females not partaking therein, UciOp; but 
indifferent spectators of the proceedings. They nlso add tu their former 
exercises prayer and siuging; and after which they MBemble nt one or 
the other of the brothers' or sisters' houses, where they partake of a 
feast. .•• There ar.e j>robalily at present about twenty primitive followers, 
of strict mornls and chMte d•portment, even to n proverb. n appears 
thnt none have joined them latterly. 

"This sect, like most others, ha Ye divisions among them, one 1inrty ot 
which g• by th~ name of • Osbornites,' from Mr. Le,·! Osborne, their 
present teacher. These are very few in number, reduced by deaths, and 
from the circumstance of none uniting with them. The other party go 
by the name of 'Baptist' Sandemanians, from their belief In, and practice 
of, baptism. The Osboroltes appear to have been the most numerous of 
the two classes, ha,·lng had formerly a considerable number of members, 
consisting of some people of influence." 

There are said to be but four hundred persons of 
this denomination in the world, forty of whom are in 
the United States. Those of this belief in Great Brit­
ain are known by the J'.!ame of "Glassites." 

The following is copied from the monument of Mr. 
Sandeman, in the burying-ground opposite the court­
house: 
· "Here lies, until the resurrection, the body of RonEnT S.urnElllAN, a. 

natiYe of Perth, North Britain, who, in the face of continued opposition 
from all sorts of men, long buldly contended for tho ancient Faith, th•t 
the bare work of Jesus Christ, without a deed or thought on the p!Lrt of 
man, is sufficient to present the chief of sinners spotleSB before God. To 
declare this blessed Truth, as testified in the Holy Scriptures, he left his 
country, be left bis friends, and after much patient suffering finished his 
labors at Danbury, April 2, 1771, lE. 53 years. 

" Deign 'd Christ to come so nigh to us 
Aa not to r.ount It shame 

To call us Brethren, should we blush 
At aught that bears His name? 
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"Nay, let us boast lu His reproach, 
And glory in His Cross: 

When He appears, ono smile from Him, 
Will far o'crpny onr loea." 

Rev. Nathaniel West, in his "Analysis of the Bible," 
says,-

" SANDEMANIANS.-Followen, of lllr. Sandeman, who was himself a dis­
ciple of Mr. John Glass. Tho Sandemanians now usually include the 
Glassites, or followers of Mr. Glass. Place, chiefly &-otland, thero being 
a few in England, the United States, 1>nd British North America. 
Numbers in all, about 2000." 

"GLASSITES.-A body of dissenters from the Scotch Church, named 
after their founder, Mr. John Gla89 or Glas. Mostly in Scotland, where 
they number 213G." 

We went to what is now called the Wooster Street 
Cemetery, and after a long search through the sadly­
neglected ground found the grave of Mr. Sandeman 
in a good state of preservation, located west. of the 
jail and near the fence which incloses it. From the 
appearance of the stone we should judge that it must 
have replaced an older one. The inscription thereon 
is not, in some respects, correctly quoted in Barber's 
"History." We give it verbatim. 

As near as we can o.scertain, after the death of Mr . 
Sandeman, the church was presided over by Elder 
Nathaniel Bishop, who died in 1857. After the death 
of Elder Bishop, Mr. William B. Ely, an esteemed 
citizen of Danbury, filled the position until his death, 
which occurred in 1869. Mr: Ely was an active mem­
ber of the church for upwards of fifty years. Since 
his death the church has had no regularly-appointed 
elder. Although the members do not number as 
many as formerly, the services are kept up with the 
old-time regularity. 

TIIE CATHOLIC CHlJRCH. 

The first mass said in Danbury was at the house of 
James Doyle, in Grassy Plain, by the Rev. Father 
Smith, of New Haven, in the year 1838, and services 
were held at irregular intervals from that date until 
the years 18~ and 1846. The next mass said was by 
the Rev. Father Brady, then in charge of the mission 
of Norwalk and Stamford, at the house of John Hart, 
on Franklin Street, in the years 1847 and 1848. 

At the next mission, in 1849, mass was said at the 
house of John Spain, then living in South Street. At 
the next mission, in 1850, mass was said at the house 
of James Croal, on Deer Hill. The same year mass 
was celebrated by Father Ryan in the court-house. 
The services in the court-house were disturbed by 
some American people. The academy owned by Rev. 
John Irwin, Second Congregational Society, was ob­
tained for the use of the Catholics for the rest of the 
.year. The next mission was in 1851. Rev. Father 
Ryan purchased the Universalist church, corner of 
Morris and Yv ooster Streets, at a cost of three thou­
sand dollars. Some improvements were made the 
same year. The Catholic Cemetery was purchased in 

In 1858 or 1859 ~ piece of land on the west side of 
Main Street was purchased for ~wo thousand dollars. 
In 1861 some improvements were made on the old 
church, now known as St. Peter's Hall. In 1862 the 
present church was purchased of the Congregation­
alists for two hundred dollars, and remodeled at a cost 
of two thousand dollars. In the following year im­
provements were made on St. Peter's Hall. 

During the pastorate of Rev. P. Sheridan he in­
stituted two Catholic schools,-one for boys and one 
for girls,-and the attendance was about two hundred. 
He also purchased a piece of land and added it to the 
cemetery, and also improved it materially. 

In the fall of 1864, the debt of the church having 
reached about six thousand dollars, Father Sheridan 
resolved to liquidate at least a portion of it, and con­
sequently inaugurated a grand fair at Concert Hall, 
from which the net proceeds were three thousand dol­
lars. He then commenced collecting funds for build­
ing a new church. The church was commenced in 
1869, and in September, 1871, the corner-stone was 
laid by the bishop, Right Rev. F. P. McFarland. The 

. sermon on the occasion was preached by the Rev .. 
Father Hewitt, of the Paulist Fathers, Fifty-ninth 
Street, New York. It is a singular fact that the walls 
were built before the laying of the corner-stone, in 
consequence of the absence of Bishop McFarland at 
the <Ecumenical Council at Rome. The church is a 
massive structure, and pleasantly located on Main 
Street, near the park. 

The following is a list of the pastors from 1851, 
when Father Ryan was here, to the present time: 
Rev. Father O'Farrell, 1852-53; Rev. John Smith, 
1853-57; Rev. Peter Kelly, 1858; Rev. Thomas Drea, 
1858-61; Rev. Ambrose Manahan, D.D., 1861-62; 
Rev. P. Sheridan, 1863-July, 1874; Rev. John Quinn, 
1874. 

The present officers are the following: Rev. M. P. 
Lawlor, pastor; Rev. Michael J. Burns, associate pas­
tor; Michael Darragan, Thomas Moran, trustees, 
elected annually. 

The St. Patrick's Library Association was estab­
lished in 1858. 

The St. Peter's Catholic B~nevolent Society was 
organized in July, 1865. Thomas Johnson, Presi­
dent; Thomas McCue, Vice-President. 

St. Vincent De Paul Total Abstinence and Benev­
olent Society was organized August 6, 1866, with 
twenty charter members. The present membership 
is seventy-five. Charles Doran is the president, and 
Michael J. Griffin the vice-president. 

The Young Men's Father Mathew Temperance 
Society was organized in 1878 with about sixty mem­
bers present. 

THE DISCIPLES OF CHRIST, 

1853, at a cost of two hundred dollars. This church dates its origin back to 1817, when Levi 
In 1857 a lot was purchased at the corner of Main Osborne and wife and Uz Wildman and wife left the 

and Centre Streets, and a parsonage erected thereon. I Sandemanian Society, in consequence of some differ-

• 
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ence of religious opinion, of which they had been year, the expeni,es being paid by the liberal donations 
honored members, and formed the nucleus of the of its• members. A Sabbath-school was established 
present society. at the same time of the church opening, and num-

Mr. Osborne, hearing of a society in New York bered about twenty-five scholars. 
called the Disciples, visited their church and was bap- The pressure of the times and expense of sustaining 
tized by Henry Errett. Returning to Danbury, he the church caused the society to give up their un­
baptized his wife and Uz Wildman and wife, and dertaking in the year 1877. Its members then re­
their services were held in Mr. Osborne's house. Mr. sumed their places again in the English churches, 
Osborne officiated as elder from this time until his principally the Methodist. 
death, in 1851. He was the leading spirit of the en- In the spring of 1878, Henry Stapleburg built a 
terprise, and for many years the members of the small two-story dwelling-house on the rear of his lot 
church were called "Osbornites." and residence, corner of Rose Hill and Henry Street, 

The society soon began to increase in numbers, and the lower part occupied by a German family and the 
a room over Mr. Osborne's weaver-shop was fitted up upper story to be used as a church. The dimensions 
for a place of worship. In 1840 a church building were about twenty by twenty-five feet, and the room 
was erected on White Street. In 1853 the church was comfortably fitted up for a chapel. This was a new 
belonging to the Methodist Society on Liberty Street opening for the society, as Mr. Stapleburg gave them 
was purchased, and occupied in January of the follow- the use of the room for the purpose of worship, which 
ing year. expense was quite an item to the little band, who 

The following ministers of this faith have preached were trying to worship under their own vine and fig­
here: Porter Thomas, A. G. Comings, Matthew S. tree in their own tongue. 
Clapp, William Tichenar, Ephraim A. Smith, Francis Early in the fall of 1878 the room was completed, 
M. Craig, E. B. Osborne, J. M. Yearnshaw, W. ,v. and once more an effort was made to establish a 
Belding, N. W. Eaton, Theodore Brooks, Alfred N. Gil- church on a firmer footing. Other Methodist Ger­
bert, Joel A. Headington, W. L. Hayden, W.R. Spind- man families were induced to come to Danbury to 
ler, W. B. Craig, and J. L. Darsie, present pastor. work at hatting, and so increase the membership of 

The elders have been as follows: Levi Osborne, the church society. Mr. Grabert filled the pulpit 
John Benedict, Edward B. Osborne, Starr Benedict, every other week, and other ministers from abroad 
John Abbott, Abel Foote, E. A. Mallory, Lewis B. were sent by the pastor at New Haven, Conn., to fill 
Stevens, Edgar S. Morris. 1 it at other times, he coming once a month and ad-

In 1854 a division occurred in the church, and ministering the sacrament. 
thirty-five members withdrew and met in a hall on Signs were evident that the growth of this church 
Main Street, known as Christian chapel, calling Leslie was more rapid than at any period since its formation, 
R. Gault as pastor. The congregations were, however, in 1875, and the little room was too small to accom­
reunited in 1869. The church is now in a prosperous modate them longer than through the winter of 
condition, and has a membership of over two hundred. 1878-79, and on the first Sunday in April, 1879, the 

GEIL\IAN METHODIST CHURCH. 
society again occupied their old rooms, corner of 
Main and Liberty Streets. 

This church was first established, under the leader- Mr. Grabert, in the winter of 1879-80, found his 
ship of Henry Stapleburg and Henry Grabert, in the labors through the week in the factory and •in the 
year 1875, in Benedict & Nichols' block, corner ot pulpit on Sunday were too arduous. He called a 
Main and Liberty Streets. The need of a German meeting of the society in the beginning of the month 
church society had long been felt by the Protestant of March, and submitted to the pastor and people the 
Germans of Danbury, that they might hear the gospel necessity of a regularly established church with a 
expounded in their own tongue, as many of them permanent pastor. Application to the German Con­
were unable to understand and fully comprehend the ' ference held at New York in the second week of 
word in the English tongue, and the English church April was made for a permanent minister and organ­
was the only church they were inclined to attend. ized society, and the Conference, hearing the reports 
By the efforts of the above-named leaders, about from this mission and its pastor, appointed to the 
thirty Protestant Germans were brought together and German Church of Danbury the Rev. Jacob Kindler, 
organized a society at the above place in 1875, and then residing in Mount Vel'.non, N. Y., where his 
Mr. Grabert was appointed by the pastor of the family still resides. Mr. Kindler was a chaplain in a 
nearest German church (then located at New Haven) New York regiment during the early part of the war, 
as a local preacher, and filled the pulpit three Sun- and is an old cavalry officer. At the battle of Bull 
days in each month, the fourth being the visit of the Run he sustained injurie~ through the falling of his 
pastor, Rev. Mr. Hendiges, and who as often as pos- horse, breaking the chaplain's hip-bone. 
sible sent ministers and tried to supply the pulpit The church is now regularly ordained, and has a 
every other Sunday. The society flourished in in- membership of about fifty and a Sunday-school of 
terest, although not rapidly in numbers, for the first about the same number. 
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CHAPTER XXI. 

DANBURY (Continued). 

Organization of this Town-Paquiage-Swampf!eld-Records of 1777-
. First Town-)leeting after the Revolution-First. Officers Elected after 

the Revolution -Tho Borough of Danbury - Orgunization-First 
Officers-Wardens from Orb,anization to 1880--Extracts from Records, 
etc.-Ear-Marks. 

· THE town of Danbury was constituted at a General 
Court held Oct. 13, 1687. The following is an extract 
from the records : 

, " This Court named the new towne at Paquiago* Danbury, and granted 
them a freedom from county rates for fower yeares from this date; and 
this Court grants that the bownds of the said towne of Danbury shall be 
six miles square, provided it doe not prejudice any former grant to any 
particular person made by this Court. 

"This Court grants the Danbury brand shall be two eyes as followeth 
II." (Co!. Roe.) 

The early town recordst were destroyed when the 
town was burned by the British, hence we are unable 
to give anything of a documentary character prior to 
that time. 

• RECORDS OF 1777. 

The following is the first record which appears in 
the old town-book after the destruction of the town: 

"At a town-meeting legally named, held in Danbury, Oct. 1, 1777, 
Cap. Daniel Taylor chosen moderator. Sd meeting was t,y vote adjourned 
to the Gth instant at four of the Clock in the afternoon. 

"MAJon TAYLOR, Clerk." 

The next entry is as follows: 

"To THE INHABITANTS -OF THE TOWN OF DANBURY: 

"GF.NTLEMEN,-lt being represented to the General Assembly of thLs 
State at<their Sessions'in llllly last that the public Records of your Town 
were consumed by Fire, and said Assembly appointed us the Subscriliers 
to look Into the Matter and AscertaiO: the right of every indiYidual own­
Ing Lands in snid Town, to facilitate its mntter, beg leave to recom­
mend to you, Gentlemen, to call a Town-meeting and appoint a Com. 
in the several parts of your Town, who shall as so.on as may be collect 
all the necessary Deeds and Surveys and other Conl'eyances of Lands in 
said Town, and whera any Deeds or other Conveyances are lost or con• 
sumed by fire, so that the title cannot be otherwise ascertained, then 
the-<:ommittee, "ith the -assistance of those whoso tltlo is thus Jost, do 
bound out said Lands, mentioning who it adjoins upon; also to notify 
fhe persons on whom such lands do adjoin to be present nt the Time of 
bounding out the same, nnd to adjourn your Town-mooting to the 29th 
day of December, and when said doings of said committee shall bo pub­
llckly road in their cuses where there is any Dispute, at which time nnd 
place we will attend. 

"DANBURY, Nov. 12, 1777." 

"DANIEL SHERMAN, 

"I. MOSELY, 

"NEHEMIAll BEARDSLEY, 

'- LEMUEL SANFORD, 

"CALEB BALDWIN, Jn., 
"Commitlee. 

* A petition was presented "in behalf of the plantation of Paquiage 
that the same may be constituted to be a towneandto be named Swamp­
field," their south bounds to be "by the north bounds of Fairfield and 
Norwalk, the north bounds Halfeway to Weantinucke, the east bounds, 
j1alf way to Stratford river, tho west bounds by York lino." The petition, 
dated October 6th, is signed by Thomas Fitch, Jehu Burr, John Burr, 
and Thomas Bennydick. They state thnt" there are twentle families in­
habiting at Paquiage, and more desirable persons a comming.'' Samuel 
Hayes, of Norwalk, was deputed to present the petition to the court. 
The name substituted by the court for that proposed by the petition was 
probably adopted from Danbury, a village In Essex, f!,·e miles from 
Chelmsford. (C. J, Hoadley.) 

t The Probate records were saved. 

At a town-meeting "legally.named," held Nov. 18, 
1777, the following were appointed a committee, as 
recommended by the General Assembly, to assist per-' 
sons in collecting the necessary conveyances, etc.: 
Daniel Taylor, Comfort Hoyt, Benjamin Sperry, Na-• 
than Gregory, David Boughton, Josepli Wildman, 
Benjamin Boughton, Jr., David Wildman, Samuel 
Nichols, Alexander Stuart, John Starr, David Hoyt, 
Jr., John Dunning, Benjamin Stevens, John·Gregory, 
Richard Shute, Noah Hoyt, Ezra Stevens, Jos. Bar-' 
num, Matthew Linley, Richard Barnum, Samuel Ben­
edict, David Perce, Samuel Weed, Thomas Stevens; 
Thomas Starr, Eli Segar, Benjamin Shove, Lemuel 
Benedict, Daniel ,vildman, Daniel Wood, Thaddeus: 
Brownson, Daniel Wood, .Jr., Thomas Taylor, John 
Benedict, Isaac Benedict, Joseph Starr, Ephraim 
Barnum, Nathaniel Hoyt, Jos. Beebe, Nathaniel 
Benedict, Thomas Benedict, Benjamin Benedict, 
James Seely, and Nathan Taylol'. · 

At the same meeting it was also voted." to haye one 
committeeman in each School District to procure· 
clothing for their quota of men in the Continental' 
Army, viz., Major Taylor, Silas Hamilton, Justus 
Barnum, Elisha Dibble, Nathaniel Starr, Benjamin 
Dunning, Matthew Dilks, Nathaniel Gregory, Na­
thaniel Benedict, Thomas Stevens, Theophil.us Bene­
dict, Daniel Wood, Andrew Comstock, Ephraim 
Barnum, and James Seely." 

At said meeting it was also voted "that the Select­
men draw money of the Collector to pay for the afore­
said Articles and give him their obligation therefor." 

Then "the meeting by vote adjourned to the 29th 
Day of December next at nine of the Clock in the 
morning. Test, Major Taylor, Clerk." 

THE FIRST TOWN-MEETING AFTER THE BRITISH 
INVASION. 

The firsti;own-meeting held after the burning of the 
town at which town officers were chosen was on·Dec. 
15, 1777, when the following ofiicers were elected: 

Oonstables.-Comfort Hoyt, Jr., and to collect the 
county-rate, Thomas Taylor and Justus Barnum. 

Grand Jurors.-Zadock Benedict, Eliphalet Bar­
num, Andrew Comstock. 

Selectmen.-Major Tayl9r, David Hickok, David 
Boughton, Elijah Hoyt, Ezra·Dibble, Jr., Capt. Com­
fort Hoyt, Joseph Benedict. 

Listers.-Benjamin Hickok, Oliver Benedict, David 
Wood, Daniel Comstock, Jonas Benedict, Nathaniel 
Starr, Paul Hamilton. 

Pythingmen.-Joshua Knapp, Ebenezer Picket, Jr., 
Nathaniel Gregory, Joseph Elmore, Ezra Dibble, 
Matthew Starr. 

Surveyors of Highways.-Comfort Hoyt, Jr., Jo­
seph Wildman, David Boughton, Jr., Eliakim Starr, 
Samuel Benedict (4th), Timothy Benedict, Ebenezer 
Hickok, Joseph Starr, John McLean, Alexander 
Stuart, .Samuel Nichols, Samuel Stevens, Lemuel 
Linly, Eleazer Benedict, Eli Segar, B. Knapp, Thad-
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deus Brownson, Lemuel Wood, jr,, Benjamin Stevens, 
Jr., Samuel Sturdevant, and David Weed. 

Fence-Vicwera.-Daniel Hoyt, Thaddeus Barnum, 
Caleb Church, Josiah Vining, Nathaniel Hoyt, 
Matthew Barnum. 

&aler of Weights.-Jared Patchen. 
&aler of Leatlicr.-Joseph Benedict. 
Sealers of .Meaaurea.-Ezra Dibble, Thaddeus Brown­

son. 
Pound-Keeper.-Daniel Church. 

TilE BOROUGH OF DANBURY. 

The charter of the borough of Danbury was granted 
upon the application of Moss White and others at 
the May session of the Legislature in 1822. The first 
borough-meeting was held at the court-house, ,ved­
nesday, June 26, 1822, when the following officers 
were elected: Darius Starr, Clerk; Daniel B. Cook, 
Warden; Samuel Tweedy, Moss White, Elijah Greg­
ory, David Foot, Samuel Wildman, Willan Patch, 
Burgesses ; Alanson Hamlin, Treasurer ; Matthew 
Curtis, Bailiff. 

At a meeti_ng held July 5, 1822, S. P. Clark, Sam­
uel C. Dibble, John Foot were appointed haywards. 

At a special borough-meeting held May 8, 1823, 
Reuben Booth was appointed agent to oppose the pe­
tition of Comfort Hoyt and others praying the Gen­
eral Assembly to repeal the whole or in part the re­
solve incorporating the borough of Danbury. 
· The following is a list of the wardens and clerks 

from its incorporation to 1880 : 

WARDENS. 

1822-23, 1826-31, D. B. Cooke; 1824-25, 1838-39, 
Samuel Wildman; 1832-35, Eli T. Hoyt; 1836-37, 
Chandler Smith; 1840-41, Samuel Tweedy; 1842-43, 
Edward Taylor; 1844-45, Elias S. Sanford; 1846-48, 
1850, 1852, Samuel W. Jennings; 1849, Oliver Stone; 
1851, 1854-55, Stephen A. Hurlburt; 1853, David B. 
Booth; 1856, Ezra P. Bennett; 1857, S:i,muel Mal­
lory; 1858-59, Wm. H. Tweedy; 1860, Geo. E. Cow­
perwait; 1861, Wm. T. Lacey; 1862-65, J. Amsbury; 
1866-68, 1874, Edward S. Davis; 1869-73, 1878, Oli­
·ver P. Clark; 1875-77, 1879, James Fry; 1880, Levi 
P. Treadwell .. 

CLERKS. 

Rotation in office does not seem to have been the 
rule so far as the office of borough clerk is concerned, ' 
for there have been but five from the incorporation 
of the borough, in 1822, to the present time, viz.: 

1822-38, Dana Starr; 1839-71, W. P. Comstock; 
1871-74, 1876-77, A. B. Hull; 1875, 1880, A. C. 
Seeley; 1878-79, W. T. St. John. 

EXTRACTS FROM RECORDS, ETC, 

DANBURY. 

The following is a copy of the title-page of an al­
manac, published here in 1792 : 

THE 

FARMER'S DIARY; 
OR, THB 

U::s'JTED STATES 

ALMANACK 
For the Year of our Lord Christ 

1792. 
· Being Bissextile or Leap Year, 

And 16th Yenr of American Independence till Ju'y 4: _ 

Calculated for the Meridian of DANBURY, in the STATll of CONNECT!• 
CVT, Lat. 41° 51' north, Lon. 72° 54' west; but will serve 

indifforently for any of the adjacent States. 

CONTAINING, besides all that is usual and necessary, many things 
which are unusual and not nccessary,-things which were never before 
published and probably never will be again,-which, if not read within 
a yc3r, will be nowhere to be found but in an old Almanack the l:a.st 
resort of superannuated rubbish. 

BY JOSEPH LELAND, PHILOM. 

Published in Danbury. By DOUGLASS-& ELY; and sold Whole­
sale and Retail at their Printing-Office. 

In the Farme1's' Journal, Jan. 18, li91, Timothy 
Taylor announces the dissolution of the firm of 
Cooke & Taylor. 

In the same issue, an advertisement of a "Scheme 
of a Lottery for the purpose of extending and im­
proving the Woolen Manufactory in the city of Hart­
ford." 

Joseph Clark "informs his customers and others 
that he continues the business of clock- and watch­
making at his shop in Danbury." 

Eliakim Peck advertises an" ax-manufactory," and 
" warrants his axes to be as good as any ever made in 
this country." 

Carrington & Mygatt state that they have" molasses 
for sale cheap ;" John Dodd will give the "highest 
price for Continental Loan-Office Notes, etc. ;" and 
Eliakim Benedict, Jr., will pay the "highest price for 
all kinds of hatting-furs at his shop, a few rods from 
the church in Danbury." · 

The following advertisement also appears: 
To be sold: Twenty yea~• time of a likely NEGRO Bov, five yea1'9 

old. Inquire of the Printers. 
Danbury, Dec. 21, 1790. 

The "institution" of slavery was not unknown 
among the good people of Danbury, for under da~e 
March~' 1791, appears the following notice: 

TO BE SOLD. 

TWO NEGRO SERVANTS, VIZ.: 

A man and woman. The man is an able and willing fellow, well ac­
quainted with farming business, and is exceeding handy with a team.· 
The wench, his wife, is neat, and understands all m~ner of house 
work. Any person desirous of purchasing the above-mentioned ser­
vants may call on the Printers for further infOrmation. 

?\-larch 1, 1791. 

ADVERTISEMENTS OF 1792. 

The following advertisements appeared in the 
Farmers' Journal of Dec. 22, 1792; 



228 HISTORY OF FAIRFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT. 

Tke SunSCRIBERS to tke 

DANBURY LIBRARY, 
A RE requefted to meet at the houfe of Mr. Fairckild Wkite, on 

Tuefday evening, the firft of January next, prepared to pay in 
the amount of their Subfcriptions, and tranfact the neceffary bufinefs 
of the Company. 

Danbury, Dec. r, 1792. 

TIMOTHY LANGDON,} Com• 
NATHAN DOUGLAS, mit• 
LAZARUS BEACH, tee. 

0. , BURR, & Co. 
Have juft received the following articles, which they will felr on the 
loweft terms for cafh or country produce, and all forts of l'arn, rags, 
thrums, &c. paid in hand, as it is not their with to fell on credit: 
Twill'd and plain Coatings. St. Croix Rum, 
Ladies ditto. Brown and Loaf Sugar, 
Scarlet & other colored Cloths. Gin, by the cafe, 

-Wildbores, Camblets, lloltea Tea, 
Twill'd & plain Velvets, Pepper, Alfpice, 
Linncns, Ginger, Allum, 
Cambricks and ~uflins, Copperas, 
Callicoes and Chintfes, 10d. 8d. & 4d. Nails, 
Together with a variety of other articles of Dry Goods: Alfo an affort-

ment of 
SADDLERY AND HARD WARE, 

and 
CAMEL'S HAIR, FOR HATTERS. 

The higheft price given for 
MUSKRAT, CAT, & RABBIT SKINS, 

Danbury, Nov. 15,.1792. 4~ 

CARRINGTON and MYGA TT, 
Have entered into partnerfhip with 

NAJAH TAYLOR, in the GOLD and 
SILVER-SMITH BUSINESS, 

Under the firm of 
Mygatt, Taylor, & Co. 

WHERE may be had any work in that line, on the moft reafonable 
terms, and made in the neweft and moft approved fafhiuns and 

ncatcft manner. 
CASH paid for Old Silver, Brafs and Copper. 

Danbury, December 8, 1792. 44 
N. B. A i:ood workman at CLOCKS, will meet with good encour• 

agement at faid fhop. 

NOAH HOYT, jun. 
HAS a large and beautiful ftore of GOODS on hand. Said Hoyt 

wifhes to purchafe 1,000 runs of LINEN and TOW YARN, 
for which nine pence per run will be given for linen yarn, and fix pence 
per run for tow yarn. 

l¥if" All kinds of HATTING FuR will be received in payment for 
Goods. 

Danbury, Nov. 24, 1792. 42 

THOSE perfons who are indebted to the Subfcribers on Note or 
Book (whofe accounts are become due by agreement) will do well 

to notice this advcrtifement, and call and fettle ( or at leaft make fome 
pay) in order to prevent coft which will pofitively be made in cafe of 
neglect, without the trouble of writing 3 or 4 Dunning Letters upon the 
occafiion. All kinds of country produce received in payment at the full 
value, if not more. 
- HOG's-BRISTLES taken in at faid Store, and Twenty Shillings per 
hundred paid in Cafh for COTTON and LINEN RAGS in quantities 
not lefs than one hundred weight. 

CARRINGTON & MYGATT. 
Who have for Sale, as ufual, 

An afforhnent ef 
Goods, Drugs & Medicine, and 
Painter's and Dyer's Colours, 

On reafonable terms. 
Danbury, Dec. 8, 1792. 44 

LELAND's 

ALMANACKS, 
FOR 1793, FOR SALE AT THIS OFPXCE, 

LOST, !aft Monday night, a red and white filk HANDKERCHIEF. 
Whoever will return it to the Printers, or to lllr. Major Taylor, will 
oblige a poor \Voman, who has nothing but thanks to offer as a reward. 

Danbury, Dec. 15, 1792. 

PHILADELPHIA, DECBMBRR IS• 

PRICE OF STOCKS. 
6 per cents, 
3 per cents, 
Deferred do, 
Final fettlement!-, 
Shares Bank of United States, 

A LL perfons who owe STATE TAXES to the Subfcriber, are hereby 
. notified, that unlefs they fettle with him within a week from this 
date, either by giving their notes of hand for the fame, or otherwife 
making full payment of the .ballances due to him, muft depend upon 
paying him full travelling and levying fees; as he is determined his 
Rate bills fhall be fully clofed in a very fhort time. 

JOSEPH Ill. WHITE. 
Danbury, Dec. 15, 1792, 45 2 

A WATCH LOST. 

LOST yefterday, between the top of El;..ell's-hill, and the hill by 
'.Mr. Oliver Stone's, a filver \Vatch-maker's name George Clark, 

a fteel chain, with links and rings, the ft:al w:is loft out of its cafe­
Whoever fhall find faid Watch, and will deliver it to the Printers 
hereof, or to Mr. Deforeft, at Elwill's hill, fhall be generoufly rewarded 
for their trouble. 

ELIJAH HAWLEY. 
Danbury, Dec. 8, 1792. H3 

TAYLOR & COOKE, 

ANXIOUS to make a fettlement with their cuftomers, without put• 
ting them to coft, they once more take this method to call upon 

all perfons indebted to them, either by note or book, whofe accounts 
have become due by agreement, to m:ike a fettlement by the 10th day 
of January next; and as the prefent prices of produce cannot with pro• 
priety be pleaded as a dela)' of payment, thofe who neglect to make a 
fettlement by the time mentioned, muft expect to be put to coft, without 
further notice. All kinds of merchantable produce will be received in 
payment, at its full value. 

N. B. Cafh, and the higheft price, will be given by them for good 
WHEAT, PORK, &c. and a generous price for HOG's BRISTLES. 

Danbury, Dec. 15, 1790. 45 

F O R S A L E, 

THE STORE, formerly occupied by NICHOLS and 
DlllBLE,-lt ftands in Danbury, in Bethel fociety, about three 

miles S. E. from the town, on the public road to Fairfield-is an excel­
lent ftand for bufiness, and is built convenient forHATTING and 
TRADING-will be fold with or without the Hatting Tools. For 
further parti:ulars enquire of ZAR DIBBLE. 

.N. B. All thofe indebted to the late partnerfhip of NICHOLS and 
DIBBLE, either by note or book, muft depend on fettling with them by 
the 1ft day of January next, or their accounts will be put into an At 
tomey's hand to collect, without further notice. 

Dec. 10, 1792. 45 3 

Eleazer Taylor, 

PRESENTS kis compliments to thefe gentlemen wkom lie kas /uj­
Jlied wit!, tke Farmer's J'ournal, and bifor111s the111 he is now 

ready to recefve tke oalla11ce due kim to tke 5tl, i,ift.-and wkile ke 
retur1ls lzis tlzanks to tlzo.fe who kave made pay111,:nt according- to 
agreement, he is 1tnder tlze jain/ul necejjity o.f requiring- ef otkers a1t 
immediate fettlement-otllerw{/e he flz.a/l Oe forced to have rccou,:/e 
to an exjenjive ,nude ef collecting- kis arrearag-es. 

Danbury, December 22, 1792. 
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EAR-MARKS. 

The following are specimens of ear-marks used in 
the early days to distinguish sheep : 

"Justus Barnum's ear-mark is a crop in each ear and a nick under the 
near. Entered August 31, 1778." 

"Ab!Jah Barnum's ear-mark Is Step under the off" ear, and half-penny 
foresldo the same, aud half-penny foreside the near ear. Entered Decem• 
6th, 1778." 

"John Gregory, his ear-mark Is a crop on tho near ear and two half­
ponnys under the same. Dec. 9, 1778." 

,a EIJen1' Gregory's car-mark is" crop on tbe neo.r oar, and a half-penny 
under the same. Dec. 9, li78." 

"Robert Benedict's ear-mark is a step under each ear. Entered Dec. 
28, 1778." 

"Androw Comstock's ear-mark is a half-penny foreside tho near ear, 
stop under sruno. Dec. 28, 1778." 

"Nathan Starr's ear-mark is a ewn.llow fork on tho near ear. Entered 
JanulLry 5, 1779." • 

"Eleazer Tnylor'B ear-mark is a half-penny under near ear, a crop on 
the off", and " nick uudor the off". Entered llfay 30, 1778." 

"EbenezM "1,itlock's mark Is " spade In tho end of tho right ear. 
Entered Doc. 2:J, 1779." 

ROADS. 

At a regular town-meeting held in 1800 it was 
"voted that men's labor on the highway should be 
rated at seventy-fixe cents per day, and the same for 
a good and sufficient team, except from the 20th of 
September to the 20th of December, when it should 
be but fifty-eight cents per day." This provision was 
undoubtedly intended to save the town from being 
cheated by the short days. 

CHAPTER XXII. 

consolidated the two papers and issued the result as 
The Farmer8' Chronicle. How long he continued its 
publication is not known. Mr. Douglas, after dispos­
ing of his paper, made a specialty of job-printing. 

The Religious Monitor and Theological &alee, a 
monthly religious magazine, was started in 1797 by 
Douglas & Nichols, and was continued for several 
years. The copies extant show it to have been well 
edited, and it probably reached a large circulation. 

The Sun of Li,berty, a Republican paper, edited by 
Samuel Morse, Danbury, was established in July, 1800, 
and continued until October 8th, when it was removed 
to Norwalk. 

The Farmer8' Journal and Columbian Ark, an eight­
page weekly paper, was started in February, 1803, by 
Stiles, Nichols & Co. This paper does not seem to 
have had a long run, as soon after we find that Mr. 
Nichols went to Bridgeport and published the Farmer 
of that place. 

The New England Republican was established by 
John C. Gray in July, 1804. This paper was ex­
ceedingly neat and good-looking, but there is no record 
of the length of time it was published, although it 
must have continued for several years, as the copy in 
the possession of the writer is No. 41 of Vol. III. 

The Danbury Recorder was established in 1826 by 
Orrin Osborn; it was in after-years published by W. 
& M. Yale in the building just south of the present 
Baptist church. It was a small paper, but handsomely 
gotten up and ably edited. 

The Herald of Preedom was started in Bethel, then 
a part of Danbury, in October, 1831, by P. T. Barnum. 

DANBURY (Continued). We may note here that Mr. Barnum, for an alleged 
MISCELLANEOUS-TIIE PRESS, ETc. libel on a citizen of Bethel, was tried in October, 

The Danbury Prc..-The Farmers' Journal-The Republican Journal- 1832, found guilty, and sentenced to imprisonment 
The Farn,ers' Chronicle-The Religious Monitor and Thoologi41 for sixty days and fined one hundred dollars. The 
Seal-Tho Sun of Liberty-The J,"armore' Journal and Columbian sentence, so far as imprisonment was concerned, was 
Ark-The New England Repul,lican-Tbo Danbury Recordor-Tho immediately carried out, Mr. Barnum being confined 
Herald of Freedom-Tho Herald of Freedom and Go•vel Witnese-
Tho Connecticut Repository-Tho Danbury Gi,zette-The D"nbury in the jail, from whence he continued to edit his paper. 
Chronicle and Fairfield County Democrat-The Danbury Times-Tho His release was made the occasion of a grand ovation 
Hatton' Journal-The Junta-Tho Jelfersonian-Tho Danbury News I by his friends. It is but fair to state here that the 
-The Danburlan-The Danbury Globe-The People-The Danbury • • . • . 
Democrat-Tho Danbury Republican-The Gas-Light Company- Jury, m findmg Mr. Barnum guilty, did so on mere 
Wooster Council, No. 28, R. and s. ll.-Cru~!Ldo Commandery-Eureka 

I 
technical grounds, believing that the utmost punish­

Chapter-Union Lodge-Washington Dh·islon, No. 1, S. of T.-Memo- ment he would receive would be a small fine and 
11111 Lodge, No.191, I. O. G. T.-8"marlmn Lodge, No. 7, I. 0. of O. F. h • h d M B ' h 
-Agriculturnl Society-The National Pahquloque Bank-Danbury were as muc astoms e as was r. arnum at t e 
National Bank-The Sa,·ings ,Bank of DILnbury-The Union Sav- severity of the sentence. The fine of one hundred 
lnp-Bank-Tho Fire Department-Tho Water-Works-Tho Kohanza dollars was subsequently collected from Mr. Barnum 
Disw,ter-Elmwood Pe.rk-Woooter Cemetery-Population from 1756 b th State tto M F · fSta ~ d I 1832 
to l880-The Danbury Library. Y e a rney, r. erns, o m or . n 

THE DANBURY PRESS. 

THE Farmers' Journal was established in March, 
1790. The publishers were Edward Ely and Nathan 
Douglas. It was published in a building near the 
court-house. In January of 1793 the firm separated, 
and Mr. Douglas colfltnenced a paper under the title 
of the Republican Journal. This venture does not 
seem to have proved altogether a profitable one to 
either party, for in December of the same year Mr. 
Douglas disposed of his paper to l:lr. Ely, who then 

a theological department was added to the paper, un-
der charge of Rev. L. F. W. Andrews, a Universalist 
clergyman, and the name changed to Herald of Pree­
dom and Go8J>el Witne8B. In 1833 the paper was moved 
to Danbury proper, and the religious department of 
the paper and the latter portion of the name dropped. 
Its publication was continued here till November, 
1834, when the paper was removed to Norwalk and 
published by other parties under a new name. The 
office of publication in Danbury was on the east side 
of Main Street, opposite the park. 
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The Connecticut RepoBitory was established in 1832 United States. As' a local journal, also, it is unsur-
by Alanson Taylor. It lived but a short time. passed. 
. The Danbury Gazette was started in 1833 by Wilmot The I>anburian appeared in 1874, but its stay was 
& Lobdall. This paper lived only three years. of short duration. 

In May, 1836, The Danbury Chronicle and Fairfield In October, 1878, The People, a Greenback cam-
County Demo<:rat was started by Edward Layden. In paign organ, was started by T. Donovan, but was dis-
1837 he disposed of his paper to Mr. E. B. Osborne, continued after the November election. 
who in July of the same year established The Danbury The Danbury Globe was started by W. Frank Page, 
Times, it.'! office being the same as that which had been May 4, 1874, and was conducted by him until his 
9ccupied by the Recorder. Mr. Osborne continued its death, in January, 1879. It is now edited by J. A. 
_editor and proprietor till 1845, when he disposed of Wilcox. It was Republican in politics until July 13, 
_the paper to his brother'?, Harvey and Levi, and re- 1880, when it became an independent paper. It is a 
moved to Poughkeepsie, N. Y., where he published good local journal, and justly merits its success . 
. The Daily Press and Weekly Telegraph. The DanbunJ Demo<:rat was started June 1, 1877, by 

The Hatters' Journal was started in 1855 by Gran- Levi K. Wildman, who still conducts it. Mr. Wild­
ville W. Morris, but it was continued only a few man set his first type in the office of The Herald ·of 
)llonths. Freedom, a paper published in Bethel-which at that 
-, The Junta, a small campaign sheet, was published time was a part of Danbury-by P. T. Barnum. The 
here for a short time in 1846 by Edward Taylor. I Demo<:rat is a local shett of merit, and an advocate of 

The JefferBonian was established in 1860 by a num- Democratic principles . 
. her of gentlemen as a Republican paper, with W. A. The Danbury Republican was established by W. B. 
_Croffut as editor. The office was in Hull's brick Bartram, March 22, 1879, as an independent Republi­
block, near the Wooster House. In about a year Mr. can journal. Much energy and good judgment must 
Newtown obtained an interest in the paper, and the have been used during the first year of its existence, 
previous owners sold out to Mr. B. F. Ashley, who for it at once advanced to a prominent place in pro­
took the editorial charge. He conducted the paper vincial journalism, gaining a wide circulation and a 
alone till December, 1865, when Mr. J. H. Swertfaeger large advertising patronage. Although a sheet of 
purchased an interest. In 1866, Mr. Ashley retired, large proportions when started, it was a fow months 
,and Mr. Swertfaeger continued the paper alone till later considerably enlarged, and on Aug. 3, 1880, was 
}larch, 1870, when he sold out to the publishers of changed to a semi-weekly. It is an earnest advocate 
The TimeB. The Jeffersonian was from the first a of the principles of the Republican party, and the 
seven-column, twenty-four by thirty-eight, paper. able editorial management of Mr. Bartram has placed 

In March, 1870, The Danbury Jeffersonian was pur- it in the front rank of the provincial press in the 
chased by James M. Bailey and Timothy Donovan, State. 

0

the proprietors of The Danbury Times. The two pa­
pers were consolidated and became The-Danbury NewB, 
with Mr. Bailey as editor. The paragraphs which 
gave the paper its reputation originated in The Timea 
. a year or two before the consolidation. Mr. Bailey 

GAS-LIGHT CO;\fPANY. 

-The Danbury Gas-Light Company was organized 
in 1-857 with Henry Benedict president, and gas was 
first used in Danbury in November of the same year . 

eontinued this style of writing in The News, but not SECRET SOCIETIES. 

to the extent he subsequently followed it. The New8 Wooster Council, No. 28, Royal and Select Masters, 
started with a circulation of nearly fifteen hundred was chartered by the Grand Council of Connecticut, 
.copies, which on the 1st of January, 1873, had reached June 6, 1865, with the following charter members: 
nineteen hundred,-all this being strictly of a local Edmund Tweedy, Joseph Treadwell, Wm. F. Bar­
class. In the qeginning of that year the paper was num, L. K. Mansfield, John M. Hart, Charles W. 
sought by outside parties, and in February found its Skiff, Abijah Abbott, Amos N. Stebbins,• Charles 
way to city news-stands. In August, 1873, the circu- Benedict, D. B. Booth. The present officers are as 
lation reached its highest figure,-thirty thousand. follows: James H. Welch, T. I. M.; C.H. Gunn, R. 
1n October, 1873, the office was moved to a building I. D. M.; F. R. Nash, I. P. C. of W.; E. D. Taylor, 
erected for its uses, and a special edition for outside C. of G.; E. D. Ritton, Comp. Treas.; W. G. Ran­
circulation was then begun,. and continued until the dall, Comp. Rec.; P. W. Ambler, Comp. Cond.; 
close of the year 1879. In February, 1878, Mr. Bailey Milo Dickens, Comp. Sen. 
·bought the interest of his partner, and became the Orusade Commandery, No. 10, Knights Templar, was 
_proprietor of the business. The New8 is in a highly- chartered by the Grand Commandery of Connecticut 
,Prosperous condition, and has attained a national and in March, 1871. The present officers are as follows: 
_almost world-wide reputation. As a paragrapher Mr. James B. Wildman, E. C.; Charles H. Gunn, Gen.; 
.BaileY. stands without a superior, and The Danbury P. W. Ambler, Capt.-Gen.; F. R. Nash, Prelate; F. 
,News r~nks with The Detroit Free PresB, The Burling- I S. Blackburn, Rec.; E. S. Davis, Treas.; 0. H. Swift, 
ton Hawkeye, and !)ther journals of its clllll~ i:i;i the Senior W~den.; J. D. Stevens, Junior Warden; E. 
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D. Ritton, Standard-Bearer; A. F. Clark, Sword- named, was killed July 1, 1863, at the battle of Get­
Bearer; E. D. Taylor, Warder; E. Eaton, 3d Guard; tysburg. 
D. H. Miller, 2d Guard; James Coles, 1st Guard; Wa1Jhington Divuion, No. 1, S. of T.-April 10, 18~, 
Milo Dickens, Sentinel. the Grand Division of the State of New York granted 

Eureka Chapter, No. 23, R. A. M., was dedicated June a charter for the first division of this order in the State 
14, 1857, with the following charter members: Miles . of Connecticut, and April 25th the officers of the 
illoyt, Starr Perry, John Foot, John Gregory, Joel Grand Division of the State of New York instituted, 
Taylor, George Seeley, D. P. Shepard, Matthew K. atDanbury, "\VashingtonDivision,No.l,SonsofTemc 
Gilbert, Alva Taylor, Frederick S. Wildman, Ebene- perance, with the following charter members: Wm. 
zer Nichols, Ira R. Wildman, Eleazer Taylor, Daniel Adams, Elbert Birdsall, Juda P. Crosby, John T. 
Doble, Joseph Hitchcock, John Ferguson, Martin Earl, lra Hodges, John D. Raymond, John Scribner, 
Mead, Charles Dart, James Beebe, Comfort Whitlock, Amos Bishop, Robert Browning, Joel Clark, Joseph 
Thomas P. White, Zar Taylor, OliYer Shepard. P. Foote, Charles Meader, Hiram Sturdevant, Thur-

Ebenezer Nichols was the first High Priest; Oliver man Trowbridge. May 11, 1844, the Grand Division 
Shepard, first King; and Ira R. Wildman, first Scribe. of Connecticut was organized, and in 1845, by unani­
,The present officers are as follows; C. H. Gunn, 1 mous vote, Washington Division surrendered to ~ew 
_M. E. H.P.; F. R. Nash, K.; C. I. Allen, Scribe; York and was reorganized under the banner of Con­
E. C. Oakley, Capt. of ·Host; M. W. $cott, P. S.; necticut. Until Jan. 1, 1853, it continued in a most 
E. D. Ritton, Sec.; E. S. Davis, Treas.; J. D. Stevens, flourishing condition, when all traces of her records 
R. A. C.; C. A. Crawford, Master 3d Veil; A. M. ' are missing until Aug. 8, 1864. Some time during this 
Steele, Master 2d Veil; S: S. Bedient, Master 1st period she surrendered her charter, and on the 8th 
Veil; P. W. Ambler, &mtinel. day of August was reorganized with the following 

Union Lodge, No. 4, F. and A. M., was organized charter members: Juda P. Crosby, Peter M. Holms, 
during the troublous times of the Revolutionary Samuel G .. Raymond, Amos Purdy, Aaron Morehouse, 
.struggle, its charter being issued March 23, 1780, Charles Burr, Charles Hinman, Rev. w: T. Hill, H. W. 
upon application of twelve members, whose names are Hinnman, John Whittlesey, Elias B. Stevens, Joseph 
given in the same. They were Sallu Pell, William Robinson, "\Villiam S. Crosby, Henry Hinnman, Silas 
Joyce, James Clark, Lamberton Lockwood, John Tyrell, Alfred Short, M. D. Smith, Rev. J. H. Shep­
,Berrien, F. ·wainwright, Christopher A. Babcock, ard, Benj. C. Cables. From this time until the present 
William B. . Alger, Joseph ·wmsea, Christopher she has continued harmonious and prosperous. From 
Duycknick, Thaddeus Benedict, and James Semi- .organization to date she has admitted 1761 members. 
gall. The first Worthy Patriarch was Juda P. Crosby. The 
. The present officers are M. W. Scott, W. M.; A. present (July, 1880) Worthy Patriarch is John Clapp. 
B. Holley, S. W.; J. Y. Stetson, J. W.; J. H. Welch, Memorial Lodge, No. 191, L 0. of G. T., was insti­
Sec.; S. C. Holley, Treas. ; A. 0. Knapp, Senior Dea- tuted Friday evening, March 22, 1878, by Mary F. 
con; J. Noble, Junior Deacon; T. Scofield, Senior Peck, State Deputy, assisted by W.W. Perkins, J.P. 
,Steward; S. M. Versory, Junior Steward; Robert Blackman, C. B. Taylor, E. H. Bennett, and Ella Peck . 
. Tappan, Tiler. , There were twenty-four charter members initiated. 

James E. Moore Post, No. 18, 0. A. R.-The charter 
I 

The charter m~mbers were Ira Wildman, James 
of the post was signed Sept. 27, 1867, by Edward Har- Hyatt, JosephBrown,RobertDavis,Charles H.Moffet, 
land, the present Adjutant-General of Connecticut, as Frederick A. Brush, Andrew J. Frazer, Vincent King, 
.Department Commander. It was first known as Post Henry Polley, Mrs. William Knowls,Mrs. John Smith, 
~o. 4, District No. 4, Department of Connecticut. William Knowls, Edward Scofield, Frederick Bailey, 
.The name was afterwards changed to Steadman Post, Charles S. Bray, Frederick Hull, Samuel A. Clark, 
.No. 4, Department of Connecticut, and later to the William Wildman, Chari~ Cables, Mrs. Ira Wildman, 
present name. Seventeen members signed the appli- Mrs. James Hyatt, Mrs. Joseph Brown, Mrs. J. W. 
cation for a charter. Corsie, Mrs. -A. B. Hull, Miss Emma Squire, Miss 

The first officers were: Commander,· Capt. Samuel Julia Hoag, Miss Nancy Russell. The Worthy Chief 
G. Bailey; Senior Vice-Commander, Samuel M. Petit; Templars since its organization are Ira Wildman, 
.Junior Vice-Commander, Grandison D. Fo,ote; Adju- James Kelly, Joseph Brown, William Knowls, Fred­
tant, J. Bradley Ridge; Quartermaster, E. K. Carley. erick Brush, John Benton, and L. W. Godfrey. 
_Th,e present officers are: Commander, Gen. James Samaritan Lodge, No. 7, L 0. of 0. F.-This lodgj:l 
Ryder; Senior Vice-Commander, Col. Samuel Greg- was organized April 14, 1842. It surrendered itj! 
ory; Junior Vice-Commander, William Henry Hitch- charter in 1859, but was reorganized Sept. 1, 1873, 
cock; Adjutant, Charles J. Bennett; Quartermaster, with the following officers: D. B. Booth, N. G. ; S. q. 
William B. Sharp; Ohaplain, George Roff; Surgeon, Barley, V. G.; Charles Bennett, Sec.; John P. Abbot~, 
Albert A. Nash .. The membership numbers one hun- Treas. The present officers are C. T. Anson, N. G.; 
dred and fifteen. William C. Hart, V. G.; H. E. Comes, Sec.; John H. 

Capt. James E. Moore, after whom j;he J?CSt was _Cosier, Treas. .. , 
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AGRICULTURAL SOCIETY. 

The Danbury Agricultural Society was organized 
in the summer of 1869, and has since held annual · 
fairs for the exhibition of stock and farm-produce as 
well as articles of useful and ornamental industry. 
The society has been very prosperous. It is free from 
debt, and receives annually from admission-fees and 
disburses for premiums a greater sum than any other 
similar organization in the State. More than sixteen 
thousand admission-tickets have been taken at the 
gates during the continuance of a single fair. The 
grounds are pleasantly located and supplied with all 
the necessary buildings. There is also an excellent 
half-mile track. Much credit is due the enterprising 
progenitors and those through whose influence it has 
been sustained and prospered. 

BANKS. 

N~TIONAL PAHQUIOQUE BANK. 

This bank was organized as the Pahquioque Bank, 
May 1, 1854, with the following board of directors: 
Aaron Seeley, William Montgomery, Charles Hull, 
Hiram L. Sturdevant, L. H. Boughton, 1,V. F. Taylor, 
Oliver Stone, Frederick S. Wildman. Capital, 
$100,000. Aaron Seeley was the first president, and 
his son Augustus was the first cashier.. It was voted 
that subscribers should pay fifty per cent. on subscrib­
ing and ten per cent. every sixty days afterwards until 
paid. Oct. 25, 1854, the capital was increased to $200,-
000, and in 1857 to $250,000. Augustus Seeley resigned 
as cashier in January, 1857, when his brother, Wil­
liam P. Seeley, succeeded him, and is the present in­
cumbent. Aaron Seeley remained president of the 
bank until his death, in 1872. Barnabas Allen then 
became president, and continued in the office until 
January, 187~, when he was succeeded by the present 
incumbent, Barzillai B. Kellogg. It was reorganized 
as a national bank March 25, 1865, with the follow­
ing directors: Charles Hull, B. B. Kellogg, A. S. 
Pearce, James E. Hoyt, Aaron Seeley, W. F. Taylor, 
Barnabas Allen, W. F. Lacey, Nathaniel Selleck. 
The present board of directors are as follows: B. B. 
Kellogg, M. H. Griffing, Henry Crofut, S. C. Holley, 
B. A. Hough, C. F. Starr, Benjamin Selleck, Charles 
Hull, and Barnabas Allen. 

DANBURY NATIONAL BANK. 

The Fair.field County Branch Bank, located at Dan­
bury, was organized for business on the 24th day of 
August, 1824, by the election of Zalmon Wildman, 
Esq., as its first president, the several directors being 
elected by the mother-bank at Norwalk, Conn. The 
election of cashier was delayed until Sept. 20, 1824, 
when Curtis Clark, Esq., was chosen and began his 
duties immediately. The business of the bank was 
conducted in the house of Dr. Daniel Comstock, who 
then lived in the building now occupied by Mrs. Amos 
N. Stebbins. July 25, 1825, -action was taken by the 
directors in regard to building a banking-house, and 

Aug. 29, 1825, David Foot was appointed a committee 
to procure the necessary stone .for the vault, hearth, 
steps, and underpinning, and on Nov. 17, 1825, he was 
appointed the agent to superintend the building of 
the banking-house, which was done, and is now the 
residence of Mrs. Charles E. Andrews, corner of Bank 
and Main Streets. May 20, 1826, Zalmon Wildman 
resigned the office of president, and June 22, 1826, 
Samuel Tweedy, Esq., was elected president, and was 
re-elected each year as president till July 7, 1834, 
when David Foot was elected and served that year, 
and June 20, 1835, Samuel Tweedy was again elected 
president, and was re-elected to the office each year 
until the Branch was merged into the Danbury Bank, 
July 1, 1844, and was re-elected as president of the 
Danbury Bank each year until June, 1864, when the 
infirmities of age required his declination as a director 
of the bank. 

June 12, 1827, the following-named persons were 
elected directors of the bank (the record of the elec­
tion of directors previously being at Norwalk): Samuel 
Tweedy, Elijah Gregory, Elijah Sanford, Thomas T. 
Whittlesey, Samuel Wildman, Richard Randall, and 
Henry Beers. The following names appear as directors 
of the Branch Bank for a year or more: Abel B. 
Blackman, Reuben Booth, David N. B. Baldwin, 
Friend Starr, John F. King, Isaac H. Seeley, Abner 
Gilbert, Starr Ferry, Samuel Stebbins, Starr Nichols, 
James Brush, William Hawley, Chandler Smith, 
Russel B. Botsford, Russel Hoyt, Eli T. Hoyt, Edgar 
S. Tweedy. 

Curtis Clark remained as cashier until 1837. June 
20, 1835, Geo. W. Ives was appointed assistant cashier, 
and remained as such until 1837. Aaron Seeley, Esq., 
was then appointed cashier, and remained such until 
the Branch Bank was merged into the Danbury Bank, 
in 1844, and as cashier of that bank until June 1, 
1854, when he organized the Pahquioque Bank. He 
was president of that bank until his death, in 1872. 

On Dec. 12, 1842, it was unanimously resolved by 
the directors of the Branch Bank to appoint Starr 
Ferry, Esq., a committee and agent to do all the neces­
sary business of obtaining signers to a petition to 
dissolve the Branch Bank and attend to the ap­
pointing of commissioners, and do everything neces­
sary to effect and complete a separation of -the Branch 
from the bank at Norwalk. 

The above action was successful in the obtaining of 
a charter for the Danbury Bank at the session of the 
State Legislature in 1844, and the appointing of Nel­
son Brewster bank commissioner, and E. B. Bennett 
and Harvey Smith committee to divide the stock and 
assets of the two banks. · 

The first board· of directors of the Danbury Bank 
was as follows: Samuel Tweedy, President; Russel 
Hoyt, Isaac H. Seeley, Eli T. Hoyt, Starr Ferry, 
Samuel Stebbins, Edgar S. Tweedy. Hours of busi­
ness, 9 to 12 A.M. and 1 to 4 P.M. Discount days, 
Monday and Thursday. 
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The following names appear as directors, for one or the avemge diYidend has been llr°irr per cent. per 
more years, of the Danbury Bank until its reorgani- 1 annum. 
zation as a national bank, April 1, 1865: Samuel The first board of directors of the Danbury Na­
Tweedy, Isaac H. Seeley, Starr Ferry, Edgar S. tional Bank was: Lucius P. Hoyt, President; Oliver 
Tweedy, Lucius P. Hoyt, Judge Brownson, Daniel Stone, Lyman Keeler, Roger Averill, George Starr, 
N. B. Baldwin, Charles F. Starr, Lyman Keeler, George Hall, Samuel C. Wildman, Frederick S. Wild­
Pierce A. Sutton, Russel Hoyt, Eli T. Hoyt, Samuel man, David P. Nichols; Jabez Amsbury, Cashier; 
Stebbins, Reuben Booth, Abner Gilbert, Niram Wild- Robert Hoyt, Teller. Its present officers are Lucius 
man, Smith Tweedy, ,vmiam Wildman, Charles P. Hoyt, President; Directors, Lucius P. Hoyt, Roger 
Hull, Henry Benedict, Frederick S. ,vildman, Amzi Averill, George Hull, Wm. R. White, George Starr, 
Rogers, Samuel C. Wildman, Levi S. Benedict, George Samuel A. Rundle, David P. Nichols, Henry T. Hoyt, 
Starr, George Hull, Oliver Stone, Elias S. Sanford, of Danbury, and HenryS.Peck, of Brookfield, Charles 
W.R. White, Roger Averill, David P. Nichols. H. Merritt having also been a director for two years 

Lucius P. Hoyt was elected vice-president of the since its being a national bank; Jabez Amsbury, 
bank Dec. 27, 1862, and continued as such until his Cashier; George H. Williams, Teller. 
election as president, June 18, 1864, and continued as The present banking-house was erected during the 
such until the reorganization as a national bank, fall of the year 1855, and the business of the bank 
April, 1865, and has annually been re-elected as commenced to be done in th-9 new bank Jan.10, 1856. 
president to this date, July, 1880, the bank having The building committee was Edgar S. Tweedy, Ly­
had but four presidents since 1824, viz.: Zalmon man Keeler, and George Hull, and the structure was 
Wildman, two years; Samuel Tweedy, thirty-seven built from plans made by Mr. Austin, of New Haven, 
years; David Foot, one year; Lucius P. Hoyt, six- who had a short time before planned the building 
teen years. known as the Wooster House. 

The bank has had but four cashiers in its history 
since 1824, viz. : Curtis Clark, thirteen years; Aaron SA YIXGS DANKS. 

Seeley, seventeen years; Ephraim Gregory, one year; The Savings Bank of DanbunJ wa.~ incorporated 
Jabez Amsbury, twenty-five yeari!. George W. Ives June 25, 1849, and the following were the first officers 
was assistant cashier, appointed June 20, 1835, and and directors: Frederick S. Wildman, President; Eli 
resigned 1837, and Augustus Seeley, Dec. 1, 1852, T. Hoyt, John Irwin, Vice-Presidents; George ,v. 
and continued as such until his appointment as Ives, David P-. Nichols, Lucius P. Hoyt, Aaron Seeley, 
cashier of the Pahquioque Bank, June 1, 1854. Mathew Seeley, Jr., Edgar J. Tweedy, Directors; 

The original capital of the bank was $75,000, of Henry Benedict, George W. Ives, Secretary and 
which amount but seventy per cent. was called in Treasurer. William J abine was elected secretary 
until June 20, 1836, when ten per cent. wns called and trensurer March 30, 1861, and Henry C. Ryder, 
for, payable Aug. 1, 1836, ten per cent. Oct. 1, 1836, the present incumbent, Aug. 1, 1873. The first deposit 
and ten per cent. March 1, 1850. was made by Reuben Booth Pearce, July 14, 1849, 

In 1851 it was voted to prosecute a petition for an of $25. Present amount of deposits, $1,796,646.08. 
addition to the capital stock of the bank at the next The present officers and directors are as follows: 
session of the Legislature of the State, which does not Frederick S. Wildman, President (Mr. Wildman has 
seem to have been granted; but in June, 1854, we find been president of the bank since its organization) ; 
they successfully prosecuted the petition, and the capi- E. S. Tweedy, William R. White, Vice-Presidents; 
tal stock was made up to $200,000,-the Wooster Bank Roger Averill, John W. Bacon, George Raymond, 
having been merged into the Danbury Bank at that George Starr, William Jabine, Lyman D. Brewster, 
time,-and in June, 1857, it was again increased $100,- Henry C. Ryder, Directors; Henry C. Ryder, Secre-
000, so that its chartered capital paid in at that time tary and Treasurer; George B. Benjamin, Jr., Teller. 
( 1857) was $300,000, which, with the funds belonging to The Union Savings Bank of Danbury was incorpo­
ecclesiastical societies, which all became stock in the rated in June, 1866. The following is the list of the 
Danbury National Barlk in 1865, was $327,000, at original incorporators: John Shethar, Secretary; 
which figure (July, 1880) it remains. The surplus Charles Hull, Martin H. Griffing, Samuel C. Holley, 
of the bank is $73,000, thus making its capital and Almon Judd, Lucius H. Boughton. Elijah Sturtevant, 
surplus $400,000, July, 1880. William H. Clark, Amos N. Stebbins, James Bald-

The average dividend paid by the branch bank is win, William S. Peck, James S. Taylor, George C. 
not known, as all dividends were declared at Norwalk White, Norman Hodge, Orrin Benedict, Alfred A. 
by the mother-bank. The average dividend declared Heath, Francis H. Austin, William F. Taylor, Levi 
by the Danbury Bank from 1844, when it was char- Osborn. James S. Taylor was elected president, and 
tered, to April, 1865, when it became a national bank, Charles Hull vice-president, but declined, and Mar­
was 8-Nrr per cent. per annum and one extra dividend I tin H. Griffing was elected instead. First trustees: 
of 11¾ per cent., or, in all, 8i°-Jtr per year. Fro~ 1865, William S. Peck, F. H. Austin, A. N. Stebbfus, W. F. 
when it became a national bank, until July, 1880, Taylor, John Shethar, Samuel C. Holley, Lucius H. 
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Boughton; W. F. Olmstead, Treasurer and Secre­
tary. 

W. F. Olmstead continued as secretary and treas­
urer until 1873, when L. P. Treadwell was elected, 
and has been re-elected up to the present time. Sam­
uel Stebbins was also re-elected president, and con­
tinued to 1873, when S. C. Holley was elected, and is 
the present incumbent. 

The first deposit was made by Mrs. Margaret Pepper, 
of Sherman, on July 23, 1866, of $140. The deposits 
during the first year amounted to $32,200, and now 
aggregate about $435,000. 

The present corporators are M. H. Griffing, F. H. 
Austin, Henry Crofut, Samuel C. Holley, A. A. Heath, 
Norman Hodge, William F. Taylor, William H. Clark, 
Almon Judd, James Baldwin, William G. Street, E. 
P. Bennett, M.D., William C. Bennett, l\LD., Wil­
liam J. Rider, George E. Ryder, F. A. Hull, C. H. 
Merritt, Luman L. Hubbell, A. T. Clason, M.D., 
James B. Wildman, D. G. Penfield, Ed. M. Baldwin, 
L. P. Treadwell. 

Present officers: S. C. Holley, President; Henry 
Crofut, Vice-President; L. P. Treadwell, Secretary 
and Treasurer; Almon Judd, George E. Ryder, Wil­
liam J. Rider, Luman L. Hubbell, F. H. Austin, 
Norman Hodge, David G. Penfield, Trustees. 

FIRE DEPARTMENT. 

The first reference to a fire department in Danbury 
we find in the Republican Journal, under date Nov. 
11, 1793, being an advertisement, as follows: 

~ Fm£ E~G1'1E • ...e,, 
l\. SUBSCRIPTION hRS ucon set forward in this town for the purpose 

of procuring a FIRE ESGINE, nnd which hllB met with tho wnrmestap­
probation of every gcntlcnum to whom it bus ueeu presented. The En• 
giuo proposed to be purcl1RSed wlll discharge 80 gallons per minute nnd 
throw it 100 feet in height. 

As soon ns throe hundred dollars nre subscriued for {about sixty of 
which are now wnnting) a meeting of the subscriuore will be held, and a 
committee appointed to purchnso said engine, and for snch other pur­
poses as may be deemed necessary. 

To suggest to the enlightened inhabitants of this town the usefulness of 
a Fire Engine, and to cx1mtiuto nn tho invention of a machine which 
under Pro,·idencc hllB sa~cd the lives and property of millions, would be 
justly deemed an insult to their understanding. 

The subsc1iption is still to be econ at the store of Messrs. Cunningham 
& Mygatt, where th<lSO who are desirous of subscr!Ling arc requested to 
cnll. 

Danbury, Nov.11, 1703. 

At a borough-meeting at the court-house, Monday, 
Jqly 14, 1823, a by-law was passed to appoint one or 
·more fire inspectors, t:i hold the office until the an­
nual borough-meeting, and their duties were defined. 

At the annual meeting, May 10, 1824, it was 
" Voted, That Samuel Tweedy, Johnson Wildman, and Nirun1 Wildman 

l,e a committee to inquire into the probable expense of an engine or en• 
1,-ines, and to deYise the best method to procure one or more for the benefit 
of this borough, and report at a future meeting of the borough all the 
facts with their opinion thereon." 

At the annual borough-meeting, May 8, 1826, Na­
.th_aniel Bishop, Moss White, and Jesse Crofut were 
appointed fire inspectors. 

At a borough-meeting Oct. 6, 1828, it was 
"Voted, That Russel Hoyt nnd Snmuel Tweedy be a committee to cor­

respond with the proprietor of the engines built at Cannan, for the pur­
pose of llBCerlaining on what terms one or more can be purch11Bed, and 
report at a future meeting. 11 

The meeting was adjourned to December 1st, when 
it was 

"Voted, Thnt the warden and hurgcssce be .directed to send to Cannan 
for one or more engiues to be tried." 

At a borough-meeting, Jan. 20, 1829, it was 
" Voletl, That a tn.'t of two and a half cents on the dollar be lnid on the 

polls and taxable properly within the borough, on an assessment-list 
lntely made out by direction of the borough, payal.,lo by the 10th day of 
Fei,ruary noxt, to purchase two fire-engines. 

" Voted, That Elins S. Sanford be nnd Is hereby appointed collector of 
the above tax at two per cent. premium, to be paid into the treaeury by 
the 20th of lllnrch next. 

" Voted, That the warden and burgesses be directed to make such regu­
lations ns to tho locality of tho engines, nnd also ae to forming companies 
to take care of and manage the engines, and also to lay out the surplus 
of the ta.'<, if any after payiug for the engine•. 

At the session of the General Assembly h,eld at 
Hartford in 1829, upon the petition of Daniel B. Cook, 
and warden, and burgesses, the borough was author­
ized a second fire company, not to exceed sixteen men, 
and at a meeting of the warden and burgesses, July 
13, 1829, 

"Voted, That two fire companies be formed and organized within said 
borough, to i,e donominnted Fire Compnny No. 1 nnd Fire Company 
No.2. 

"Also ••led, That Compnny No. 2 shall consist of twonty-fi,·e mon, In­
cluding offlcors, and No. l of sixteen men, including omcers." 

At a meeting of the warden and burgesses held July 
13, 1829, the following persons were appointed officers 
of Fire Company No. 2; Moss White, Foreman; 
William Patch, Assistant Foreman; Eli T. Hoyt, Sec­
retary. The following persons were appointed fire­
men and attached to said Company No. 2, and to be 
deemed members of said company: John Foot, Daniel 
Anderson, Samuel Barber, Rory Starr, Thomas M. 
Gregory, Alfred Benedict, John F. Baird, Stan 
Nichols, Edward Tweedy, Enoch Moore, Sands Per­
kins, Edward Holmes, Underhill Nelson, Stephen T. 
Gregory, David P. Abbott, Samuel J. Downing, Henry 
C. Lobdell. 

The following persons were officers of Company 
No. 1: Elias S. Sanford, Foreman; John Fry, Assist­
ant Foreman; Ephraim Gregory, Secretary. The 
following persons were appointed Firemen, attached 
to said Company No. 1, and to be deemed members 
thereof: Samuel Stebbens, Moses Yale, Lucius H. 
Boughton, Thomas F. Whittlesey, Timothy B. 
Hickock, Alfred Gregory, Samuel C. Wildman, Darius 
Starr, Nathaniel Wood, Gilead G. Taylor, Hubbell 
Wildman, Frederick S. Wildman, Benjamin Smith. 

Aug. 22, 1829, the following persons were added to 
No. 2: Samuel G. Boughton, Henry Benedict, Darius 
Dikeman, Zar Stone, Russell Dobbs; and August 27th 
Charles A. Jump added to No. l; Sept. 3, 1829, Emery 
Shad bolt to No. 2. 

The present organization is as follows: Matthew 
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W. Scott, Chief Engineer; George T. Oakley, First 
Assistant; Jesse W. Day, Second Assistant. 

Waahington Hook-and-Ladder Co.-Nathan Bene­
dict, Foreman; Frank E. Moore, Assistant; William 
H. Stott, Secretary; G. Frank Bailey, Treasurer. 

Kohanza Hose Co., No. 2.-John Scott, Jr., Fore­
man; Thomas A. Hull, Assistant; Edward Lobdell, 
Secretary; Lester Comes, Treasurer. 

Humane Hose Co.-Thomas Deakin, Foreman; Au­
gustus Par;;ons, Assistant; Augustus Hurgin, Secre­
tary; William Small, Treasurer. 

DANBURY WATER-WORKS. 

The subject of introducing water into the borough 
for domestic and other uses early engaged the atten­
tion of the citizens, and in 1834 the Danbary Water­
·w orks Company was inaugurated. In 1851 a com­
mittee was appointed by the borough "to inquire into 
the expediency of supplying the borough with wat.er 
for fire and other purposes, and report to a future 
meeting." This committee made an examination of 1 
"Mountain Pond," and reported the "source of sup­
ply unreliable, and the project of bringing water 
therefrom entirely impracticable." 

The first movement which accomplished any prac­
tical results was begun in the spring of 1860, when a 
communication from J. W. Bacon was published in 
the Jeffersonian, calling attention to Kohanza Brook 
as a water-supply, and stating results of experiments 
made by him as to quantity of water, together with 
details of plan of proposed reservoir and system of 
pipes for introducing-water from this source. Mainly 
through the exertions of Mr. Bacon, a charter was 
obtained from the Legislature early in the season of 
1860, which was accepted by the borough on the 17th 
of May. Contracts for the entire works were signed on 
the 22d of May, and in the following December water 
was let into all the pipes, and the utility of the works 
for fire or other purposes fully shown to the satisfac­
tion of all. Over nine miles of pipe were laid during 
the first year, and a supply-reservoir of about six 
acres constructed, the whole at a cost of about thirty­
seven thousand five hundred dollars. 

In 1866, the storage capacity of the small reservoir 
being found insufficient, a larger reservoir, flooding 
over thirty acres, was built farther up the stream at 
an expense of about seven thousand dollars. Both 
of these reser-rnirs were swept away on the evening of 
Jan. 31, 1869, causing a great destruction of property 
and loss of life. The reservoirs were rebuilt the same 
year. 

The water-supply of Danbury is one of the best in 
the country, and to Mr. John W. Bacon is the credit 
due for its successful introduction. 

THE KOllANZA DISASTER. 

The following account of this tenible disaster is 
taken from the Danbury Times: 

"At a quarter to eeven o'clock, on Sunday nening, Jan. 31, 1869, the 
dam to the upper reeen·olr of the Kobanza Water gave way, and the net 

body of "'ater was hurled down upon the lower pond, sweeping away the 
dani and bringing their united strength down Into the ,·alley Jx,low, 
carrying with it huge masses of Ice nnd scattering destruction along its 
course. At Flint's tlam th,1 tide obtnined fresh impulse. The dnm was 
swept away in an instant; the large body of water there contributed its 
power to the destruction. The water, ice, nnd hrokcu timber S\\~pt down 
the lino of Mill River through the village, and created tho most appall­
ing disaster e,·er happening in this vicinity. Ten Jives were lost and llfty 
thousand dollars' worth of property was destroyed. The Mnin, North, 
and White Street bridges were destroyed, and the bridges on Patch Street 
and Balmforth Avenue were l,adly damaged, the latter by tho water und 
ice setting up tho creek which it spans. The bridge crossing tho Still 
River, opposite Lacey, l{oyt & Co.'s factory, was 1,adly racked and dis­
placed. Fh·e buildiugs were swept from their foundations or demolished. 
Of these, two were dw,,Jlings, standing on the north side of Main Street, 
near the stream. Tho one nearest the strf:'am was owned by Oliver Stone, 
and was occupied by James Bothwell, wife, and two children, and by 
Edward Clark, wife, and three children. The other building was owned 
nnd occupied by Jllrs. Betsey Husted, who rented the upper story to John 
Chambers and family, who were abs-Ont at the time of the disaster. Mrs. 
Husted nnd the occupants of Mr. Stone's house were drowned. With the 
Both wells boarded two sisters (who were also sisters of Mrs. Clark), 
Fannie and Betsey Humphrey, who were away from heme at the hour of 
the disaster. One of them, Miss Fanny, in attempting to cross White 
Street bridge, nearly n mile below her home, was overtnken by the llood, 
and aha.reel the fate of the rest. The Jost were Mrs. Husted, llirs. Both­
well, Icla Bothwell, aged eight years, Ed,rard Clark, Mary Clark, aged 
eight years, George Clark, aged two years, - Clark, aged five years, 
and Fannie Humphrey, a.gad twenty-eight yeani, Mrs. Clark ond Nettie 
Bothwell, aged ten years. Starr's sluughter-houee, Chase's factory, and 
Sunderland's carpenter-shop were demolished. Two tenements belong­
ing to Hendrick Barn11m1 situated on North Street and occupied Uy tho 
families of Perry Disbrow and Daniel Hoyt, were coneiclembly domuged 
by the Ice. The water-work dams are ruined. The upper dam lost 
one hundred feet of earth, n.nd the lo.wer dam was entirely co.rried a.way. 
In tho \"alloy west of Clap\Joard Ridge, and northwest of the town, nro 
the receiving one.I supplying resen•oirs of tho Kolmuza ,vntcr. Tho 
natural stream at this point is about four feet wide and hos an nv,rage 
depth of about four inches. The lowor dllDl is a\Jout three miles from 
tbe centro or the villaire, and the upper is about a niile nod a quarter 
beyond. The lower dum was 1.Juilt upou the inauguration of the works 
in 1S60, and the upper in 18G6. The lower pond contained about 7½ 
acres of water, and the upper about 2G acres. The greatest depth of 
water In both places was about 23 feet, or tho average depth about 8 feet. 
The length of ftrstdam was40 feet; height, 26 feet.; cost, SliOO. Length 
of second dam, 600 feet; height, 22 feet; cost, $4500. Each dam was 
built of earth sloped l½ to I on outsicle and 2 to 1 on Inside, and the 
whole of inside lined with stones. The thioknoss of the dams at the 
lowest point was 00 to 100 feet; at the water-line, 20 to 22 feet." 

EL:\IWOOD PARK. 

The beginning of the pleasant trysting-place known 
as Elmwood Park was made in 1801. At that time the 
road passed on the east side of the park and formed a 
bow, and in the year 1801 a petition was presented to 
straighten the street at this point. Maj. Ezra Starr, 
of Revolutionary memory, who lived on the premises 
where now is located the residence of Hon. D. P. 
Nichols, and who owned the land from here down to 
Wooster Street, generously donated the land along his 
premises, on the condition, however, that it should 
ever after remain a "common." The "park" hence­
forth became a spot of considerable importance, as 
here were held the trainings of "ye olden time." 
There were two military organizations in Danbury at 
that time,-an artillery company and a company of 
cavalry, the former of which rendezvoused at the tavern 
kept by Ebenezer White, which stood on the site of the 
present Turner House, and the latter on the corner of 
Elm and Main Streets. · 
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The little park remained with no particular atten- ground is a ridge running the length of the place iii. 
tion being paid to it in matters of improvement or or- part circle from east to north, inclosing a basin within 
namentation until 1851 or 1852, when a movement was the circle and a terrace outside. There are several 
started for making it a central park by running a I small ridges surrounding the main ridge. The basin 
road on the west side. This project was stoutly op- is flooded by a neighboring stream and divided into 
posed by the residents in the upper portion of the miniature islands covered with trees. From point.son 
town, but finally succeeded. Two thousand dollars the main ridge the lake of islands is in plain sight, 
was subscribed for the purpose, and in 1853 the work and presents a very picturesque view to the observer. 
begun. Among the leading citizens who manifested There is also a drive around the water. 
a lively interest in the matter are me1;1.tioned the names In laying out the roads and grounds for burial 
of Augustus Seeley, W. P. Seeley, and Aaron Turner. purposes, the taste displayed by the architects is ad­
The trees were given by Mr. James Harvey, and were mirable. Advantage has been taken of all the points 
dug by Noah Atkins and Fred. Bevans. presented by nature, and art has smoothed the rough 

After a few years interest in the park waned, and, places and developed them into beauty. The great 
as predicted by those who opposed it in the beginning, bulk of those owning lots have been equally jealous 
it passed back to the borough. It, however, proved of their appearance, and in many instances these 
to be comparatively inexpensive, as the fence fairly spots have been made very beautiful. The great 
rotted away, and it became" a mere irregular entangle- wealth of foliage in the cemetery strikes the visitor 
ment, uncared for, unsightly to the eye, not useful for as being remarkable. The most hardy variety of trees 
any purpose." Finally, however, aner about a score and shrubs have been selected, and, while the shade 
of years of inattention and neglect, a movement was is abundant, it does not entirely hide many of the 
started for the improvement of the little spot, princi- other attractiYe features of the place in a distant 
pally by A. P. Sturges. The good work inaugurated view. The grounds are within the vill:ige, and are 
by Mr. Sturges went on, and on July 19, 1879, the consequently visited quite frequently, especially on a 
place, beautified and improved, was reopened as Elm- pleasant Sabbath, when there is a large number of 
wood Park. It is finely shaded, has a band-stand and visitors. 
an immense fountain, and, taken all in all, is one of The Danbury Cemetery Association was organized 
the finest parks to be found in any village in the in November, 1850, under a law of the State relating 
county. What Bushnell Park is to Hartford, Seaside to cemeteries, with sixty shareholders at twenty-five 
to Bridgeport, is 'Elmwood to the present village of dollars a share. The first purchase of land was made in 
Danbury. December of that year, of William K. Clark, the piece 

The following anecdote is related by the DanburiJ containing sixteen acres, for which three hundred 
New8: · dollars was paid; and another· piece, five and one-

" When tho Into Unclo Som Jenning• wRS wnrden he got" cropofhny fourth acres, for eighty dollars, of Col. E. Moss '\,Vhite. 
from tho ground. Ho had pre.-ionsly iesued "proclamation forbiddiug Additions were made from time to time, and there 
tho oLstmctionofthe l,ighwny•oftho vill~e. Ono nfternoon he loaded are now about fifty acres in that part of the cemetery 
his cn1 t with the huy, but, it being late, he left tho Jund in tho street for 
tho night. A number of 11nknow11 pnrtioB, in the re .. r of the law nnd which is improved. 
with a most commemlaulo regard for its integlity. drew the cart to the In the spring and summer of 1851 the grounds were 
po11nd in the 11igl1t, pitched the hay o,·er iuto the incloeure, then took laid out, roads made, and trees secured. Most of the 
the cart to picc~ nnd passec.l tbnt on•r, anc.1 then fluiBhcd up Uy reloading 
tho hay and Jea\'ingthe whole within tho pound. evergreens were obtained from William Mann's nurs-

"The feelings of Warden Jennings when he discovered the location ery in Bangor, Me., some of a suitable size to trans­
of hi• hoy tho next morning cnn easily lie iningined. But he issued no plant, others, from six to twelve inches in height, set 
mauifesto nor otfered any rewnnl for the npprcl1e111sion of the actors. 
He remcmbcrod whore ho hud left his curt the night Lefore, and silently out in a nursery and transferred to the grounds when of 
went to work to 11itch the hay outside, to take tho cart ap .. rt uud get a suitable size. Beneath the surface the soil is good 
that over, and then to put the machinery together again and reload the and free from stones. Many of the knolls were quite 

h~:·That was in the , good old times:., barren and forbidding in exterior, but by the free use 
of muck, ashes, and manure a thrifty crop of grass 

WOOSTER CE:"IIETERY-'1' appeared thereon. It was predicted by some that 
The visitor to Danbury is impressed with two things trees would not grow on this land, so naturally poor 

in its favor,-first, its good care of the living; second, did it appear. 
its good care of the dead. The first is demonstrated in Where the lake now is was a muck-swamp filled 
its facilities fo'r educating the young and in providing wit.h bogs and bushes. These were collected and 
for the helpless; the second is shown in the beautiful burned, and the muck removed to cover the barren 
appearance of its cemetery. soil. The water which forms the lake sets back from 

Perhaps there is no place 1n Connecticut that can the North Meadow stream, and, during a freshet, fills 
show a burial-place having so many advantages, both the lake. A dam at the outlet keeps the water at a 
natural and artificial. The general contour of the •, proper height. There is a fine spring, which never 

fails, on the east border of the lake. 
• Conti-!Lutod by Edgnr s. Tweedy. The improved grounds are nearly inclosed by a 
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substantial stone wall, which is banked on the inside. five years after his decease, for the establishment of a 
Most of the material in the wall was brought from public library in his native borough of Danbury. 
"Tamarack ,voods." . The Legislature of Connecticut, at its session in 1869, 

On April 27, 1854, the ,vooster Monument, whose passed an act incorporating the Danbury Library, 
top is conspicuous from a distance, was finished, and which act was approved by the Governor, June 5, 
dedicated with appropriate ceremonies to perpetuate 1869. 
the memory of Gen. Wooster, of Revolutionary fame. On the 1st of June, 1870, Alexander M. White, of 
The occasion was one of uncommon interest in this Brooklyn, brother of William Augustus White, and 
part of the State. There were fully ten thousand I sole executor of his will, placed at the disposal of the 
people present as witnesses of the ceremonies. The I trustees of the 1ibrary the house on Main Street, in 
Masonic lodges of the State and neighboring States which he was born and in which his parents died, to 
were represented. His Excellency, the Governor, be used for library purposes until a suitable building 
with notables from abroad and military organizations could be erected upon the premises. At the same 
from Bridgeport, New Haven, and Hartford, partici- time, Mr. White also notified the trustees of his will­
pated in the affair. The Masonic display was ~he ingness to give a plot of ground fifty feet on Main 
most imposing ever made in the State. Hon. Henry Street by one hundred and fifty in depth, on which to 
C. Deming, of Hartford, delivered the oration. erect a suitable building, and also the sum of five 

In 1862 the reception-vault was built, and four thousand dollars, besides an equal amount to be given 
years later the massive stone columns at the entrance by his brother, George Granville White, towards the 
to the cemetery were erected. erection of such a building, so soon as the citizens of 

In November, 1867, the association purchased of Danbury would join in erecting, free of debt, a suit­
the late William Augustus White about twenty-five able building upon this ground. At this time Mr. 
acres, at thirty-five dollars per acre, lying on the east White directed that repairs be made upon the house 
side of the road leading to North Meadow and oppo- so given, and that suitable furniture be purchased at 
site the improved grounds. No improvements have an expense not to exceed five hundred dollars, the 
been made on this plat, but the setting out of ever- cost of such repairs and purchases being paid by him. 
greens and other trees in places that will not be In 1871, Alexander M. White made a further dona-
accepted for burial purposes. tion of five hundred dollars for the purchase of books. 

The grounds were laid out and improvements made A donation of five hundred dollars by the late Charles 
by and under the direction of George W. Ives and H. Merrit.t and of fifty dollars by Miss H. E. Merritt 
Edgar S. Tweedy. Mr. Ives died in 1862. His for the purchase of books was made and accepted. 
remains rest in the northern point of the main ridge, The library continued to occupy the house formerly 
and are marked by a massive granite cross of simple the residence of E. Moss White till the fall of 1876. 
design, in the base of which is inscribed the following In May of that year Mr. Alexander M. White noti­
testimony from his fellow-citizens: fied the trustees of his desire to see a suitable build-

" This monument is erected to George w. Ives by his Mends ns a testi- ing erected upon the site for library uses, and of the 
monial of h!B sen•ices in laying out and beautifying this cemetery, and offer of his brother, George Granville ,vhite, to con­
In remembrance of his public and pri.-ate worth." tribute five thousand dollars for this purpose. To this 

Since his death Mr. Tweedy has had the supervision amount Alexander M. White generously offered to 
of the grounds. add fifteen thousand dollars, making twenty thousand 

POPULATION OF DANBURY. dollars in all. Mr. White subsequently offered to re-
mc .................. · ................................................. 1,.527 move the old dwelling-house to the rear of the library 
1774···························•········································· 2•5t 6 lot at his own expense and to fit it up for rental, also 17d2..................................................................... 2,747 
1700..................................................................... a,001 to donate additional ground on the south side and 
JSOu ..................................................................... 3,180 
1810................ ....................................... ............ 3,,;o,; rear of the library lot, and directed that plans be ob-
18·•0..................................................................... s,873 ed ,. b ·1d· . f h d 1830......................................................... ........... 4,an tain !Or a m mg costmg rom twenty t ousan 
1840

·····•·•••••• .. ··············································........ 4,5<!4 to twenty-five thousand dollars. 1850...... ....•. .......•••..••...•...... ............ ....•.•.• ...... .....• o,9r,4 
l8r.o .••••••••.••..••.•...•.•...•..•••••. •····· •·························· 7,t34 I Of all these several gifts and don::.tions the trustees 1870........... ......................................................... 8,753 
1880 .•••••••••.•••••.••.•••••••••..••..•••••••••.••.•.•..•...••.•••••••• 11,GW have thankfully availed themselves. Not only the 

THE DAN.DURY LIBRARY 

as it exists to-day, with its commodious and elegant 
building on Main Street, the dwelling-house adjoin­
ing, its books and other property, including its in­
vested funds, is substantially the gift of one family,­
that of the late E. Moss White, of Danbury. The 
late William Augustus White, of Brooklyn, son of 
E. Moss White, by his last will and testament be­
queathed the sum of ten thousand dollars, to be paid 

twenty-five thousand dollars placed at their disposal 
by the Messrs. Alexander White and George Gran­
ville White has been, in accordance with their wish, 
expended upon the building, but in October, 1878, 
Mr. Alexander M. ,vhite, to insure the utmost possi­
ble perfection in the completion of the new structure, 
made a further donation of fifteen hundred dollars. 
Upon receiving a vote of thanks from the trustees for 
this amount, he added three thousand five hundred 
dollars for finishing, furnishing, and purchase of 



238 HISTORY OF FAIRFIELD COUNTY, CO~NECTICUT. 

books. These contributions, Mr. White desires it 
understood are, like others coming through him, from 
the family of the late E. Moss White. 

The present building was erected from plans fur­
nished by Messrs. Lamb & Wheeler, of Newark, N. J. 
It was begun in 1877 and completed early in 1879. 
The first story is rented for offices, leaving the entire 
second story for library uses. It is heated by steam 
throughout, and has received the approval and ad­
miration of some of the best architecfs and authori­
ties upon architecture in the country. It is a monu­
ment to the generosity and philanthropy of a single 
family, and a public benefaction of which all the in­
habitants of Danbury have eYery reason to feel proud. 

CHAPTER XXIII. 

DANBURY (Continued;. 

llattiog io Danbury-Other l\lannfacturcs-Present llfonufuctures-The 
Execution of Anthony-Trial and Execution of Amos Adnms. 

HATTING IN DANilURY. 

THE following history of the hatting business in 
Danbury is condensed from W. H. Francis' History 
of Hatting, published in 1860, and continued from 
that time to the present by Mr. Bailey, in the Dan­
bury News: 

Burr & White or 0. Burr & Co., carried on what was 
then considered an extensive trade, employing thirty 
hands, variously engaged, and turning off hats at the 
rate of fifteen dozen per week, or seven hundred and 
fifty dozen per year. The hats of this period were 
without elegance, being heavy, rough, and unwieldy. 
They sold at from six to ten dollars each,-enough to 
buy two or three fine hats now. One man could make 
about nine hats per week. 

"The manufacturer bought the skins in a bundle. 
The fur then had to be taken from them by hand and 
assorted. Then it was bowed into 'bats,' with the 
old 'bow,' 'pins,' and 'catgut,' and these 'bats' were 
made into hat-bodies. After the hats were made 
(everything being done by hand), they were distrib­
uted to the ladies living in the vicinity in order to 
have the hair that remained sticking in the nap re­
moved by tweezers. 

"Among the men employed by Burr & White were 
Eli Benedict and William Babcock, who afterwards 
went to New Haven. 

"1791.-In the Farmers' Journal, published at Dan­
bury, in this year, we find the following advertise­
ment: 

cc 'TO BE SOLD BY 

O. DURR k COMPANY, 

ONE llUNDRED WEIGHT OF 

GOOD HAT WOOL, 

AND SEVERAL P.\JRS OF WHITE 

ENOLIEtH RABBITS, 

Whoso Increase is amazingly fnst and the skins for fur In gro1Ltdemand, 
and their flesh of the most delicate kind; and to conclude the whole of 
their excellcncicP, their keeping requires nothing but vegCto.Lles, such os 
weeds, grass, potatoes, turnips, etc., etc. They need no dtiuk. 

"'Also, given as usual twenty pence per run for coarse woolenJyarn. 
"' Danbury, May 18th, 1791.' 

"It is said to be a sober fact in history that the first 
building ever erected in this country as a hat-shop 
was built in Danbury, and the first hat ever made in 
these United States was made in this town. Be this 
as it may, certain it is that in the days of the Revo­
lution, when the town was but a hamlet, when pro­
vincial's blade was crossed with that of royalists and "1800.-In Robbins' century sermon, delivered at 
a little phalanx of stout hearts were contending for Danbury, Jan. 1, 1801, we find these remarks: 'In 
the inborn rights of man, when the seeds of future the manufacture of hats thi& town (Danbury) much 
glorious empire were being planted in the furrows exceeds any one in the United States. More than 
plowed by the cannon-ball, harrowed in deeply by the twenty thousand hats, mostly of fur, are made an­
iron war-horse, the tramp of wheeling and charging nually for exportation.' Thus, more than half a 
columns, moistened and enriched by the generous flow century ago, our fathers took the lead in the manu­
of the life-blood of patriots, we find that in 1780 facture of hats, and to-day their sons are not behind. 
Zadoc Benedict was making hats in a small red shop "1802'.-The first hat-store at the South in connec­
standing near the grounds now the site of the depot, tion with manufacturing at Danbury was established by 
in Main Street. With limited resources and capital, two active and well-known men (now deceased), Zal­
he kept up the fire under his solitary kettle and em- mQn and Seymour Wildman. They had one store at 
ployed to work up his 'stock' the services of one Charleston, S. C., firm of Z. & S. Wildman; another 
journeyman and two apprentices, turning off hats at the at Savannah, Ga., firm of Wildman & Hoags. Zal­
rate of three per day, or one and a half dozen per week, mon ,vi!dman manufactured in the shop of Zadoc 
two hats being an average for a good workman in a Benedict after the decease of the latter, in 1803. He 
day. also some years later carried on quite extensively the 

"This is according to the statement of some of our finishing of hats for the Southern market, near the 
oldest citizens about the first that was done at hatting grounds now the site of the Pahquioque Hotel, in Main 
in Danbury, and, although hats had undoubtedly been Street. 
made here long before this, still we shall take this as "1803.-During this and following years, Samuel 
the starting-point and regard it as the commencement I H. Phillips, George Benedict, David _Wood, William 
of what has since proved an important and extensive Babcock, Ezra Wildman, Ebenezer and John D, 
trade. Nichols, Boughton & Starr, and others, carried on 

"1787.-Col. Russell White and Oliver Burr, firm or' hatting in different parts of the township. The fash-
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ionable hat of this year was six inches deep and two "Among those who learned the trade with the White 
inch brim. Brothers was Starr Nichols, Esq., now deceased, who 

"1805.-Clark & Benedict carried on the hatting afterwards became a prominent townsman, contrib­
business in the red building situated in West Street, uting in a great measure to the advancement and 
and now occupied as a dwelling; Gersham Nichols building up of Danbury. Soon after his 'time was 
at the same time, in a building near the residence of out' he commenced business for himself. Doing very 
Oliver Stone, in Main Street. little at first, but steadily increasing, he pushed for-

" 1807.-Noah Rockwell commenced manufacturing ward with that zeal which ever afterwards formed so 
with his 'plank' shop in the cellar of the house now prominent a trait in his character, until, when the 
occupied by Mrs. Rosaboom, in Franklin Street. White Brothers retired from business, he took their 
Also, Hoyt Gregory had a shop in West Street. All place and carried it on with increased energy, em­
these manufacturers carried on the business on a ploying fifty 'makers.' He met with several re­
limited scale, employing, probably, from seven to verses of fortune, but at the time of his death (1856) 
eight hands each, and turning off hats at the rate of was engaged in a lucrative business in a hat-store in 
four or five dozen per week, or two hundred and fifty New York City, and to-day he is remembered as one 
dozen per year. Among the men in the employ of of the most prominent men in the trade. His benevo­
Hoyt Gregory were James Seal and Thomas Peck, lence and active perseverance ,are well worth imi­
who eventually engaged in an extensive business at tating. 
Boston. "1816.-Two of our citizens, R. & E.T. Hoyt, mer-

" 1808-9.-There were fifty-six hat-shops in opera- chants in the place, receiving, as the custom was, 
tion in the township of Danbury, averaging from three hats in exchange for their goods, taking a few hats, 
to five men each. Many farmers were interested in the went South and opened a store at Charleston, S. C. 
trade, setting up a kettle and hiring journeymen. It The hats were made by Tweedy & Benedict, and fin­
is but a few years since the trade was centralized and ished partly in the old finishing-shop yet standing on 
the bulk of capital concentred in a few large estab- the corner of Main and Franklin Streets. The Messrs. 

,. lishments. Hoyt began on a small scale, the sales at first amount-
" 1812.-We have our venerable citizen, now presi- ing to but $15,000 or $20,000 per year. But as the 

dent of the Danbury Bank ( who went into business trade increased in importance throughout the country 
as early as 1800), and James Benedict, firm of Tweedy they took advantage of it, and through their efforts was 
& Benedict, carrying on business in a shop situated built up a large establishment, increasing until at one 
on the ground where the house of l\'.lrs. Sprague now period the yearly sales reached $100,000. The business 
stands, corner of Main and Elm Streets. Hands continued in the hands of some of the Hoyt family 
employed, 30. During the war the trade between until the death of John R. Hoyt (son of Russell), 
hat-dealers and the Northwest Company was cut off. some twelve years since, and is yet in active operation 
John Jacob Astor sold at auction, in the city of New under F. T. Fanning. David H. Boughton was the • 
York, a large quantity of furs which had been seized. first partner taken into the firm, and the following 
James Benedict, hearing of the sale, attended and individuals were from time to time connected with 
bought five bales (one thousand pounds) of' old coat the same house: DavidM. Benedict, Edgar S. Tweedy, 
beaver' at one dollar per pound. The price imme- F. T. Fanning, Lucius P. Hoyt, and A. E. Tweedy. 
diately advanced to five dollars per pound. This hat-store was connected with manufacturing in 

""\Ve must remember that at this time hat-finishing Danbury up to 1854, and affords an example of pros­
was a very small part of the trade here; in fact, perity and continued success, with close attention to 

' hardly any hats were sent to market finished and business as the cause. 
trimmed, but were sent in the 'rough' to the city, "In the fall of the same year, 1816, Zalmon Wildman 
there to be made ready for sale. In this year a ma- (who, as before mentioned, was engaged in the South­
chine was invented for blowing fur, and first used in ern trade as early as 1802), with Ezra M. Starr,-the 
Messrs. Tweedy & Benedict's establishment. It con- latter still one of our most respected aad influential 
sisted of a wire drum, in which the fur was placed, citizens,-started another hat-store in Charleston. 
and the machine moved with a crank by hand. Small, This firm also commenced with about $20,000 as the 
simple, and imperfect, it was thoug;ht to be an im- yearly sales, but an enterprise like this, in the hands 
portant invention at that time; now it would be of such thorough and active busine.~s men, could but 
laughed at as a child's plaything. succeed; they were soon firmly established, and went 

"1814.-Judson and Russell White, firm of White 
I 

on extending their trade and 'enlarging their opera­
Brothers, conducted a large business here. Capital tions, until we have as the amount of sales per annum 
invested, $50,000. Hands employed, about 50, making $60,000. Hats worth here ninety dollars per dozen 
probably about two hundred dozen hats per month, were taken South and sold at one hundred and twenty 
or two thousand dozen per annum. This firm had a dollars per dozen. 
warehouse in the city, where the hats were sent to "1817.-Capt. John Foot, with one M:r. Hodge, man-
be sold. ufactured hats for the firm of Wildman & Starr, em-
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ploying six or. eight men, and getting up about six 
hundred dozen per annum. Elias Boughton, Abel 
Hoyt, and others, carried on hatting in Danbury about 
this time. The hats were then eight or nine ounces 
in weight. The price for making them-that is, the 
Russia hat-was ninety-two cents, or five shillings six 
pence, Yankee currency. 

"1824.-Among the manufacturers of this period 
were Isaac H. Seelye, White & Keeler, Hatch & 
Gregory, Joseph Taylor, Hugh Starr, and Taylor & 
Dibble. 

"1825.-Fry, Gregory & Co. conducted at this time 
an extensive trade, working up $80,000 worth of stock 
per annum; capital invested, $50,000; hands em­
ployed at making, 30 ; trimming, 10. This firm also 
had a store (now occupied by Mr. Osborne) in West 
Street, where the hands employed traded, receiving 
orders instead of cash for their work. 

"In 1833, Fry, Gregory & Co. sold out their make­
shop to William Montgomery, who had commenced 
hatting in 1832 with Edward S. Brockett. Mr. Mont­
gomery made the hats for Fry, Gregory & Co., who, 
having finished and trimmed them, sent them to their 
store in Charleston for sale. Mr. Montgomery carried 
on the fur-hat trade until 1853, when, building a 
large factory in connection with the buildings already 
on the ground, he entered into the manufacture of 
wool hats in company with Charles Benedict and Jar­
vis P. Hull. Mr. Hull soon withdrew from the firm, 
and it is now that of Benedict & Montgomery. 

"From an old bill dated New York, June 5, 1825, 
we find that Joel Taylor bought of E. & H. Raymond 
one hundred Spanish wool bodies at thirty-four cents 
apiece. 

"1835.-Mr. Alvin Hurd, having learned the art of 
making silk hats from two Englishmen in the city of 
New York, returned here and set up the business in 
the shop of Starr Nichols, manufacturing for the firm 
of Swift & Nichols, with five men employed, thus in­
troducing into Danbury the art of making silk hats. 
This branch of the trade increased so that in fact it 
became the most popular one of the day, and in the' 
years intervening between 1840 and 1~50 was carried 
on almost exclusively, Messrs. Tweedy & White, Wil­
liam Montgomery, N. H. Wildman, and others being 
engaged in it. After 1850 it gradually decreased, and 
now nothing is done here at this branch, the soft hat 
taking its place. 

"During 1835 and several following years Messrs. 
Fry & Gregory, together with Samuel Sproulls, kept 
in operation a large wholesale establishment in New 
York City. 

"1840.-Hoyt, Tweedy & Co. had a factory at the 
north end of Main Street, and were also connected 
with the hat-store established at Charleston by the 
Hoyts in 1816. Since 1840, under Edgar S. Tweedy, 
John R. Hoyt, F. T. Fanning, Lucius Hoyt, A. E. 
Tweedy, William R. White, and others, the firm has 
been known succes.sively as that of Hoyt, Tweedy & 

Co., Tweedy, Hoyt & Co., Tweedy & Hoyt, A. E. 
Tweedy& Co., Tweedy & White, and now (since 1857) 
Tweedy, White & Co. 

"1841.-After the napped hats had gone out of fash­
ion, Messrs. Niram Wildman and John Pry went to 
Roxbury for the purpose of getting information con­
cerning the wool-hatting. They called on Col. La­
throp, in that place, who was then considered the best 
manufacturer of wool hats in this section of the 
country. Having obtained the necessary information, 
Messrs. Wildman & Fry returned and commenced the 
manufacture of wool hats in the old building some time 
since removed from the grounds of Mr. Fry, employ­
ing five men as makers and two women as trimmers, 
turning off from eight to ten dozen per day, the bodies 
being formed in the 'old factory.' Wildman & Fry 
subsequently sold out to Charles Fry and David Wild­
man (the latter now deceased), who continued the 
manufacture in a building in Main Street, since re­
moved. 

"1846.-N athaniel H. Wildman was at this time 
manufacturing fur hats. He kept up the manufacture 
until a few years since, and is now engaged in a hat­
store at Augusta, Ga. Truman Trowbridge employed 
a number of hands, also Frederick Nichols. 

"1849.-Mr. Nathan Benedict came from New York 
with one of the fur-hat forming machines. When it 
was rumored that such a machine was to be brought 
here it created considerable excitement among the 
mechanics in the trade, and when it actually did 
arrive a majority of hatters were opposed to it. It 
was put up by Mr. Benedict in the old Hurlbut fac­
tory as an experiment, under the patronage of A. E. 
Tweedy & Co. But very little was done the first 
year, and the enterprise progressed slowly; but as 
the public confidence in it was strengthened the old 
prejudice died out, and its popularity increased. 

" 1852.-S. A. Brower & Co. started the business of 
paper-box making in Danbury. Until the soft hat 
came into use hats were packed in wooden cases alone. 
Now one dozen hats are placed in a paper box, and 
these, to the number of six, are placed in a wooden 
case. This mode of packing hats for transportation 
is a little more expensive than the former, but it is at 
the same time more safe, neat, and convenient. 

"Mr. E. S. Davis, who bought out Brower & Co. in 
1852, now carries on the business quite extensively. 
At first the demand was very small, but as the manu­
facture of soft hats increased so did that of paper 
boxes. Mr. Davis now occupies the whole of the new 
building seventy by thirty and three stories high (near 
Tweedy Brothers). Capital invested, $7000; sales per 
annum, $25,000; paid out to hands per month, $200; 
hands employed, 11. Boards or straw paper used per 
annum, 125 tons; number of paper boxes of all· sizes 
made per annum, 216,000. The 'boards' are manu­
factured in the neighboring towns of Brookfield, 
Newtown, and New Milford. 

"1853.-J ames S. Taylor, of this town, patented his 

.. 
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machines for felting or sizing hats, to which their orig- , "Giles M. Hoyt's factory in 1860 wa~ in Grassy 
inality and perfect operation has been satisfactorily Plain, which was then a part of Danbury. In 1874, 
applied. These machines have been introduced into Mr. Hoyt removed to the shop on ,vhite Street now 
general use· among the best and most extensive wool- occupied by Nichols & Hine. It had then just been 
bat manufacturers in the United States. It is a fact vacated by Lacey & Downs: In 1878 he moved again 
worthy of notice that these machines have been in- to his present location, in the old laundry-building 
vented, perfected, and brought into general use in less near the Danbury and Norwalk Railway. 
time than perhaps ever before recorded of any other "A. T. Peck was in the winter of 1863 engaged in 
im·ention of the same relative value in the mechanic hatting with his brother-in-law, Anson Taylor, in the 
arts in this or any other country, and it is owing to old comb-factory which stood on the site of Beckerle 
this invention of Mr. Taylor's that our wool-hat man- and Co.'s new factories. Mr. Taylor had just received 
ufacturcrs have been enabled to supply the increasing I a patent for combining pieces of waste silk with fur, 
demand for the finer qualities of that article. and they were manufacturing hats under this patent. 

"'The Taylor's Patent Hat-Felting Company have It was said that a hat, after being 'jacked up,' was 
about three hundred of these machines in use in va- made to look like a silk hat, and at a much less cost. 
rious parts of the United States,· felting at least six They were made in all styles. Mr. Taylor died soon 
dozen hats per day on each machine, equal to 1800 after the manufacture began, and Mr. Peck then went 
dozen per day for the three hundred machines, or out of business. 
540,000 dozen, on an average, per year, being 6,480,000 "In 1864, Shetliar & Lacey built a small shop near 
hats!' They have secured the patent on the machine the Phronix factory, and ran it for a few years. 
in various European countries, and now have machines "The Union Hat Company, composed of ,v. H. 
in constant operation in several of the largest estab- Youngs, H. C. Ely, Kellogg Nichols, and Cyrus Ray­
lishments in England, where an agency is about being mond, started in that building in 1869. In 1872 they 
established. 'The largest single day's work performed discontinued business. It was occupied between this 
by these machines was, probably, in the shop of Wild- time and 1875 by Casper Zeigler, and in that year 
man & Crosby, in 1856, they having sized on two sets William Beckerle took it. He remained here one 
of machines fifty-four dozen hats in one day, the ma- year, and in 1876, after taking into partnership C.H. 
chines being operated by four men, working only ten I Piex, T. F. Fay, and J. H. Shuldice, he removed to 
hours.' A Frenchntan, J. Baptiste Lacille by name, the old comb-shop near Pahquioque Avenue. This 
and many others, have invented machines for sizing shop soon proved too small for the firm, and from 
hats and sold their patents for large sums, but the time to time they added to its capacity by building 
machines failed, not having been brought to perfec- on numerous additions and erecting small buildings 
tion, and the Taylor machines have taken the place for make-shops, coloring-shop, etc. In December, 
of all. 1879, the establishment was totally destroyed by fire. 

"1855.-Abijah Abbott commenced the manufacture Work was immediately resumed, and now the new 
of band-boxes for Messrs. Benedict & Montgomery. factories, exceeded by but one establishment in town, 
Mr. Abbott now employs four hands, making thirty are nearly complete. 
thousand large paper boxes per year and consuming "In 1865, J. G. Meeker began business as a hatter in 
fifty tons of boards per annum. His sales amount to a factory on Canal Street. This building, for a few 
five thousand dollars per annum. months previous to this, had been used by journeymen 

"The making of wooden cases is a large item, and hatters, who took out work from our larger firms for 
three firms, George Starr, George Stevens & Co., and manipulation in one branch only. They were not 
Raymond & Ambler, are constantly employed. 1 what might be called manufacturing hatters, and for 

"In 1860 there were but eight manufacturers of fur that reason we have not secured their names. In 
and wool hats in Danbury. We have now twelve, 1877 this factory was completely destroyed, and the 
and the largest of these is twice as large as any at next year the present commodious and enlarged 
that date. There have been many changes in the building was completed and occupied by D. W . 

. firms since then,-many new firms started and failed. Meeker, a brother of the first named. He still car­
These we have endeavored to look up and obtain re- ries on business there. 
liable information about them. "As early as 1844, Ransom Brothwell, father of 

"In 1860 there were two firms of the Tweedys,- Theodore Brothwell, had a shop in Mill Plain. He 
Tweedy, ·white & Co., and Tweedy Brothers. In started it earlier than this, but this is the first we can 
1864 the first firm was changed to T. E. & E. Tweedy, find of him. It was situated on the present farm of 
and the second was changed to William H. Tweedy Oliver Burchard, and some time after (in 1848) he 
in 1861. In 1867 both these firms were merged into removed to a factory on the site of the present black­
one under the name of Tweedy & Co., and after four smith-shop. 
years of business a stock company was formed under I "The next we find of hatting in that hamlet is a 
the name of the Tweedy Manufacturing Company, shop run by P.A. Sutton. This changed hands many 
which is its present designation. times, being owned successively by A. Solomon, now 
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of Norwalk, Harry Jennings & Son, and Stone & "Shethar & Lacey was the name of a new firm which 
Downs. The latter were burned out in 1867, and purchased the Montgomery factory, on White Street, 
Mr. Downs then retired. Benjamin Stone then built in 1865. For one year they continued bqsiness, and 
the shop now occupied by H. M. Senior & Son, ran then admission to the firm was given to Henry Starr 
it for about nine months, and then went to New and Thomas Lawrence,.under the firm-name of Shet­
J er;;ey. C. B. Prindle occupied it next for about six har, Lacey & Co. One more year passed and this 
months, and Senior bought it in 1871. John Harvey firm dissolved, and in its place was the firm of Lacey, 
was a partner of Senior for one year. In 1878 the Hoyt & Co., composed of W. F. Lacey, Theodore Hoyt, 
present firm was formed. Moses Collier, Ives Bushnell, and George Downs. In 

"In 1866, C. B. Prindle and Edward Gage took out 1872 the firm went out of business. Lacey, Downs 
work to size. The original shop stood just west. of & Co., the company being C. H. White, then formed 
the present building. In 1869, Mr. Gage went out, a copartnership and manufactured hats for a time. 
and Mr. Prindle took it. 'Prindle & Co.' soon after Lacey & Downs were before this time associated in 
became the title of the firm, and they finished hats the fur-cutting business in the Phccnix factory, re­
complete. In December, 1877, the Mill Plain Manu- 1 cently destroyed by fire. Their hatting experience 
facturing Company, a joint-stock corporation, took continued but a short time. 
the factory now standing, which was built in 1871. "Elijah Sturdevant continued the business at the 
In 1879, Mr. Prindle went it alone, and is now doing factory in Beaver Brook District until Aug. 31, 1873. 
business there. On that date the building was totally destroyed by 

"It is related that at the time of Mr. Brothwell they fire at a loss of sixty thousand dollars. For fout 
were making what was known as the 'coney' hat. years the ruins lay about as the fire left them, and it 
These hats were always worth just a dollar. If no was in 1877 that the place was rebuilt. J ame3 S. · 
money was forthcoming on pay-day, the men were Taylor then took the factory, and from that time to 
given as many hats as there were dollars due them. this a desultory trade has been carried on there, a 
These they spent at the stores the same as cash, and young firm running through one trade and then sue­
the storekeepers sent them to New York to sell. Mr. ceeded by another, which was in turn run out by 
Broth well never used the neat packing-cases of to-day, another. None of them seemed to have had much 
but used to go out and knock boards off the fences success. In 1879, D. E. Leowe & Co. took it, but in 
and make cases. 1880 they dissolved. Mr. Taylor has always occupied 

"In 1860 the old firm of Crofut, Bates & Wildman part of the factory as a forming-shop. 
was Henry Crofut. From that time to now there have "N~chols & Hine were burned out in Bethel in the 
been four different partners besides Mr. Crofut. First, spring of 1878. In the fall of the same year they 
Rollo Nichols was admitted, under the firm-name of came to Danbury, and took the old Lacey, Downs & 
H. Crofut & Co. Then George K. Nichols was ad- Co. factory on White Street, where they still remain, 
mitted, then Joseph H. White, the firm still retaining having been eminently successful. 
the old name. The present firm is Crofut, White & "We now have given the hat-manufacturers since 
Peabody, the Messrs. Nichols being both dead. Mr. 1860, so far as we can trace them. Next in order 
Peabody was admitted in 1878. come the fur-cutters. The firm of W. A. & A. M. 

"The firm once occupied the factory on West Street, White, which was the principal one in the trade at 
which was burned in 1864, in addition to the 'Pah- that time, is still running. Their factory was totally 
quioque' shop. destroyed by fire in 1874. It was immediately re-

" The firm of E. A. Mallory & Co. in 1860 was formed built with brick, and is probably one of the most con­
of Mallory and .P.A. Sutton. J;n 1864, Mr. Mallory veniently arranged establishments in the country. 
associated with him his brother, Samuel Mallory, and The firm-name remains the same, though new blood 
this firm continued till 1866. Samuel Mallory then has beeri added to it in the persons of the sons of the 
retired, and until 1872 E. A. Mallory was again alone. original Whites, who bear the same names. 
In that year he took in his son, Charles H. Mallory, "W. F. Lacey and George Downs went into partner-
and this comprises the present firm. ship with Stephen Hurlbut in 1862 under the name 

"In 1862, Mr. S. C. Holley began the manufacture of Hurlbut & Co. In 1864, Mr. Hurlbut left the firm 
of wool hats in the shop then standing at the Main and started in business in Peck's comb-shop, where 
Street bridge,· which had before that been used by Beckerle & Co.'s factories now stand. He continued 
Crosby & Wildman. For a short time J. H. Cesner business until 1869, when he was killed by a runaway 
was his partner. In 1865, Mr. A. N. Wildman con- team. 
nected himself publicly with the'firm, and the 'Co.' "PeterRobinson,in1865,beganthefur-cuttingbusi­
was added to Mr; Holley's name. In 1868 the factory ness in a shop belonging to the Tweedys. In 1867 he 
was burned. The same year they built the factory purchased a building at Beaver Brook, and admitted 
on River Street now occupied by them. Mr. A. B. to partnership Mr. John Tweedy. In 1870 the busi­
Holley became a member of the firm in January, 1876, ness was so extensive that greater accommodations 
though the firm-name.was not changed. were maq.e necessary, and the firm purchased the fac-
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tory of Benedict & Montgomery, on West Street. residence of Harmon Knapp, Main Street. Abel 
This shop was burned down in 187 4, and in the same Hoyt was father of Giles M. Hoyt, and died in Bethel. 
year they went to their present quarters in the Hull "1820.-Ephraim Gregory was a son of Elijah Greg­
& Belden Co.'s factory, on Canal Street. Mr. Tweedy ory, a blacksmith, who lived where L. S. Benedict 
had in the mean time retired from the firm, and John now lh·es. His shop stood on the site of St. James' 
Starr was taken in in 1871. Mr. Starr died in 1876, Church. 
and 0. de Comeau took his place. He remained a "Mr. John Fry is still living, a hale and hearty old 
member of the firm one year, and, in 1877, Mr. Rob- man, in the house where his first shop stood, on New 
inson's oldest son, E.T. Robinson, was taken into the Street. 
firm and sent to England, where they established a "Alvin Hurd, who was a partner of Mr. Fry in 1818, 
branch office. The manufacture of hat-cases is also died in August, 1869. 
an important factor in the business. In 1860, Mr. "Benedict & Montgomery consisted of Charles Ben­
George Starr was the only person engaged in the busi- edict and William Montgomery. The firm closed busi­
ness in Danbury. Besides cases, he made blocks, tools, ness in 1861. Mr. Benedict is still living in Danbury, 
etc. In 1876 his brother, Daniel Starr, purchased ' on Deer Hill Avenue. ·wmiam Montgomery moved 
the business and still continues it. The Danbury and to Baltimore some years ago, and is still in business 
Bethel Hat-Case Company began to manufacture I there. 
cases only in 1876, and still continue. "Joel Taylor lived for many years in Great Plain. 

"Through the kindness of one of our oldest resi- He was father of Mr. James S. Taylor. He died in 
dents we have been enabled to trace some of the old 1870. 
hatters. "Nathaniel H. Wildman was in the southern trade 

"1787.-William Babcock, who was employed by in Charleston. He closed up his business in 1861. 
Burr & White in this year, died in New Haven. He lived and died in the old house yet standing in 

"1803.-Samuel H. Phillips lived opposite the Dan- rear of Wildman's Block, on Main Street. He was 
bury Savings Bank, where Meyers' store now stands, the father of Alexander Wildman. His death oc­
and died there. George Benedict was a son of Elia- curred in 1877. 
kim, and lived and died in Danbury. David Wood "Charles Fry and Truman Trowbridge are still 
lived and died opposite the Capt. Ryder place, or on living and working at the trade. 
the site of the old Church of England, on the corner "The firm of R. & E. T. Hoyt doing business in 
of Main_ and South streets. Ezra Wildman, who was 1816, was Russell and Eli T. Hoyt. The former died 
a great-uncle of Samuel C. Wildman, mo,·ed to Clarks- in 1868. The latter still lives in the homestead on 
field, Ohio, and died there. Ebenezer and John D. Main Street, a man ripe in years, still preserving good 
Nichols died in the South. The firm of Boughton & health, and one looked up to by all men as an example 
Starr we cannot trace. Mr. Boughton is believed to of what an industrious, useful, honest life can do. 
have been Elias Boughton, who lived on the site of "John R. Hoyt, who was one of the sons of Russell 
George C. White's residence. Hoyt, succeeded the old firm. He was a brother ot 

"1805.-The firm of Clark & Benedict should have Lucius P. and T. Granville Hoyt. He died in 1848. 
read Benedict & Clark. Sallue P. Clark lived down I This old firm of Hoyt Brothers eventually consoli­
town, near the old Carrington place. He was an dated with the Tweedy family. The firm of Hoyt, 
uncle of Starr Clark, who spends his summers in Dan- Tweedy & Co. was the consolidation of the two. 
bury. Benedict was the son of Peter Benedict, who 

1 
"A. E. Tweedy died in February, 1864. His cousin, 

lived in l\fountainville, on the place now owned by Samuel Tweedy, died in 1868. It is told of Mr. A. 
E. S. Benedict. Gersham Nichols was the father of E. Tweedy that his funeral was the largest ever held 
Starr Nichols and the great-grandfather of John in Danbury. Niram Wildman, who was a partner of 
Nichols, of the firm of Nichols & Hine. John Fry, was grandfather of A. N. and John Wild-

" 1807.-Noah Rockwell died in Danbury. Hoyt man. He lived where the latter lives now. 
Gregory died here, and we believe has no descendants. "Frederick Nichols is brother-in-law of Giles M. 

"1812.-James Benedict, of Tweedy & Benedict, Hoyt. He now lives in New York. 
retired from business to a farm on the Hudson River, "The ,vhite Brothers, mentioned in 1814, were Jud-
and died there. son and Russell White. Russell died in 1838, and 

"1816.-David H. Boughton was a son of Elias Judson a few years later. Russell White was the 
Boughton, and died South. His remains were brought father of Mr. William R. White. 
home and interred in the burying-ground up-town. "Edward S. Brockett, who was in business in 1832 
David M. Benedict lived later in life in the house now with William Montgomery, died in Norwalk in 1872. 
owned by Lucius P. Hoyt, and died there. He was He was for many years the trying-justice of Danbury, 
also buried in the up-town burying-ground. Ezra M. and his reputation extended into the whole country. 
Starr lived and died in the house now occupied by Ira "Isaac H. Seeley is mentioned in 1824. Mr. Seeley 
Morse, on South Street. Mrs. Morse was his niece. died in January, 1880, a man full of honor and ripe 

"1818.-Capt. John Foote lived near the present in years. White & Keeler were Col. E. Moss White, 
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who was the father of the la.te Col. N. L. White. He In 1852, Nelson Flint, Calvin S. Bulkley, and Amzi 
died in 1863. His partner was Timothy B. Keeler. Wheeler started a mill for air-dried straw-board in 
Mr. Keeler died somewhere between 1835 and 1840. Beaver Brook. The firm dissolved after a short time, 
Joseph Taylor was a manufacturerin Wildcat, Bethel, and Mr. Flint continued alone. In 1867, George 
now known as Elmwood. He was succeeded in busi- McArthur, with his three brothers, Robert, John, 
ness by his sons, Reuben and Stephen. Reuben Tay- and William, purchased the mill and continued the 
lor still carries on hatting in a small shop in Elmwood, manufacture of straw-board. The original building 
where he makes the now popular napped hat, which was a small one, thirty by thirty feet, and was built 
is a revival of the old style when his father was in for a woolen-mill by Samuel Morris. He was not suc­
business. Joseph Taylor died in 1874. The Taylor cessful, and gave up woolen for hatting and then 
& Dibble mentioned were Elias Taylor and Scott Dib- comb-making. In 1870, McArthur Brothers built an 
ble. Their shop was where John Johnson's barn now addition to the first building and, gradually giving 
stands. They died many years ago, leaving no direct up stra,\1-board, made straw wrapping-paper. In 
descendants in Bethel. 1872 a second addition was built, and in 1875 hard-

"Mr. M. H. Griffing was a prominent hatter in 1846. I ware and wrapping-paper were made. Last year 
His factory was in what is now known as Mountain- I more machinery was ad\led, and manilla paper was 
ville, on a site just south of where Mrs. Betsey Crofut manufactured. 
now lives. He continued in business for ten years, The first paper-mill, however, was one which stood 
and then sold out to Henry T. Robinson. Mr. Rob- on the stream back of the homestead of the late E. S. 
inson did not succeed, and soon abandoned the enter- Hull. It was long before the present oldest inhabi­
prise. Mr. Griffing learned his trade in 1843 with tant can remember, but we learn from one gentleman 
Elijah Patch, on Great Plain. Mr. Patch's shop stood who remembers his parents telling of the mill that it 
near the present residence of Mrs. Fanny w· ood. was run by a man named \Vashburn. 

"George A. Andrews was another hatter, who car- The manufacture of boots and shoes was another 
ried on business in Great Plain a few years ago. He industry which once occupied a prominent position 
lives now in Bethel. in Danbury. It was of recent birth. In 1869, C.H. 

"W olfpits, in Bethel, was also for many years-1824 Merritt built and occupied as a boot- and shoe-factory 
to 1850-thc scene of a flourishing hat-trade. Among the brick building now standing at the north end of 
the manufacturers then we find Eli Morgan, Abel Main Street. The same year he took into partnership 
Hoyt, Leazer Taylor & Son, Charles and Roderick Lucius R. Sprague. In 1870, Mr. Sprague retired, 
Dart, and Hugh Starr. In Elmwood we find David and Mr. Richard W. Cone went into the firm. This 
Sherman and Beers Crofut. firm remained in the business until the latter part of 

"A summary of the amount of work done in 1859 March, 1880, when they closed up, sold their machin-
by all the factories is as follows: ery, and the factory will soon be occupied in hatting. 

Number of hands employed................................. 1,204 The firm in its busiest seasons employed nearly two 
Hats mndc (dozens)............................................ 123,870 I h cl cl h d 
Pay-roll .................•.••...........................•........... $3~0,00u u11 re an s. · 

"Now the statement is as follows: 
Numl,er of han<ls employed.............................. 1,800 
Hats n,ade (dozens).......................................... 400,000 
Pay-roll ......................................................... Sl,000,WO" 

OTHER MANUFACTURES. 

So~e time before 1800, Ephraim Washburn and 
brother built a mill for making paper on or near the 
site of the old Sturdevant factory. This mill after­
wards passed into the hands of two brothers named 
Ward, and they sold it to Daniel and S.3th Comstock. 
The latter was father of the late Philander Comstock. 
They continued business there for some years, when 
the mill was burned. The exact date of this destruc­
tion we cannot learn, but it was some sixty or more 
years ago. Among the employees of Comstock was 
"Uncle" Jerry Wilson, father-in-law of Capt. Ed­
wards, who died two or three years ago. Mr. Wilson 
enlisted in 1812, and Seth Comstock, being a major, 
was allowed a servant. He made Mr. Wilson his 
servant and kept him in the shop, but he got a pen­
sion and bounty. After this shop was burned Deacon 
Oliver Stone purchased the site and built a hat-shop, 
which he sold to Elijah Sturdevant. 

As far as we can trace back we find an oil-mill on 
the south side of what is now known as Crofut's Pond, 

' or Oil Mill Pond. In 1812, Friend Starr, father of 
Mr. C. H. Starr, used to make linseed oil from the 
flax raised in this section. It was quite a prosperous 
business at one time. The mill was pulled down 
many years ago,-so many, in fact, that none of our 
old citizens remember it. Many of them have indis­
tinct recollections of this building in their early 
youth, but the date of its destruction is lost. 

On the north side of the dam stood a saw-mill 
owned by Friend Starr and Benjamin and Fairchild 
Ambler. The former was the father and the latter 
the uncle of Rev. E. C. Ambler. Mr. Ambler remem­
bers going to the mill to carry his father's dinner, and 
help about the work at times. He also relates an 
anecdote of Mr. Starr which we think worth repub­
lishing. Mr. Starr was an Episcopalian, but for some 
reasons he was temporarily offended with the church, 
and used to go to hear Rev. Mr. Trumbull, the Baptist 
pastor. One Sunday, after Mr. Starr had come in, 
Mr. Trumbull arose and gave his text: "Friend, 
friend, how earnest thou hither not having a wedding-
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garment?" Mr. Starr at first thought this rather per- [ Beaver Brook to Newtown, and from Newtown to 
sonal and manifested his disapprobation plainly. But, Danbury by the Bethel road. In 1852 the business 
the minister proceeding, he saw that the text was not died out, mainly because the comb-makers in Massa­
intended for him, and he became calm. chusetts combined their capital and skilled labor and 

The manufacture of sewing-machines was another killed off the small manufacturers in other parts of 
industry for which Danbury was once well known. It the country. 
was a machine patented by ,v alker B. Bartram. The The present manufacturing establishments are as 
first manufacturers were the Bartram & Fanton Sew- follows: 
ing-1\fachine Company. They started in the old shirt- Hat-.Manufacturing Companiea.-C. H. Merritt, E. 
factory on Ives Street in 1865. The next year they A. Mallory & Son, Tweedy Manufacturing Company, 
purchased the brick building on Canal Street now D. E. Lowe & Co., S. C. Holly & Co., Rundle & 
occupied by P. Robinson & Son, and moved there. White, Nichols & Hine, G. M. Hoyt & Co., Crofut, 
The company continued running with varied success White & Peabody, Gardin & Co., Beckerle & Co., D, 
until 1872, when it was reorganized, and many of our ,v. Meeker, H. M. Senior. 
people, poor and rich alike, took stock therein. In Fur-Manufacturing Companies.-N. A. & A. M. 
two years more (1874) the company failed, and the White, Lacy & Downs, P. Robinson & Co. 
stockholders mourned for the faded dreams of fortune. Paper-Box l,fanufacturing Companies.-E. S. Davis, 

In the summer of 1815 (the cold summer) Eli Seger Theodore Clark, Abijah Abbott. 
lived in the red house on the Mill Plain road, now Planing-J,m~ and Lumber.-D. Stevens & Co., Fos-
owned by the Terry family, which stands on the ter Brothers. 
corner of the old road leading to the fair-ground en- Hat-Box Manufacturing Companiea.-Danbury and 
trance, across Fish-W cir bridge. The lower part of Bethel Manufacturing Co., Daniel Starr. 
this house Seger used for manufacturing nails, living Shirt-lrfanufacturing Company.-Reed,Stevens&Co. 
in the upper part. Seger was grandfather to Rev. E. lrlachine-Shops.-Danbury Iron-Works, Turner Ste-
c. Ambler. Soon after this date he moved to Ohio, vens & Son, Fanton Brothers, R. A. Belden & Co. 
where he died. Hot-Air Furnacea.-E. S. Morris & Co. 

Comb-making was another industry which was 
once extensively carried on here, and which is now 
extinct. In 1810, Nathaniel Bishop started a comb­
factory on the site or just back of Peck & Wildman's 
store. He kept a large number of hands at work for 
twenty-five years. 

Foote & Barnum began in 1814, in a shop that 
stood near the corner of Main and Centre StrCE!ts. 
Otis & Whiting had a shop just this side of St. James' 
Church, West Street. Alfred Gregory, Peck & Gil­
lett, and several others had small shops scattered 
about town. The comb business-the value of the 
goods and the number of hands employed-exceeded 
that of hatting from 1826 to 1831, and continued 
about equal till about 1837. 

In 1847, T. T. Peck occupied the woolen-mill on 
West Street, near Beaver Street, and was burned out. 
The shop was rebuilt and the business carried on till 
1852, when it was removed to A. T. Peck's old shop, 
where Beckerle & Co.'s factories now are. 

Barnum & Green was another firm who carried on 
business in 1812, on the corner where Hon. F. S. 
Wildman's garden now stands. 

Daniel Taylor, it is claimed, was the first man to 
make combs in Danbury. His factory was in the 
then Wildcat District, Bethel. In the same locality 
there were at one time seven shops in operation,­
Az:irael and Charles Smith, Daniel Taylor, E. Hull 
Barnum, T. T. Dibble, S. B. Peck, and Ammon Tay­
lor; in Bethel Village and Grassy Plain, Daniel Bar­
num, George Clapp, Ammon Benedict, and several 
others. In 1820, and from then to 1837, there were 
many small shops scattered along the road from 

THE EXECUTION OF ANTHONY. 

"There have been two executions in Danbury. 
Both of these occurred within a period of twenty 
years, and both were of negroes convicted of rape. 
The first was a man named Anthony, a fr~e negro, 
living in Greenwich. He perhaps had no other name, 
as 'Anthony' is alone used in the indictment and the 
warrant for execution. His crime was committed on 
the 7th of March, 1798, and he was hung in Novem­
ber following. 

"The following is the copy of the indictment from 
the grand jury, for copy of which and of the warrant 
that follows we are indebted to Mr. A. B. Hull: 

"' The Grand Jurors for the body of said County of Fairfield, on their 
oaths present nod say that nt Greenwich, in said County, on the nigl;lt 
next succeeding the 7th day of March. A,D., 1798, Anthony a Free negro, 
then residing in eald Greenwich with fon:e and arms wilfully wicked 
nnd fcloioously did make an ru,sault in and upon the body of !lary 
Knapp of En.id Grecn,\·ich, a mnitl under tho ngo of nineteen yetll'8, then 
and there in the Peace of God and of this State, ... being agninst the 
Peace and contrny to tho fonn, fon:e and effect of the laws of this State, 
entitled" An Act for the Punishment of Rnpe." On this indictment the 
said Anthony was arranged before the Bar of this Court, and on such his 
arraiogement was put to plead. Pleaded not guilty nod for trial put 
himself on God and the Country. The issue with the evidence wns com­
mitted to the Jury, duly impaneled and called upon to pass b<!h\·eeo the 
State of Connecticut nnd the said Anthony the Prisoner at the Bar, which 
Jurors on their oath do say that tlllid Anthony, the prisoner at the bu, is 
b'llilty of tho crime charged ngninst him lo the said indictment where­
upon it is cooeldered by the court and this court do join eentence and 
against tho said Anthony, the Prisoner at the Bar, that he go from hence 
to the Goal from whence he came and from thence to some open and con­
venient pince for exeeutioo then to be hanged between the Heavens and 
the earth until he shall be dead.' 

"This was at Danbury, Aug. 10, 1798. Anthony 
remained in the jail here until November 8th, when 

I 
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he was called forth for execution. The following is impenitent frame of mind, and that he was doggedly 
the warrant for the sheriff: meeting his wretched fate. 

"' To the S11erift' of the county of Fairfield in the State of Connecticut, 
Greeting: 

"• Whereas one Anthony a free Negro "Man residing in Greenwich In 
said county Before the Supreme Court holden ot Danbury within the 
said County of Fairfield on the second tuesdny of August 1798 WAS 

lcgully convicted or the c1ime of a Rape Committed on the Body of Mary 
Knapp of Greenwich aforrsald a maid under the age of nineteen years. 
And thereupon he the BOid Anthony was by the consideration of said 
Supreme Court adjudged and sentenced to be Hanged by his neck be· 
tween the Heaven and the Earth on the Eighth Day of November next 
between the hours of Ten o'clock in the forenoon and three o'clock in 
the afternoon of said Day until h~ should be Dead. All of which by the 
records of said Supreme Court appears. And Execution thereof remains 
to be done. These are therefore in the name and by tho Authority of 
the State of Connecticut to Will & Command you that on the Eight day 
of November next ensuing some time between the hours of Ten o'clock 
In the forenoon & Three o'clock in the afternoon of said Day you have 
him the said Authony forth of the Common Goal in said Fairfield County 
whore he uow remains in Custody unto somo open & convenient place 
for execution and him said Anthony then & there 'Cause to be Hanged 
up by bl• neck between the Heavens and tho Earth until ho shall be 
Dead. For which purpose this slinll be your Legal & sufficient warrant 
hereof you may in no wise fail & make due return with such your doings 
thereon Endorsed. 

"' Dated at Windham the 16th day of September, A,D. li98 & In the 
23d year of the Iodepencedenco of the United States of An1oriC1L.' 

"On the close of the sermon the civil authorities 
carried the prisoner to the place set apart for his ex­
ecution. This was at the head of Elm Street, near 
the pond. The gallows was erected on land belong­
ing to Samuel Dibble, and from the fact of this ex­
ecution the place took the name of 'Gallows Hill.' 
There was a great crowd present, of course, as it was 
a public execution, and the first ever had here. 
People from quite a distance were in attendance, and 
nearly all the town-folks were present. Sheriff Di­
mon, of Fairfield, was the county sheriff and he offi­
ciated. 

"The gallows consisted of two ,uprights set in the 
earth, some seven inches square, hewn from our native 
forests, with a cross-timber on the top, and a platform 
hinged to one of the uprights at a height to make 
about six feet fall. Suitable steps were provided to 
pass on to the platform from the ground. Ropes at­
tached to the platform passed over the cross-piece and 
were secured at the foot of one of the posts. Benjamin 
Griffen, the father of the late E. G. Griffen, seemed to 
have charge of this department. 

"There is no record of the return from the sheriff "The prisoner was asked if he wished to say any-
called for in the closing paragraph, and there are thing, and shook his head. The usual order from the 
those who dispute that Anthony was hung here at Governor of the State (required in every case where 
the time. life is taken), called the death-warrant, was then 

"But the execution took place in Danbury on that read. An appropriate prayer was offered by a clergy­
day. Vie have the evidence of an eye-witness, and man of the Methodist Church from the vicinity where 
the sermon preached on the occasion. the crime was committed, he having been Adams' 

"At ten o'clock of that morning, November 8th, spiritual adviser. He was a good out-door speaker, 
Anthony was removed from the jail and taken to the and was plainly heard, it was said, on the post-office 
Congregational church, late the concert-hall building. steps on Main Street, near De Klyn's bakery. 
The church was crowded to overflowing with specta- "Every condition and requirement of the law 
tors, as, despite the tragic character of the event, the having been complied with, the prisoner was assisted 
town assumed a holiday appearance. Anthony was up the steps and on to the platform by the deputies. 
placed at the front, under the pulpit, during the His eyes were covered with his cap, and the rope, 
preaching of the sermon. Rev. Timothy Langdon previously prepared for the prisoner and worn through 
was the pastor, and delivered the discourse. the day on his neck, was connected with another sus-

" :Upon the close of this he personally addressed pended from the cross-piece. 
the prisoner. He said,- "The next was a thrilling scene. The hangman 

"' Anthony, it is by your request that I speak on had placed a prop under the platform to steady it. It 
this occasion, and this is the last address which I shall appeared to be a fence rail; or about that size, and his 
ever make to you. From the sentence pronounced duty now was to remove it. He found some difficulty 
upon you by the court, and from the preparations in doing so, and when he did the victim shuddered 
with which you are surrounded, you must see that and gave a shrug which was felt and involuntarily 
you have but a very, veriJ short time to live. Your repeated by a large part of the spectators, even on the 
situation is truly deplorable. Whatever your crimes other side of the rh•er, on the west. At this instant 
may.have been against God and human society, yet, the voice of the sheriff was heard, 'Deputies, do your 
seeing your present condition, I pity you as a man, I duty!' whereupon their swords were seen waving over 
pray for you as a Christian, and am now to address their heads, the ropes were severed, the drop fell, and 
you as a minister of the gospel. I must therefore be the victim, suspended in mid-air, died without any 
faithful, and use great plainness of speech.' apparent struggle. 

"Then followed a description of the enormity of "Soon the hangman climbed the upright, and, sit-
his sin, committed in the light of knowledge, and ting on the plate, so adjusted the ropes that the body 
after that an earnest exhortation to the sinner to re-1 was gently lowered into his coffin and buried on the 
pent, to look to Christ, to die 'in a Christian temper.' ground near by, a grave being previously prepared. 
We judge from these words that Anthony was in an It was only about eighteen inches deep. The next 
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morning it was found to have been opened, and the 
body was gone, leaving the box in the ground. A 
fresh wagon-track on the road was traced out through 1 

·white Street towards New Haven. It was said our 
authorities were privy to this arrangement." 

TRIAL AND EXECUTION OF Al\IOS ADAMS.* 

Nearing, David Osborne, Thaddeus Abbott, Sher­
wood Fanton, Isaac "Wilson, Robert Platt. 

Samuel B. Sherwood, Esq., attorney for the State, 
then proceeded to the examination of the witnesses in 
behalf of the State. 

The trial was short. There being but little defense 
for his counsel to offer, they confined themselves to 

An execution of another negro for the same crime asking a few questions of the witnesses, and the case 
as that for which Anthony was executed, took place was submitted to the jury without argument. The 
in Danbury on the 13th day of November, 1817. These jury retired, and after a few minutes brought in a 
two are the only judicial executions that have ever I verdict of " Guilty." 
taken place within the limits of Fairfield County, On Thursday, the 25th of September, the prisoner 
with the exception of that of Hoyt, hanged in Bridge- was brought into court and sentenced to be hanged on 
port in the summer of 1880. There have been three the 13th day of November. 
military executions in the county,-two at Redding On the day appointed for his execution he was 
and one at Newtown. brought from the jail, guarded by the military, and 

At a court holden at Danbury within and for the taken to the Congregational church (afterwards Con­
county of Fairfield, on the third Tuesday of Septem- cert Hall), where. a sermon was preached for the 
ber, 1817, before Chief Justice Hon. Zepheniah Swift, I occasion, by Rev. l\Ir. Andrews, from the text, "One 
and Associate Justices Hon. Calvin Goddard and sinner destroyeth much good." After the services at 
Hon. James Gould, came on trial Amos Adams, a the church were concluded he was again placed in 
black man, charged with having committed a rape on charge of the military and conducted to the gallows, 
the body of Lelea Thorp, of ,v eston, in said county. which had been erected at the junction of what are 

On \V cdnesday, the second day of the term, the now called Elm and Beaver Streets, on the slight ele­
grand jury, consisting of the following persons, was vation of ground on the west side of the last-named 
summoned by the sheriff pursuant to an order of street. 
court, and the oath administered in the usual form : After the requirements of the law had been fulfilled 
Thomas Tucker, Foreman, Eliakim Benedict, Russel the body was buried in a shallow grave at the foot of 
White, Elijah Gregory, Samuel H. Phillips, Samuel the gallows. The morning after the execution it was 
Tweedy, Jr., l\Ioss ,vhite, Ezra ,vildman, Elias Starr, noticed that the grave had been disturbed, and inves­
Darius Starr, Elijah Sanford, David Foote, Comfort tigation showed that the body had been dragged out 
Hoyt, Andrew Beers, John Rider, Abel B. Blackman, of the coffin and taken away. But little effort was 
Horace Bull, Amos Hoyt. His Honor the Chief made to discover the resurrectionists, and the excite­
Justice then charged the jury in a somewhat lengthy ment soon abated. It is said that the skeleton is now 
address, in which he portrayed in forcible language in the medical college at New Haven. A few years 
"the dreadful effects of this detestable crime " and since, as workmen were digging for the cellars of 
closed with the usual instructions to the grand jury tenement-houses on this ground, small portions of the 
as to the manner in which their proceedings were to coffin were found. 
be conducted. The grand jury retired, and after a In this connection it may be proper to state that, 
short absence brought into court a bill of indictment. several years after, another negro was arrested, tried, 

On Thursday, the 18th day of September, the pris- convicted, and sentenced to be hanged for the same 
oner was arraigned, and to this indictment plead "Not offense in Danbury, but by an act of the Legislature 
guilty." He was then informed by the court that if changing the law he escaped execution. 
he desired counsel he could have any gentleman of 
the bar assigned for that purpose. He answered that 
he wished to ha-ve l\Ioses Hatch, Esq. l\Ir. Hatch 
then observed to the court that the prisoner was ready 
for his trial, and requested that Asa Chapman, Esq., 
be associated with him. The court immediately as­
signed him. The attorney for the State requested 
that R. ~L Sherman, Esq., might be appointed to as­
sist him on the part of the State, which was accord­
ingly done. 

Two of the panel were challenged by the prisoner, 
when the following jurors were sworn: Seth Sher­
wood, Foreman, Billy Comstock, Samuel Stebbins, 
Clark Gregory, Abel Smith, Noah T. Ferry, Ebenezer 

* Cont: ibuted by A. B. Hull. 

CHAPTER XXIV. 

DANBURY (Continued). 

CIVIL AND MILITARY. 

RepresentatiYes from 1697 to 1880--Danbury in the Rebellion-The Sol-
diers' Monnment-1\lilitary Record. 

REPRESENTATl\'ES FR0:\1 1697 TO 18S0. 

1697-liOI, ThomaB Taylor; 1702, Ensign Thomas Taylor, Sergt. Josiah 
Starre; 1703, Josiah Starr, John Cornell; 170-i-6, Sergt. Josiah Starr; 
1706-7, Ensign Thomas T».ylor, Josiah Starr; 1708, Josiah Starr, 
James Beebt•e; 1701, James Beebee, "-akefiehl Dibble; rao, James 
Beebee, Josiah Starr; 1711, Francis Barnum, Josiah Starr, Capt. 
James Beebee; 1712, Josiah Starr, .Abraham "·neman, James Bene-
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dick; 1713, Capt. James Beebee, Lieut. Josiah Starr, Francis Barn­
ham ; 1 i14-15, Capt. Josiah Starr, Francis Barn ham, Capt. James 
Beebe; 1716, John Gregory, Samuel Knap, Francis Barnum, 11ichard 
Barnum; 1717, Francis Barnum, Abraham ""ildman, John Gregory, 
Richard Barnum; lil8, James Beebe, John Gregory; 1710, John 
Gregory, Israel Curtice, James Beebe; 17:W, John Gregory, Israel 
Curtice, Abram 'Wildman; 1721-22, 8amuel Knapp, Rfohard Bar­
num, John Gregory; 1723, John Gregory, Abram ""ildman; 17~4, 
John Gregory, Abram ""ildman, James Benedict; 172.3, John Greg­
ory, Capt. James Beebe; 172G, John Gregory, Capt. James Beebe, 
Joseph Gregory; 1727, Capt. James Beebe, John Gregory; 1728, 
Capt. James Beebe, Eben Z. Hickox, John Gregory; 17W-30, Thomas 
Benedict, Capt. Jame:, Beebe, John Gregory; 1731, John Gregory, 
Capt. James Beebee, John Starr, Thomas Beue<lict; 1732, John Greg­
ory, Capt. James Beebee; 1733, John Gregory, John St.'lrr, Thomas 
Benedict; 1734, James Beebe, John Starr, John Gregory, Thomas 
Beuedict; 1735, John Gregory, John Starr, James Bebee; 1736, 
James Beebe, Thomas Benedict j 1737, John Gregory, Thomas Bene­
dict, James Bet-be; 1738, John Benedict, Thomas Benedict, John 
Gregory, James Beebe; 1739, Capt. James Beebe, Thomas Benedict, 
John Benedict; 1740, Capt. James Beebe, Thomas Benedict; 1741, 
Capt. James Beebe, Thomas Benedict, Sathaniel Stephens; 1742-43, 
Capt. James Beebe, Thomas Benedict; 1741, Thomas Benedict, Capt. 
Ebenezer Hickox, Capt. James Beebe, Capt. 'l'homas Stephem,; 1745, 
Capt. James .BeeLe, 'l'homas Benedict; 1 HG, Thomas Benedict, Capt. 
Jo~iah Starr, Capt. James Beebe; 1747, Capt. John Benedict, Dauiel 
Benedict; 1748, Capt.James BeelJce, Thomas Benedkt; 1749, Capt. 
James Beebee, Capt. John Beue<lict, Joseph Peck; 17o0, Thomas 
Benedict, Capt. John Benedict, Benjamin Sperry i li51, Thomas 
Benedict, Comfort Starr, Daniel Bene<lict, Samuel Gregory; 1752, 
Samuel Gregory, Comfort Starr, Thomas Benedict, Capt .• Jo~iah 
Starr; 1753, Capt. Daniel Benedict, Comfort Starr, 'l'homas Benedict; 
1754, Thomas Benedict, Ebenezer Hickox, Capt. Daniel Benedict; 
1755, Capt. John Benedict, Capt. Daniel Taylor, Capt. Daniel Bene­
dict; 17.Jti, Thomas Benedict,Comfort Starr; 1757, John Starr, Com­
fort Stair; 1 i5S, Comfort Starr, Thomas Benedict; 1759, Ct>mfort 
Starr, Capt. Lemuel Bebee; 1700, Comfort Starr, Daniel Benedict; 
17GL-6:l, ComfJt"t Sta.rr, Thomas Benedict; 17G3, Capt. Daniel Bene­
dict,Joseph Platt Cook, Samuel Dickinson, Samuel Taylor; 17G4-­
G5, Samuel Dickinson, Capt. John Benedict, Daniel Tn.ylor, Jr.; 
176G, Capt. Daniel Taylor, Samuel Dickman, 'l'homas Benedict; 
1767, Joseph Platt Cook, Capt. Daniel Taylor; 1763, Capt. Daniel Tay~ 
lor, Joseph I>latt Cook; 17G!J, Capt. Daniel Taylor, Capt. Daniel Dene• 
diet, JoseJ>h Platt Cook; lii0, Jo::;eph Platt CoOk, Capt. Daniel Tay­
lor, Danh!fStarr; 1771, Joseph Platt Cook, Daniel Starr; 171:3, Capt. 
Daniel Starr, Capt.· 'l'homas Stephens, Col. Joseph Platt Cook, Capt. 
Daniel Taylor; 177-1, Col. Joseph Platt Cook, Capt. Daniel Taylur; 
1775, Cul. Joseph Platt Cook, 1.'homas Taylor, Jr., Ca11t. Daniel Starr; 
1 i76, Col.Joseph Platt Cook, Capt. Daniel Taylor; 1 i77, Richard SI.lute, 
Capt. Eli :11ygatt, Jllaj_. Eli Jllygatt; 1778, Col. Joseph Platt Cook, Capt. 
Dauiel Taylor; 177~, Col. Joseph Platt Cook, Capt. Daniel Taylor, 
Capt. :Soble Benedict, Capt. James Clarke; 17b0, Col. Joseph Platt 
Cook, Capt. Daniel Taylor, Col. Ely :IIygatt; ns1;Col. Jo,eph Platt 
Cook: 1702, Col. Joseph Platt Cook, Col. Ely l\Iygatt, 1783, Col. Joseph 
Platt Cook, Capt. Daniel Taylor, Dr. Sallu Pell; 1784, Col. Joseph 
Platt Cook, Jllaj. Ezra StatT, Col. Ely l\Iygatt; 17&3, Col. Ely l\Iygatt, 
Maj. Benjamin Hicock, Capt. Daniel Taylor; 178G, Capt. Daniel Tay• 
lor, Joseph :u. ""bite, Col. Ely :.Uygatt, Maj. Benjamin Ilickox; 
17b7, Capt. Daniel Taylor, Capt. JameP ....,larke, Cul. Eli :.U,vgatt; 
1788, Col. Eli }Jygatt, Joseph Jll. Whit ,S9, Col. Eli Mygatt, Capt. 
James Clarke; 1700, Col. Ely M· .c, Zadock llenedil:t, James 
Clark; 1701, Ely }Jygatt, James '-;Jark; li!J2, Eli Mygatt, Elbha. 
"~hittel5ey; 1703; Elisha ,\"bittelsey, Justus Barnum, Ely My• 
gatt; 179-1, Elisha Whittlesey, Eli Mygatt, Juseph M. \\.h.ite, Den• 
jamin Hicock; l'in.3, Elisha ""hittlesey, Eli Mygatt, Timothy Tay:or, 
Isaac Joes; 1706, Eli ~Iygatt, Isaac Joes, Thomas P. ,rhite; 179i, 
Thomas P. ,vhite, Daniel M. Carrington, Elisha "·hittelsey, Ben• 
jamin Hickock; 1798, Justus Barnum, Benjamin Hickock, Elisha 
,vhittlesey, Thomas P. ,vhite; 1700, Elisha ,vhittlesey, Thomas P. 
".bite; 1800, James Clark, Thomas P. ,vhite, Elisha ".hittlesey
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Comfort S. )Iygatt; 1801, Elisha Whittlesey, Epaphras W. Ball, 
Timothy Taylor, Eli Jllygatt; 1_802, Elisha Whittlesey, Comfort S. 
Mygatt; 1~03, Thomas P. ,Vhite, Daniel B. Cook, James Clark; 1804:, 
Samuel ,v. PIJillips, Epaphras W. Bull, Daniel :N. Carrington, James 
Clark; 1805, Epaphras W. Bull, :Soah Hoyt, Thomas P. White, Na­
than Seeley; 180G, Epaphras ,v. BuJI, Benjamin ,v. lleacock, Eliakim 
Benedict, Amos Cook; 1807, Eliakim Benedict, Morse ,n.1ite, Ely 

:Mygatt; 1808, Ebenezer Nichols, Epaphras "~- Bull, Eliakim Bene­
dict, Moes ,Vhite; 180!J, Joseph P. Cook, Friend SL'\.rr, Eliakim 
Benedict, Jonas Benedict; 1810, Friend Starr, Daniel P. Carrington, 
Daniel B. Cook, Xathan Cornwall; 1811, Daniel B. Cook. Xathau 
Cornwall, Ephraim M. "~hite, Benjamin Hoyt; 1812, .Fri"nd Stan 
Elias Starr, Alanson Ilamlin; 1813, Samuel \\"ildman, Elijah San~ 
ford, Samuel II. Pl1illips 1 Phineas 'Iaylor; 1814, Frien<l Starr. Daniel 
Comstock, Jr., Russell ".hite, Daniel Hoyt; 1815, Elijah Gregory, 
Friend Starr, Eleazer Benedict, Jr., Eli Taylor: 181G, Elijah Grezory 
Eliakim Peck, Peter Ambler, John S. Blackman; 1~17, Fliend Starr: 
Elijah Gregory, Phineas Taylor, Nathan Seelye; 1818, Ba.muel 
Tweedy, Jr., Za.lmon wmlman, Eden Andrews, }lathe,,• \Yilkes· 
1819, Friend Starr, Zalmon ,vilJman; 1820, Eden Andrew~, 8amuei 
Tweedy, Jr.; 1821, Elijah Gregory, Eden Andrews; 1822, Elijah 
Gregory, Reuben Booth; 1823, Sturges Selleck, James Knapp; 1824, 
Eli Taylor, Samuel Twee<ly; 1825, Zadock Stevens, Samuel Ta,·lor· 
1826, Elijah Gregory, Oli\·er Shepar<l; 1827, Russell Ho_yt, Isa;c n: 
Seelye; 1828, :Kathaniel llbhop, George Clapp; 18:W, ,nlliam ll. 
Comstock, Starr Ferry; 1830, Rory Starr, Abel lloyt; 1831, Rory 
Starr, Ira Benedict; 1832, Peter Barnum, Rory Starr; 1833, Eli T, 
Hoyt, Russell Lacey; 183-1, Eli T. Hoyt, Starr Ferry; 1835, Ephraim 
M. \\"Lite, ALram Stow; 18;16, E\'lnaim ,v. ,vhite, lliram Benjamin; 
1837, Peter Barnnm, D:wid D. ,vn<lman; 1838, Da1i<l. D. " ... ildman, 
Isaac H. Seelye; 1830, Ephraim M. ,vhite, Charles S. Smith; 1840 
Starr Nichols, Le·vi Beeb8; 1841, Orrin Knapp, Henry 0. Judd; 184:!: 
,Yilliam Peck, Nathan Seeley, Jr.; 1843, Sherman Fe1Ty; 1844-1 Iii­
ram L. Stur<leYaut, ,Villiam C. Shepard; 1845, Edgar S. Tweedy, 
Starr Hoyt; 1846, Lewis S. Iloyt, Charles \V. Couch; 1847, Richard 
Osl>orn,,,Villiatn A. Judd; 1848., Benjamin Stone, llorace E. Jlickock; 
1840, Cyrus S. Andrews, Eli •r. Hoyt; 1850, N. II. " ... illlman, Joseph 
Tay1or; 1851, George Ferry, Henry 0. Judd; 1852, Ezra )1. Starr, 
Charles S. Smith; 1853, George Hull, Pierre A. Sutton; 1854, Fred­
erick S. \\"ildman, John D. Hart; 1855, Nathan Seeley, Orrin Knapp; 
1856, S. Tweedy, F. S. \Vildman; 1857, Giles M. Hoyt, ,Yilliam B. 
lloyt; 18.38, George Starr, D. F. Comstock; 1850, Jutlah P. Crosby, 
John Armstrong; 18GO, David P. :Xichols. Thaddeus Bromrnn; 1861, 
George Starr, James S. Taylor;. 1862, ALi.tah E. Tweedy, Aaron 
Pearse; lb63, Alfre<l ~- Gilbert, DaYid B. Booth; 186~, David B. 
Booth, Ori-in Benedh.:t; 1865, DaYitl I'. Nichols, ,villiam 11. Tweelly; 
1866, Samuel Mallory, J. S. Taylor; 1867, George II. Davis, S. Mal­
lory; 1868, Edward K. Carley, RogC"r Averill; 18GO, \Valker B. 
Bartram, John Tweedy; 1!-)70, Henry N. Fanton, Lyman D. Brew­
ster; 1~71, Henry N. :Fanton, Edwin R. Hummi.stou; 1872, DaYid D. 
Boot, Heury L. Read; 1873, Isaac Smith, Charles IL Recd; lr:i4-, 
Henry Perry, Thaddeus Rooney; U,75, LeYi K. ,\"iMman, ~athau 
B. Dil.Jble; 18i6, ~orman Ilodge, Charles H. Crosby; 1877, Charles 
ll. CrosLy, 1'atl1an B. DiLUle; 1878, Lyman D. Brewster, Edward. 
Davis; 1879, Lyman D. Brewster, Charles II. Hoyt; 1S80, Benjamin 
F. Bailey, David P. :Xichols. 

DANilURY IN THE REilELLIOX. 

The following excellent history of Danbury in the 
war of the Rebellion is an addre3s which was deliY­
ered by J. ::\1. Bailey, of the Danbury ..,_Yew~, at the un­
veiling of the Soldiers' Monument, ::\lay 27, 18S0: 

0 Danbury was very quiet through the winter that preceded the war. 
There was a talk of war, to 1.Je sure, Lut four-fifth:, of those who talked it 
C:i<l not believe in its possiLility. It was simply Xew England eloquence 
aniving at a burst in the pipe. There was an impres~io11, I remember; 
that even• State would sece<le excepting those which formc<l Xew Eng­
land, au<l.~ thi~ would naturally bring the war prospect down to a Yery 
narrow compass; ancl then, again, there were tho~e here who were sure 
Connecticut alone would remain in the Cnion, while every other State 
wouhl go out. This made many of us confident there was to he no war 
at all, and left us untrammeled in det~rminiug the numLer of tlie enemy 

we conhl slay in battle. 
"These matters were thoroughly and ably discussed when the weather 

was sufficiently mild to permit with safety the occupation of the depot 

and Concert Hall steps. 
"It was a gloomy winter, boweYer,-gloomy because business was in• 

tern1pted by the uncertainty of the immediate future. The summer and 
fall preceding had been seasons of prosperity. Our staple industry·, hat­
ting, was at full tid~. Every shop was crowded with orders. Largo 
pt ices were paiJ fur heir, and large profits were ma<le. I came to Dan-
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bury tbat year, and I rem,mber the surprise I felt iu seeing so mauy 
people Indulging in watem1olons nnd sweet potatoes. It seemed as if a 
millennium had set in, to which there ne\'or was to come an o.djourn­
ment. Strangers were moving int.o town, o.nd in every part of the Yillage 
buildings were going up at a lively rate. 

"After the No,·ember election all this changed. Progro,;s came to a 
stand-still as abruptly as if it hnd been mounted with in air-brake. Hat­
ting went under, and dragged with it, o.s is its custom, e\'ery other branch 
of Industry. Men had little to do but to stnnd around and talk. And 
the result was as sure as tax,s. Dyspt>poia s..t in, and gloom followed. 
Danbury's liver was full of gall, and Dnuuury's blood crawled sluggishly 
through its \'eins. Sumter was tho blue pill for the occasion, and most 
thoroughly did it do its work. 

"It was three o'clock on tho afternoon of Saturday, April 13, 1861, 
when Danliury recefred tue news of the fall of Sumter and the first "ic­
tory fur tho secessionists. All that day nnxious men infested the tele­
graph-office in search of tho intelligonce they dreaded to meet. When it 
came there WM n shock. It was ws if the untteries that played against 
the doomed fortress had been gah·anic, with their wires running through 

. ,,ur hearts 1 very centre. 
"The next forty-eight hours were full of compressed life. They were 

mental yeast-cakes. No excitement equaled it since that April day 
nearly a century dead when the face of a foreign foe was turned our way 
and tho tramp of an enemy's feet pre811ed our borders. 

"Now we knew there was to l,e a war. Even tho most .taoguine of B 

bloodless euding to the trouble gB\'e uptbe hope of peace, but not the de­
terminntion to win it. ln tbut first fiu•h o( indiguant shame party lines 
went under, and only the fact of tho outnige and the desire to a,·enge it 
appeared abo,·e the sea of pallivtic passion that swept over Danbury. 

"You nil know bow thronged lllnin Street is on a Saturday e\'ening• 
,ve have a sort of national reputation in this particular. But, a.~ com ... 
pared with that Snturduy night nineteen years ago, the one of the present 
is as barren of life as a Jaw library. 

"There wns but little sleep in Dnnbury tbat Suturday night; there was 
none whate\'er the next day, although there were eight churches hero. 
St. Peter itave way to snltpetre in the theology of the hour. 

"Danbury showed its colors promptly on the reception of the news 
from Sumter. "The first flag appeared from the resli:ence of Hon. Roger 
.-\\'erill, and others immediately followed,-in such numbers, too, that 
the ,·illago lookt..-d Jiko 11n o.nuy with bnnners. An interesting incident 
occurred with the unfurling of GoYE'lruor Averill's flag. Many present 
distinctly remember the ,·enerablo Col. Moss White. So\'eral years before 
the vmr ho wns stricken with parnlyt1iB, n.nd ,never recovered from the 
shock. He mo\'ed about with great dlJHculty, and lost all control of 
,·erLal expreseion except two words, in thu forru of nu injunction, which 
werc1 'Como all!' On seeing the flng he smi,to his breo.st. with both 
bands and cried aloud agnin and agalu, 'Come all ! Come all !' And the 
record shows that the ablu-bodied men of hi~ ontive town almost liter• 
ally responded to the cry. 

"On the Monday following the e,·entful Saturday, President Lincoln 
i;;aued a call for seventy•ft\'e tbonBllnd troops to m1trch to the dofeuse of 
the govcrnniont. On ,vcc111e.eday, Governor Buckinghnm 1s call for Con .. 
nccticut's quota of this number was receh·ed in Danbury, and on Friclay 
-only forty-eight hours later-our dear old mother had a company of 
her sons, nearly nil armed und equipped, on their way to the State reu­
dczYoue, ready for ucrion. These were the Wooster Guo.rtls, the first com­
pany to Jea,·e Danbury, and the first in the State to report for duty. Is 
not this something to be proud of? Glorious as is the name the dead 
Wooster left us, it received new brightness from the lustre of this act. 

"The dny the Wooster Guards depnrtod fur New Ha,·en was au e\'ent• 
ful one in the history of our town. It might ha\'e been co.lied both Good 
and Black Friday,-Good because of the devotion to principle thus manl­
fcst<-d, Black bec,1Use of"the gloom In the hearts of those whose trying 
mis,ion wns to stay at home and wail. 

"It was only for throe months that this devotell company were to be 
gone, but the eye of affection BllW every bitter poESibility crowded within 
tbnt brief Sl'ace, nnu hearts stood still at the sight. 

"You may rest nssurod that " hearty godspeed accompanied Danbury's 
first oft"eriug upon tho nation's altar. People were suft"ering under a 
mighty tension of excitement, and any escape that presented itself was 
promptly used. And so when this first company weut away there was a 
JJarade, and the touchlng otf of powder, and tho wa\'iug of hats, and a 
shouting and yelling as If e\'ery man had a telephone of his own and 
wanted a doctor. 

"The toR·n's military hnll was then on the top door of D. P. Nichols' 
building, corner of lllain and White Streets. There the Guard. llSllem· 
bled and received recruits, ~nd prepared for the ad\'ance. But it was In 
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Concert llall, on the spot where to-day was unveiled the monument, thRt 
the brave baud were consecrated to the holy cause of national life, and 
the God of battles was invoked to watch over them. It was a triumJJb­
ant marcb totbe hall, and a triumphant march from there to the railwuy­
station, and all along the route the way was hedged in with sympathetic 
and effervescent humanity. At the station Itself the currents bec1<me an 
ocean into which the Guards were ILbsorbed as completely ns if thoy bad 
gone down into a real ocean. E,·ery man in that company was n hero 
in the <'yes of the rnultitutle, o.nd eYt-'ry mauift.•Btntion of approYal was 
showered upon tllt'm. It was a. wonder to us how the train ever got 
away from the station with its precious freight without cnl8hiug ecores 
of humaus in Its mo\'ing. But it did 010,·e away free from all obstacle, 
l)Dd the Guards went out from among us with hearts so full of purpose 
that grief found 110 entrance therein. 

"Capt. E. E. Wildman was in commnncl; Je&1e D. Rte\'ens was first 
lieutenant; John ,v. Bu~iug was second Ueuteuaut. ThPso three num 
are still with us. 1 nm going to read to you the muster-roll of that band 
who took their lives in their hand• to go out upon an untried enterprise. 
I would like to repent from this platfo1 m the nnn,o of every volunteer 
from our town, l,ut time will not permit it. The chit!f lutercst centr('B 
&bout this company because it was 11,ejir.1. This is the list: 

"Serge,mts, Andrew Knox, Milo Dickens, William llloegling, Samuel 
M.Potit. 

"Corporals, George B. Allen, E. S. Da"is, Alexander Kallman, Nathan 
Couch. 

"l\Iu•icians, Edward H. Dann, Grandison D. Foote. 
"Priv1ttes, John Allen, Harri• Anderson, C. H. Anderson, John Bo­

gardus, Charles A. Boerum, James Blizzard, William H. Blizzard, Thomas 
T. Bussing, James Bradley, Theodore B. Benedict, A.H. Byington, George 
,v. Banker, Charles A. Bengort Nh'tLD1 Blackman, Thomus D. Brown, 
Henry E. Buckinghnm, William K. Cowan, Lemnol B. Clark, William 
R. Doane, Josiah L. Day, Ed. ll. Day, Joseph L. Dunuing, Ezekiel Eaton, 
C. Fieldstone, Denis Geli\'on, Christopher Grimm. Charles A. Gordon, H. 
W. Gibbs, Carl W. Hillbrandt, William O. Hoyt, W. P. Hoyt, Do.\'id B. 
Hoyt, Alfrec\ H. Hoddinott, Thomas Hooton, Otto Hagement, James 
Howath, Jesse L. Jnmes, Earnest T. Jennings, 181\1\C N. J•nnings, George 
D. K•eler, Morris A. Krazynsky, William J. Murphy, Emil C. Jllargruff, 
James Martin, Andrew B. Nichol", Horace Purdy, Fmnds W. Platt, 
Joseph W. Raymond, James Reed, James R. Ross, 'l"imothy Rose, George 
L. Smith, Alson J. Smith, Bllnjamin F. Skinner, David Sloane, Gnindison 
Scott, Louis Shack, Eli D. Seeley, Augustus Staple•, George Sears, James 
H. Tnylor, Joseph Tammany, Darius A. Yeo.ts, F.dgar L. Wildman, How­
ard W. Wheeler, John Waters. 

"Tho papers of New Haven spoke highly of the appearance of the 
comrany, and lauded the promptuess with which it responded to the 
nation's cry fvr help. It is a great deal to be the first In an enterprise 
frnnght with danger, Le<:auso the danger itself is uutriet.1 and oll the 
morC' fom1idaLle. It was o. bra,·e thing fur the families of thcso men to 
gi,·o up their own, but both tho•e who went and those who sent them 
had no lack of the spirit which constitutes heroism. 

u There nre two inci<lents I ecorded in the New Haven Journal of that 
time which yf\•idly show how bright and clear l>urned the fire ofputiiot­
ism on the altar set up in Danbury. I quote from the Jour11al: 

'"' The meo are in the 1.,cst or spirits, aud are determined to ,·indicnte 
the untarnished honor of old Connectkut. Ouo of them received a 
letter from his wife, Saturtlay c,·eniug, saying, "I do wish, Robert, you 
could return; but if it is not consistent with honor nnd duty, go! Good­
by, and remember always to be faithful to our country, and to fight man­
fully for our glorious ftug." Said tho brtwo fellow, trying hnrd to repress 
a tenr as he perused the precious mi."8ivo. "Who coulun't fight when 
such a. wife conunn.ndcd it?" Another member or the company wns met 
by his father on tho l"""en, who snid, as he handed him a wallet contHin­
ing some thirty dollars in ,zold, " llly son, tnke your father's blessing 
and this sllm purse. It Is all I can gh·e you. Do your duty. It is bard 
for your aged mother and me to part "·itb you, but God bless yon, go! 
If you full, give your dying blessing to your comrades. Good-by."' 

"These are specimens of the men who went in that first company from 
Danbury, and of those who 1,'11\"8 them up. Of the mnterial that com­
posed this band tho lJLrger part reappeared to credit In subsequent organ­
izations. Some of them reached distinction as officers. )fony of them 
are with us to-<lo.y. l\lany have passed through the Valley of the Shadow. 
One who marched in the ranks on the departure from Danbury does not 
appear in this list. He was objected to on account of age, nnJ although 
he tried in various ways to l>e mustered in was not succesdfnl. '1.'hi:3 was 
Nelson L. White, afterwards lieutenant-colonel of the First Connec:icut 
Hea,·y Artillery, and now gone to his eternal rest. 

"Another prominent name Is that of William llloegling, who ente:·ed 
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the Ele..-entb Regiment ns captnln of one of the companies, became the 
lleuteMnt-colonel, wns twice wounded, came homo disabled, and died 
here on tho 26th of October, 1864. 

"The oncnmpmont of the First Regiment, to which this com_pany was 
I\SSigned, wa,, whllo In tho State, a rather pleasnnt llfl'Rir, sometblns in 
the line of" picnic. This-was the experienco of all the regiments. The 
food waa good, every man had a plato, knife, Rnd fork, tho tents wero 
clean, bod• woro furnlshod to sleep upon, passes wore frequent, the uni• 
forms were new, and there were plenty of admirers. After leaving the 
StRte and gettlnj!: into tho field another an,! an entirely different order 
of thing& developed, and the progress to It waa somewhat like falling 
down stairs. The1'8 was but \"ery little apple-sauce In the field, and 
se1Lrcely any cologne, whlle the man who had ll knife and fork waa 
looked upon with considoral,lo suspicion. Straw ticks gave way to bare 
ground, and shoo blacking to stone bruises, and If a man had a whole 
crown to his hat he llatterod himself that ho was doing ,·ery handsomely 
by the government. When the nowB reached tho Seventeenth Connect!• 
cut, reclining in tho frozen mud of Chantilly, Va., of the complaint of a 
newly-organized regiment nt home that only one bundle of straw waa 
glYen to each man, very heavy gloom settled upon Chantllly, and may 
be there yet. All tho misery of war is not couftned to the battle•lleld, 
although that appears to be the generally· received impr088ion outaiJe 
the army, 

"The First Connecticut left Now Haven for Waahlngton on the 9th of 
Mny. Gen. Scott'• comment upon it waa brief but to the point. He 
said, • Thunk God, there ls one regiment on band ready for service I' 

"Early in the morning of July 21st the regiment went to the front, 
and Danbury received its baptism of fire in the war of the Union. All 
that day the regiment waa marched nod couutermarched In the multi• 
tude of clrnnges in position, nod much of the time It wns subject to a 
so\"ero fire from the enemy, bnt came out of that dreadful disaster with 
scarcely n mark. The only lo•• the Danbury company sustlllned waa 
the capture of two of its memliors, Alfred H. Hoddlnott and Isaac N. 
Jennings. 

"Tho regiment was mustered out of the e<-rvlce on the 31st of July, 
nnd the Wooster Guards were given a picnic reception In Jnmea Nlchola' 
wooda, In Great Pluin District, on Saturday, August 3d, at which there 
was grcllt rejoicing and no unlimited snpply of sandwiches, in connectlou 
with music, poetry, nod pies. 

"Within ten day$ from the departure of the Wooster Guard• for New 
Hn,·en a second company for three months' eervlce was formed and ready 
to depart. This was on the 20th of April. The organization waa culled 
the Danbury Riffe Company, and was commanded by the gnllant aud 
lnmented James E. Moore. llis first lieutenant waa Samuel G. Bailey, 
and his aecond lieutenant ChRtles H. Hoyt. Lieut. Hoyt resigned elx 
w~eka lnter o.nd F. \\r. Jackson, o. sergeant, was promoted to the ,·acancy. 
The con11iauy waa mustered into the United SIRies service as Company <: 
of the Third Regiment, and numbered ee..-enty-se\"en men. The de­
Jlartnre of this body of cltizen-eolJiers waa signalized by n general out• 
pouring of the people of Danbury. The company waa escorted through 
the \"llluge hy a spirltt-d cRmlcnde, and at the railway-station there were 
elaborate preparations for nn ~nthnsiastlc send-off. A plntforn1 waa 
erected, winch waa mounted by the clergy, who fired the hearts of the 
Yolunteers l\nd others with new ieul, Bud a bnnd of music added to the 
electricity. The company departed amid a \"Ollry of cheors and a burst 
of music, whih, the air was white with the wu.,·ing of handkerchiefs 
muist with tean. 

"Ah, it is something to have lived In those daye of delirium I 
"The company waa mustered Into the service on the 14th of May, at 

ll1Lrtford, and on the 25th of that month left the State for Waehiugton. 
"The Danhury Rifles took nu active part in the tragedy of Dull Run. 

The regiment was exposed to a se,·ere fire, and acquitted Itself moat 
credit,.Lly. J,'rom it• ranks DILnbury offered her first living sacrifice. 
Thie wn's John It. Mar•h, foutth •erge,mt of the company, a name that 
hen.dd DonUury's llst of nm.rtyns in the war for the Union. Ho was 
struck aucl killed by a piece of flying shell. Private A. E. Bronson """" 
made a prisoner. 

'"Of the mnes se..-erul aftern"'rds rendered distinguished service In 
other commands. Chief waa the 1,'1lllaut captain who crowned his unsel• 
fish de,·otion by yielding up his life "t the bead of hla co01pa11y on the 
blood••ntumted field of Gettysburg. There also Bro1111<>n gave,up.hlsllfe, 
cl;vlng by the •ide of bis leader. Cori,. Milton Daniels and Prl,·ate Henry 
Qnlen became captains of tho Danbury company In the Seventeenth. 

"The Rill•• returned to Danbury 011 Wodueoday e1·enlng, the 14th or 
August. On Saturday, the 17th, they were entertuined by a gro,·e dining 
at Oil Mill, and by e1ieecbes and music in Concert Httll, 

"I hare saiJ tliat there W11S «insiue1·able demonatration when tho 

Riffee -went awny. In the escort on that day was I\ company or young 
men whose very bot blood found some expression In the tmpuleively sug• 
geatlve titlo of Zouaves. The Zoua,·ee numbered sixty mem\iera on that 
day, aud they averaged nearly elx feet in stature. They were in some 
respects the most remarkal,Je body of men oent to the war from Danbury, 
The larger portion of them wore the full-blooded and bigb-spiritt.-d boys 
of the period, full of life and dasli, and a credit to the east side of Main 
Street any afternoon or evening. 

The Zouaves became Company A of the Fifth Regiment, and were the 
first company of tlu-ee-yeare' men·to go out from Danbury. I think the 
author of that rather vigorous poem, • Tramp, tramp, tran,p, the boys are 
marching,' must have been a member of the gallant Fifth. Nowhere 
else coulu he have got more iusplrntiou. Colt"e factory waa to-pave fur• 
nlehed the regiment with revolving arms. Nature gave them their 
revolving legs, a.nd never before or since waa Nature more generous. No 
body of men from Danbury equaled this company in the extent of aer• 
dee. Thie is a distinction Indeed among a number of bodice no one of 
whom brought diecredit upon our dear old town, and most of whom 
were subject to ae..-ere tests of physical endurance and courage. 

"l'he Zvuaves were commanded by Capt. Henry B. Stone, the lieu ten• 
ants were James A. Betts, fin,t, and William A. Daniele, second. They 
left Danbury for Hartford on the 10th of May. The demonstration made 
over tlreir departure exceeded that made on either of the preceding OC• 

caaioos. Nearly all the Zouaves were well known and well liked in tbie 
community, ,md they bad a large following of friends. It was the blgg .. t 
day Danbury witnessed in that 1·olume of big dl\y&. Many of you re• 
member it. There were eoverul local organizations In the line of march 
through the village. One of them was the Home Guards, another wna 
the Union Cadets, a third the Anderson Guards, which was compoaod of 
Irish citizens. In addition to tbeee were the tire companies. Most of 
the Zouaves had ' n1n with the machine.' and ran with It enthueiasttcally, 
too, you may be eure, and so the lire-lade were out In force. Thon there 
were the village brass band and a long line of horsemen. Twenty yeara 
ago Danbury didn't think it could parade with any decency whatever 
unlese It wae a-straddle of a horse. There were the ringing of the bell•, 
the discharge of cannon, th& strains of music, flights of oratory, and 
clret-rs that made tho cheerers hoarse for a week after. What added a 
deep slgnlftconce to the e.trair was the proapect that the parting was to 
be foranmch longer period thnn three month•, and·to the hearts of tboae 
left behlnu, shivering In the very glory of the parade, three months 
looked long enough, looking forward to it. Well for those poor souls 
bra\"ely fighting down their pain that they could look no farther into 
the future than they di,! I 

"The company wus originally dedgned to apply to the three month• 
quota, but before ita mneter-roll was completed the quota waa full, and 
it was then a choice with them whether they would enroll fur three 
years or stay at home. You will re1tdily comprehend bow aevere a test 
to their zeal waa this choice. Dut-tbey were equal to it, as they proved 
tbem•e!Yee to be equnl to every test the military genius of friend or foe 
subjected them to. 

"The Ftnb le~ Hartford on the 29th of June for the sent of "'ar, or 
rather for the wal"1)«1h, for it WIIS " regiment that saw but precious few 
opportunillee for •itllng down. In the yeara of its senice the regiment 
marched over fift,en hundred miles, at one time being on the mu,·e for 
ulneteen consccuti,·e dn.ye, and marching in one day the unusual distauce 
of forty-fi,·e n1ilea. It took in more scenery than nny other regiment 
from Connecticut. It began in Virginia and brought up in North Caro­
lina, by way of Tennessee and Georgl1<. The only reason why it did not 
eee tho Yoaemlte Valley waa because there happened to be no lighting 
there. It fought eleYen bl\ttles, among them being Cedar Mountaln,­
wbere It met its heaviest lose,-Chnncellorsville, and Gettysburg. Six 
of the Zoua\"CS were killed outright or were fatally wounded, and nine­
teen of them othern•ise wounded. Of the original company only tliree 
died,111 the eer\"ice fron1 disease, which shows the superior physical condi• 
lion of the men. Perhaps no company from Danbury witnesee<I eo many 
changes in lta officers"" did the Zoua,·es. 

"Its first commander, Henry B. Stone, was promoted to be lieuronant­
colonel. He was wounded at the liRttle of Cedur Mountain, and died on 
the 20th of January, 1862, from the effects of that wound. Hie bravery 
waa without a fiaw. First Lieut. Betta was al,ro promoted to be lien tenant• 
colonel. Second Lieut. Dnnlels was made llrst lieutenant, and was m1111-
tered out of the een·ice becauee of disability. First Sergt. Theodore Di lib le 
was made a captain, Second Sergi. Lowis K. Carley, who recently died, 
became the quartermaster of the regiment, and nmde a model officer in 
thnt difllcult and ..-ery important department. Third Sergi. George N. 
Ruymo,;d waa made n first lieutenant. Fourth Sergt. James Stewart 
reached a cn1 taiucy. Corp. Edgar A. Stratton was promot~ to be llrst 
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li•utenant, and Corp. A. 111. "Whitlock, to be second lieutenant. Two 
prh·ates, W. H. Dotsford e.nd E. A. Sage, were promoted to bo first lieu­
tenants. The first assistant surgeon of the regiment was Dr. W. C. 
Bennett, who became a brlgado surg•on. The company largely re-en­
listed at the cloae of the three years' term, e.nd so served until the closo 
of the war. It received fifty-nine recrulte, making its total strength one 
hundred and sixty-five men. 

" After the departul'e of the ZouaTes from Danbury there came a lull 
in military operations here. There was no pressing demand for troops, 
and no organization was forming. We bad done our share of the work, 
and were now wnlting to see bow things were going to turn out. Per­
haps what we had done would be sufficient. At any rate, there was 
nothing more to do but to wait and look and speculate. An army had 
gathered in Virginia, the coming l>attle-ground, and tho h011ts of friends 
and foes were on the eve of what the greater portion of us believed 
would be the decish-e battle of the war. Those were days of eager watch­
ing, but the feeling was of that intense nature that found little outward 
exprHBiou. 

"At last it came. There was an awful crash, and then a shock,-such 
n dreadful shock! The battle of Dull Run ,..as fought, and-lost. Our 
splendid army was shamefully beaten and driven back in defeat and 
dismay. 

"The waiting was over, the watching at an end, and the strong, faith­
ful heart 9f our sturdy town smothered Its grief and went bmvely to 
work to build anew. 

":Military Hall again blazed with light and sounded with tho tromp of 
volunteer foet, e.nd the drum and fife awakened the cchoc'S of our streets. 
Denjamin F. Skinner and William l\loogling, fresh from the disastrous 
battle-field, roceived authority from Go,·ernor Ducklngham to recruit a 
company for the then forming Sixth Regiment, and fell to work at once 
to execute the commission. 

"On the night of Augast 10th a largo, enthusiastic public meoting was 
held in Concert Hall with a view to stimulating enlistments In the new 
company. Thirty names had already been enrolled, and fourteen more 
were added that night. Within a week the company was completed, and 
on the 28th of August It departed for New llaven. Although recntite,1 
for the Sixth, it was asslgnod to the Seventh Regiment, and became 
Company D In that organization. D. J,'. Skinner was chosen cavtain, 
Joseph Dunning first lieutenant, and Thomas Hooten second lieutenant. 
These three were members of the first company of three months' men. 
Three weeks Inter, September -18th, the regiment left the State for the 
front. 

" Tho Se¥enth sen·ed the grenter part. of its limo in tho far South. It 
was the first to land on the soil of South Carolin,~ nnd its ftag was tho 
first national color unfurled in that State since the beginning of the war. 
Governor Duckinghum promulgated the fuct in a special order, and it 
was read to e,·ery Couuecticut regiment in tho field. This alone was 
glory enough, hut the Sc,·euth did grand sen·ico throughout the wur. It 
saw more fighting than any other regiment in which D1mbury J1ad a 
company, taking part in nineteen engagements, cbief among which we, e 
the bottles of Morris Ialancl and Fort Wagner, and those aliout Bermuda 
Hundred. The Seventh was a' fighting regiment· in the fullest s•n•e of 
the term. The Danbury company liorc its full sh!U"e of tile work, ns the 
casualties show, its loss in killed an,1 wounded being greater than the 
aYerage of the companies. The company hnd none of its commissioned 
officers on ita return, and yet thern werf.' but two promotion.r-i from the 
ranks. CRpt. Skinner resigned In Fehrunry, 1864, }'irst Lieut. Dunning 
l•ft the &erTice In the first year, and Second Lieut. Ho0ten lost his brave 
life in battle on the Hth of Juno, 1862. First Sergt. Theodore C. Wild­
man was promoted to be first lieutenant, and Private William W. New­
man reached the so.mo office. In ,·iew of tho service of tho com~ 
pany, the changes in position wore remarkably few. Most of tho 
company re-enlisted on the expiration of its three years' term,and served 
until tho close of the war. Its !oases exceeded thoso of auy company 
Danbury sent to the war. Eie,·en of its members wero kllled outright, 
twenty-seven v.·ere wounded, of whom si:< dfod from the effects of wounds 
nnd twenty-one died with dise8"e, of which number eix died in the An­
derson¥ille prillOn. The company entered the army with one hundred 
and ftve men and recch·<.."<l sixty-throe recruits. 

"On the 24th of August aMthor company was formod. There hns 
ahmys been much that was mysterious surrounding this organization. 
It bus no record, and not even its officers are fully known. No trace of the 
company is in the poesession of the State authorities. It partlcip11ted in 
hut one battle, hut suff'ered se\"erely. Like a gourd It grow up and went 
down in one day. It disbanded with considerable ostentation. In fsct, 
the disbandment covered more ground than all its sen·ice. Dut oneda1k 
spot dims its glory. The •~ars of the woundii receh·ed in that battle are deli-

cately concealod from sight, and arc only visiblo to the public when the 
survivors l\re discovored in swimming. The bnttle of Charcoal Run took 
place on the 24th_ of August, 1861. 

" Inun~diately following this tragedy came the Inception of the fifth 
company in Danbury's contribution to the army. In spite of the rather 
Inauspicious fsct that the organizer wns an enterprising undertaker, the 
formation of the company went rapidly forward, and under almost as 
great a strain or excitement as signalized the former enrollment. 

"On the 26th of Scptemhcr tho company left Danbury for Hartford, 
where it remained until the 16th of December followiug, when it went 
to the front •• Company A or the Eleventh Regiment. It was com­
manded by Capt. George A. Southmayd. His first lieutenant was Samuel 
G. Dailey, and the second lieutenant Charlea H. White. The company 
was called the A,·crill Rifles, the name being adopted in honor of 
Hon. Roger A,·erill. It left Dnnhury to go to Hartford on a national fnst­
day, Scptemher 20th, and returned here on Thanksgiving Dny, No¥em­
ber 28th, for the purpose of re<:civing a st1md of colors, a gift from Gov­
ernor A •·crill. Tho exercisea took placo iu Concert Hall, where the mon­
ument now stands, and there are those here this e,·ening who Yividly 
remember all its details and will look back upon that No,.ember evooing 
with peculiar aens,dions. 

" As a part of the Eleventh Regiment the Averi!I Rifles participated 
In ten serious engagements. Chief among these were Antietam, Frcder­
ickshurg, Drury's Dluff', and before Potersburg. Its losses were ten killed 
or died from wounds and twenty-two wounded. Sixteen of the memhers 
died with disease, three of them while prisonc,;. of war at Andersonville. 
The company we.s tho ln.rgost from Danbnry in the son·ico. It wns 
orginally one hundred and one strong, and during its term it l'eceh·ed 
one hundred and eh. recruits, mn.kiug tho total two hundred and ee,·en. 
It re-enli.ltcd in 18M, ond was mustered out in Docember, 1865. It met 
with many change•. Cnpt. S,nthmnyd resigned in the summer of 1862. 
First Lieut. Dailey \\'RS promoteJ to the vacancy, and right after re­
signed. Second Lieut. White was promoted to his place, and resigned. 
The company lost these three officers within the space of two wet:ks. 
Firet Scrgt. Henry J. McDonald lJeot1mc major, Second Scrgt. D. D. :Mans­
field was made a second lieutenant, ~·ourtb Sergt. Nut hon Cornwall nllll 
Corp. George Cassidy first lieutenants. From the nmks David A. Hoag 
rose to be captain, John II. Sniffin to l>e first lieutenant, Peter W. Amhler, 
Christian Quien, and Sylvester C. Platt second lieutenants. Cho.rles Par­
ker, a recruit, wns a1Jpointed n qnartermnster. 

"A company of Gennan citizens in this regiment was comnumdod Uy 
Cnpt. William Moei;ling, who was promoted to be lieutenant-colonel, anti 
was twice wounded. }'rom the effects of these wounds he was oi,Jigc,l 
to return homo, and here he died on the 2Gth of Octoher, lSM, one of the 
bravest uf Danbury's volunteers. Thero wore seven Danbury ci111.ens in 
Capt. Moogling'd company. 

"The Eleventh was one of the crack rei:lments of Connecticut. It. was 
always to be depended up.:m, and won the hearty n.pproUation of it-5 
brigade commanders. "·hen it a11pcarcd in Now York city on its wu.y to 
the front it had quite a reception, and its soldierly bearing wvn th~ praise 
or the city pn:oa. 

"The fkte companies whoso historios I have hrif'lfly Bketchcll comprise 
the number of orgnuizntiJIJS that Danbury furui:ihed to maiutuin the 
nation's life in that first year of tho war. 

" In the regiment of cavulry raised that summer the:-e were o. score of 
Dnnbury men. lu fact, our town \\as represented iu every com11nuy in 
the troop. Thero were nl3o recruits from horo iu every reginumt but the 
Second that went out or the State that year. 

"On the 3d of DeceruOOr, ISGl, Andrew Knox, of D,ml.mry, recciveJ 
authority from GqTernor Du1,;kinghn.m t.J rui:Je recruits for tho sun·ice. 
He immediately bc-g:LU the work, n.nd in a very short time hn<l secure l 
forty-five volunteers. With th1•se 110 reported nt Hartfor,J for Juty. 
They were assigned to Com1mny B of the First lleavy Artillery, which 
had then emerged rrom the ~•ourtb Infantry. Nol.on L. White w11s the 
lieutcnant--colouel of this ndmiralJlo regiment. Xoox was mntle seconU 
lieutenant of tho company, and wns promoted shortly after to \,c firdt 
lieutenant. When I hn,·e occasio:i to write his oUtuary I will speak 
more pal ticularly of him. 

" Dunhury is not consiJerc<l to Le specially connecteJ wit!\ this regi­
ment, nnd yet thoro wtrl\ fifty~flvc resitfout:1 of our town in Li~ut. 
Knox's company, or mure tha.u there were ia uny compauy urgamza<l 
here with the single exception of C'.ompany K, Twenty-third Re:;io1ent. 
I do not include in the count those who \Jelonged to the quota or tho 
town and enlisted here, Lut simply those who hu.d. rosidcnco iu Dant,ury. 

"I cannot close this record of the y,•a1 'e work without n word f,r the 
newspnpera of the <lo.y. There l:i n mournful pleasure iu lookiug 0 ,·er 
them and pondering on their nmguiflceut upportunities for snuhl,lug 
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truth. They contain full acconots of all the bnttles, and one in reading 
the figures in tho list of casualties cannot help admiring the reeonrceA 
of tho South, wbate\"0r ho nu1y think of its policy. I dare say there 
were oe many Southerners killed in thnt first year of tbe war ~B we had 
men fighting in nil tho years. I recall ono cuee where it atutod that a 
Union man killed ll,irt!l-flt:e secessionists at. one shot. It led mo to be· 
He,·o th11t the rebels fuught in 1Jales liko you 80motimes seo coclihsh in a 
grocery, und I couldn't belp shuddering when I thought how thin their 
uodioe must be. At tho same time I wished that I owned that gun. 
lteally, our government did not need one--tcntlt the troops it raised. 

u Tho sccou<l year of tho war, 18G2, passed half awny without witness• 
ing any organizing action in Danbury. Tl1nt winter will e,·er lie known 
ns lu,viug originated tho bnlmy condition of affairs along the course of 
the Potomac. All that time the announcement of 'All quiet. along the 
Potomac 1 was new and fresh, nnd gave quite 11 charm to current litera• 
ture. 

"Occnsionolly there wos n descent upon the Yillnge of some recruiting­
agent with his Jnzzling prospectus. Pe<>J>le wero getting used to the war 
and all that JM.H1aincd to it possible f..,r thcn1 to kuowt aud oven tho Dan• 
1,ury horso pntiontly sulm1ittcd to bnnue1s un<l drums. 

"In tho summer of 18G2 there wo.s n call for three hundred thousand 
moi o troops, to servo for three yellrs, nn<l Dunlmry agnin bestirred herself 
to gather !,er sons and send tbem fo1 th to the fight. There wos a public 
meeting iu Concert Hull one July e\"euiug. It wns n. notable gathering 
in thut it had o. liYe GoYernor to aUdreSB it, and a lh·o lieutenont-gcwer. 
nor to preside oYer it. Go\"cruor Dul'kingham, the noble hero, wns here 
that night, uod Liout.-Gov. Averill was called to the choir. Both of 
them mo.de u.ddresse.:J which were appcnl~ that stirred the nrdor of Dan­
bury as it lmd not. Leon stirred since the Dull Run tlisnster. 

"It was a tr~mcndous meeting,-the Liggest yet held. A large num• 
ber could not b'1lin ndmittnnce to the hnll. Tho lmildini; wns full. It is 
said there were over u. thousand porsous in there that night. You who 
rentl'mlJer the old lmll will agree with me that the ushers must have 
ba.d years of expericucc in lJoxini; sardines. ,v11en the speaking was 
o,·er there wtLS 1L call for Yolunteers. A tnll man went forward. Ho had 
the typical military flgure,-tnll, slim, stmighl. He wrote his nom~ on 
tho po.per presented. It wns the first nnmc, nnd wo.s read to the audience. 
It was thn.t of Jno1es E. lfoorc. The announcement of this name wu 
receh·ed with a storm of applause. Little did be who wrote it, or those 
who cheered it, auticipnte the tragedy that ayeorlator wns to quench bis 
life. Other numes rapidly followed, and the fl.rat step for the formation 
uf tho Wildman Guards wus taken. The nnme wos nllopted in honor of 
our follow-dtizen. Frederick S. Wildman, The command thus stnrted 
soon became n full compauy~ and took the designation of 'C' in the 
Se,·enteeuth Ucgiment of Connecticut Voluuteo1e, then being raist.'d Uy 
this county, nncl tl10 only distinctiYcly }"airfield County regimeut re­
cruited. Its hendquarters were ut Bridg~port.. On the 28th of August 
it wns mustered Into the United States een·ice, nod on the 3d of Sep­
tember it left the State for the front. 

"Capt. Jamcii E. :Moore wo.s the commnntler of this company. Tiu, 
first Jieutcnont. was \\Tilton H. Dunit,le. 'l'hu Sf!COUd Jifjutcuo.nt. w1u1 
llenry Quien. Tho company numbered one hnudred l\nd two on leu,·ing 
tho Stute. During itd term of ~ervice it r..:ceh·L'U se\'en recruits, making 
its total uumlJcr one hundred and nine. Its battfos were uot many, hut 
its recol'd shows thnt it made the most of its op1w1 tunities. The regiment 
was assigned to the Army of tho Potoma.c, where it son·ed until after the 
bllttle of Gettysburg, wlum It wns tran•forred to the Depnrtmeot of the 
South and Jiu dut.y before Charle;,ton and in }'lorlda. Th• Danbury 
company first came under flru ut ChauccllorsYille, where it hu.d one mem· 
oor fatally woundeJ and two Iese eeliouely. Its se<:ond engngement was 
Gettysburg. Here its experience was most Litter. lie loss lo thut fight 
was the most serious su,tuined by any Danl,ury comJ)Uny in any one en­
gagement fought. If I recollect aright, the company went into the bat• 
tie witl1 forty-four members. Of thc,e elo,·en wore killud outright or 
died shortly from the etfocts of wounds. Eleven were otherwise wounded 
and eleven were ctlptured. leaving ele,·en sunh·ors. On that flelJ. the 
l,n1.Yc captain gu.Ye up his life, aud three of hits sergeants p<,ridhed with 
him. Tho conipany·s casun\ties during its three ye1Lrs of serYice were 
twelve killed outright or fntally wounded, tweh·e otherwise wounded, 
and seven died of disease. There wero but fow promotions. Both lieu• 
tenants, Daniels and Qulun, i.><,cume captaiu of tile company, the former 
resigning in !\larch, 1864. Sergt. WilliDDI L. Daniels WM made first 
lleutcnant. 

"The adjutant-general of the State, in his report of the sen-Ices of the 
· Couuecticut troops, speaks in tl1e following distinctire 101108 of tbe 

Se,·enteenth: 
" • Thus ended the honoral,le sen-ice of a regiment the eupe1ior of 

which in inteJJigence, morale, courage, and endurance was not found in 
the army. The commonwealth of Connecticut will ever cherish the 
memory of its dead and honor its Jh·ing.' 

"Tho ]fifteenth Regiment went into the sen·ice at tho same time with 
tbe Sevonteenth. The lnte Dr. E. F. Hendrick was an oasbtant surgeon 
in this regiment, which had fifteen of our citizens. One of these was 
Chnrlcs S. Gn\y, who entered tlte-sen·ice as a sergeant aud was promoted 
to be second lieutenant. 

"Io Septemuer, 18G2, Danbury completod her last organizations for the 
war. These wero two compnnie.:1 enlisted for a term of nine mouths. 
Both companies were recruited for the Twenty-third Regiment. Each 
contained eighty-three members. The first was Compnny B. Its cap­
tain was James H. Jenkins. The first lieutenant was the lamented 
Frederick Storr, \\·ho wns fatally wounded in tho battle of La Fourcho, 
La. The second lieutenant was William B. Betts, who was promoted to 
be first lieutenant on tho death of Stnrr. Sergt. Henry I. Smith becomo 
second lieutenant. The company's loss in the sen·ice were two from 
wounds and three from disease. 

"The second company was mustered in as Company K. It was com­
manded by Capt. Snmuel G. Bailey. The first lieutenant wns Edwin H. 
Nearing, and tho second George Quien. The Quions may be culled a 
family of offlcors. All its M'nilalJle force, throe sons, went into. the ser• 
,·ice, and all were officers. The caeualties of Con1pnny I{ were the cap­
ture of Capt. llalley and the dentl1s from disease of four members. 

u The regiment sen·ed in Louisiana and faithfully dischn.rged tho duties 
ussigned to it. Samuel Gregory was the adjutant uod Eli Ferry the ser­
gcnnt•major of the regiment. 

" I haYe here prepared a tnble which shows the strength and the Joss 
of Danbury in the war for the Union. Although our ,·illage had organi­
zations in lmt seYen of the thirty regiments from the State, it had repre .. 
sentatiYeS in nearly nil of them. In this table is given the •trength of 
tho Du.ulJury companies and the uuml>er of Danlnu-ians iu other com­
pnnies of the snme regiments: 

Regiment. Danbury Co. Other Coe. Total. Wounded. Killed. 
let...................... 78 1 79 
3d......... ............. 77 2 7U 1 
3d I. L. Bat ........• 2 1 
1st C1<v .............. . 3l! 
bt H. Artillery .. . 85 2 
2<l. " ., 12 l 2 
5th .................... - 1G5 8 173 JU G 
6th .................... . 47 6 4 
7th..................... 168 36 204 2d 19 
8th .•...•.•............. 11! 
Uth .................... . 12 
1ot11• ................. . a 
11th.................... 207 21 228 22 10 
12th ................... . 21 
13th .................. .. r, 
14th ................... . 4 
15th ................... . 15 
17th.................... lO'J 19 128 12 12 
20th ...••••.•••••••••••• :it 
23d..................... lGG 15 181 2 
24th( ...........•...... 
~th Colored ...... .. 

1 
23 

30th " 1 

Total............... 970 390 1:iw 01 5G 

"This shows that Dan Lury had six companies in the army whose total 
memlJership wus 0i0. In other companh.•e were 300 of her citizens. 
making a gnmd totnl of 1360, 01· nem·lu 011e-si.<U, of /,er populalio11. Of 
these 5G were killed, 91 wero wounded, and 89 died of disease, the totnl 
of caeunlties beiug one-sixth of the contribution. 

•· This i:j tho record over which Danbury exults while it mourns. In 
oil the towns of this suffering, enduring, bm,·e little State there Is none 
that presents a grander re<:ord than this. F,om the hour when the 
shao1e put on Sumter thrilled her loyal heart, she never faltered in the 
wo.y onco set Lefore her. There can no ono now or in the future yd to 
come, howc,·er distn.nt. it mny grow, lay the finger of reproach upon our 
dear old mother, or sny th•t in aught pertaining to the welfare of her 
own or of the !nod she so dearly lo,·es her loyalty had lacking. 

"From out the tears that fodl for those who in the shock of!inltle went 
the royal rond to denth she looks with grateful pr!Je upou the work so 
UraYely. so ~oLly wrought, and lays thereon her cal'ncst 1,e-nediction." 

• Sergt. S. L. White waa made captain of Company D. He died ot 
wounds. 

t All deserted. 
t Dr. Warren of Danbury, surgeon. 

• 
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MILITARY RECORD. 

The following record of those who enlisted in the 
war of the Rebellion from this town is taken from 
the "Catalogue of Connecticut Volunteer Organiza­
tions," which was prepared from the records in the 
office of the adjutant-general: 

E. E. Wildman, captain Co. E, lat Regt.; n10st. April 19, 1861; disch. 
July 31, 1861. 

J. D. Stevens, fin;t lieuten1>nt Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; 
disch. July 31, 1861. 

J. W. Dnasiog, second lieuten1>nt Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861 ; 
disch. July 31, 1861. 

Andrew Knox, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 31, 
18Gl. 

Milo Dickens, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1801; diach. July 31, 
1861. 

William Moegling, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; dlsch. July 
31, 1861. 

S. L. Pettit, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 31, 1861. 
G. B. Allen, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. Ap1il 19. 1861; disch. July '31, 1861. 
E. S. D1>vla, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 31, 1861. 
Al~under Kallman, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; dlsch. July 

SI, lllil. 
E. H. Dunn, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; di,ch. July 31, 1861. 
G. Foot, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; diach. July 31, 1861. 
John Allen, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 10, 1861; dioch. July 31, 1861. 
Charles H. Anderson, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 

31, 1661. 
John Bogurdns, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; dlsch. July 31, 

1861. 
C. H. Boeruw, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; .U.ch. July 31, 

1861. 
Jame• Blizard, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. llfay 9, 1861. 
William Blizard, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. June 10, 

1861. 
T. F. Dnsolng, Co. E, 1st Regt.; mn•t. April 19, 1861; disch. July 31, 1861. 
James Bnidley, Co. E, let Regt.; must. April IO, 1861; disch. July 31, 

1861. 
AIU'On H. Byington, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 10, 1861; dlsch. July 

31, 1861. 
George W. Banker, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; dlsch. July 

31, 1861. 
Charles A. Denger, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 

31, 1S61. 
H. E. Buckingham. Co. F~ 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; dlsch. July 

31, 1861. 
W. K. Cowan, Co.E, lat Regt.; must. April 19,1861; disch. July 31, 1801. 
L. B. Clark, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; dlach. July 31, 1861. 
W.R. Doane, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; dlsch. July 31, 1861. 
J. L. Day, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 31, 1861. 
E. H. Day, Co. E, let Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 31, 1861. 
J. S. Dunning, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; di!ch. July 31, 1861. 
Ezekiel Eaton, Co. E, Is• Regt.; most. April 10, 1861; disch. July 31, 

1861. 
T. C. Fieldstone, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1801; diach. July 31, 

1861. 
C. Grimm, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 31, 1861. 
C. A. Gordon, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861: disch. July 31, 1861. 
W. H. Gibbs, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 31, 1861. 
C. W. Hilbrandt, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; di.ch. July 31, 

1861. 
W. O. Hoyt, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 31, 1861. 
W. P. Hoyt, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 31, 1861. 
D. B. Hoyt, Co. E, 1st Uegt.; must. April 19, 1801; disch. July 31, 1861. 
Alfred H. Hoddlnott, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 

31, 1801. 
Otto Hagement, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; dlsch. July 31, 

1861. 
James Howatb, Co. E; let Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; diach. July 31, 

1801. 
E. P. Jennings, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; dlsch. July 31, 

1801. 
James Martin, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; di.sch. July 31, 

1861. • 

Horace Purdy, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; dlsch. July 31, 
1861. 

F. W. Pl1>tt, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 31, 1861. 
Joseph W. Raymond, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 

31, 1861. 
J. 'R. Ross, Co. E. lst Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 31, 1861. 
T. Ross, Co. E, 1st Regt .. ; mnRt. April 19, 1861; dlach. July 31, 1861. 
G. S. Smith, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; discb.July 31, 1861. 
Elson J. Smith, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1801; di•ch. July 31, 

1861. 
B. F. Skinner, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; dlsch. July 31, 

1861. 
D. Slo1>n, Co. E, 1st Reg!.; must. April 19, 1861; diach. July 31, 1861, 
G. Scott, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; dlsch. July 31, 1801. 
Lewis Shack, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July :n, 1861. 
Eli D. Seeley, Co. E, ht Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 31, 1861. 
A. Staples, Co. E, 1st Hegt.; must. April 19, 1861; dlscb. July 31, 1861. 
G. $Mn;, Co. E, lat Regt.; must. April 19, 1801; diech. July 31, 1861. 
J. H. Taylor, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; diseh. July 31, 1861. 
D. A. Veals, Co. E, 1st Rogt.; must. April 19, 1861; disoh. July 31, 1861. 
E. L. Wildm1>n, Co. E, let Regt.; must. April 19, 1861; disch. July 31, 

1861. 
John W&ters, Co. E, 1st Regt.; must. April IO, 1861; discb. July 31, 1861. 

Compan11 a. 
Seth J. Croeby, must. April 22, 1861; disch. July 31, 1861. 

THIRD REGIMENT. 

OompamJ B. 

Me38ner, Hern1an, must. May 11, 1861; disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 

Om>panu a. 
(M..tered i,w, """ice Mau 14, 1861.) 

James E. Moore, c1>ptain; disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Samuel G. Bailey, first lieutenant; diacb .• -\ug. 12, 1861. 
Charles H. Hoyt, second lieutenant: res. June 10, 1861. 
Frederick W. Jackson, sergeant; pro. to second lieut<:nant; disch. Aug. 

12, 1861. 
W1>lter C. Sparks, sergeant; disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Henry C. White, sergMnt; disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
John R. Man;h, sergeant; killed in battle of Bull Run, July 21, 1861. 
El>en L. Barnum, corporal: cllscb. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Seneca Edgett, corporal; disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Milton H. Daniels, corporal; diach. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Henry 0. Leach, corporal; diach. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Armstrong, Samuel B., diach. Ang. 12, 1861. 
D1>uchy, :Robert S., dlach. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Davis, William H., dlsch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Divenny, Owen, dlach. Ang. 12, 1861. 
Ely, Johu G., disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Foley, Patrick, discb. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Gray, John, disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Hall, William, dlsch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Hale, Minot, diarh. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Horan, Thoml\8, disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Hoyt, Eugnr II., dlscb. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Jackson, William. 
Keeney, John, diach. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Keeney, Thomas, disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Lee, James E., disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Louden, George, diach. Aug. 12, 1801. 
Mansfield, Da,·ld B , dlscb. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Moore, John, dlsch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Monroe, Alsop L., diach. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Moffatt, Abram, dlacb. Aug. 12, 1861. 
McKey, ThomllB, disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
McAvoy, Lawrence, disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
McGowan, Michael, disch. Ang. 12, 1861. 
O•borne, Lewis W" discb. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Pratt, Da,·id J., disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Quien, Henry, disch. Aug. 12, 1801. 
Rourke, Philip, dlsch .• -\ng. 12, 1861. 
Raymond, Amos, dlsch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Rogers, Isaac B., diacb. Ang. 12, 1801. 
Rooney, Thaddy, di.sch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Shern1an, Bennett, disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
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Taylor, James n., disch. Ang. 12, 1861. 
Taylor, William H., disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Warren, Edward S., disch, Aug. 12, 1861. 
WIison, Harvoy, disch. Aug, 12, 1861. 
Woodruff, Charle., H., disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 
Youn!!,', George.B., disch. Aug. 12, 1861. 

FIRST REGIMENT CAVALRY, CONNECTICUT VOLUNTEERS. 

Keyes, William, must. Dec. 10, 1864; not taken up 011 rolls. 
Larkin, John, mu~t. Dec. 16, 1864; not taken up on rolls. 
Lee, George, must. Dec. 16, 1864; not taken up on rolls. 
Lynch, John, must. Dec. 20, 18f,4; not tnken up on rolls. 
Mack, James, must. Sept. 10, 1864; not takon np on rolls. 
Malone, J1U11os, must. March 7, 1865; not taken up on rolls. 
Stokes, Percln.1, must. Dec. 22, 1864; not taken np on rolls. 

FIRST CAVALRY. 

Company B. 

Samuel Flight, must. Dec. 2, 1861; disch. Nov. 2, 1864. 
John Dooley, must. Aug. 20, 18•4; disch. Aug. 2, 1865. 

Company C. 

D. W. JCnowles, must. Dec. 9, 1861; disch. Jan. 23, 1863. 
.J. D. Bennett, must. Dec. 16, 1864; must. out Aug. 2, 1865. 
Wm. lllillor, must Dec. 16, 1864; must. out Aug. 2, 1865. 
Charles Middleton, must. Dec. 16, l8C4; must. out Aug. 2, 1865. 
W. L. Munson, must. Jan. 8, 1864; must. out Aug. 2, 1865. 

Compa>1y D. 

C. Wood, must. Nov. 2, 1861; must. out Juno 20, 1862. 
JoS('ph Williman, must. Dec. 5, 1861; must. out Sept. 13, 18()2. 

Compa11y F. 

George lllcForn, must. Dec. 11, 1864; must. out Aug. 2, 1865. 

Cm,,pau, G. 

Henry Wells, must. Sept. 10, 1864; pro. capt. March 16, 1865. 

Compaay H. 

C. ll. Jennings, must. Dec. 14, 1865; must. out Aug. 7, 1865. 

Company I. 

H.B. Perry, must. Dec. 21, 1863; must. out June 23, 1865, 
J.C. Thomson, must. Dec. 21, 1863; must. 0111 J11ly 18, 1865. 
William H. Moore, must. Dec. 18, 1864. 
James Russell, muat. Dec. 24, 18C3. 

Compa"?I L. 
C. II. Benedict, must. Dec. 24, 1863; · must. out Aug. 2, 1865. 
Henry }'oster, must. Ap1il 7, 18f,5; must. out Aug. 2, 1865. 
William Pendly, must. Jan. 5, 1864; diod Oct.12, 1864. 
F. Thomson, must. Jan. 3, 1865; must. out ·Aug. 2, 1865. 
Solomo11 Wheelor, must. Dec. 18, 1863; m11st. out Aug. 2, 186S. 

Company M. 

S. 7..01ipi, must. Aug. 26, 1864; must. out A11g. 2, 1865. 
William Adams, must. Nov. 27, 1863. 
James Agnew, m\lst. Dec. 21, 1864. 
John P. Boyes, must. Dec. 19, 1864. 
Thomas Feeney, must. Sept. 10, 1864. 
• J. Hill, must. Dec. 16, i8G4. 
William Johnson, m11st. Dec. 16, 1864. 
John Lnrkins, must. Dec. 16, 1864. 
James Mack, must. Sept. 10, 11!64. 
John Maloney, must. March 7, 1865. 
John Willoughby, must. Dec. 16, 1864. 

THIRD BATTERY. 

M. Haviland, m11st. Sept. 7, 1864; m11st. out June 23, 1865. 

FIRST ARTILLERY. 
Nelson L. White, lloutonant-eolonel; m11st. May 23, 1861; must.out Nov. 

IO, 1864. 
Eli F. Hendrick, second assistant-s11rgeon; appointed Sept. 3, 1862; trans. 

to Fifteenth Rcgt., Jan. 5, 1863. 

Comp,myB. 

Andrew Knox, second lieutenant; must. May 12, 1862; pro. to first lieu• 
tenant, lllay 23, 1862; must. <int March 15, 1865. 

Anderson, Charles H., must. Feb. 4, 1862; disch. Feb. 13, 1865, at explra• 
tlon or term. 

Andrews, Daniel N., must. Feb. 11, 1862; ro-enl. Feb. 12, 1864; disch. 
for disability, Sept. 2, 1865. 

Benedict, Gram·ille W., must. Jan. 2?, 1862; disch. for disability, Nov. 
18, 1862. 

Brown, Rcl,ort, must. Jan. 22, 1862; ro-enl. Feb. 5, 1864; must. out Sept, 
25, 1865. 

Dickens, Milo, must. Feb. 4, 1862; re-en!. Feb. 5, 1864; must. out Sept. 
25, 1865. 

Horren, Thomaa, must. Feb. 11, 1862; disch. for disablllty, April 1, 1862, 
at Fort Richardson, Va. 

Jenkins, Ichabod E., must. Jan. 22, 1862; dlsch. Feb. 13, 1865, at expira• 
tion or term. 

Keeler, George D., must. March 11, 1862; disch. for disability, July 18, 
1862, at Washington, D. C. 

McDermott, James, must. F•b. 4, 1862; disch. Feb. 13, 1865, at expiration 
of term. 

McDermott, Charles, must. Mi,rch 4, 1862; dlsch. March 13, 1865, at ex• 
plration of term. 

Muldoon, Jomes, must. Jan. 22, 1862; re-en!. Feb. 5, 1864; must. out 
Sept. 25, 186.'\. 

O'Rourke, Philip, must. Feb, 4, 1862; re-en!. Feb. 5, 1864. 
Potter, William R., must. ll.lnrch 11, 1862; died lllarch 30, 1862, at Fort 

Richardson, Va. 
Pettit, Snmuel Ill., must. Feb. 4, 1862; ro-enl. Feb, 5, 1864; must. out Sept. 

25, 1865. 
Roff, George N., must. Feb. 5, 1862; re-en!. Feb. 5, 1864; must. out Sept. 

25, 1865. 
Rooney, Thaddeus, must. Feb. 4, 1862; re-enl. Feb, 5, 1864; must. 011t 

Sept. 25, 1865. 
Scott, Grandison, must. !If arch 11, 1862; dlsch. March 13, 1865, at expira• 

tlon of torm. 
Shemian, Thomas G., must. Feb. 25, 1862; died Aug. l, 1862, at Harrison's 

Landing, Vo. 
Smith, Alson J., must. Feb. 4, 1862; disch. for disability, Sept. 2, 1862, 

at Hartford, Conn. 
Sparks, Wulter C., must. Fob. 4, 1862; re-enl. Feb. 5, 1864; must. out 

Sept. 25, 1865. 
Sweeney, John, must. Feb. 4, 1862; disch. Feb. 13, 1865, at expiration of 

tem1. 
Shepard, Chnrles, must. Jan. 22, 1862; disch. for disablllty, April 1, 1862, 

at Fort Richardson, Ya. 
Tillotson, William, must. Feb. 25, 1862; cliscb. March 13, 1865, nt expirn• 

tlon or torm. 
Wood, Hiram, must. Feb. 11, 1862; disch. for disability, April 1, 1862, at 

Fort Richardson, Va. 
Wood, George L., must. J&Ln. 22, 1862; di3Ch. for disability, April 1, 1862, 

Fort Rlchi,rdson, Vi,. 
Allen, John, must. Sept. 5, 1864; must. out Sept. 25, 1865, at Washing• 

ton, D.C. 
Bemns, Goorge, m11st. Sept. 1, 1864; disch. June 29, 1865, by order Sec• 

rotary of War, at Richmond, Va. 
lllissard, Francis, must. Sept. 1, 1864; disch. June 20, 1865, by order Sec­

retary of War, at Richmond, Vo.. 
Costello, lllichael, must. Sept. 1, 1864; disch. June 29, 1865, by order Sec• 

rotary of War, at Richmond, Va. 
Crowfoot, Ebenezer P., m11st. Sept. 1, 1864; must. out Sept. 25, 1865, at 

WllShlngtcn, D. C • 
Daniels, Henry L., must. Sept. 1, 186-l; disch. June 29, 1865, by order 

Secretary of War, at Richmond, Va. 
Fenning, Ji,mos, must. Sept. 1, 186-l; m11st, 011t Sept. 25, 1865, Washing• 

ton, D. C. 
Hickock, W111iam F., m11st. Sept. I, 1864; must. out Sopt. 25, 1865, Wash• 

ington, D. C. 
Ha\'lland, Daniel, must. Sept 6, 11164; disch. Jan. 29, 1865, by order Secre­

tary of War, Rlchmoml. 
Iloddlnott, Alfred H., must. Sept. 7, 1864; disch. June 29, 1865, by order 

Secreta,y of War, Richmond. · 
Hoyt, Daniel J., m11st. Sept. 7, 1864; disch. June 29, 1865, by order Secre­

tary of War, Richmond. 
Hefren, Thomas, must. Sept. 8, ISM; disch. June 29, 1865, by order 

Secretary of War, Richmond. 
Lowery, Froncis, must. Sept. 5, 1864; disch. June 20, 1865, by order Sec• 

retary of Wi>r, Richmond. 
Lee,,Robert G., must. Sept.12, 1864; disch. June 29, 1865, byordcrSecre• 

tary of War, Richmond. 
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McKay, Daniel, must. Sept. 7, 1864; disch. Jnne 29, 1805, by order Secre­
tary of Wnr, Richmond. 

McKay, Thomas, must. Sept. 7, 1864; dlscb, June 29, 1865, by order Sec· 
retary of War, Blcbmond. 

Mager, Lopold, must. Sept. 1, 1864; disch. June 21l, 1805, by order Secre­
tary of War, Richmond. 

Parsons, David, must. Sept. 5, 1864; dis'ch. June 29, 1865, by order Sec• 
retary of Wa.r, Richmond. 

Stoker, Henry, must. Sept. 1, 1864; <lisch. June 29, 1865, by order Secre­
tary of Wnr, Richmond. 

Sherman, Bennett, must. Sept. 7, 18&.I; dlscb. June 29, 1865, by order 
Secretary of War, Richmond. 

Sirrine, Elisha A., must. Sept. 7, 1864; disch.June 29, 1865, byordor Sec­
retary of War, Richmond. 

Wildman, Willi..m, must. Sept. 1, 1864; disch. Juno 29, 1865, by order 
Secretary of War, Richmond. 

Waterman, Charlee D., must, Sept. 5, 1864; disch. June 29, 1865, by order 
Secretary of War, Richmond. 

Waterman, Harrison, must. Sept. 5, 1804; clisch. June 29, 1865, by order 
Secretary of War, Richmond. 

Wilson, Albert R., must. Sept. 7, 1864; dlscb. June 29, 1805, by order Sec• 
rotary of War, Richmond. 

Company D. 

D. B. DeForest, mnst. Jan. 1, 1864; died Feb. 23, 1864. 
William Harris, must. Jan. 1, 1864; must. out Sept. 25, 1805. 

Company E. 

James Kain, must. Jan. 5, 1864; died Jao.17, 1864. 

Company F. 

Henry Brown, must. Aug. 17, 1864; must. out Sept. 5, 1865. 
J. F!tzsimmon, must. July 5, 1864. 

Company H. 

Ira Buckley, must. Dec. 14, 1863; must. out Sept. 2.5, 1805. 
C. Sinino, must. Dec. 5, 1863; must. out Sept. 25, 1865. 

Oompa,,11 I. 

Bartram, George C., must. Jan. 5, 1864; must. out Sopt. 25, 1865, Wash• 
lngton, D. C. 

Croal, John, must. Jan. 5, 1864; dlsch. for disability, June 23, 1865, New 
Haven, Conn. 

Curry, Jeremiah, must. Sept. 7, 1864; disch. June 30, 1865, by order of 
War Department. 

Ferry, John, must. Jan. 5, 1864; must. ont Sept. 25, 1805, Washington, 
D.C. 

Hoyt, Amos L., must. Jan. 5, 1864; must. out Sept. 25, 1865, Washing• 
ton, D. C. 

McCoy, James, must. Jan. 5, 1864; must. out Sept. 25, 1865, Washington, 
D.C. 

Mooney, Willian,, must. Aug. 24, 1864. 
Robinson, Thom&11 G., must. Oct. 3, 1863; dlsch. for disability, Feb. 11, 

1864, Fort R!cha.rdeon. 
Scollln, Francis, must. Sept. 7, 1864; wounded April 2, 1865; dlsch. June 

30, 1805, by order of War Depa.rtment. 
Strail, George, must. Sept. 7, 1864; dlech. June 30, 1865, by order of Wa.r 

Depa.rtment. 
Veal!, Henry B., must. Jan. 5, 1865; must. out Sept. 25, 1865, Washing­

ton, D. C. 
Wileon, Chas. H., must. Jan. 5, 1865; must. out Sept. 25, 1865, Waahlng• 

ton, D. C. 
H. Scollln, must. May 23, 1801 ; disch. l!Iay 22, 1864. 

Oompa'fll/ L. 
J. Acker, must. Dec. 24, 1863; dlsch. Sept. 25, 1865. 

SECOND ARTILLERY. 

Company D. 
F. Hawley, m~et. Ja.n. 5, 1864; dlsch. Oct. 3, 1864. 

Oomp<my M. 
S. T. Wheeler, must. Feb. 8, 1864; wounded and must. out Aug.18, 1805. 
John Hender, must. Sept. 14, 1864. 
Benedict, John F., must. lllarch 5, 1862; re-en!. Feb. 5, 1864; wounded; 

must. out Sept. 25, 1865. 
Hawley, llliram B., must. Feb. 4, 1802; re-en!. Feb. 5, 1864; must. out 

Sept. 2?, 1805. 

Comes, George C., must. Jan. 5, 1864; must. out Sept. 25, 18();;, Waahlng• 
ton, D. C. 

· Comes, Kens, must. Sopt.1, 1864; must. out Sept. 25, 1S65, Washington, 
D.C. 

Richardson, Frederick, must. Sept. 1, 1804; died June 4, 1804, at Regi• 
mental Hospital, Fort Drury, Va. 

Ryan, John, must. Jan. 5, 18G-1; in hospital at New Ha.-en, March 30, 
1864. 

FIFTH REGIMENT INFANTRY. 

Oomi>any A. 

WIiiiam C. Bennett, first aaelstnot-eurgeoo; must. July 23, 1801; pro. to 
surgeon; d!sch. June 28, 1863. 

Henry Burton Stone, capWu; must. July 22, 1801; pro. to lieutenant• 
colonel; died Jan. 20, 18G3, of wounds received at Codar Mountain. 

James A. Betts,Jr., first lieutenant; must. July 2'2, 1861; pro. to lieuten• 
ant-colonel. 

William A. Daniels, second lieutenant; must. July 22, 1861; pro. to first 
lieutenant; wounded July 20, 1864; must. out Oct. 21, 1804. 

Theodore H. Dibble, sergeant; must. July 22, 1861; pro. to captu!o; 
must. out July 20, 1864, at expiration or term. 

Ed. K. Carley, sergeant; must. July 22, 1861; pro. to q11artermnst~r 
must. out July 19, 1805, .-1.lexandrla, Va. 

George N. Raymond, sergeant; must. July 22, 1801; pro. to first lieu ten• 
ant; must. out. 

James Ste,.·art, Jr., sergeant; must. July 22, 1801; wounded June 22, 
1864; pro. to captain; must. out July 19, 1805. 

John 0. Shufeldt, sergeant; must. July 22, 1861; wounded Aug. 9, 1862; 
dlsch. for dlenbil!ty, Oct.29.1802. 

Daniel Odell, corporal; must. July 22, 1801; disch. July 22, 1864, at ex• 
p!rntlon of term. 

Edgar A. Stratton, corporal; must. July 22, 1861; pro. to first lieutenant; 
must. out Nov. 1, 1864, at expiration or term. 

Jamee L. Conklin, musician; must. July 22, 1801; disch. for disability, 
April 6, 1863, Stafford Court-House, Va. 

Martin C. Vancor, wagoner; must. July 2'2, 1861; d!sch. for dlenbility, 
Oct. 18, 1862, Waah!ngton, D. C. 

Anson, Charles H., must. July 22, 1801; re-en!. Dec. 21, 1803; must. out 
July 19, 1865. 

Atlakeskey, Theodore J,, must. July 22, 1801; dlsch. July 22, 1864, at ex• 
piratlon of term. 

Bradley, George A., must. July 22, 1861; wounded Aug. 9, 1862; re-en!. 
Dec. 21, 1863; must. out June 12, 1805. 

Byers, James, must. July 22, 1801: killed at Cedar Mountain, Va., Aug. 
9, 1862. 

Crofut, Horace S., must. July 22, 1801. 
Drew, Robert N., must. July 22, 1801; re-enl. In Co. F, First Cavalry. 
Durant, Charles H., must. July 22, 1861; r.,..,nl. Dec. 21, 1863; must. out 

July 19, 1865. 
Johnson, Gilbert N., must. July 22, 1861; re-en!. Dec. 21, 1863; must. out 

July 19, 1865. 
James, Thomas A., must. July 22, 1801; disch. for disability, Jan. 24, 1863, 

Waahlngton, D. C. 
Loomis, George B., must. July 22, 1861; wounded Aug. 9, 1802; di:lch. for 

disability, Doc. 5, 1862, at Frederick, Md. 
Leach, IBMc K., must. July 22, 186l; wounded Aug. 9, 1862; dlsch. for 

disability, March 30, 18G3, Philadelphia, Pa. 
Patch, William H., must. July 22, 1861 ; dlech. July 21, 1864, at expira• 

tlon of term. 
Smltb, George C., must. July 22, 1801; dlsch. for disability, Nov.14, 1862, 

Frederick, lid. 
Sloan, Oliver, must. July 22, 1801; re-en!. Dec. 21, 1863; must. out July 

19, 18f,5. 
Scott, George, must. July 22, 1801; disch. for dleablllty, June 13, 1802, 

Winchester, Va. 
Sullivan, James, must. July 22, 1801. 
Wildman, F. M., must. July 22, 1861; dlsch. for disability, July 27, 1861, 

Hartford, Conn. 
Wi•eman, Danlel, must. Jan. 9, 1865. 
Joseph Farrell, must. Dec. 16, 1864. 
Henry Russell, must. Dec. 19, 1864. 
T. Mooney, must. Dec. 19, 1864. 

SIXTH REGIMENT. 

Companv o. 
Adams, William, must. Feb. 9, 1805 ; must. out Aug. 21, 1865. 
Belchoner, Christopher, must. Oct. 22, 18G3; kllle<i May 20, 1804, Drury's 

Bluff, Va. 



256 HISTORY OF FAIRFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT. 

Baron, Charles, must. Feb. 20, 1865; must. out Aug. 21, 1865, New Haven, 
Conn. 

Lauffer, Rudolph, must. Oct. 22, 1863; died Jan. 22, 1805, Salisbury, N. C. 
Mohr, William, must. Oct. 22, 1863; disoh. for disability, 3foy ~2, 1865, 

New Haven, Conn. 
Mulle, Augustus, must. Aug. 22, 1863; must. out June 20, 1865, Smith• 

ville,N.C. 
Muller, Charles, must. Aug. 1, 1863. 
Palmer, John, must. June 11, 1865: must. out Aug. 21, 1865. 

• Vogel, Goorge, must. Oct. 22, 1863; mi83iog May 16, 1864, Drury's Bluff', 
Va. 

C,,mpany D. 

Berry, Henry C., must. Oct. 22, 1863; must. out Aug. 21, 1865, New 
Haven, Conn. 

Bradley, James, must. Oct. 22, 1863; must. out Aug. 21, 186.5, New 
Htwen, Conn. 

Bruce, James, mnst. Oct. 22, 1863. 
Sam11el Le Broeg, must. Oct. ~2, 1863; died Jan. 3, 1864. 

C-Ompany F. 

James Wagoner, must. Oct. 23, 18r,3; disch. June 8, 1864. 
John Dobson, must. Oct. 27, 1863: diach. Aug. 21, 1865. 

C,,mpany G. 

Patrick McGee, must. Oct. 17, 1863; wounded; must. out Aug. 21, 1865. 

CompanyH. 

Charles Borsa!, must. Oct. 16, 1863. 
Charles Graham, must. Oct. 23, 1863: died Sept. 7, 1864. 
Peter Miller, must. Oct. 16, 1863; died at Andersonville, Aug. ~4, 1864. 

Compa,iy I. 

Morris, Theodore, corporal; must. Sept. 5, 1861; died July 12, 1862, Beau­
fort, S. C. 

Henge, Frank, m11st. Sept. 5, 1861 ; diach. Sept. 19, 1864, at expiration or 
term. 

Hoyt, George H., must. Feb. 27, 1864; must. out Aug. 21, 1865, New 
Haven, Conn. 

McCarty, Dennis, must. Oct. 27, 1863; must. out Aug. 21, 1865, New 
Haven, Conn. 

Pawtowiae, Jacob, must. Oct. 16, 1863; wounded Aug. 16, 1864; must. out 
Aug. 21, 1865, New Haven, Conn. 

Purdy, William B., must. ~'eb. 27, 1864; must. out Aug. 21, 1865, New 
Haven, Conn. 

Salar, William, must. Oct. 12, 1863 ; wounded Aug. 14, 1864; must. out 
Aug. 21, 1865. 

C<nnpa11y K. 

N. Wei83, must. Dec. 16, 1863; killed Aug. 16, 1864. 

SEVENTH REGIMENT. 

Company D. 

Benjamin F. Skinner, captain; must. Sept. 5, 1861; re,. Feb. 29, 1864. 
Theodore C. Wildman, sergeant; must. SeJ>t. 5, 1861 ; pro. first lieuten­

ant July 4, 1863; diach. Oct. 26, 1864. 
Henry J. Broas, sergeant ; must. Sept. 5, 1861 ; diach. Sept. 12, 1864, at 

expiration of term. 
Augustus Staples, sergeant; must. Sept. 5, 1861; diach. Sept. 12, 1864, 

at expiration of term. 
William Turnbull, corporal; must. Sept. 5, 1861; trans. to Inv. Corps, 

April 13, 1864. 
Eli D. Seeley, corporal; must. Sept. 5, 1861; died March 12, 1864, New 

Haven, Conn. 
Darius A. Veal!, corporal; must. Sept. 5, 1861; re-enl .. Dec. 22,1863; killed 

May 14, 1864. 
Charles Gordon, corporal: must. Sept. 5, 1861; wounded June 14, 1862; 

en!. 1st U.S. Art., Dec. 12, 1862. 
Lewis A. Wygant, corporal; must. Sept. 5, 1861; died Aug. 4, 1862, Hll• 

ton Head, S. C. 
Alexander, Thomas T., must. Sept. 5, 1861; disch. Dec.12, 186.3, at explra• 

tion of tenn. 
Allen, James L., must. Sept. 5, 1861; re-en!. Dec. 22, 1863; died of 

wounds, July 12, 1864. 
Armstrong, Samuel P., must. Sept. 5, 1861; re-en!. Dec. 22, 1863; died of 

wounds, Jan. 1, 1865, Annapolis. 
Banker, George W., must. Sept. 5, 1861 ; re-en!. Dec. 22, 1863; died or 

wounds, July 20, 1865. 
Bevens, Charles H., must. Sept. 5, 1861; re-en!. Dec. 22, 1863; died of_ 

wounds, July 20, 1865. 

Broas, Francis E., must. Sept. 5, 1861 ; re-en!. Dec. 22, 1863 ; died of 
wounds, July 20, 1865. 

Collomore, Warren, must. Sept, 5, 1861; died Aug. 6, 1862, Hilton Head, 
s.c. 

Crofut, William, must. Sept. 5, 1861; killed at James Toland, S. C., June 
14, 1866. • 

Di,·enny, Owen, must. Sept. 5, 1861; re-en!. Dec. 22, 1862; must. out July 
20, 1865. 

Eaton, Joseph, must. Sept. 5, 1861; diach. Sept. 12, 1864, at expiration of 
te1m. 

Fairchild, Jerome, most. Sept. 5,1861; re-en!. Dec. 22, 1863; must. out 
July 20, 18f,5. 

Hall, Seeley, must. Sept. 5, 1861; re-en!. Dec. 22, 1863; must. out July 20, 
1865. 

Hall, William H., must. Sept. 5, 1861; re-en!. Dec. 22, 1863; must. out 
July 20, 1865. 

Holmes, John T., must. Sept. 5, 1861; wounded; died June 29, 1862, 
Charleston, S. C. 

Jones, Leonru-d, must. Sept. 5, 1861; re-en!. and trans. to U. S. Navy, 
April 28, 1864. 

Jackson, Edwin, must.- Sept. 5, 1861; died March 21, 1864, Bedloe's Is-· 
land,N. Y. 

Leas•y, William H., must. Dec. 22, 1862; died Oct. IO, 1864, Florence, 
s.c. 

Lahey, John, must. Sept. 5, 1861; wounded June 14, 1862; diach. for dis­
ability, Dec. 12, 1862. 

Mehan, Charles F., must. Sept. 5, 1861; re-en!. Dec. 22, 1863; must. out 
July 20, 1865. 

Mehan, Jas., must. Sept. 5, 1861; must. out July 20, 1865, Goldsboro', N. C. 
Martin, James, must. Sept. 5, 1861. 
Martin, Lewis, must. Sept. 5, 1861. 
Mildem, John, must. Sept. 5, 1861 ; re-en!. and kllled at Drury's Bluff', 

May 16, 1864. 
Nash, Frank R., must. Sept. 5, 1861; must. out May 22, 1865, Hartford, 

Conn. 
Parke, Henry, must. Sept. 5, 1861 ; diach. Sept. 12, 1864, at expiration 

oftenu. 
Shelton, Daniel R., must. Sept. 5, 1861; re-en!. and killed at Drury's 

Bluff', May 16, 1864. 
Vcali, Wheeler J., must. Sept. 5, 1861; re-eDI. Dec. 22, 1863; wounded; 

must. out July 20, 1865. 
Wat<:nnan, George B., must. Sept. 5, 1861; re-en!. Dec. 22, 1863; 

wounded; must. out July 20, 1865. 
Waterman, Joseph, must. Sept. 5, 1861; died of wounds, July 16, 1862. 
Webb, George, must. Sept. 5, 1861; wounded June 14, 1862; re-enlisted; 

must. out Joly 20, 1865. 
Webb, William F., must. Sept. 5, 1861; re-en!. Dec. 22, 1863; must. out 

June 19, 1865. · 
Guireppe, T., must. Oct. 10, 1863; wounded June 17, 1864; must. out 

July 20, 1865. 
Boyle, J., must. Oct. 24, 1863; trans. to Navy, April 28, 1864. 
Jamson, Charles, must. Oct. 21, 1863; died at Andersonville, Ga., April 26, 

1864. 
King, Joseph. must. Feb. 15, 1864; must. out July 28, 1865. 
McCaraon, J., must. Oct. 28, 1863. 
Tecomcy, S., must. Oct. 20, 1863; wounded; must. out July 20, 1865. 

CompanyF. 

H. Bondoia, must. Oct. 24, 1863; wounded: must. out July 20, 1865. 
J. Petit, must. Oct. 27, 1863; wounded; must. out July 20, 1865. 
S. Riociardi, must. Oct. 27, 1863; died Oct. 29, 1864. 
R. Schinedhauser, must. Oct. 20, 1863; must. out July 20, 1865. 

Company A. 

J. Brown, must. Oct. 24, 1863; trans. to Navy. 
William Brien, must. Oct. 28, 1863; trans. to Navy. 
John O. Berg, must. out Oct. 28, 1863; diach. July 16, 1865. 
E. Fischors, must. Oct. 27, 1863. 
R. A. Wanshatl', must. Oct. 23, 1863 ; kllled Oct. 13, 1864. 

CompanyB. 

P. Kelley, must. Jan. 5, 1864; must. out June 5, 1865. 

C,,mpany G. 

W. H. Coley, must. Sept. 7, 1861; died June 22, 1864. 
H. Boysen, must.'.Oct. 28, 1863; trans. to Navy, April 22, 1864. 
T. Wallett, must. Oct. 24, 1863; trans. to Navy, April 27, 1864, 

.. 
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Compnn!fH. 

L. Stmuss, must. Oct. 24, 1863. 
Jnmes Su111van, must. Oct. 24, 1863; tran•. to Navy, April 28, 1864. 
Thomas Sullivan, must. Oct. 24, 1803; trans. to Nary, April 28, 1804. 
J.P. Thompsou, must. Oct. 24, 18G3; must. out l\Iny 31, 18G5. 

Compan!f I. 

George Buyer, must. Oct. 24, 18G3; niust. out July 20, 1805. 
W. L. Colton, muot. Oct. 30, 18G3; must. out July 20, 1865. 
Edward Eagan, must. Oct. 30, 186.3; wounded lllay JO, 1804. 
William Foley, must. Oct. 24, 1863; dli!ch. Dec. 12, 1804. 
M. F. Feely, must. Oct 23, 18G3; died Aug. G, 1864. 
R. W. Puttersou, must. Oct. 20, 186.3; trans. to Navy, April 28, 1804. 
Hugh Ward, must. Oct. 20, 1863; must. out July 20, 1865. 

CompanyK. 

Betbk", Charles, must. Oct. 2G, 18G;l; k[lled at Bermuda Hundred, Va., 
Jan. 2, 1804. 

Brother, Henry, muet. Oct. 23, 18<». 
Gerold, William, must. Oct. 31, 1863; must. out July 20, 18G5, Golds- • 

boro', N. C. 
Heyne, Paul, must. Oct. 26, 18G3; killed June 2, 1804. 
Hulen, George, must. Oct. 2G, 18G3; must. out July 20, 1805, Goldsboro', 

N.C. 
Letter, Conrad, mu•t. Oct. 27, 1863. 
Rest, Theodore, must. Oct. 23, 1863; wounded l\Iay 14, ISM; must. out 

July 20, 1865, Goldsboro', N. C. 

EIGHTH REGIMENT. 

Compan11 A. 

George Loudon, must. Sept. 27, 18Gl ; must. out Dec. 3, 1865. 

Compnny IJ. 

James Carpenter, must. July 14, 1804. 

CompanyE. 

J. R. Sommons, must. Sept. 25, 18GI; died Nov. 10, 1862. 

Company F. 

F. Gurtman, must. July 27, 1804. 

O,mpany G. 

William McDougal, musl•July 20, 1804; must. out Dec. 12, 1865. 

Company H. 

N. E. Hickok, must. Oct, 2, 18G 1; captured Oct. 29, 1804. 
A. Van Warner, must. Aug. 16, 1804; captured Sept. 18, 18r.4. 
Seymore, George W., must. Sept. 23, 18G1 ; discb. for daal>llity, Dec. 18, 

1862, N. Y. 
Coml>, Sylvanus C., must. Sept. 2-;, 18Gl; disch. for disability, Oct. 7, 

18G2. 
l\Iillard, John C., must. Sept. 23, 18Gl; discb. Sept. 22, 1804, at expiration 

of term. 
Raymond, Henry, must. Sept. 23, 18Gl; died March 18, 18G2, Hatteras 

Inlet, N. C. 
Henry, William, must. July 13, 1804; muet. out Aug. 27, 1865, Fortress 

Monroe, Va. 
Thomas Connor, must. Sept. 27, 18Gl; pro. to 2d lieut, March 3, 1865. 
P. Shaughniese, must. Oct. 30, 18Gl; died Aug. 14, 18G2. 
E. Murray, must. Oct. 30, 1801; disch. April 8, 1862. 
E. Murphy, must. Oct. 30, 1861; must. out Aug. 30, 1865. 
J. I. Cain, must. Nov. 25, 18Gl; died April 2, 1804. 

Cl>mpany I. 

Frederick, W. Jnckeon, captain; must. Sept. 21, 1861; res. May 5, 1862. 
Taylor, Henry H., must. Sept. 21, 1861; <\led Jan. 12, 1862, Annapolis, 

Md. 
Boemln, Charles A., must. Sept. 21, 1861 ; dlscb. Sept. 20, J 804, at expira­

tion of term. 
McKay, John, must. Sept. 21, 18Gl; disch. for disability, Feb. 6, 1863, 

Frederick City. 
Pratt, Joshua, must. Sept. 21, 1861; re-<>nl. June 11, 1804; must. out Dec. 

12, 18G5. 
CompanyK. 

Hart, Thomas, must. Dec. 2, 1861; re-<!Dl. Jan. 6, 1864; trans. to Co. D; 
must. out Aug. 3, 186.5. 

Dikeman, George S., must. March 26, 1862; died Aug. 21, 18G2; on board 
steamer. 

Patchen, Charles T., must. April 1, 1862; died Sept. 10, 18G2, New Or­
loane. 

ELEVENTH REGIMENT. 

Company.A. 

George!,. Southmayd, captaln; com. NoY. 27, 1861; res. July 18, 1862. 
Samuel G. Bniley, first lieutenant; must. No,·. 27, 18Gl; pro.captain; res. 

Aug. 2, 18G2. 
Charles H. White, second lieutenant; com.Nov. 28, 18Gl; pro. first lieu­

tenant; ros. July 27, 1865. 
Henry J. McDonald, sergeant; must. NoY. 27, 18Gl; wounded; pro. 

ml\lor; must. out Dec. 21, 1865. 
David B. Marudleld, sergeant; must. No,-. 24, 1861; re-<>nlisted; wounded; 

pro. second lieutenant; disch. April 25, 18G5. 
Irvlnr Stevens, sergeant; must. Nov. 24, 1861; wounded; disch. for dls­

al>Ulty, Dec. 3, 1862, Hartford, Conn. 
Ira Taylor, must. Nov. 24, 18Gl; re-enlisted; wounded May 14, 1862; 

must. out Dec. 21, 1865. 
Christian G. Post, must. Nov. 24, 18Gl. 
Franklin Clark, must. Nov. 24, 1861; wounded; diech. Oct. 23, 1804, at 

expiration of term. 
Sylvester C. Platt, must. Nov. 24, 1861; re-<,nlieted; pro. to second lieu-· 

tenant; must. out Dec, 21, 1865. 
Edwin Bal>bitt, must. Nov. 21, 18Gl; re-en!. Dec. 13, 1864; must. out 

Dec. 31, 186.5. 
Ambler, Peter W., must. Nov. 24, 1861; re-enlisted; pro. to second lieu­

tenant; must. out Dec. 21, 1865. 
Bassett, Frede1ick, must. Nov. 24, 1861; re-en!. Jan. 1, 1864; must. out 

Dec. 21, 1865. 
Bassett, Samuel, must. Nov. 24, 18Gl; wounded l\Iny 4, 18G3; disch. Nov. 

26, 1804, at expiration or term. 
Beardslee, John B., must. Nov. 24, 1861; re-enlisted; must. out Dec. 21, 

18w, City Point, Va. 
Bradley, Philo P., must. Nov. 27, 1861; «~•enlisted; must. out Dec. 21, 

1865, City Point, Va. 
Burne, Edward, must. Nov. 20, 1861; disch. to en!. In U.S. Army, Oct. 24, 

18G2. 
Carley, Lewis, must. Nov. 24, 18Gl; re-enlisted; must. out Dec. 21, 1865, 

City Point, Va. 
Conbey, James, must. Nov. 24, 1861; re-enlisted; muet. out Dec. 21, 1@65, 

City Point, Va. 
Confroy, Edward, must. No,·. 14, 1861; wounded Sept.17, 18G2; discb. for 

dieal>illty, Dec. 19, 1862. 
Crittenden, Romeo, must. Nov. 20, 1861. 
Case, John, must. Nov. 14, 18Gl. 
Curtis, Edward, must. No,·. 27, 1861; trans. to Inv. Corps; diech. Aug. 

14, 1865. 
Fields, Elijah, must. Nov. 24, 18Gl; disch. for disat,lllty, Ao,t. 8, 1862. 
1,'oley, Thomas, must. Nov. 14, 1861; re-enlisted; must. out Dec. 21, 1865, 

City Point, Va. 
Foote, Grandison, must. Nov. 20, 1861; re-enlisted; dlsch. July 6, 1865, 

Manchester, Va. 
Green, Patrick, must. Oct. 24, 1861; re-en!. June 1, 1804; must. out Dec. 

21, 1865. 
Hamilton, William H., must. Oct. 24, 18Gl ; re-en!. Jan. 1, 1864; muot. 

out Dec. 21, 1865. 
Hawley, Isaac H., must. Oct. 24, 18Gl. 
Hawkins, John, must. Oct. 24, 18Gl ; re-en!. Dec. 14, 1863; must. out Dec. 

21, 1865. 
Hoyt, F.dgar A., must. Nov. 14, 1861; dlsch. for daal>ility, May 29, 1862, 

at Newbern, N. C. 
Hoyt, William F., must. Nov. 27, 1861; disch. for dlffability, Oct.27.1862, 

at Newl>ern, N. C. 
Hurd, Henry E., must. Oct. 24, 1861; disch. for dleal>llity, March 10, 1863, 

at Hartford, Conn. 
Leuch, William, must. Oct. 24, 1861; dlsch. for dlenbillty, Aug. 9, 1862. 
MollOI')', Prentice A., must. Oct. 24, 1861; dlech. for dleal>ility, Sept. 28, 

1862. 
l\Iollory, Joseph B., must. Oct. 2!, 1861; re-enlisted; killed at Cold Har­

bor, June 3, 1864. 
l\Iantz, William, must. Nov. 20, 18Gl; re-en!. Jan. J, 1864; died Feb. 28, 

1864. 
Moh·in, Jamos, must. Oct. 24, 1861; disch. to en!. In U.S. Army, Oct. 24, 

1862. 
l\Illeon, William, must. Nov. 14, 1861 ; dlech. Oct. 3, 1804, at expiration 

of term. 
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l\[organ, Orlnndo, must. Nov. 27, 1861; dlsch. for disnbllity, Oct. 4, 1862. 
McGunness, P. 111. E., must. Oct. 24, 1861; disch. for dlsnbllity, Oct. 1~, 

1862, Wnshiogton, D. C. 
McJohn, John, must. Nov. 27, 1861; disch. for disnbll!ty, Mny 8, 1863, 1>t 

Old Point, Vn. 
Quien, Cbristlnn, must. Oct. 24, 1861; re-enlisted; wounded; must. out 

June 10, 1865, 
Robertson, Anron, must. Nov. 27, 1861; re-enlisted; dlod Feb. 26, 1864. 
Rockwell, Lorenzo D., must. Oct. 24, 1861; disch. for disnbility, Feb. 5, 

18-03, Wnshington, D. C. 
Sand8, Jnmos, must. Oct. 24, 1861; rf.'-enllsted; wounded; must. out June 

10, 1866. 
Smith, Russell, must. Oct. 24, 1861; trans. to Inv. Corps, July 1, 1863. 
Snifflns, John, must. Nov. 23, 1861; pro. to first lieutenant. 
Stevins, Asn, must. Oct. 24, 1861. 
Stevins, Edward, must. Nov, 27, 1861; dlsch. for dlsnbillty, Jan. 10, 1863, 
Thompson, John C., must. Nov. 27, 1861; disch. for dlsnbllity, .May 20, 

1862. 
Walker, Edward, must. Oct. 24, 1861; re-enl. Dec. 13, 1863; died at An• 

dersonvllle. 
Wheeler, Solomon R., must. Oct. 24, 1861; disch. to enl. ln U. S. Army,, 

Oct. 24, 1862. 
White, Cyrus N., must. Nov. 14, 1861; dlsch. for disnbillty, Dec. 27, 1863, 

at New Haven, Conn. 
llichael Coyle, must. Jan. 21, 1864; wounded; must. out Dec. 21, 1861. 
Wm. Dikeman, must. Jan.5, 1864; died Aug. 7, 1864. 
P. D. Fagan, must. Jan. 20, 1864; died Nov. 28, 1864. 
John Fay, must. Feb. 16, 1864; killed June 3, 1864. 
H. Howley, must. Feb. 9, 1864; must. out Dec. 21, 1866. 
S. Hnmilton, must. Fob. 9, 1864; wounded; must. out Sept. 16, 1865. 
Bugh Lynch, must. March 15, 1864; must. out Dec. 21, 1865. 
Charles Wooster, must. Feb.JG, 1864; must. out Dec. 21, 1865. 

Company O. 

A. Bergman, must. Oct. 25, 1861 ; dlsch. March 26, 1864. 
0. Ermisch, must. Dec, 2, 1861 ; died lllarch 21, 1862. 
John Rooney, must. Dec. 2, 1861 ; must. out Dec. 21, 186,;, 
P. Simon, lat, must. Doc. 2, 1861; dlsch. June 24, 1862. 
P. Simon, 2d, must. Oct. 24, 1861; must. out Dec. 21, 1865. 
J. Van Gnl, must. Dec. 2, 1861; died Feb. 22, 1864. 
John Magbr, must. Dec. 29, 1864; died Dec. 21, 1865. 

Clm>pany I. 

llenry A. Hull, must. Dec. 13, 1861; re-enl. Dec. 13, 1863; must. out 
Dec. 21, 186J. 

John Penly, must. Oct. 24, 1861; disch. for disability, May 30, 1862. at 
Newbern, N. C. 

lll. Kruszynskek, must. Oct. 24, 1861 ; pro. to captain ; disch. May 25, 
1805; wounded. 

E. H. Barnum, must. Dec. 3, 1861 ; discb. Aug. 8, 1862. 
S. S. Germans, must. Oct. 24, 1861 ; disch. March 30, 1863. 
W. Pendleton, must. Oct. 24, 1861; disch. Aug. 8, 1862, 
W. Snitllns, must. Dec. 13, 1861. 

TWELFTH REGIMENT. 

Company D. 

Bevaoa, Frederick, must. April 5, 1864; died Feb. 4, 186,;, 1>t Salisbury, 
N.C. 

Hoyt, William 0., must. Nov. 19, 1861; captured October, 1864. 
Dikemnn, George, must. Nov. 25, 1861; disch. Feb. 17, 1862. 
Edgett, C. H., must. Nov. 19, 186l. 
L. McAvoy, must. Dec. 18, 1861; must. out Aug.19, i865. 
A. B. Platt, muat. Dec. 12, 1861; disch. Feb. 17, 1862. 
Peter Riley, must. Jan. 8, 1862; wounded; muat. out Aug. 12, 1865. 
Ezra Woleman, must. Dec. 28, 1862; must. out Aug. 12, 1865, 
J. H. White, must. Nov. 25, 1862; disch. June 27, 1862. 
George Slawson, must. March 15, 1864; disch. Oct. 3, 1864. 

OompanyE. 

G. S. Dikeman, must. Nov. 25, 1861; dlsch. Feb.17, 1862. 
C.H. Edgett, must. Nov. 19, 1861. 
Patrick Foley, must. Nov. 28, 1861; must. out Aug.12,1865. 
L. McAvoy, must. Dec. 28, 1861; must. out Aug. 12, 1865. 
A. B. Platt, must. Dec. 12, 1861; disch. Feb. 17, 1862. 
Peter Riley, must. Jan. 8, 1862; wounded; must. out Aug. 12, 1866, 
E. W1>termon, must. Dec. 28, 1861; must. out Aug. 12, 1865. 
J. H. White, must. No,·. 25, 1861; disch. June 27, 1862. 

Compall!J F. 

W. H. Waterman, must. April 27, 1864; must. out Aug. 12, 1865. 
Charlos Albin, must. March 26, 1864. 
R. Davenport, must. Jan. 7, 1865. 
George Jacoba, must. Jan. 12, 1865; must. out Aug. 2, 1865. 
Peter Mullin, must. Jan. 5, 186.i; must. qut Aug. 2, 186J. 
Jnmes Sl1>wson, must. llforch 24; 1864, 
C. Snyder, must. Jan. 3, 1865; must. out Aug. 2, 1865. 

THIRTEENTH REGIMENT. 

Cnmpa11y C. 

J. W. Raymond, must. Feb. 10, 1861; must. out June 6, 1863. 
D. T. Wilson, must. Dec. 30, 1861; dlsch. llfoy 31, 1862. 

Company D. 

Thomns Hart, must. Dec. 16, 1864; must. out April 25, 1866. 
C. O'Brien, must. Feb. 20, 1864 ; transferred. 

FOURTEENTH REGIMEXT. 

Clm1pany B. 

John Polmer,must. Dec.17, 1864, 
John Smith, must. Dec. 17, 1864. 
Thon1ns Slocum, must. Doc. 17, 1864. 
Thomns-Weaver, must. Dec. 17, 1864; disch. llfoy 31, 1805. 

I,'IFTEENTH REGIMENT. 

Company B. 

C. S. Gray, must. July 17, 1862; pro. to second lieuteMnt; must. out 
Juno 27, 186,;. 

J. H. Dunvoll, must. June 18, 1862; died Oct. lO, 1865. 
George Barker, must. Aug. 2, 1862; mu•t. out Jun• 27, 1865. 
S. C. Carpenter, must. July 28, 1862; must. out Juno 5, 186J. 
Willi..m Pondly, must. July 25, 1862; disch. }'eb. 4, 1863. 
George R. Morgan, must. Aug. 4, 1862; must. out June 7, 1865. 
George W. Higgins, must. July 29, 1862; must. out June 27, 1865. 
H. D. Burroughs, must. Sept. 2, 1864; must. out June 27, 1865. 
E. E. S1>nford, must. July 25, 1862; must. out June 10, 1865. 

OompanyE. 

John Clark, must. Dec. 31, 1864. 

OompanyF. 

John Brown, muat. Aug. 18, 1864; must. out July 20, 18M. 

CompanyK. 

E. Bradley, must. Sept. 14, 1864; dlsch. April 26, 1865, 
P. Kiern1>n, must. Jan. 10, 1865. 
T. Sullinn, must. Sept. o, 1864; dlsch. Oct. 29, 1864. 

SEVENTEENTH REGIMENT. 

Company D. 

Dow, Charles E., must. Sept. 7, 1864; must. out July 19, 186,;, Hilton 
Head, S.C. 

Gray, Abel B., must. Aug. 24, 1864; muat. out July 19, 1865, Hilton 
Hood, S. C. 

Hull, Henry S., must. Sept. 5, 1864; must. out July 19, 1865, Hilton 
Helld,S.C. 

Ivos, George W., must. Sept. 5, 1864; muat. out July 19, 1865, Hilton 
Hood, S.C. 

KJnuer, George A., must. Sept. 5, 1864; must. out July 19, 1865, llllton 
Head, S.C. 

Sc1>rles, John H., must. Sept. 5, 1864; muat. out July 10, 1865, Hilton 
Helld, S. C. 

Seymour, George W., must. Aug. 15, 1864; disch. for dislll>ility, June 23, 
1865. 

Joshu1> L. Day, commisBory-scrge1>nt; must. July lG, 1862; disch. March 
6, 1863. 

Oompa>l/1 o. 
Jao1cs E. Moore, captain; must. July 18, 1862; killed July 1, 1863, Get• 

tysburg, Pa. 
Milton H. Daniels, first JieuteMnt; must. July 18, 1862; pro. to capto.in; 

res. March 6, 1864. 
Henry Qulen, second lieuteMnt; must. July 22, 1SG2; pro. to c1Lptain; 

disch. May 15, 186,;. 
William ·o. Danehy, scrge1>nt; must. Aug. 6, 1862; killed July 1, 1863, 

Gettysburg, Pa. 
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:~g,1st E. Dronson, sergeant; must. July 22, 1862; died July 5, 1863, of 1
1 wound• receh·ed ut Gettysburir, Pu. 

William L. Daniels, sergeant; must. July 19, 1862; pro. to first lieutenant; 
must. out July 19, 1865. 

George Scott, corporal; must. July 19, 1862; must. out July 19, 1865, 
Hilton Head, S. C. 

Denjl\Jl'lln S. White, corporal; muot. July 24, 1862; dlsch. for disQbility, 
Jan. 30, 186a. 

Edward S. Warren, corporal; must. Aug. 8, 1862. 
Georire Dickens, corporal; must. Aug. 8, 1862; must. out July 10, 1805, 

Hilton Head, S. C. 
William E. Daldwln, corporal; must. July 28, 1862; dlsch. for disability, 

Dec. 22, 1862. 
Lewis A. Ward, corporal; must. Ang. 13, 1862; must. out July 10, 1865, 

Hilton Head, S. C. 
Justiu S. Keeler, mnsician; must. July JO, 1862; must. out July JO, 1865, 

Bilton Head, S. C. 
Horatio G. Jenkin•, musician; must. July 19, 1862; must. out July 19, 

1865, Hilton Head, S. C. 
Dailey, James M., must. Aug. 18, 1862; must. out July 10, 1865, Hil• 

ton Bead, S. C. 
Brotherton, Charles, must. Aug. 14, 1862; must. out Jnly 19, 1865, Hilton 

Head, S.C. 
Dronson, Orriu L., must. Aug. 15, 1802; must. out July 5, 1865, New 

York. 
Dussiug, Frederick B., must. July 19, 1862; dlsch. for disability, Jnn. 5, 

1803. 
Denedict, John H., must. Aug. 12, 1802; wounded July, 1863; trans. to 

Yet. Res. Corps, Jan. 1, 1865. 
Bradley, George F., must. Aug. 11, 1862; must. out Jan. 19, 1865, New 

Haven, Conn. 
Dradley, Da~ill, must. Aug. 8, 1862; disch. for disability, Dec. 18, 1803. 
Bradley, Lewis, must. Aug. 9, 1862; must. out July 19, 1865, Hilton 

Head, S. C. 
Bouton, John W., must. Aug. 9, 1862; wounded July, 1863; must. out 

July 19, 1865. 
Darber, George W., must. Aug. 11, 1862; 11·ounded July, 1863; must. out 

July 19, 1805. 
Booth, Henry, must. Aug. 14, 1862; trans. to Inv. Corps; must. out June 

26, 18t;.;, Washington, D. C. 
Curtis, William JI., must. July 23, 1862; disch. for disability, Dec. 31, 

1862. 
Clark, WIIUcun A., must. Aug. G, 1862; trans. to Inv. Corps; must. out 

Aug. 19, 1805. 
Clark, Samuel G., must. Aug. 6, 1862; disch. Nov. 19, 1863. 
Day, Amos C., must. July 10, 1862; must. out July 19, 1865, Hilton 

Head, S.C. 
Downs, Samuel M., must. Aug. 6, 1862; must. out July 19, 1805, Hilton 

Head, S.C. 
Dele,·an, Smith, must. Aug. 6, 1862; died July 15, 1863, of wounds re­

ceh'ed at Gettysburg. 
Ferren, Charles Z., must. July 23, 1862; died Jan. 21, 1863, Philadelphia, 

Pa. 
Fairchild, Alpheus B., must. July 28, 1862; must. out July 19, 18o.;, Bil­

ton Head. 
Feeks, Thaddeus, must. Ang. o, 1862; must. out July 19, 1865, Bilton 

Bead. 
Foot, Joseph I., must. July 23, 1862; trans. to Vet. R<os. Corps, MRrch 15, 

1864. 
Fry, Robert W., must. Aug. 4, 1862; must. out July 19, 1865, Hilton 
. ,. Heacl. 
Goodale, Frederick W., must. July 26, 1862; must. out July 10, 1865, 

llilton Bead. 
Ganung, John, must. Aug. 9, 1862; must. out July 19, 1865, Bilton Bead, 
Griffin, Louis B., must. Aug. 4, 1862; discb. for disaLility, March 13, 

1863. 
Humphries, Wllliam, must. Aug. 11, 1862; must. out. July 19, 1805, Bil-

ton Bead. · 
Jennings, Oscar S., must. July 22, 1862; trans. to Iov. Corps, Sept. 1, 

1863. 
Knapp, Edgar L., must. July 19, 1862; must. out July 19, 1865, Bilton 

Head. 
Kyle, James, must. Aug.12, 1862; must. out July 19, 1865, Bilton Head. 
Kellogg, Norman, must. July 30, 1862; must. out July 19, 1865, Bilton 

Head. 
Morris, Theodore L., must. July 31, 1862; must. out July 10, 1865, New 

Yo1·k. 

McHugh, John, must. July·26, 186'2; wonnded Jnly 13, 1863; must. out 
July 19, 1865, Hilton Bead. 

Otis, William F., must. July 19, 1862; must. out July 19, 1865, Bilton 
Bond. 

Osborn, Lewis P., must. Aug. 25, 1862; died Oct. 31, 1864, F101ida. 
Purdy, George S., must. Aug. 12, 1862; must. out July 19, 1805, Bilton 

Bend. 
Purdy, Daniel B., must. Aug. 14, 1862; died July 15, 1863, of wounds 

receh-ed at Gettysburg. 
Rice, Rufuo S., must. Aug. ]9, 1862; disch. for disability, Jan. 17, 1863. . 
Ryan, Patrick, must. Aug. 11, 1862; trans. to In\'. Corps, Aug. J, 1S63; 

must. out June 28, 18G5. 
Small, Charles S., must. Aug. 14, 1802; died Oct. 1, 1862, Fort Trnmbnll, 

Conn. , 
Sears, George, must. Aug. 16, 1862; dlsch. for disability, June 16, 1805, 

Jacksonville, Fla. 
Stilson, David F., must. Aug.14, 1862; trans. to Inv. Corps, D,c. 15, 1863. 
Taylor, Richard D., must. Aug. 14, 1862; killed July 2, 1863, Gettysburg, 

. Pa. 
Warren, Willil\Jl'I B., must. July 26, 1862; must. out July 19, 1865, Bilton 

Head. 
Wilcox, Charles B., must. July 23, 1862; must. out June 8, 1865, Bart• 

ford, Conn. 
Wood, Goorge L., must. July 22, 1862; must. out July 19, 1865, Bilton 

Head. 
Wood, George W., muot. July 19, 1862; must. out July 19, 1865, Bilton 

Bond. 
Wheeler, Moses A, must. Aug. 4, 1862; must. out July 19, 1805, Hilton 

Head. 
Hawley, Henry P., must. Jan. 11, 1864; mu.st. out July 19, 1865, Bilton 

Head, S. C. 
Wilcox, Arthur B., must. Jan. 11, 1804; must. out July 19, 1865, Hilton 

Bend, S. C. 
Company D. 

Dikeman, George, must. March l, 1865; must. out July 19, 1865, Bilton 
Head, S. C. 

Van Amburg, 111., must. Jan. 24, 1865; must. out July 19, 1865. 

Company G. 

Oboy, Bryan, must. Aug. 20, 1862; trans. to Vet. Res. Corps; must. out 
June 28, 1865. 

Collins, Stephen, must. Sept. 12, 1864; must. out July 19, lSG.3, Bilton 
Bead, S. C. 

Kinney, Richard, must. Sept. 3, 1864; must. out July 19, 1865, Bilton 
Head, S. C. 

CompanyH. 

Moore, William, must. Sept. 2, 1864. 

Company I. 

Confroy, Edward, must. Feb. 28, 1864; must. out July 19, 1865, Bill!)n 
Bead, S. C. 

Magill, Bernard, must. Dec. 21, 1864; must. out July 19, 1865, Bilton 
Bead, S. C. 

Medbury, John, must. Feb. 3, 1805; must. out July 19, 1865, Bilton Head, 
S. C. 

Kiernan, Patrick, must. Jan. 10, 1805; forwarded March 4, 1865; not 
taken up on rolls. 

Su!limn, Thom"8, must. Sept. O, 1864; dlsch. Oct. 22, 1864, New Hann, 
Conn. 

TWENTY-THIRD REGIMENT. 

Oompan11B • 

Samuel Gregory, adjutant; must. Aug. 22, 1862; res. Feb. 28, 1803. 
Eli Ferry, sergeant-n1ajor; must. Aug. 20, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
James H. Jenkins, captain; must. Aug. 10, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Frederick Starr, first lieutenant; must. Aug.16, 1862; died June 24, 1863, 

of wounds recei<ed at La Fourche, La. 
William H. Betts, second lieutonant; must. Aug. 18, 1862; pro. to first 

lieutenant; dlsch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Henry L. Smith, sergeant; must. Aug. 16, 1862; pro. to second lleuten• 

ant; dlsch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Oliver n. Jenkins, sergeant; must. Aug.16, 1862; diech. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Harry L. Read, sergeant; must. Aug. 16, 1862; d!sch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Charles n. Pickering, sergeant; must. Aug. 21, 1862; dlsch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Azariel C. Fuller, sergeant; must. Aug. 19, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
John S. Thompson, must. Aug. 23, 1862; dlscb. Aug. 31, 1863. 
John W. Hodges, must. Aug. 20, 1862; dlsch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Abel B. Gray, must. Aug. 19, 1862; dlsch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
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Elins N. Osborn, must. Aug, 19, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Horoce Bourne, must. Aug. 21, 1802: disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Da~id B. Hoyt, must. Aug. 20, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Edwin Bu.rnum, must. Aug. lG, 1 G2; di,ch. Aug. 31, 1SG3. 
Robert L. Stmtton, must. Aug. 2G, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 1SG3. 
Joseph D. Bishop, must. Aug. lG, 1SG2: disch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
George L. Smith, must. Aug. 18, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
John R. Smith, must. Aug. 22, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 1SG3. 
Armstrong, Edwu.rd, must. Sept. 1, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
Amuler, Oscu.r W., must. Aug. 2 , 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Bell, John D., must. Aug. 19, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Ball, Androw, must. Aug. 20, 186Z; disch. Aug. 31, 1803, 
Barry, Henry, must. Aug. lG, l8G2; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Bailey, William E., must. Ang. 18, 18G~; disch. Aug. 31, 18G.1. 
Baler,Joseph T., must. Aug.19, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Bradley, George C., must. Aug. 20, 18G2; di.sch. Aug. 31, 18G3. "-··-
Ball, George, must. Aug. 18, 18G2: dlsch. Aug. 31, 1SG3. 
Barlow, William E., nmst. Aug. 20, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Crufnt, Charles W., must. Aug. 19, 1SG2; die:! Aug. 16, 18G3. 
Conklin, Eugene, must. Aug. 22, 18G2; d·sch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
Comstock, William E., Aug. 19, 1862; died March 28, 18G:l, La Fuurche, La. 
Clark, Theodore, must. Aug. 20, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 18G.1. 
Clark, Francis F., must. Aug. 18, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, lSG3. 
Carlson, William A., must. Sept. 1, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
Cuwan, Edward, must. Aug. 19, 1862; discb. Aug. 31, lSG:l. 
Downs, William W., must. Aug. 22, 18G2; discb. Aug. :n, 18G3. 
Dunham, Frederick M., must. Aug. 18, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Deforest, George W., must. Aug.18, 18G2; died June 19, 1863, La. ~•uurche, 

La. 
Giluert, Egbert W., must. Aug. 20, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
Griffith, Edwin M., must. Aug. 20, 1862; ,lisch. Aug. 31, 18G3, 
Green, Charles, must. Sept. 1, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
Hodge, Reuben C, must. Aug. 21, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Hodge, Himm H., must. Aug. 21, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Hoyt, Charles H., must. Aug. 22, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
Hoyt, Daniel E., must. Aug. 22, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Hoyt, William P., must. Aug. 20, 18G2; disoh. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Hull, Graham E., must. Aug. 2G, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
Hine, Edward A., must. Aug. 2G, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3, 
Hawley, Henry, must. Aug. 19, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
Hawley, Clark, mll8t. Aug. 2-2, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 186.1, 
Hadden, Hiram H., must, Aug. 20, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Hoyt, George W., must. Aug. lG, 1SG2; disch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
Hagan, James G., must. Aug. 16, 1sr.2; <lisch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Kinner, AugustuB, must. Aug. 22, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
Knapp, Michael F., must. -~ ug. 1G, 1862; die<l Aug. H, 18b3, on board 

transportation steamer" Chancellor." 
Knapp, John, Jr., must. Aug. 26, 1SG2; disch. Ang. 31, 18G3. 
Knapp, Ira S., must. Aug. 26, l8G2; dlsoh. Aug. 31, 186:l, 
Lchwnld, Jacob, must. Aug. 2G, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Lockwood, Hiram, must. Aug. 22, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Mallony, William P., must. Aug. 18, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Murry, Richard J\l., must. Aug. 22, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 

· Maynard, Jun1es L., must. Aug. 21, 1862: disch. 1111\y 8, 1863, 
Manley, Ira B., must. Aug. 26, !SG2; disch. Aug. 31, 18t;.1. 
Northrop, Lewis H., must. Sept. I, 1862; <lisch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Noblo, John F., must. Aug. 22, 1862: disch. Aug. 31, 186-1. 
Roseboom, Burton L., must. Ang. 22, 18G2; <lisch. Ang. 31, 1863. 
Raymond, John III., must. Ang. 18, 1E62; disch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
Sturgis, Henry B., must. Aug. 21, 18G:l: disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Smith, William, must. Aug. 29, 18G2: disch. Aug. 31, 1SG3. 
Sanford, Theodore, must. Ayg. 22, 1862; disch. Ang. 31, 18t;.1. 
Scott, SylvesterJ., must. Aug. 20, 1802; disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Trowbridge, Oliver E., must. Aug. 20, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
Tompkins, Reuben, m11Bt. Au,;. 29, 1HG2: disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Veats, Henry B., must. Aug. 20, l8G2; disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Wood, Frederick F., must. Aug. 21, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Wheeler, Al,el M., must. Aug. 29, l8G2; died of woun~s, June 24, 1803. 
Wheeler, Theodore, must. Ang. 22, 18G2; discb. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Wygant, Edgnr, must. Aug. 20, 1862; d1sch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Wildman, Ezra G., must. Aug. 19, 1862: disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Waterman, Chari"' B., must. Aug. 20, 1862; disch. Ang. 31, 18G3. 

Company E. 
Charles H. Downs, must. Aug. 29, 1862; disch. Aug, 31, 1803. 

Company F. 
DaYld K. Leach, must. Aug. 30, 1862; disch, Aug. 31, 18G3. 

Company G. 

Barnum, George W., must.. Aug. 2G, 1862; <lisch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Dikeman, William H., mnst. Aug. Zl, 1862: disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Dikemnn, Edgar H., must. Aug. 23, 1862; disch. Ang. 31, 1863. 
Goodllle, Ennis, must. Sept. 7, 1862; died Juno 8, lSG.'l, Ltt Fourche, La.. 
Hamilton, Starr, must. Sept. 24, 1862; <li•ch. Ang. 31, 18G3. 
Hostan, James G .. must. Aug. 20, 186!; disc,h. about June 10, 18G3. 
Stone, Russel W., mu~t. Aug. 23, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 18r.3. 
Wheeler, George W., must. Sept. 7, 186:l; dlsch. Ang. 31, 18G3 .. 
W11terma11, Harrison, must. Au1<. 23. 1862; disch. Aug. al, 1803. 
Woodruff, Albert, must. Ang. 23, 18G:l; disch. Ang. 31, 18G3, 
White, Joshua J., must. Oct. a1, 1862. 

CompanyK. 

Samuel G. Bailey, captain; must. Aug. 26, 18G2; captured June 23, 18G3. 
George Qnien, second lieutenant; mll8t. Sept. G, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 

1863. 
Thomns McKay, sergeant; must. Aug. 30, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, lSG:l. 
John Allen, sergeant; must. Sept. 10, 186:l; disoh. Aug. 31, 186.1. 
Charles H. Frank, corporal; must. Sept. 9, 18G2; <lisch. Aug. :n, 1863. 
Henry A. Buckinghamt nmsician; must. Aug. 20, 1862; <lisch. Aug. 31, 

1803. 
Bayer, Henry, must. Sept. O, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Ban,ioy, Elbert, must. Aug. 29, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 1SU3. 
Bush, Peter, must. Sept. 10, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Bartram, George, must. Sept. 1, 1SG2; disch. Aug. 31, 1863, 
Cron!, Jnmes C., must. Sept. 11, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Cmnc, John ,v., must. Ang. 30, 1862; disch. Ang. 31, 18G3. 
Cro11l, John A., must. Aug. 28, 1862; <lisch •• ~ng. :n, 1803. 
carmo<ly, lllichacl, mu•t. Sept. 3, 1862: di•ch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Davis, l\Iartln, must. Aug. ~8, 1862; disch. Dec. 3, 18G3. 
Desbrow, Da,·id, must. Sept. 6, 18G!; disch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
Desl,row, Charles E., must. Sept. 10, 18G2; disch. AuJ?. 31, 18G3, 
Dunlavy, Patrick, must. Sept. 10, 186:l; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Daniels, Henry, must. Sept. 11, 186~; di•ch. Ang. 31, 18G3. 
Evarts, Joseph E .. must. Aug. 30, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Gaffney, John, must. Sept. 11, 1862; disch. Aul?. 31, 1803. 
Ho.,·iland, lllichael, mu•t. Sept. 10, 1862; <lisch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Jlulslan<ler, Frank A., must. Sept. 10, 1862. 
Hoyt, Henry A., must. Sept. II, 1862; <lisch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
I!Aberml\n, John, must. Sept. 11, 186:l; di.sch. Aug.31.1803. 
llnsk, Jacob H., must. Aug. 21, ISG:l; dlsch. Au:;. 31, 18G3. 
Jackson, George A., must. Aug. 2G, 1SG2; disch. Aug, 31, 18G3. 
J\lillcr, l\Iathew S., must. Aug. 23, 18G2; di;ch. Aug. 31, 1S63. 
?tionroe, Stephen, nultit. Aug. 29, 18G2; disch. Au~. 31, 1862. 
McKay, Francis, must. Aug. 30, 1SG2; disch. April 4, 18G3. 
Maule, Elnatlmn N., must. Aug. 21, 1S62; <lisch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
l\lansfleld, Philo F., must. Aug. 2G, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
:Morrison, Richan!, must. Aug. 2S, 1SG2; disch. Aug. 31, 1863. 
lllcAuley, Francis, must. Aug. 2G, 1SG2; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3, 
l\lcNabb, Robert, must. Sept. 3, lSG!; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Perry, Philander L., must. Sept. 1, 1862; disch. Aug. 31. 1863. 
Rol,iuson, Thomas G., must. Aug. 28, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Rogers, Goorge W., must. Aug. 20, 1862. 
Stevenson, Samu•!, must. Aug. 2S, 18G2; discb. Aug. 31, 18G3, 
Sproal, Charles, must. Sept. 6, 1862; <lisch. Aug. 31, 1SG3. 
Selleck, George R., must. Aug. 30, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Smith, Francis B., must. Sept. 9, 18G2; <lisch. Aug. 31, 180:l. 
Stevens, Frede1ick W., must. Sept. 10, 18G2; disch. Aug. 31, 1803, 
Smith, Heman C., must. Sept. G, 18G2; <lisch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 
Serrine, Orrin, must. Sept.1, 1862; died Aug. 29, 18G2, Now Ha~en, Conn. 
T11ylor, James H., must. Aug. 28, 18G2; diech. Aug. 31, 1863. 
Wood, Cyrus, must. Sept. 10, 1862; died. 
Wheeler, Selah T., must. Aug. 29, 1862; dis;;h, Aug. 31, 1863. 
Wtllimann, Joseph, must. Sept. 10, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 1803. 
Wheeler, lloses, must. Aug. 26, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 18G3. 

FIFTEENTH REGIMENT. 

CompanyK. 
Edwin Bradley, must. April 22, 1801; disch. April 2G, 1865, 

TWENTY-NINTH REGIMENT. 

Company F. 
C. B. Array, must. Dec. 2-2, 1863; ,!isch. March 20, 1865. 
A. Prince, must. Dec. 22, 18G3; must. out Oct. 24, 18G5, 

Company H. 
J, Barker, mll8t. January, 1865; must. out Oct. 24, 1865, 
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O>mpa11u I. 

Charles Smith, must. Dec. 27, 1864; must. out Oct. 21, 1805. 
William Johnson, must. March 27, 1803. 

THIRTIETH REGIMENT. 

Company A. 

Joseph W. Edwards, must. Oct. 13, 1803; disch. May 27, 1805. 

The following deceased soldiers a.re buried in 
Danbury: 

WOOSTER CEMETERY. 

Capt. Mo.cy Deming, Capt. S. L. White, Thomas G. Robinson, Orrine Si­
riue, Abel B. Gray, Abel M. Wheeler, Henry H. Taylor, Aaron L. 
Robertson, Graham K Hull, ChristoJ)hor G1 im, George Beebe, Wil­
lio.m B. Do.vIB, John n. Smith, Joscpll "'· Ro.ymond1 C.,pt. Smnuel 
H. Starr, Thomas n. Recd, Jomes Howo.rth, Col. A. Chichester, Theo­
dore Mo1Tis, Amos Morris, Cupt. William K. Comstock, Samuel T. 
Scribner, ""illiam E. Doom,, ,vnliam Leach, "~illinm Dikemnn, 
Michael H. Knupp, William E. Comstock, Prince A. Halstead, E. B. 
Cha.se, John S. Morris, .... brom Cambell, Col. Nelson L. White, George 
B. Gray, Dr. ,villiman, ,vnliom A. Daniels, John Sniffin, Gar<liucr 
E. Greene, Dr. E. F. Hendrick, Amos T. Purdy, Charles A. Fields, 
Amos Hoyt, William lllnntz, Henry Taylor, Charles A. Small, George 
Sears, William Patch, William F. Page, Stephen Monroe, Chauncey 
L. Rowland, Thomas S. W ee<l, William L. Hyatt, Lieut. S. S. Stevens, 
Capt. S. G. Bu.iley, Keros Comes, Sidney H. Tbvmpson, Capt. G. 1\C. 
Godfrey, Capt. B. F. Skinner, Edgar KMpp, George Havill,nd, Wil­
liam A. Clark, Homer B. Wildman, Theodore Barnum, Fred C. Bar­
num1 ""ilJinm A. Carlson, E. \V. Judson, George F. Bailey, James 
Bli8Sllrd, Capt. H. C. Holl, Augustus S. Trowbridgo, William H. Gar­
rett, E<l. Hoyt, Chl\rles Crofut, Moses Wheeler, Joseph Bi•hop, Capt. 
James E. l\Ioore, Col. W. E. l\Ioegling, Robert S. Stmtton, War of the 
Rebellion, Goorge W. Stratton, War of 1812, Richard W. Stratton, 
Wor of Revolution (nil of one family), Samuel Downe, John B. Byer• 
ley, Lieut. Fred Starr, Henry Dikeman, Edgar K. Carley. 

CATHOLIC CEMETERY. 

Ed"·ard Co"·an, JII. Carmody, Joseph l\Iclllahon, Michael l\Iclllahon, 
Tbon1as Kinney, Patrick Barrett, l'lltrick Lilley, John McCauley, 
Thomas Pelley, James Ryon, Fronk McCauley, Henry Scollins, J. 
Ward, - Meyers, John McGuire, Patrick Daniels, N. McGuire. 

WOOSTER STREET BURYING-GROUND. 

Henry B. Crofut, Henry Hawley, Charles Wilson, David F. Stilson, 
Charlee Dikeman, Lieut. Thomas T. Urmton. 

NORTH MAIN STREET. 

William Pendley, G_randison D. Foote. 

THE SOLDIERS' .MONUMENT. 

This granite shaft, commemorative of the patriot 
dead of Danbury, stands on the plot of ground made 
vacant by the removal of the First Congregational 
church, at the intersection of West with Main Street, 
and wa.s unYeiled with appropriate ceremonies June 
27, 1880. It is of Westerly granite, and stands, 
completed, thirty-two feet high. It is a circular 
column resting upon six pieces consisting of lower 
base, plinth, mould, die, cap, and column mould. 
These several parts make a combined height of ten 
feet. The column is twelve feet high, with a diam­
eter of twenty-six inches; the cap surmounting the 
column is two feet, and upon this rests the figure 
of a soldier bearing a flag in his right hand, while 
against his left side rests a cavalry sword. The figure 
is five feet eight inches high, and the staff of the flag 
·is two feet higher. On the die on the side facing 
· Ma.in Street is the inscription: 

TO OUR BROTHERS, 
BELOVED, HONORED, REYERF.D, 

WHO DIED THAT 

Oun Cou:sTnY l\I1011T LIVE. 

On the West Street face is 
THE D£FE:SDEBS 

OF 

THE UNIOY. 

The other two sides a.re blank. 
The shaft or column is encircled with a band, on 

which are engraved the names of prominent battles, 
as follows: Bull Run, Wilderness, Antietam, Fred­
ericksburg, Gettysburg, Chancellorsville, Appomat­
tox, Petersburg, Port Hudson. 

The whole, except the figure, is of granite. The 
figure is of Italian marble and was carved in Italy. 
The price of the whole was four thousand dollars, but 
the committee secured it for three thousand five hun­
dred dollars, the builders donating five hundred dol­
lars towards the cost. In a western town is a monu­
ment nearly like it, which cost seven thousand dollars, 
and engravings of it show it to be not half so hand­
some. The people of Danbury are to be congratulated 
on securing this handsome work of art as a memorial 
to her noble dead. 

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES. 

JOHN W. BACON. 

John W. Bacon, born in Hartford, June 9, 1827; 
graduated at Trinity College in 1846, taking the first 
appointment in his class. Soon after his graduation 
he became principal of an academy in Essex, Conn., 
which position he resigned to commence the study of 
law in the office of Hon. Isaac Toucey, in Hartford, 
remaining with him till the spring of 1848, when he 
adopted the profession of civil engineering. In this 
capacity he was employed on the first surveys of the 
present New York and New England Railroad from 
Hartford to Willimantic, remaining during the build­
ing of that part of the road, taking charge, among 
other important work, of the present Union Depot 
and Connecticut River Bridge, at Hartford, and of 
the heavy rock-cut at Bolton Notch. 

After the completion of this work he spent two 
yea.rs on the surveys and construction of the Danbury 
and ~ orwalk Railroad, and was then recalled to Hart­
ford to assume the position of superintendent of the 
Hartford, Providence and Fishkill Railroad, between 
Providence and Waterbury, also a part of the present 
New York and New England road. Five years were 
spent in this capacity, when he went to Western Vir­
ginia to take charge of the operation and develop­
ment of extensive coal-mines and salt-works at West 
Columbia, on the Ohio River. Here he remained 
about two yea.rs, when he returned to Danbury to 
become in July, 1859, superintendent and chief engi-
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neer of the Danbury and Norwalk Railroad, con­
tinuing in the position until Jan. 1, 1877. In the fall 
of that year he was appointed by Governor Hubbard 
one of the board of railroad commissioners, which 
office he still holds. 

During his residence in Danbury, Mr. Bacon has 
been active in the promotion of desirable public im­
provements. The present water-works were origi­
nated and engineered by him in 1860, as is testified to 
'by the inscription on the stone slab at the lower reser­
voir. At the completion of the works he became one 
of the board of water commissioners, continuing as 

which overcomes all obstacles, and on his countenance 
is stamped the impress of truthfulness and fidelity. 
With urbanity of manner is combined great force of 
character and unyielding determination in the face of 
difficulties, and a gentleness of manner which shows 
that great force of will is not inconsistent with kind­
ness and consideration for the feelings of others. 
Long may he be spared to Danbury to the enjoyment 
of the love and respect he has so deservedly won I 

such till 1876, since which time he has been secretary CHARLES HULL. 
of the board. Until quite recent years the borough Charles Hull, one of Danbury's most successful 
was without a public hall, and, to supply this long-felt merchants and businessmen, traces his descent through 
and growing necessity, Mr. Bacon, in 1860, organized a long line of ancestry from George Hull, a settler in 
a joint-stock company called the "Danbury Public Dorchester, Mass., in 1630. 
Hall Company," which purchased the old Congrega- His paternal grandfather, Chapman Hull, was a 
tional church, standing where the soldiers' monument farmer in Redding; married Esther Buckley, and had 
now stands, and fitted it up with a pleasant and com- three children,-Morris, Henry C., and George. 
modious hall, which well served the public demands The father of the subject of this sketch, Morris 
until the building of the present opera-house, in 1873. Hull, was a man of more than ordinary ability, and 

In 1871 the agricultural society of the town seemed at the time of his death, on the threshold of manhood, 
likely to cease to exist, and the organization of the had already laid the foundation of a prosperous ca­
company composing the present Danbury Agricul- reer. His advantages for an early education were 
tural Society is due to the efforts of John W. Bacon. limited to the common schools of the vicinity of his 
Under his direction a stock company was formed, of boyhood home, but his eager desire for intellectual 
which he is now president, which has so conducted the improvement induced him to devote many of his even­
affairs of the society as to lead to most conspicuous ings and much of his intervals of leisure to the ac­
prosperity and success. Its annual fairs are attended quirement of knowledge, and.when yet a very young 
by crowds so immense as to totally eclipse in point of man was found qualified and engaged to teach school 
number the attendance at all similar exhibitions, not in Danbury. 
excepting even that of the State Fair. This unprece- He began his career as a merchant in Redding, re­
dented prosperity, it is believed, is mainly attributa- moving thence to Huntington, where he remained 
ble to the inflexible enforcement of the rules ex- two years, and then removed to Manlius Square, in the 
eluding the sale of intoxicants, to the exclusion of central part of the State of New York, and was the 
whP-el pools or other gambling devices too often per- pioneer merchant of that place. Near this place he 
mitted at such exhibitions to absorb the money of the built a warehouse on the Erie Canal, and the place 
unwary, and to the faithful performance of all that is was called Hull's Landing after him, which ~ame it 
advertised. still retains. He saw opening before him a bright 

Mr. Bacon has been a director of the savings bank career as a merchant in the rapidly-growing country, 
of Danbury since 1863, and for many years a member but was permitted to enjoy the prospect but a short 
of the Board of Education. i time. Going to New York City to replenish his stock 

Dec. 20, 1852, he was married to Miss Caroline E., of goods, on his way home he visited his grandmother, 
daughter of Dr. Russe.I B. Botsford, for many years a in Redding, at whose house lay his eldest son stricken 
leading physician in Danbury. Miss Botsford was with fever. Watching at the bedside of his prostrate 
granddaughter of Matthew B. Whittlesey, formerly son he contracted the malady, malignant typhoid, of 
a leading lawyer of the place. The children of Mr. wliich he died, at the age of thirty-two, leaving a 
and Mrs. Bacon are Sarah W., Eliza W.,-married widow and six small children dependent almost en­
May 14, 1879, to G. Mortimer Rundle, son of Samuel tirely upon their own exertions for their support. 
H. Rundle, of the firm of Rundle & White,-and The business and effects of the father and husband in 
John Russel Bacon. the new country were disposed of, and the following 

:Mr. Bacon is still in vigorous health and in the full spring the family returned to Redding. 
possession of matured faculties trained and disciplined At the age of seven Charles was "put out to work" 
by a most varied experience. In him is exemplified with a farmer, remaining four years, and as evidence 
the aphorism, "The shallows murmur while the that they were not years of unmixed pleasure or of 
depths are dumb." Quiet aml'unassuming, one re- , pampered, nurturing ease, and as indicative of the 
ceives the impression that beneath that quiet exterior character of the man whose protege he was, one inci­
there is force, energy, and a resolute determination I dent will suffice: Charles was very fond of the Sunday-
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school. The one most accessible to him was held at I the entire distance, forty-three miles. In Danbury 
the church, three miles away by road, and more than he found work at his trade, as foreman in the shop of 
two miles across lots through the woods. This school Mr. A. Rogers. 
he was desirous of attending, and was permitted to do In the spring of 1843, with a thorough knowledge 
so on condition that he would carry his shoes in his of his trade, with little capital, but with invincible 
hand until he came to a certain stone wall close by courage and untiring industry and energy, he ~gan, 
the church, when he might put them on, wear them in a small way, business for himself. For thirty-seven 
through school hours and to the stone wall on his years he has conducted the business of tin-, iron-, and 
return, taking them off at this point and carrying copper-ware manufacturer in Danbury, and kept in 
them in his hand home. Charles accepted, performed connection therewith one of the largest general fur­
the conditions, and attended Sunday-school. Four nishing stores in the State, and in his career as a 
years later, at the age of eleven, he left this home, go- business man presents a useful lesson to the poor, 
ing to Redding Ridge. Here he found employment struggling but ambitious boy, starting as he did with 
with the builder of the Episcopal church (yet stand- nothing but willing hands, a stout heart, and a deter­
ing), placing the stones in the trenches upon which mination to succeed, and by industry, foresight, and 
the foundation of that edifice rests, and to receive as ·economy accumulating a fortune and independent 
compensation the munificent sum of twenty-five cents position among men. 
per day. This Charles supposed was inclusive of While Mr. Hull's business interests have always 
board, but upon this point he was anything but agree- been large, varied, and engrossing, he has yet found 
ably enlightened, while at supper on the day his task much time to devote to the public. During the war 
was finished, by a conversation betwe~Ii his employer a portion of the time he was selected as agent to look 
and wife, during which it transpired that he was to after the interests of his town; he was a director in 
be charged for board. By a simple and not unreason- the Danbury Bank when it was a State institution, 
able computation it was estimated that a fine healthy and one of the originators of the Pahquioque Bank, 
boy would eat twenty-five cents' worth per day, espe- of which he has always been a director. He is also 
cially as he worked hard, and as his wages amounted director in several of the large manufacturing corpo­
to just that amount the account was easily balanced. rations of Danbury; has been selectman, and for 
But the wife-a mother mayhap-the woman always several years past has been town agent. 
tenderer than man, thought "the boy ought to have We relate an incident in Mr. Hull's life which, if 
something," and "the boy" was given twenty-five 

I 
it neither "points a moral" nor "adorns a tale," is at 

cents. Twenty-five cents for performing all the labor least illustrative of the vicissitudes, the ups and 
attendant upon the laying of the entire sub-founda- downs, of life. ·while the subject of this memoir was 
tion of a church, together with what co~rse food he yet a young barefooted boy working among the farm­
ate while doing the work, was his entire compensation. ers of his native town, he one afternoon strolled into 
But we doubt if Napoleon ever received with prouder Danbury. He had often heard of the palatial resi­
triumph the crown from conquered potentate than dence and aristocratic family of the late Seth Com­
was experienced by Charles when these his first earn- stock, Esq., and as he sauntered up the main street 
ings were placed in his hand. This was young Hull's his attention was attracted by an imposing array of 
first experience, and the lesson taught was not lost, carriages before the mansion. The occasion was the 
for in his next engagement, in which his services were marriage of Mr. Comstock's son, a broker in New 
given for his board, clothes, and schooling, each item York, and was being conducted with much pomp and 
of compensation was fully stipulated in the agree- ceremony. One of the features was a carpet laid from 
ment. the door to the carriages for the guests to walk on. 

At the age of sixteen Charles went to Norwalk to Charles had never seen anything of the kind before, 
learn'the trade of tinsmith, which he spent four years and it made an impression upon his young mind, and 
in acquiring. During these years his evenings, in- led to indulgence in mental speculations. ,vhat 
stead of being devoted to recreation and pleasure, those speculations were does not transpire; visionary 
as were the evenings of most of the apprentices asso- enough they seemed to him, no doubt, but how they 
ciated with him, were spent in hard work, attending appear viewed retrospectively we leave to be inferred, 
to customers and in mastering the business, and so affording to the reader these data: To-day Mr. Hull 
· proficient did he become that during the last years of owns the ground whereon that mansion stood, to­
his apprenticeship he was given almost entire charge gether with the fine block of buildings co,·ering it, 
of his empioyer's business. The concern in which he built by himself. 
was employed failed during the great depression ·of Mr. Hull was married Nov. 18, 1840, to Miss Han-
1836-37, and -with but tweh-e cents in his pocket he nah E., daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth Ambler, 
turned his steps from New Haven, whither he had of Danbury. Their children are Harriet E., now 
gone in pursuit of employment, to Danbury, thirty- Mrs. Alexander McNie, of 'Winona, Minn., Mary E., 
six miles distant, which he reached bythewayofRed- now Mrs. Granville W. Hoyt, of Danbury, Frederick 
ding, the home of his grandmother, having walked A., Thomas A., and Sarah M. 

•. 
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ROGER AVERILL. 

Roger Averill was born in Salisbury, in Litchfield 
Co., Conn., on the 14th day of August, 1809. His 
father, Nathaniel P. Averill, and his mother, Mary 
Whittlesey, were natives of Washington, in the same 
county, and were worthy representatives of the best 
type of the New England character. 

Mr. Averill received his early training on the farm, 
and was thoroughly impressed with' a sense of the 
value of time and of the importance of personal 
effort to achieve success. Habits of industry were 
formed in youth, and continued in practice in after­
life. Every facility which the best common schools 
could furnish was placed within his reach for the 
acquisition of knowledge and mental improvement; 
and fortunately for him his natiYe town had within 
its limits two valuable public libraries, to which he 
had free access. These proved to be of inestimable 
advantage in supplying him with the means of ac­
quiring knowledge from books. They were often 
consulted and much read, and greatly contributed to 
the proper unfolding and moulding of his character 
and shaping his subsequent life. 

At the age of eighteen years Mr. Averill com­
menced teaching a common school, and at the same 
time he began the study of the Latin without the aid 
of an instructor. Self-reliant and ambitious, he made 
considerable progress in preparatory studies before he 
fully decided to take a college course, and his friends 
had no knowledge of his wishes or his intentions in 
regard to an education. His older brother, Chester 

that part of the county, and had the confidence and 
support of his fellow-citizens, who conferred upon 
him many official trusts and responsibilities. 

He represented the town of Salisbury in the Gen­
eral Assembly in 1843. lie removed to Danbury in 
1849, where he now resides. Since his removal he 
has held various public and responsible offices. Two 
years he was judge of the Court of Probate for the 
district of Danbury, twelve years a trustee of the 
State Normal School at New Britain, and a member 
of the State Board of Education for three years. 
Four years, from 1862 to 1866, he was Lieutenant­
Governor of the State of Connecticut. For many 
years he has been and now is a director in the Dan­
bury National Bank and a trustee of the savings 
bank of Danbury ; also a director and treasurer of 
the Danbury Mutual Fire Insurance Company from 
the time of its organization in 1851. 

In 1868 he represented the town of Danbury in the 
Legislature of this State. 

He has been twice married. His first wife was 
Miss Maria D. White, of Danbury, who died in Feb­
ruary, 1861, leaving four children,-two daughters 
and two sons, the latter being members of the legal 
profession in practice in this State. His present wife 
was Miss Mary A. Perry, of Southport, Conn. 

EDWARD SMITH DA YIS. 

Averill, then a graduate of and a professor in Union Edward Smith Davis comes of Welsh ancestry, who 
College, New York, learning that some progress had settled in Hartford as early as 1640. His grandfather 
been made in preparatory studies, favored his contin- was captured during the Revolution as one of the 
uance in them, with a view to a full course, and fur- prominent citizens of Bloomfield and released on 
nished the necessary and appropriate books. Thus parole. His father, Caleb Smith Davis, was a farmer 
encouraged and strengthened, he at once decided to in Bloomfield, N. J. He served in the war of 1812-
go to college, and applied himself vigorously and 14. The sword worn by him as major is still in the 
wholly to the work of preparation. possession of his son. His children were Louisa J., 

In 1828 he became a member of the freshman class Charles M., Joseph H., Edwar<l S., and Mary W., all 
in Union College, and graduated with honor and dis- of whom are living and all save one have families. It 
tinction in 1832. He remained at college a resident is a remarkable fact, worthy of record, that there has 
graduate for a few months, and then returned to Sal- been but one death in this family in fifty-eight years. 
isbury and opened a select school, which proved to be E. S. Davis remained with his father until his twen­
a complete success. The number of applications for tieth year, receiving academical educational advan­
admission was greater than could. be accommodated. tages. At this age he went to Boston to engage in 
The people of the town took measures to erect imme- the manufacture of paper boxes, the business being 
diately a suitable permanent academy to meet the at this time in its infancy. He took charge of busi­
public wants. Mr. Averill continued as principal of ness already established by his brother-in-law, S. A. 
this school for one year, and when it was in a full Brower, the pioneer paper-box maker in this country, 
tide of prosperity he abandoned school-teaching and who is still living at an advanced age. The business 
commenced the study of law. wa~ in charge of an agent, whom young Davis soon 

He entered the office of the Hon. Samuel Church, discovered to be conducting it dishonestly, much to 
then a judge of the Supreme Court, who afterwards 

I 
Mr. Brower's loss. 

became chief justice of the State of Connecticut. He In 1852, Mr. Davis came to Danbury, borr.owing six 
was admitted to the bar of Litchfield County in 1836, dollars to defray the expenses of the journey. He 
and at once opened an office for the practice of law in I came to engage in his present business of box-making, 
Salisbury. He had immediately his full share of the with Mr. Brower as silent partner. This copartner­
law business of that and the neighboring towns in • ship lasted one and a half years, at the end of which 
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time Mr. Davis bought Mr. Brower's interest; and has 
since conducted the business alone. 

May, 1855, Mr. Davis was married to Jane H., 
daughter of Bracy and Hannah Scofield, of Danbury. 
Their children were Samuel A., Robert W., and Ed­
ward S., Jr. Mrs. Davis died in September, 1874. 
In November, 1875, Mr. Davis married Hannah, 
daughter of Elijah Gregory, of Danbury. Their chil­
dren are Herbert R. and Anna L. 

Mr. Davis has heel!-elected to the office of burgess 
for two terms, and four times to the position of war­
den of the borough. In 1878 he represented his town 
in the State Legislature, and again the following year. 
He has been appointed assignee in the ~ailure of sev­
eral firms and is trustee and guardian for minor chil­
dren, holding considerable sums of money in trust. 

In 1861 he was a member of the Wooster Guards, 
which played a promin~t part in thi late war. At 
the call of the President tp.e company was called 
together by its captain, and a vote was taken as to 
whether they should offer their services to the gen­
eral government. To their honor be it said, every 
man in the company voted affirmatively. This de­
cision was at once telegraphed to the Governor, and 
theirs is the proud record of having been the first 
company in Connecticut to thus offer their services. 
They became part of the First Regiment Connecticut 
Volunteers, and did duty around Washington and 
participated in the first Bull Run battle. Mr. Davis 
served during the term for which his company en­
listed, and was honorably discharged. 

For three years he has been Commander of James 
E. Moore Post, Grand Army of the Republic. 

Mr. Davis has done something for the improvement 
of his adopted town. He built the factory now occu­
pied by him, also the Montgomery factory, besides 
many other buildings. His own elegant residence he 
erected on one of the most-in fact, on the most-com­
manding sites in the town, overlooking, as it does, the 
entire borough of Danbury, besides extensive pros­
pects in every direction. 

JOHN F. BEARD. 

John F. Beard was born March 6, 1803, iu Trum­
bull, Fairfield Co., Conn. His grandfather, James 
Beard, a native of Derby, New Haven Co., Conn., 
was a lawyer by profession, and for many years a 
judge of the County Court. He was married to Miss 
Holbrook, of Derby, and became the father of seven 
children, among whom was Dr. DanieJ Beard, f~ther 
of the subject of this memoir. He, also, was a native 
of Derby; was educated to the medical profession, 
and practiced during his lifetime both as a physician 
and surgeon. He was appointed military surgeon of 
the troops stationed at Bridgeport under command of 
Gen. Foote, and served during the war of 1812-14. 
He was an enthusiast in his profession, a too close 

18 

application to which terminated his career Oct. 26, 
1815, when but forty-eight. He was married early 
in life to Miss Betsey, daughter of Dr. Spencer and 
Betsey (Frink) Fields, of Oakham, Mass., and their 
children were: Spencer F., Algernon- E., John F., 
Elizabeth F., Catherine J., Isabella M., William 0., , 
and Mary A. 

At his father's death John was but eleven years 
old, and, the family being poor, he was obliged to 
rely almost wholly upon his own abilities for his sup­
port. For the first two and a half years he found a 
home with an uncle, whom he assisted in the manage­
ment of his farm, receiving as pay for his services 
his board and clothing. · From this time until his 
marriage, at the age of twenty-three, he worked at 
different kinds of labor, principally farming, laying 
up but little in the way of money, but adding much 
in the way of experience to the little stock of knowl­
edge which he had managed to acquire during a few 
years of desultory attendance at the district school. 
For two years after his marriage he labored as a 
farm-hand, leaving it to engage in hat-manufacturing, 
which he followed for about seven years, when he 
moved on the farm, then known as "Hearthstone 
Hill," whei:e he has ever since resided. His wife was 
Miss Lois A., daughter of Hiram Wildman, of Dan­
bury, and their children were Edwin W. (deceased), 
William S. (deceased), Martha M. (now Mrs. Somers, 
living in Galesburg, Ill.), John P. (resident of Dan­
bury), Mary A. (now Mrs. S. C. Holley, Danbury), 
and James B. (resident of Council Bluffs, Iowa). 

Mr. Beard's principal business has been that of 
farming, but he has always taken an acth-e interest in 
public matters of his town, and has often been called 
to the position of selectman and several times elected 
justice of the peace. 

When the Danbury and Norwalk Railroad was pro­
jected, to further the enterprise Mr. Beard took the 
contract to build it entire. Owing to the immense 
amount of work of various kinds involved in the con­
struction of a railroad, he found it necessary to talce 
partners, in order that responsible heads might push 
the different departments of the work-bridge-butld­
ing, cutting, filling, etc.-at one and the same time, and 
although, financially, the enterprise was a losing one, 
which it is but justice to Mr. Beard to say was at­
tributed to the want of integrity.on the part of those 
he formed connections with to further the work, yet 
he had the satisfaction of handing over to tlie com­
pany the road in complete running order to the driv­
ing of the last bolt. This road has given communi­
cation with the outer world to Danbury, which before 
its construction was an isolated inland town, and per­
haps no one thing has contributed more to the devel­
opment of the place. Mr. Beard was one of the 
originators of the Danbury Agricultural Society, the 
most prosperous society of the kind in the State, and 
for nine years its president. He •was for two yeara a 
member of the State Board of .Agriculture. In 1831 
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he joined the First Congregational Church of Dan­
bury, and the year following was made a deacon in 
the same, in which capacity he has acted till the pres­
ent time, and for ten consecutive years was superin­
tendentofits Sabbath-school. His wife and daughters, 
also, are members of the same church. 

In politk.s, Mr. Beard has been a Whig, and since 
the formation of the Republican party has affiliated 
with it. 

JAMES WHITE NICHOLS. 

James White Nichols, son of Ebenezer Nichols and 

came. His patience and fortitude during his severe 
and painful illness was most conspicuous; during all 
that trying time .he was never known to make the 
slightest murmur of uneasiness or impatience." .. 

CHAPTER XXV. 

DARIEN. 

Gcogrnphicnl-Topogrnpblcnl-Nom'es of Pioneers-Revolutionary Inci­
dent-The Captnre of the Rev. D~. Ml\ther-Poctical Narrative-Old 
Documents-A Distriuution Bill of 1724, etc.-Pioneer lllercbants­
The ]first Grist-Mill-The Pioneer Post-office. 

descendant of Samuel Nichols, a resident of Wood- DARIEN is located in the southwestern part of the 
bury in 1660, was born Oct. 15, 1809, in Danbury, in county, and is bounded as follows: On the north by 
the room in which he died Sept. 17, 1875. New Canaan; on he east by Norwalk; on the south 

His father was a farmer on the old Nichols farm, I by Long Island Sound ; on the west by Stamford: 
occupying the house in which his son lived his entire The soil of the town is a rich, gravelly loam. The 
lifetime about the time of his first marriage. The 
Nichols family were extensive landholders in the early 
days of Danbury. 

James W. Nichols was not a liberally educated man, 
although well up in the English branches, and when 
a young man taught school several terms in Danbury. 
He had no other occupation than farming. The deli­
cate state of his health, however, permitting him to 
perform only the lighter work of his calling, he 
devoted much of his time to writing and other liter­
ary pursuits, for which he had a decided predilection. 
He was married July 6, 1845, to Miss Phebe Hawley, 
of Danbury, who died Jan. 26, 1869. Mr. Nicb.ols 
was married the second time to Miss Henrietta S., 
daughter of Daniel B. and Zemiah (Hays) Burton, 
of Woodbury. The issue of this union was a son, 
James H., born March 27, 1871. 

From an article from the pen of H. B. Wild­
man, schoolmate of decea.qed, published soon after 
Mr. Nichols' death, we make the following extracts: 
. . . !' Mr. Nichols was a rare man, highly esteemed 
by his friends and neighbors, who often bestowed upon 
him offices of honor and trust. He had always a 
genial smile and kindly word for everybody. He was 
both poet and artist, and his song was like the rippling 
of-a summer stream or like the murmur of the evening 
zephyrs that fanned through the shades of his be­
loved 'Oak Cottage'. home. Contented in his situa­
tion, he lived and breathed an atmosphere purely his 
own. 'He cared not for the ambitious world around 
him, nor for the literary aspirants quarreling and 
toiling for fame and glory." Mr. Nichols wrote some 
of the sweetest poetry that ever emanated from un­
pretentious bard, and it is matter of regret to us that 
we are not in timely receipt of specimens promised 
for this sketch, that they might become inscribed upon 
the page of enduring history. 

"He was a faithful member of the Methodist 
Church, a devout worshiper and a true Christian, 
and was ready and willing to go when the summons 

surface is undulating. 
The town was settled contemporaneously with Stam­

ford, of which it originally formed a part. The fol­
lowing is believed to be a list of the pioneers who 
located in this town, taken from Huntington's "His­
tory of Stamford:" 

Aaron Andrews, or Andreas, bought land here in 
1657, with Garret Rivis. He is called a Dutchman. 
The name Andrews and Andrus occurs often, and 
also i~terchangeably. Jeremiah Andrews is said to 
be of Bedford after 1687. 

John Austin was one of the eleven Greenwich men 
who in 1656 acknowledged allegiance to the New 
Haven jurisdiction, to constitute part of the ~tamford 
colony. The name is usually spelled Astin and Asten 
on the records. A son of his, Samuel, died here in 
1657, the year, also, of his own death. His inventory, 
taken by Richard Law and Angell Husted, Sept. 5, 
1657, was presented in court in Stamford by his widow 
"Katherine Astine," May 13, 1658. It amounted to 
£78 8s. 4d. Several of th.is name are reported on the 
land records during the first century of the town. 

Francis Brown was here early. Savage tells us that 
he had been a servant of Henry Wolcott, of Windsor, 
and bought out the rest of his time in 1649 and was 
a small trader in 1651, and that he bought and sold 
lands in Farmington in 1656. He seems to have been 
a pertinacious _stickler for the largest liberty to the 
individual. In 1662 he headed a petition to the Gen­
eral Court at New Haven respecting the franchise of 
all the citizens, respecting equalizing the rates of the 
several colonies then under the jurisdiction of New 
Haven, and re~pecting the colony school. The court 
rather curtly gave him to understand that "whatever 
liberties or privileges our laws do allow them, that 
they should have." · He then desires a special court 
in Stamford for the settlement of these questions. 
In 1663 he is sworn a constable for the town of Stam­
ford in the General Court of Connecticut, and in 1665, 
1667, and 1669 he represented the town in the Gen-




